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“The Devil’s Castle is a profoundly important book that reveals an often overlooked precursor to the Holocaust. This was the systematic dehumanization and extermination of children and adults characterized as ‘mentally ill’ long before the targeting of Jewish communities began. Today, many of those murdered would have been diagnosed with autism, bipolar, ADHD, dyslexia, and schizophrenia, among other conditions.

“With each chapter, Antonetta has a way of drawing you in with engagingly detailed narratives that explore complex themes and emotional landscapes. She masterfully weaves together meticulous research, personal testimonies, and historical accounts, connecting the dots in a way that is both heartbreaking and enlightening.

“Antonetta, who identifies as bipolar, draws on her own experiences to provide a deeply personal perspective on the stigma and discrimination faced by those who were placed into the hands of the medical community because they thought and acted differently from the social norms.

“The Devil’s Castle is an essential read for anyone seeking to understand the deeper complexities of the Holocaust and the historical context that allowed such horrors to unfold. It is a compelling and necessary addition to the discourse on human rights and dignity. Prepare to be challenged, moved, and forever changed by this extraordinary work.”
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Prologue

The Great Wonder and the Great Strangeness
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Madness is the socially awkward expression of a desire for infinity in a world that defines itself as finite.

WOUTER KUSTERS, A Philosophy of Madness



IN 2019 I HAD A DESIRE FOR INFINITY. IT WAS AWKWARD. I’D STARTED THIS BOOK at the time, working mostly with eugenic history. But then, fully mad for several months after years without an episode as severe, I unwittingly became subject. I took leave from work. I’d lost even the ability to log into a classroom computer, because the computer screen pulsed with a strange and alarming picture (actually just an aerial view of my campus) with two white bars I would normally know as login bars but saw then as white slits leading to nothingness, postal slots to the void.

I became isolated in ways that people in small cities who have jobs, friends, and colleagues rarely become. The people I’d had in my life interpreted my madness as a reason to keep away. They said later they thought I’d be embarrassed to be seen that way, that I would not be myself. I would both behave in ways extravagantly beyond the pale, and ways meaningless in terms of who I am. From the position of medicine and society, I’d lost my claims to a valid existence. My thoughts became a manifestation of a sick organ—my brain—and therefore were pointless and meant to be fixed, much like the skipped beats of my erratic heart. The problem was, none of this thinking made sense to me any longer.

In 2019, the story I tell in this book became fully present for me. And I realized how fully present it is for millions of people, who are in their own version of isolated rooms.

The United States is experiencing unprecedented levels of psychiatric misery, which have risen in tandem with unprecedented levels of citizens in psychiatric treatment and on meds. The rise began long before the pandemic. The neurodivergent are dying now, still, as they should not be dying. Those diagnosed with a “major” mental disorder in the United States have a life expectancy twenty to thirty years shorter than those who aren’t so diagnosed. Part of the loss of life lies in how they’re medicated. One in four jailed individuals in the United States is in psychiatric crisis. One-fifth of police shootings involve psychiatric episodes, most harmless.

Our hospital system for mind care is so bad that exposés are hard to keep up with. Reports published in the last several years by The Seattle Times describe hospitals overmedicating and holding on to patients to bilk insurance, ignoring calls from families, and leaving patients open to abuse from other patients. A member of my family was in one of these hospitals and it sickens me to recall it. My own experiences include not just abusive overtreatment but hospitalized teenagers treated as sexual prey.

The Devil’s Castle started with the Nazi massacre of the disabled and neurodivergent. The subtitle, Nazi Eugenics, Euthanasia, and How Psychiatry’s Troubled History Reverberates Today, grew with the book. I researched that euthanasia story with the urgency of someone who could have been a victim—whose loved ones could have been victims. Hundreds of thousands died within and without the Reich, many through a euthanasia program called Aktion T4. T4 built gas chambers into asylums.

Euthanasia grew out of the nineteenth-century eugenics movement, the drive to remove “tainted” hereditary lines from society. Eugenics flourished in the United States before and after the war. It hasn’t ended. Programs of euthanasia and sterilization don’t just live in the past, terrible but finished. Their aftershocks are terrible and here. Eugenics thrived, and still does, on the language of humans as vermin, humans as poisoning the blood. It thrived, and still does, on reductive theories of human souls and minds. Before Germany began sterilizing, the United States led the world in that procedure, sterilizing tens of thousands before the war and after it. Both the United States and Germany considered programs to kill those diagnosed as mentally different. Germany got there first.

A German psychiatrist named Emil Kraepelin, a eugenicist and antisemite, lived and worked in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Kraepelin did not know me, but he had his opinions. Kraepelin didn’t consider me, or 2019 me, capable of human experiences, like losing a job or falling in or out of love. The idea that thoughts and feelings could be not the work of the psyche but an organ’s meaningless skipped beats comes to us from Kraepelin. Kraepelin believed Jews had a natural connection to mental illness, and he trained some of the worst Nazi doctors.

Kraepelin also became the “father of modern psychiatry,” so much so that, asked for a Kraepelin biography, my browser’s artificial intelligence starts with that phrase. Kraepelin changed prewar psychiatry with his theories of mental difference as bad brain function and his systems of psychiatric classification. Kraepelin presides over U.S. and much international psychiatry now, following a U.S. “neo-Kraepelinian revolution” in the late twentieth century. Though Kraepelin’s psychiatry built not aside from but on a eugenic foundation, the system of classification was designed to assign not just labels but ultimately value, ultimately hope.

This book is necessarily about madness, and the essential work of rethinking the mind. This means madness as it was defined by eugenics and Nazi Germany, and by postwar psychiatry in the United States, as failing biological processes in the brain. It’s impossible to consider eugenics without looking at that postwar period, and the reviving use of eugenic language now. Even with the gas chambers of the Nazis behind them, U.S. doctors have lobotomized and used electric shock. They’ve prescribed far too many toxic drugs promoted by doctors paid by pharmaceutical companies. Psychiatric surgeons have used brain surgery to address queer sexuality, women’s anger, the anger of Black protesters. At least one doctor used brain implants for gay conversion therapy. His study was published in a leading medical journal in 1972.

Two extraordinary people, two of the “tainted,” offer a counterbalance to the eugenics story—hope, joy, a path for practicing care of the mind differently. These two are Paul Schreber and Dorothea Buck. Both were diagnosed schizophrenic. I have been diagnosed both schizophrenic and bipolar; my own history with psychiatry is entwined with theirs in this book. Call it a tale of three madmen.

The doctor who diagnosed me schizophrenic, a good Kraepelinian, declared me hopeless. Later I heard that, as someone bipolar, I did have hope. Though nothing had changed in my mind or my life: just a word.

Schreber was committed for life at the end of the nineteenth century and litigated his own release, arguing for the value of his visions. Buck was sterilized under the Nazi law to prevent hereditary diseases and survived multiple institutionalizations. She lived to be 102, a passionate critic of historical wrongs and advocate for a new, humane psychiatry. Both found themselves in systems of negligent, often pointless, and often destructive care. Both spent their lives considering mental difference and how to value it while creating systems of support for those who need them. For Schreber, rethinking madness was a legal necessity. For Buck, it became a psychological and spiritual one.

This book tells the story of Schreber and Buck and our system of mind care, which is drawn from Kraepelin and his ideological disciples. The Nazi slaughter of the disabled, most of them neuropsychiatric, remains forgotten. David Mitchell and Sharon Snyder in Cultural Locations of Disability argue that this forgetting exists because there’s no clear value put on the disabled as members of the “human continuum.” Courts in Buck’s lifetime—and her lifetime extends into the twenty-first century—could not consistently decide that doctors who committed acts of eugenic murder had been wrong. This injustice haunted Buck until her death. And this injustice lives in the present. Whether violence against the neurodivergent is allowable is a question unconsciously litigated now, in streets, jails, and hospitals, every day.

What I mean by madness can be psychosis, depression, attentional difference, any of those mindways that cross the border of consensus thinking. Even depression makes its own reality. For me the words “bipolar” or “manic-depressive” capture something of my truth or give me a way to talk about that truth. I experience both what touches depression and what touches mania. I say “touches,” because these terms are shorthands for something much larger. When I write, I sometimes speak of a person “with a diagnosis,” as diagnoses can be arbitrary and contingent, governed by standards with no stable historical or cultural rules, just those of the present moment and the present place.

I also use the term “experiencer,” a Buck term, for those of us who experience non-consensus thought. And “neurodiverse” or “neurodivergent,” because some mindways will always be rarer than others. The more kinds of minds we have, the richer our conscious ecosystem. That is neurodiversity. The more minds differ from the center of the curve, the harder society makes their lives. That is neurodivergence.

Buck and Schreber came from the Saxony region of Germany. Schreber, a distinguished judge, was born in 1842 and hospitalized in middle age. Buck was born in 1917 and hospitalized at nineteen, a young girl who planned to become a teacher. Sterilized under the Nazi law to prevent hereditary diseases, Buck lost that dream and lost the chance to marry. Schreber’s care coincided with the start of eugenics; Buck lived through modern history’s worst expression of it. Buck, along with psychotherapist Thomas Bock, created psychosis seminars in which experiencers, family, and clinicians met to understand the meaning of their out-of-consensus time. Buck’s methods relied on equity between patient and clinician, and on conversation—she called the process “trialogue.” Buck and her colleagues refined the process throughout their work together. The inspiration came from the healing that eight neglected and overmedicated patients, institutionalized during a hot German summer, found from talking to one another. One of them, Buck, had learned to spit out her drugs.

Paul Schreber, at the time of his court case, was held in a dreary human warehouse called Sonnenstein in Pirna, Saxony. A few decades after Schreber’s release, Sonnenstein became one of the Aktion T4 killing centers, with a gas chamber and crematorium built into the basement. Earlier in the nineteenth century, Sonnenstein was the most enlightened psychiatric institution in Europe. Schreber’s forced home went from pinnacle to slaughterhouse in less than a century. No institution in psychiatric history has had such a stunning fall from grace.

Schreber spent eight years at Sonnenstein before a Dresden court, in an unprecedented decision brimming with admiration for the “insane” plaintiff, ruled he must be released. Schreber wrote that as soon as he arrived at Sonnenstein he could smell “the reek of corpses.” And his voices told him its name: the Devil’s Castle.

Nazi euthanasia both preceded the Holocaust and led to it, giving that horror means, personnel, and a story. The programs began in 1939, murdering tens of thousands of Germans in the world’s first gas chambers manufactured for mass victims. Euthanasia created a class of workers, including doctors, who had the mechanical and psychological ability to cause masses of others to die. The first gas chambers were built into five asylums and one former prison, places called Tötungsanstalts—killing centers. Aktion T4 began the Nazi extermination of the Jews under the camouflage of mental illness and continued it by bringing euthanasia to concentration camps. Medical eugenics, in one historian’s words, became “the veneer behind which racism became respectable.”

The Nazi murder enterprise connected Jewishness with physical illness and with vectors of illness like rats and bacteria, as the antisemitic enterprise now connects Jews with Covid-19 and vaccines. Nazi murder began by connecting Jewishness with the damaged mind. I’m struck, in today’s revival of antisemitism, at how much the language of it resembles what gets aimed at the neurodivergent: They don’t think or feel as we do, or don’t have real feelings at all. Stories Jews tell about themselves, particularly of how they’ve been harmed, are likely to be fabrications, even in the face of all evidence. You can’t trust them. And you never know what they’re thinking and planning or what they’re poised to do.

When, in the first part of the twentieth century, U.S. eugenicists planned to put people to death, most also used race and ethnicity as a thumb on the scale. As Germans in the Nazi era connected Jews with schizophrenia, so U.S. doctors did with Black people. The eugenic push in the United States lasted into the war and after. In 1942, the most prominent U.S. psychiatric journal published a debate about whether “nature’s mistakes”—children with cognitive difference—should be euthanized. The majority answer was yes. Earlier in the century, in a list of eighteen ways to deal with the genetically flawed, mostly the mentally ill, a leading U.S. think tank proposed death by gas as number eight. U.S. enthusiasm for such murder burned out only in the ashes of Nazi Germany. The 1933 German law that forcibly sterilized Dorothea Buck took its language from a eugenicist in the United States, a country that had already been sterilizing for twenty-six years.

“I never felt split or divided,” Buck wrote of her psychotic episodes, “but rather seized and sometimes overcome by certainties and complexes of meaning, led by an instinct that I experienced as a spontaneous impulse or inner voice.” Buck admitted psychosis could be frightening and painful. She denied it could be the product not of the psyche but of a brain reduced to what she called a “malfunctioning machine,” as pointless as 2019 me. Her psychotic experiences mattered, in a very fundamental way, to her life. Schreber wrote of his visions that unless medicine wanted to “tumble with both feet into the camp of naked materialism,” doctors needed to recognize the possibility that “the phenomena under discussion may be connected with real happenings, which simply can’t be brushed aside with the catchword ‘hallucinations.’ ” What those real happenings are, what the “real” might be, forms part of my story. In this spirit I probe my own madness.

Here’s a sample of that madness: One night, in the dark of my bedroom, red roses hang in the air. A bouquet with ribbons and baby’s breath floats just above my head. When I clutch at the stems, my hand closes on air. Later, I hear a robin who says persist persist persist, trucks grinding just beneath my window. Other birds join the robin, a fierce small crowd trilling phrases like six degrees yes yes yes. Voices whispering senselessly, or with a sense I don’t yet understand. Sometimes words, finding one and perseverating: this this this this this.

They are there. Just not in the way you might think.

And the world feels malleable, like felt, or soft paper. Walls rock and steady themselves. What’s around me teems, air itself humming and moving. I feel afraid. I feel alive.

But roses and moving walls aren’t the strangest thing. That any mind exists is the strangest thing. Consciousness is a phenomenon so unlikely and unexplained it’s called the “hard problem”—the problem of why subjective experience exists, why there is something it feels like to be you. Opinionated, voice-in-the-head, unified-into-me-ness you. Scans can show the brain responding to color in one place, sound another. They don’t show how the flute becomes a unified object, or how the owner of the brain might come to hold opinions about its music. More and more sophisticated brain imaging only makes the hard problem harder. It provides wonderful information, which doesn’t answer the most obvious question.

Neuroscience and the study of consciousness have a reverence for the mind, for what consciousness is and does, “the great wonder and strangeness,” in the words of New Scientist. The reverence has increased with the growth in research and the growth in rich and impossible questions. Some brain researchers consider consciousness a fundamental universal force, like gravity, a property held as potential by all matter. Consciousness is what neuroscientist Anil Seth, author of Being You: A New Science of Consciousness, calls a “controlled hallucination,” a vision produced by an organ responding to often incoherent sensory information with guesswork. What we call reality is what Seth calls “a dance of prediction and correction,” a highly individual interpretation aiming at the real but “never identical” to it. The notion that we each make our own reality and can’t get to the truth might seem off-putting, but Being You was a bestseller, and Seth’s TED Talk, “Your Brain Hallucinates Your Conscious Reality,” has had almost fifteen million views.

“Mental illness” really means “consciousness illness,” and given what we know about consciousness, the term makes no sense. No one can define “out of touch with reality” when no one knows what the thing being touched is. I want to explore what mind care can look like, with reverence. I’ll call this amor mentis, love of the mind.

For Dorothea Buck, the mind is infinitely playful and meaning-making, with neurodivergent states being one way the psyche speaks to itself. For Schreber, neurodivergent states apprehend the larger cosmic and supernatural forces that surround him. Albert Einstein said, “There are only two ways to live your life. One is as though nothing is a miracle. The other is as though everything is a miracle.” Schreber, in whose book the word “miracle” appears almost four hundred times, chooses the latter.

Both Schreber and Buck wrote memoirs. Schreber’s was mistranslated into English as Memoirs of My Nervous Illness. The real title is Great Thoughts of a Nervous Patient with Postscripts and an Addendum Concerning the Question “Under What Circumstances Can a Person Considered Insane Be Detained in an Asylum Against His Own Declared Will?” Schreber’s memoirs became the most famous patient-written document in the history of psychiatry, adored in Schreber’s lifetime by Sigmund Freud and Carl Jung, and by scores of thinkers since. Freud called him “the wonderful Schreber” and said his wonderful Schreber should have been the director of an institution, not an inmate.

In his commitment case, Schreber submitted his memoirs both to the doctor opposing him and to the court. Schreber saw a vast universe of rays, a cosmic architecture full of miracles that could be, in his words, both gruesome and holy. He documented in detail his transition to female at Sonnenstein asylum, which for most of his doctors, and future analysts, became another “symptom.” I read his book as a book about that gruesome and holy cosmic architecture, and about his very real transition.

Schreber’s pleading to the court for release forms the greatest work of jurisprudence on behalf of the mad.

Buck’s book is On the Trail of the Morning Star: Psychosis as Self-Discovery and since publication has found a relatively small audience. I got a copy of the book in 2019 and loved it so much I had it translated, finally placing it with U.S. press Punctum Books. Buck’s title comes from an early vision, when she walked across a mudflat on an island in the North Sea, trailing a star that both was and wasn’t there. As she did, a very real tideway wondrously emptied, as later a vision of a smoldering blanket physically burned her. In consensus thought, the shared hallucination, Buck lay under an ordinary blanket. Yet she was really burned, her wounds requiring medical care.

Buck and Schreber lived and preserved their profound visions in cultures that taught them their mind, and its products, had no value. They lived their own minds fully, a possibility the concept of neurodiversity should open, though in the almost three decades since the term has come into use, it’s mostly narrowed. Their madness became its own form of apprehension, to Buck richly symbolic and metaphorical, to Schreber a vision of a fantastic universe. Both in madness heard and spoke a unique language.

Collectivity in perception doesn’t guarantee truth. Buck had a vision in 1936 of Hitler’s coming war proving “monstrous.” Buck’s mother took her to a doctor, the vision of monstrous war a symptom, like the loony cartoon prophet’s apocalypse sign. If only millions of people had had her symptom.

More madness: Two nights after the death of my mother, I lay in bed in my parents’ home in New Jersey and heard a voice speaking from a radiator. A newscaster, a male voice so monotonous I can’t recall anything precise. Weather, thefts, a car stalled on a bridge. It wouldn’t stop and gave me eight dark hours of staring at the ceiling. It scared me, knowing it both was there and wasn’t. Yet on its own the voice had little content. Snippets of news repeated and repeated, the way you hear a radio tuned in on a monotonous drive, when you keep it playing but barely know it’s on.

Once on a trip to Macon, Georgia, I became stuck in an elevator so tiny it fit two shoulder to shoulder. It had been built into an old three-story house now rented by the floor. The elevator had no emergency button, just a scrawled phone number taped on the door. When I pushed the button for the third floor, it heaved, then juddered to a halt. Heart-stopping, but we soon started moving again. In psychosis, I returned and languished in that elevator. No emergency button, no response to my pounding. Forever stuck. The scratched-up steel walls began to enclose me at night. I had to cancel an overseas trip. The airplane, I knew, would be an elevator.

This hallucination, and the roses and voices, were part of the 2019 episode. The break began with a drop into depression so physical I felt my bed collapse under me. Much of this period was excruciating, but some of it gorgeous as airborne roses. Afraid. Alive. Finally, I hallucinated intensely for several weeks. During these weeks nothing was beautiful.

In madness, someone’s consciousness has come to a point where it either bothers the holder of it, or someone else has become bothered by it. If it’s the holder that’s bothered, there’s work to do. It should always be work that tells the owner of that consciousness to value, not to fear, their mind. What psychologist Richard Bentall calls the “madness of fearing madness,” the panic of believing the mind is “going,” is very real. Few people are taught to trust their consciousness, this great gift, the one that makes all other gifts possible.

Psychologist Lisa Cosgrove and journalist Robert Whitaker write that our culture has allowed psychiatry to become a philosophy as much as it is a medicine—a philosophy of the normal that’s “a very constricted space.” They call it an “impoverished philosophy of being.” It’s a philosophy that medicalizes the normal, the spiritual, the simply human. When I taught, students sometimes told me they worried about “going crazy,” not because of unhappiness, but because they had mental experiences they considered strange. Even “hallucinations” like hearing voices are common and affect between 10 and 20 percent of the population at some time. Sigmund Freud heard voices and found the phenomenon not sick but interesting. Our current world has little room for Shakespeare’s “the lunatic, the lover, and the poet,” who are of “imagination all compact.” No one wants their lunatics near their lovers.

My last break created a change that exists outside language. My experiences had what I can only call residue. I never quite left them, or they me. Sometimes when I make plane reservations now, I feel the seat first as an elevator. My world is bigger and louder. It feels pierced, in a new way, by my consciousness. Birds still speak. I mind less, when I do mind. Often, I find what a correspondent of Buck described in her psychosis as the discovery that “there are deeper floors under their living space and higher ones above it.” As soon as I read that letter, my elevator came to me, a living image that continues to do psychic work.

Because Dorothea Buck died in 2019, I found her then, when I most needed her strength and her faith in consciousness’s powers. I followed her star with her during my own psychotic break. She died in October, and by dying received the most attention she ever had in U.S. media: her obituaries. Most stressed only her sterilization and her age of 102. I found her book, her talks, her letters. Buck rewarded me with something of her fearlessness. I understood my voices as coming from a different part of myself, one with a different pitch and grammar. Buck taught me to let go of the madness of fearing madness. In the process of following Buck, I revisited Schreber. He reminded me of the grandness of our universe and how easily my sense of grandness gets hacked to fit constricted spaces.

I remembered, probably a month after my mother’s death, that my parents’ home has no radiators. The radiator had been a delusion within a delusion. I once wrote that if you meet me, I will generally not be hallucinating. After I wrote this, I realized it’s a letter-of-the-law kind of fact. I will generally not be attending to my hallucinations, as I kept in my head the radiator that was not a radiator (which in the neurotypical world I would have realized instantly) for weeks. I still hear birds speak and have a loud inner echolalia. “Attending to” versus “having” is a subtle distinction but a real one.

Buck said throughout her life that what psychiatry needed most was dialogue. “As long as we talk to each other,” she repeated at the interviews, talks, and protests that marked her life, “we don’t kill each other.” Historian Uta Hoffman wrote of the German euthanasia programs that “the sick and disabled did not experience the end of the war as a caesura comparable to the liberation of prisoners from the concentration camps; they were neither released from their condition nor spared future prejudice.” I cannot provide that caesura, but I can narrate this history as someone implicated, both in the eugenics actions and in their current aftershocks. My people have never had their collective reckoning, their “never forget.”

The eighteenth century’s great reformer Philippe Pinel wrote that the highest calling of the psychiatric doctor was understanding each patient’s “hopes and dreams.” Pinel restored hope by understanding the individual. He released many of the patients he found at his Paris asylums, housed in barbaric conditions, back to their lives. It was a student of Pinel’s, Ernst Pienitz, who turned Sonnenstein asylum into Europe’s pinnacle. Pinel’s moral treatment and Sonnenstein’s first iteration of mind care should be, but aren’t, a past leading to a present.

Movements like Mad Pride, the Icarus Project, and the Hearing Voices Movement have changed lives by offering amor mentis. Critiques of biological psychiatry exist within and without the profession. Psychiatry contains good people who want to heal. But treatment still follows the biological lines that began in the 1980s: twenty minutes or so to a diagnosis, checking off symptoms from a list, then writing a prescription. This has become necessary for insurance reimbursement, for the sanity-industrial complex to function. Few doctors and fewer patients get educated in the difficulty of going off psych meds and the problems, like anxiety and depression, caused by withdrawal, so prescriptions often become lifelong. If Buck’s “conversation” happens, it’s generally in the office of a therapist whose presence requires money or health insurance, and who doesn’t interact with the prescribing doctor. Without reverence for the mind, medicine will continue to fall into the traps of its history.

“I understand ‘healing’ in the sense that one integrates one’s psychosis experiences and no longer has to split them off from oneself or repress them,” Buck wrote in a letter. By integration she meant living in wholeness, rather than in a condition she described as “unable to fulfill my profession or my education with concentration . . . because my psychosis experiences were more important to me.” By this standard, and not medicine’s, Buck was healed.

Each individual human is their own “beautiful universe,” as Anil Seth puts it. I love to learn about these universes. When I wrote my book A Mind Apart, I began a practice I continue: asking people how they think. Not what, but how—in what way do they actually put thought together? One person tells me they have a mental elevator, stopping at different floors for different subjects (oh, those magical elevators!). More than one person said they can think only in dialogue, using real or imagined people as partners. One man keeps a file cabinet of everyone he knows, pulling thoughts of people out of the cabinet like cards. Many told me they get what one man called “looks of concern” from medical people if they describe their inner worlds. Like my students, they worry their mental content, though they consider it very natural, might on its own indicate they’re “ill.”

Anil told me he believes that “bringing to light our inner diversity could be as transformational for society as recognition of our externally visible diversity has been,” with neurodiversity not a separate category but a human feature. I would love for the story I tell to help this transformation. It seems strange for the medical field that addresses thought to, essentially, never think about it.

When I was twelve, I wrote in my diary that life was a sort of play and humans were characters wearing “garments of such complexity and intricacy it dazzles the one who is slow enough to think about it.” The “slowness” to think about it, I indicated, was not normal. To be slow enough was to allow your brain to break the rules. I felt then that I could do this, and my difference let those “garments” (I think, young as I was, I chose a word that had more magic than “clothing”) dazzle. I don’t know how I appeared to others as I watched those garments. I imagine I seemed socially awkward. But this is the version of the story I want to live.
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The Natural Self-Cleansing of Our People

Emil Kraepelin and His Legacy
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An unrestricted ruler, who—guided by our present knowledge—could ruthlessly interfere with the habits of man, would in the course of a few decades be able to achieve a corresponding decrease in insanity.

EMIL KRAEPELIN

Although the specific nature and scale of the psychiatric abuses during the years 1933 to 1945 in Germany were unique in the profession’s history, psychiatrists may be at high risk for ethical breaches because of how they and society define, as well as accommodate to, their role and power. . . . It would be a mistake to see the circumstances of the Holocaust as unique and as incapable of recurrence.

RAEL STROUS, “Psychiatry During the Nazi Era”



IN 1998 A NEUROSCIENTIST NAMED CHRISTOF KOCH MADE A BET WITH CONSCIOUSness philosopher David Chalmers that in twenty-five years the hard problem would be solved. The 1990s was the Decade of the Brain, a designation first given it by President George H. W. Bush. Novel tools, like functional MRIs, showed the brain in action, lighting up areas in use by tracking oxygen. Science learned a great deal but not as much as it wanted to, and none of which solved the hard problem. In 2023 Koch conceded and gifted Chalmers some expensive Madeira. Chalmers knows his hard problems, having come up with the term. Koch himself is kind and very smart and holds an expansive view of consciousness. But I doubt any scientist now working on consciousness would risk his liquor money.

In the late 1800s a German psychiatrist named Emil Kraepelin declared that madness was actually a variety of madnesses, each with its own title and disease process in the brain. Human thoughts went from representing something a person was to something they had. Kraepelin arrived first at what U.S. psychiatrist and neo-Kraepelinian Gerald Klerman called in 1977 “discrete mental disorders” that offer a “boundary” between the normal and the sick. Kraepelin’s biological thinking had flattened the hard problem in a way no one had yet considered. Not that Chalmers’s hard problem existed then. What did were concepts like Sigmund Freud’s unconscious, a hard problem forerunner. For Freud, consciousness had a symbolic and often bizarre underbelly especially active in dreams. An unconscious that, to mix metaphors, threw wrenches into its accessible twin and generated neurosis, anxiety, sadness, madness.

But for Kraepelin, madness wasn’t a unique mental state or a matter of the psyche. It was schizophrenia and bipolar disorder and depression, a malfunctioning brain producing these states and others. Disease classification is called nosology. Addressing these biological states required nosology—differential diagnosis and tailored responses. Kraepelin had sad eyes under heavy brows, a hairline that receded, and a moustache and beard that grew bushier and whiter as he aged. He became one of those men who could be tapped to wear a Santa suit, though he’d have made a depressing Santa. Rather than keeping patient notes as Freud did, which Freud said read like “novels,” Kraepelin made thousands of index cards.

Kraepelin used cards because life situations formed a side issue, if that, of his diagnostics. “So-called psychic causes, unhappy love, business failure, overwork,” he wrote, “are the product rather than the cause of the disease; they are merely the outward manifestation of a pre-existing condition.” Criminality also came from a “congenitally inferior place,” forming a type of mental illness. As mental illness grew out of individual biology, it would, under the rules of genetics, be inherited. As such it becomes a social problem: If society’s “defectives” breed, society breeds itself into ruin.

Though he died in 1926, before National Socialism, Kraepelin trained some of the worst of the Nazi doctors. He didn’t tell these doctors they should kill. He simply helped instill in them beliefs that allowed them to do so. Kraepelin advocated forced sterilization but not euthanasia. A person’s own limits, though, tend to be emotional rather than theoretical. Students get the theoretical.

I start here with Kraepelin and his legacy because so much that happens in this book depends on him. And, as with so much history, so little of it was predictable until you look back. It’s a paradox, like the paradox of a country with the strongest code of medical ethics in the West producing the Nazi doctors. Germany in the 1930s and 1940s had laws requiring consent for medical experimentation, laws against experimenting on children. These laws exceeded the standards of the Nuremberg medical code that came out of the 1940s trials of Nazi doctors. As Israeli psychiatrist and historian Rael Strous writes, “ethics training without a focus on history is useless.”

The disease categories most associated with Kraepelin’s reform of psychiatric thinking were schizophrenia—though he called it dementia praecox, or “premature dementia”—and manic depression. I’m a perfect Kraepelinian, having been diagnosed with both. As dementia praecox suggests, sad-eyed Dr. Kraepelin believed insanity had “terminal states.”

In spite of, or maybe in part because of, all I’m telling you here, Kraepelin has been the dominant theoretical force in modern U.S. psychiatry. The “neo-Kraepelinian revolution” happened in the 1970s, when I first entered the psychiatric system. Kraepelin’s story is essential to the history I tell here, but it’s also essential to the history now being made. That the focus of psychiatry should be on biological brain disorder is both Kraepelin’s belief and one of the core beliefs of contemporary neo-Kraepelinian psychiatry. Or on the concept of biological brain disorder, as most of its theories still lack hard proof. This focus also lies at the heart of our drug-driven, twenty-minute evaluation, fifteen-minute med-check system of care.

Kraepelin resisted what he thought of as the haphazard (and overly libido, or sex-based) psychoanalysis done by the likes of Sigmund Freud. He wanted his field to function like any other medicine, using symptom lists and diagnostic categories well-trained practitioners could agree on. The neo-Kraepelinians wanted this too. Kraepelin also believed the psychiatrist served society. This service meant keeping the population cleansed of hereditary impurities.

It takes work to ignore Kraepelin’s mostly ignored eugenic beliefs. He believed in social degeneration and wrote about it often: Bad “germ-plasm” threatens the population, and medicine needs to act ruthlessly to prevent it. Considering degeneracy, Kraepelin cites “the well-known example of the Jews, with their strong disposition towards nervous and mental disorders.” In other writings he claims Jews tend toward “psychopathy.” Part of Kraepelin’s lifelong antisemitism stemmed from the fact that Jewish civilization had such a long history—so long he thought the “race” had devolved into weakness and madness.

“I have,” Kraepelin wrote of himself, “felt myself more or less lonely all through my life. I had, however, a strongly marked feeling of race and stock . . . My whole heart belonged to my fatherland and I willingly flung away cool objectivity of judgment when it was a matter of defending German interests.” By his own admission Kraepelin rushed research conclusions out, releasing, as he put it, “facts nearest to the truth.” The urgency came from the mad-doctor’s dual duty, to race and country as well as to patient. Only doctors could control “whether the forces of degeneration or those of sustainability and progressive development have the upper hand in our people.” The damage the socially inferior do, Kraepelin wrote, as they “transfer their inferiority to their offspring, is incalculable. Of course, the damage will be balanced in part by their lower viability; however, our highly developed social welfare has the sad side-effect that it operates against the natural self-cleansing of our people.”

Kraepelin considered democracy a hopeless political system, though to be faked if necessary to keep people happy. Inevitably, leaders rose to the top because of superior genetic material, while the proletariat sank due to their genetic lacks. Kraepelin’s was a kind of prosperity gospel of the genes.

In 1978 Gerald Klerman, who declared a clear boundary between the normal mind and the sick one, named himself and a group of other biological psychiatrists neo-Kraepelinians. They intended to bring back Kraepelinian biology, the world of failed loves and lost jobs as outward manifestations of brain disorder rather than the reverse. Cure lies in physiology. The neo-Kraepelinians’ most tangible product was a book of disease categories and symptom lists called the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, or DSM. The DSM is both a medical philosophy and the pumping heart of our psychiatric system. Diagnosis requires a DSM label, and its disease code is required for insurance reimbursement. The latest edition contains some six hundred categories, including caffeine-induced sleep disorder, which I’ll grant a very brief symptom checklist (possibly measured in cups) could diagnose. I am one of many possible codes for bipolar, though on any given day picking one—Bipolar I, most recent episode in partial remission, mixed—feels less science than horoscope.

To fit mental states and traits more firmly in the category of “disease,” the DSM lists disorders with predictions about “onset” and “disease course”—though schizophrenia, to give one example, is described as chronic and degenerative in a way that goes contrary to research, which shows many schizophrenics recover. DSM symptoms can be ludicrous—one sign of mania is “increase in goal-directed activity.” Increased activity is part of a list of seven symptoms, of which any three would get the bearer a diagnosis of mania. The other two could be sleeping less and having “flights of ideas.” I don’t know anyone who doesn’t have periods like this, especially those who work in research and the arts. Or, for that matter, anyone planning a wedding or bar or bat mitzvah or studying for a major test. How much “goal-directed activity” will a male clinician allow a woman before thinking it’s pathological? A white one a Black patient? The autism section presents the pathology of those who don’t understand why people lie. Welcome to the most constricted of spaces.

Kraepelinian self-quiz: Is “remission” no newscasters? No elevators? Pleasant ones? Ones that, unpleasant as they are, I can ignore, to stand in the kitchen and drink coffee, hopefully not too much?

The neo-Kraepelinians saw in the historical Kraepelin “a likeminded prestigious historical figure who could serve as their standard bearer,” in the words of German historian Eric Engstrom. Both Kraepelin and his descendants sought prestige and a medical discipline that, like any other, studies haywire physical processes. Such an interpretation of mad-doctoring puts its ultimate expertise and ultimate authority in medical-specialist training. Collaboration with the patient or knowledge of the patient’s life might be useful in biological medicine but could hardly be called essential. Buck’s conversation becomes a luxury.

If you google Kraepelin’s name, you’ll see a multitude of iterations of his importance. He is the “pioneer” of our scientific understanding, our “father,” “grandfather,” or “founder,” an “icon,” one of the “five most influential psychiatrists of all time”—these from sources like the National Institutes of Health, Psychology Today, the American Journal of Psychiatry, Britannica. Kraepelin’s U.S. revival either ignores his history or puts a boundary like Klerman’s around it, good theory versus ill theory, though Kraepelin made central the social implications of diseased brains. Neo-Kraepelinian Nancy Andreasen wrote in 1985 that a disproportionate number of the prison population, therefore criminals in general, have disordered brains.

Two Kraepelin students became lifelong friends while working with him: Paul Nitsche, who ran Schreber’s Sonnenstein asylum and then headed Aktion T4, and Ernst Rüdin. Nitsche was a good-natured native of Pirna whose psychiatrist father worked at Sonnenstein just before Paul Schreber’s arrival. Nitsche left his post with Kraepelin a bit early due to illness. Kraepelin and Rüdin had a strong bond. Kraepelin made Rüdin his successor at his Institute for Psychiatric Research in Munich, which he’d founded. It isn’t surprising—uptight Rüdin shared his teacher’s dislike of tobacco, alcohol, and male homosexuality. He also embraced and extended Kraepelin’s principles of race hygiene or race purity, particularly regarding those he called the “parasitic, alien race,” the Jews.

Rüdin would go on to be one of the Nazi regime’s major scientific voices, promoting race hygiene at home and representing it and Nazi medicine internationally. He praised the Nuremberg race laws, which outlawed mixed marriage, for preventing Jewish “propagation.” Rüdin actively pursued his other passion, removing mental illness from the population. His was the mind behind the 1933 Law for the Prevention of Offspring with Hereditary Diseases, the law that saw three hundred thousand Germans sterilized, including a teenage Dorothea Buck. Rüdin shaped the law and wrote its medical justification. In doing so he worked with another Kraepelin-mentored psychiatrist, Robert Gaupp. Both doctors considered forced sterilization a posthumous homage to their teacher, the crowning of Kraepelin’s theories of racial and societal degeneracy.

Rüdin didn’t directly participate in T4, but he believed in the practice of euthanasia and provided the program with theoretical support. He also funded children’s euthanasia at Heidelberg University from his Institute budget. Out of fifty-odd children studied with Rüdin’s cash, twenty-one were killed, their brains removed for dissection. Rüdin believed children should be routinely evaluated for their fitness. Like many Nazi doctors, he thought other countries would embrace euthanasia after the war, and the practice would meet with international “understanding and approval.”

Rüdin is something of a Kraepelin, in that he’s still present in medical literature, and often not in the context of his failings. He’s credited with founding or helping found the field of “psychiatric genetics,” a field that, perhaps relatedly, also lacks hard proof. His research involved studying hereditary family patterns, particularly with schizophrenia. Rüdin’s papers on this subject are still taught. Ironically, when Kraepelin founded the institute Rüdin took over, he did so with financial support from a German-Jewish American banker and philanthropist named James Loeb.

The 1970s were my first years in the psychiatric system and a dire decade for the field. The profession confronted angry groups of abused patients, countercultural rebellion against social control, media like One Flew over the Cuckoo’s Nest, and loud, telegenic anti-psychiatrists like R. D. Laing. Furious protests by LGBTQ+ groups finally got “homosexuality” delisted from the DSM as a mental disease in 1973.

Beyond all this, psychiatry was fighting it out with psychotherapy for control of research and patient money. These struggles jump-started what historian Engstrom calls “the hagiographic enthusiasm emanating from historically challenged neo-Kraepelinians in North America.” Biological psychiatry solved a lot of problems. Scientific results, in theory, aren’t biased, and psychotherapists can’t adjust neurotransmitters. Many of the drugs prescribed had been around since the 1950s. The rhetoric of disease came less out of brain than of branding.

Midway through Covid, two years before Christof Koch would honor his consciousness bet, mental illness was declared the country’s “second pandemic.” I don’t know where this language originated. It appears seven million times in a search, in popular media outlets, the National Institutes of Health, industry mouthpieces like the Psychiatric Times. Covid created lots of suffering, but the increase in mental distress began decades before the pandemic. In 2000, fewer than 7 percent of Americans took a psychiatric prescription. By 2014 the figure increased to nearly 13 percent, and it now stands close to one-quarter. One force after another gets blamed for the increase in distress, especially in the young: social media, body image, video games, Covid. I recently read an article, posted on CNN, that blamed the youth crisis on helicopter parenting.

Science would normally look dimly at a cure thrown in greater and greater numbers at a problem that gets exponentially worse. I don’t think considering the physical brain is wrong. Our bodies, as Dorothea Buck wrote, affect everything—whether you out there feel happy may depend partly on your digestion. Gut health affects mood. But purely biological thinking is at best reductive, as reductive as it would be for me to tell you your happiness comes only from your intestines. Though neurotransmitter theory as taught has been largely debunked and there’s a rise in the use of terms like a “biopsychosocial” model of psychiatry, most patients with psychic pain are treated with a prescription written in less than half an hour. The runaway bus that is Kraepelin solves so many problems. It’s just that many don’t involve the patient.

Today’s methods also secretly or not-so-secretly lack what’s been part of all positive mad-doctoring in the past: hope for its own end. Cure, or cure beyond a future of daily medication. One of the reasons diabetes became the gold standard for comparison with mental illness—“a disease like any other”—is the fact that diabetics will never get by without drugs.

In Nazi Germany psychiatric institutions had a practice of giving tours. Eglfing-Haar in Bavaria became a death center in the late 1930s, largely for disabled children. Throughout the 1930s Eglfing opened its doors to over twenty thousand tours, many led by director and Kraepelin student Hermann Pfannmüller. Visitors to Eglfing included military and the general public, even groups from local schools. Tours concluded with a lecture by a doctor using patients as live models and were intended to build support for sterilization and eradication. One teenage boy wrote in a school paper that, obviously, the institution itself had made its patients mad. An American psychologist named David Rosenhan, who faked symptoms and had himself institutionalized in the 1970s, said anyone would go mad under the conditions he found. Rosenhan’s story, told in chapter 14 along with the full story of the DSM, added to psychiatry’s dismal decade. Based on my own treatment, I say it too. It’s a wise medicine that creates its own patients.

It’s not very Kraepelinian, or neo-Kraepelinian, of me, but I see ways now in which I needed that newscaster’s voice, the night my mother died. As it does even when it pains me, my consciousness did real work. I’d been soaked for weeks, and to a lesser degree for years, in my mother’s dying. She’d had Alzheimer’s. By Kraepelinian standards, she’d reached the end point at which all dementias, schizophrenia included, look alike.

In the few family memories she retained, my mother often erased me. She knew I existed and that I was her daughter, but she removed me from individual events. If my father mentioned a trip to New York to see his sister, my mother would say, You and Chris [my brother] and I went, but Susie wasn’t there. When my father said, Susie was eight, of course we wouldn’t go without her, my mother answered, Yes, isn’t it funny that we did. When I visited, if I moved out of her sight line, she’d tell my father I had left for the airport. In my mother’s head I went to the airport and came back again a dozen times a day. My mother’s consciousness dealt with our difficult relationship by a neat trick Kraepelin wouldn’t understand, but Freud would.

My mother also told my father she knew he wanted to have an affair with a woman that helped them. He had an unhealthy bond with this woman, one that continued after my mother’s death. The accusation held an insight into my father my mother had never made apparent in her pre-dementia life, though it was obvious enough. From her hospital bed, a little while before her death, my mother tried to punch this woman. Which is to say, even with a brain full of neurofibrillary plaques, the psyche will have its own.

My mother died after a hospital visit meant to be overnight that stretched into weeks, no two doctors telling the family anything consistent. One day she bounced between one doctor’s urinary infection and another’s lung cancer. We finally got her approved for a move to hospice, where she quickly died. Which is when my newscaster’s monotone forced me to soak in the this-world. With its traffic jams, bad weather, and non-death problems. It dragged me back to my existence, after the erasures, the diagnoses snatched like lottery numbers from the bin. The voice terrified me, but it also re-grounded me. I got home feeling as if some fundamental vigil, some long arm-wrestle with things outside of this world, was over.

In 2011 the Albany Times Union published an article by a doctor-in-training titled “Psychiatry: The One Specialty Where It’s Okay to Hate Your Patients.” This doctor cites the case of a woman who made her “furious.” Her fury, she realized, indicated the woman had borderline personality disorder, a diagnosis involving mood changes and erratic behavior given almost always to women. “I learned that emotional reactions to patients . . . are considered valuable in helping to diagnose the patient,” she writes. “In fact, I hear the psychiatrists discussing their (often negative) feelings about patients every single day.” She adds that “talking about how you dislike the patient or they drive you crazy would have never happened on my Pediatrics rotation!” The emphasis is hers.

The attitude is perfectly Kraepelinian: The patient speaks through the mouthpiece of disease and can’t help revealing herself. The sick can only be known through the gaze of expertise. Since I’ve been writing about the article, it’s been taken down from the newspaper’s site. I still have a copy—evidence to help the mad Schrebers defend us.

I talked about the disease model as less about brain and more about branding. That’s not entirely fair. Some doctors involved were greedy; some genuinely believed in their cause; most were probably a mix of the two. Stigma reduction was one of the ways neo-Kraepelinians promoted the disease model. I think they believed this. Their language of “disease like any other” has become ingrained by now and peaks during May, Mental Health Awareness Month. But the disease concept hasn’t helped, and some studies show stigma has grown worse. The Times Union commentary, written decades after the neo-Kraepelinian revolution, proves that. Who, in 2011, would endorse hating cancer patients?

Daily, most people call someone they dislike mad (lunatic crazy deranged insane sick in the head off meds, needs meds): bosses, neighbors, politicians, disbelievers in vaccines, believers in vaccines. When I taught, I heard teachers armchair-diagnose students every day, to the point that describing a class and hearing a psych eval didn’t sound very different. No one was bored, talkative then quiet, argumentative, or awkward. They were ADHD, bipolar, schizoid, Asperger’s. They didn’t have bad days, they were “off their meds.” A colleague frustrated with our department chair said she must be on the autism spectrum. No one I heard had read the DSM. The manual’s become the Taylor Swift of medicine, the thing that even if you don’t know, you know.

Don Lemon once said in a broadcast that Donald Trump just “piled the insanity on top of the insanity on top of the insanity.” If you questioned Don Lemon or media figures who use madness language, I imagine they’d say they didn’t mean it “that way.” Although they do mean insane “that way,” i.e., as clinically true. If it were me as Madwoman who posed the question, the answer would be “I don’t mean they’re like you.” I doubt anyone could find the dividing line between their me or their Trump, or truly believe one exists. Violent people get labeled mad, though there’s little to no correlation between violence and any psychiatric diagnosis. Madness is simply the ultimate insult, the one no one comes back from.
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Many T4 doctors and nurses defended themselves by saying they didn’t think the era’s new, scientific medicine could make so gross an error as to kill pointlessly. Weren’t the bad old days of whips, chains, cruelty in the past? This might have been a facile defense, but I don’t think, for many, it was a totally insincere one. A German doctor wrote a newspaper in the 1960s saying that no one could condemn Aktion T4, as it had been created by “top experts in the field.” The concept of expertise is a trap when you work in an area that is not and may never be understood. Kraepelin, like many doctors of his time, measured brains. He measured hundreds and hundreds and found the brains of the mentally ill are larger or smaller than normal. Of course, they’re not. That didn’t stop him from proving it.

That Kraepelin’s work has had such an impact is a strange fate for a repressed teetotaler who obsessed about all forms of “sexual excitability” and thought civilization itself was maddening. He wrote bad poetry, surely an overcivilized thing to do, with lines like “Trusting in the wings of my will / I swore to dispatch the misery of my people.” Kraepelin believed in pharmaceutical support but didn’t work a lot in this area. He fed patients alcohol, coffee, and tea and tested their reactions. Kraepelin also tried hypnosis, and hypnotized, according to his memoir, lizards and lobsters.

The director of the Sonnenstein memorial, Hagen Markwardt, sighed at me one day about modern psychiatry, “Well, we are taking our idea of normal from someone for whom not many behaviors counted as ‘normal.’ ”

Toward the end of his life, Kraepelin doubted some of the distinctions he made between psychoses. He respected most psychology, even if he didn’t practice it. A lifetime of medication might strike even Kraepelin as extreme. Psychiatry in Kraepelin’s time had few terms more descriptive than “lunatic,” and I imagine doctors found it useful to have common language. I doubt Kraepelin would agree with the more than six hundred disease categories we have now. In some ways the neo-Kraepelinians Kraepelin’d their idol, stuck him on index cards.

I read an article a few days ago in the journal Translational Psychiatry on neurobiology and mental illness. In it I found this: Quoting the second-century medical writings of Aretaeus of Cappadocia, the author listed Aretaeus’s symptoms of melancholia: “insensibility and fatuousness . . . they become ignorant of all things, or forgetful of themselves, and live the life of the inferior animals.” The author seemed to breathe an ah, calling these terms very “reminiscent” of the DSM–5 definition of schizophrenia. The 5 does not, I can tell you from looking, say anything about “inferior animals.” But apparently the description makes intuitive sense to a clinician who reads between the lines.

The Decade of the Brain was meant to solve, if not the hard problem, the problem of mental illness. It didn’t. In 2020 the American Psychiatric Association released a position paper stating that brain imaging brought little to the field. Brains change constantly and, in a drug-happy culture, scans can’t tell the difference between the problem itself or the results of long-term medication. Scans like fMRIs are hard to read, made up of flashes of light and color called voxels. In 2009, at Dartmouth, a group of researchers performed a typical fMRI scan, showing the subject photos and reading emotional response. They found complex emotional responses in the voxels emanating from a dead salmon.

I read Kraepelin’s Memoirs, not a book often read. Most of it deals with the doctor’s various trips and work on his textbooks, his summer place on the Isar River. His colleagues come into it—Nitsche appears and is very likable but departs early. Rüdin and Gaupp render “self-sacrificing assistance.” Patients are mostly faceless groups—the terminal cases, the restless ones. The back cover of the book celebrates Kraepelin’s achievements, how our current areas of investigation “were all either founded, inspired, or decisively supported by Emil Kraepelin.”

That’s not surprising. But the brief bio notes for others in the book are. Ernst Rüdin is listed by the titles he held and honors he received, obscuring the fact that his honors came from the Nazi government. Paul Nitsche, who headed T4, is defined by the positions he held with a brief note at the end saying he played a “role” in “the persecution of mentally ill patients.” The English edition of Memoirs came out in 1987. Nitsche was tried and executed in the 1940s, convicted of crimes against humanity and the murder of more than a thousand human beings. It’s a very well-recorded event, quite the role and quite the persecution.

In that same year, 1987, Heidelberg University had a celebration of its founding. Some talks honored Kraepelin, who once worked there. One eccentric doctor and presenter named Joseph Zubin posed the question of what Kraepelin would think of the current state of his field. Rather than answer the question, Zubin staged a little drama: He escorted an invisible “Emil” to a chair, sat him down, and ventriloquized the answer: “I wonder, however, why you call the method neo-Kraepelinian. It seems to me that you have returned to the original Kraepelin system.”

In her book The Broken Brain, neo-Kraepelinian Nancy Andreasen describes Kraepelin as a doctor who “surrounded himself with some of the best minds available to do research in neuroscience.” Andreasen, a woman with a stiff pixie cut who calls herself a neuropsychiatrist, is not a bad person. She’s done research on madness and creativity and reported on the physical damage long-term antipsychotics wreak on the brain, though by her own admission, she shared these results reluctantly. But Andreasen bet more than wine on a simplistic and poorly supported answer to the hard problem.

British psychiatric historian Michael Shepherd once said to Andreasen, “I was very sad to see that you’ve turned [Kraepelin] into an icon. He was a monster who has done a great deal of harm.” Was he? I see in him a degeneracy process of the idea, the idea that begins with flaws capable of growing and breeding. There’s no nosology for that.
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The Normal and the Sick

Philippe Pinel to Ernst Pienitz
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I have nowhere met, except in romances, with fonder husbands, more affectionate parents, more impassioned lovers, more pure and exalted patriots, than in the lunatic asylum.

PHILIPPE PINEL, “The Clinical Training of Doctors: An Essay of 1793”



ON DECEMBER 11, 1794, A DOCTOR NAMED PHILIPPE PINEL DELIVERED ONE OF THE most consequential speeches in psychiatry, one that challenged his audience then and would challenge audiences now. He stood in front of a group of French leaders and declared madness curable. And called the mad not only human, but among the best people he’d ever known. These were radical and probably unbelievable statements, tempered only by Pinel’s bringing up the very French subject of good soup. The group Pinel addressed was misleadingly named the Society for Natural History, actually a mix of scientists, doctors, officials, and intellectuals. Published later as his Memoir on Madness, Pinel’s talk formed at once scientific treatise, manifesto, and plea.

The story of Sonnenstein asylum begins with a doctor named Ernst Gottlob Pienitz, and the story of Ernst Gottlob Pienitz begins with Pinel. Pinel’s story begins when he comes to see lovers and patriots in a ward of tortured men. Lovers and patriots might be found elsewhere, naturally. At the asylum of Bicêtre, in 1793, the trick was in seeing.

If my mad career began with Pienitz, I would have lived my madness in a place with pianos, a library, a chaplain, concerts, and a view of the Elbe. I might have cooked or gardened, both because these are useful things, and because I like doing them. My doctor would have the face of a cherub and call patient improvement his “greatest joy.”

Had Philippe Pinel been my doctor in Paris at the end of the eighteenth century, he would have found me chained, starving, and crouching in filth. The degree of the patients’ anguish in these places—the near-feral state it reduced them to—gave the asylums of this era a small income. Visitors could come and gawk at the inmates for a few pennies, a leisure day distraction, like visiting a zoo. Visitors would hope I’d foam and shriek, often helped along with pokes or lashings from them or my keepers.

Into this life Pinel would come with his colleague Jean-Baptiste Pussin. They would undo my shackles and those of the women around me. Pinel and Pussin found patients who’d been chained for as long as forty-five years. I’d get enough to eat, even, thanks to Pussin, those “succulent and tasty” soups Pinel mentioned in his address to the Society. Soon Pinel would fill notebooks with my thoughts and my life story. Pinel would not have allowed Kraepelin his index cards.

I have never considered myself mad in the sense that others may think of it—lost in a mindless irrationality. But if I under those circumstances encountered a Pinel, I think I would find myself believing in my own madness.

It’s hard to exaggerate the importance of Pinel to psychiatry and impossible to understand the first incarnation of Paul Schreber’s Sonnenstein asylum without him, the incarnation that made the subsequent Sonnenstein even darker. Pinel had a wry smile and high forehead, so high he looked almost like a caricature of an intellectual. Historian George Rousseau compared Pinel’s place in the field of psychiatry with Isaac Newton’s in the natural sciences. It’s apt if you can imagine that Newton not only advanced our knowledge but also saved an enormous number of people from a lifetime of physical suffering.

Pinel entered a field that had no name and therefore, no real existence. Christian Reil would coin the term “psychiatry” (German psychiatrie), meaning “care of the soul,” in 1808. Mad-doctors in Pinel’s time were just doctors. They used methods like bloodletting; prescribing heavy doses of laxatives and emetics; and making wounds, then burning those wounds with chemicals, a practice called blistering. The mad were thought bestial, and in a circular process, treated in a way that left them exactly as described. They were also thought degenerate and likely to be criminals; many asylums indiscriminately housed both. Many people drawn to work in asylums were themselves brutal people.

So beyond humanity were the mad that even King George III of England, the king who lost his colony of America, suffered as men did at Bicêtre. A doctor named Francis Willis treated George for his periodic manias in 1788. No one’s sure whether George went through real manias, suffered the disease porphyria, or had arsenic poisoning, found then in cosmetics used by both men and women. We do know a king’s sacred and untouchable body (it’s still unacceptable to touch the English monarch without permission) got blistered, tied up, purged. A Countess Harcourt later recalled that George was “frequently beaten and starved” and “the unhappy patient . . . was no longer treated as a human being.” Madness trumps even divine right.

Philippe Pinel, born in 1745, spent his first years as a doctor translating professional articles and teaching. He also began visiting psychiatric patients and writing about what he observed. Pinel was appointed medical director of a public hospital for men, Bicêtre, in 1792. There he met a man he would call his teacher—the asylum’s superintendent, or “governor,” Jean-Baptiste Pussin. Pussin, though not a doctor, had already made unheard-of reforms. He unchained most of the patients at Bicêtre, using if anything lighter restraint-jackets. Pussin raised his patients’ ration of bread from near-starving level and added other dishes to the diet. As governor, he worked with his equally skilled wife, Marguerite. The Pussins were the reason for Pinel’s diversion into the subject of soup in his 1794 speech—theirs, Pinel assured his audience, were “as succulent and tasty . . . as any citizen might desire.” The mad, as you do, implied Pinel, respond to soup.

Pinel lived during the Enlightenment, the period that ran roughly from the late 1700s to 1815. Enlightenment thinking stressed rationality and science; the revolution stressed liberty, equality, fraternity. In this atmosphere, doctors other than Pinel moved in the direction of humane treatment. Vincenzo Chiarugi in Florence reformed asylums and tried to understand the roots of psychiatric problems. Christian Reil in Germany did the same.

But there was no one as important as Pinel, who insisted we understand the mad as individuals whose minds exist in the contexts of their lives—whole and conscious beings, not malfunctioning machines. Pinel said that at Bicêtre he began to “adopt that method of investigation which has invariably succeeded in all the departments of natural history, viz., to notice successively every fact, without any other object than that of collecting materials for future use.” But by “facts,” Pinel meant facts of the body and facts of individual human lives.

Under Pussin, no attendant could hit a patient, even in response to being struck. Pussin staffed the asylum with many convalescent patients, who understood the horrors of contemporary treatments. As Sonnenstein’s Pienitz would learn under Pinel, Pinel learned from Pussin, seeing the rapid changes in the well-treated mad. Pinel added further reforms, like sunny rooms and outdoor walks. Patients who could did tasks like gardening and sewing. In Germany this faith in labor would come to be called Arbietstherapie, or “work therapy,” and Beschaftigungstherapie, or “keeping busy therapy.” A student of mine told me she’d gone to the university psychiatrist for depression and got handed a prescription and a packet of adult coloring books. There were no counselors available, she was told, but she could color. These jobs weren’t the equivalent of coloring books. Patients were meant to participate in managing their own environment and their own care.

After nineteen months at Bicêtre, Pinel and Pussin moved to Salpêtrière, a woman’s asylum. An 1876 portrait of Pinel shows him holding a sort of staff while a woman beside him rises free from a shackled huddle. She stands in a loose white dress, a shoulder bare, almost erotically disheveled. Another freed woman kneels by Pinel and kisses his hand. Pussin stands by Pinel, shaggy-haired, leaning forward kindly and wearing a long white apron. Titled Pinel Freeing the Insane, the painting was done by Tony Robert-Fleury, an artist who painted key moments in French history. An 1849 painting of Pinel by another artist shows him liberating men at Bicêtre. If you read a description of either work, you are likely to see in that description the phrase “Father of Modern Psychiatry,” an elevation apparently forgotten when the title got bestowed on Emil Kraepelin. The Robert-Fleury painting dates just before Englishman Francis Galton kicked off the eugenics movement.

At Bicêtre, Pinel told his audience, within one year he’d released twenty-five of two hundred back into the community, after he tried “every means of restoring alienated reason.” Given the condition in which he found people, this number must have landed with some astonishment. (Had some of the audience paid their pennies to see snarling men who later packed their bags and went home? Likely, I imagine). Pinel introduced his audience to the loving husbands and zealous patriots of my headnote. He praised Pussin and all he’d learned. And he asked that the “Legislative Body itself should endow a public asylum for the insane with the well-planned grand design that this nation requires.” The new egalitarian France needed asylums that reflected its soul.

Like many modern psychiatric critics, and the high school boy touring Eglfing-Haar, Pinel argued that mad-doctoring’s own practices created the problems it sought to address.

Sigmund Freud said his case notes read like novels. Pinel’s cases feel Shakespearean, as in the story of a man overcome by fear that he’d been sentenced to the guillotine. Or the famous clockmaker, whose work left him obsessed with the idea of motion. Pinel cured the former by holding a trial in the asylum and finding him not guilty, like Edgar healing his father by faking an unsuccessful suicide in King Lear. Pinel never denied the internal logic of his patients’ delusions; he worked with those delusions and often admired them. The clockmaker had become obsessed with creating a perpetual motion machine and lived himself in a state of perpetual motion—he couldn’t stop singing, shouting, and dancing. Pinel let the clockmaker move around as he wished. Another of the clockmaker’s delusions—that he had been guillotined and lived, but the wrong head had been put back on his body—Pinel stopped by an elaborate bout of teasing. Ultimately the clockmaker went home.

Rather than bestial and lost, Pinel said, his patients and their mental states couldn’t be untangled from their gifts. Pinel told his Paris audience that his patients’ “present state derives only from a vivid sensitivity and from psychologic qualities we value highly.” The value of neurodiversity was to Pinel an obvious conclusion drawn from being with the mad for longer than twenty minutes. Pinel would have made a good member of the Schreber court.

While texts still celebrate Pinel’s evidence-gathering, his use of the term “evidence” is often cleaved to mean only his symptomologies and classifications (of which he had five, none involving caffeine). Pinel’s “evidence” also meant the souls of his patients, the information he called entirely essential: “their hopes and their dreams.” Pinel talked to patients multiple times a day and kept notes. He believed not only in understanding lost hopes but also in helping revive those hopes. As with his student Ernst Pienitz, these connections feel like the part of his work he loved most. I think of Buck’s comment that clinicians themselves would enjoy their jobs if only they talked with patients. We are, she implied, interesting.

Pinel believed the best impulses of humanity are inseparable from its madness. I cannot call this an idea ahead of its time; the idea has yet to have its time. Pinel called his new way to treat mental illness the traitement moral. The term refers less to morality on the part of the practitioner than to taking a psychological and humanistic approach. Though the morale/moral translation is misleading, the mistranslation spread.

I have had two psychiatrists in my life who were among the best people I’ve ever known. If you use the mistranslation of traitement moral, they were moral. I’ve had more than two who were contemptuous. One doctor said if I didn’t start telling him things, I might kill myself, then stared at me balefully. I saw a psychiatrist recently for a preliminary visit (I insist on these). As we made small talk about insurance, he pushed his chair back from his desk in increments until it audibly scraped the wall. He’d set up the patient’s chair—my chair—on the other side of the room, also placed as close as possible to the wall. I felt my own powerful repellent force. At the time I was trying to switch from a doctor who has, she told me, between five and six hundred patients. This is an extraordinarily high case load, but my town, like many, has few options.

Pinel’s work spread, and the case histories he published became standard reading. William Tuke, a Quaker in England, knew of Pinel but was radicalized after a fellow Quaker, Hannah Mills, died in the nearby York asylum. Tuke toured the place and was revolted by its conditions—the same dirty, chained, neglected patients that had galvanized Pinel. Though not a doctor, Tuke raised funds and opened a small moral treatment asylum in York in 1796. The Retreat at York, like Pinel’s Bicêtre, was so different in approach that it was less a reform than a fundamental rethinking of human life and the human mind. To believe that providing a certain kind of existence cures madness is to believe madness itself is a response to existence. Patients at the Retreat had tea parties, sewed and gardened, read literature, and even had a daily glass of port or wine with a biscuit.

York methods spread to other countries through the Tuke family’s writings and through former patients. Thomas Scattergood, a tanner and depressive, restless man who went by the wonderful nickname of the Mournful Prophet, found peace at the Retreat. Scattergood moved to Philadelphia and in 1813 helped found the Quaker Friends Asylum for the Relief of Persons Deprived of the Use of Their Reason.

In 1783 Benjamin Rush, a Philadelphia doctor, reformed the local Pennsylvania Hospital, a place that, like the French and British hospitals, allowed paying visitors to tour and jeer. One of the signers of the Declaration of Independence, Rush came from a Quaker family and was also an abolitionist. On his orders, Pennsylvania Hospital’s psychiatric patients moved into a newly built wing in 1793, close to the time when Pinel spoke to the Society in Paris. There they slept in beds and could move around and take walks. Rush wrote that patients should be treated with kindness and no promise made to them should be broken, but also that “terror should be employed” in the cure of madness. His efforts led the way for further reform, notably by Dorothea Dix, who lobbied Congress and helped create a new asylum system in the United States later in the 1800s.

The turn of the nineteenth century brought an “air of reform,” in the words of journalist Robert Whitaker, to the practice of psychiatry. More and more, moral treatment and hope for the patient took the place of abuse and isolation. The movement pushed mad-doctors toward the mad mind—not so much the brain itself, though doctors still considered that, but also the psyche. Christian Reil’s word “psychiatrie” contained a very real pledge to its meaning.

The moral treatment had a streak of middle-class ethos behind it, and often a paternalistic discipline. Pinel used bloodletting to the extent it was thought genuinely medicinal (Pienitz did not) and even blistering, though very sparingly. He spoke to his French audience about how he subdued the mad at times with a “thundering voice.” It’s worth remembering that Pinel, as would Pienitz at Sonnenstein, dealt with people who had been driven by their psychiatric treatment to a near-feral state—as would I be, as would you be. And his French audience would have feared the mad as dangerously uncontrollable. Pinel promises that a thundering voice can be enough.

Thinkers like Michel Foucault, who wrote Madness and Civilization, criticized the moral treatment for trying to make out of madmen typical bourgeois citizens. This is hard to argue, with the tea parties and concerts. Much in a day at York would fit a Jane Austen novel. The moral treatment created normalcy to pull into normalcy the disordered imagination. The doctor thus had to create a working definition of normal, and that of course would be his own.

For myself I imagine a Retreat at York stay less as a normalcy imposed on my madness than my madness redefining and reinventing normalcy. The Mad Hatter too has tea parties.

And modern institutions? I encountered plenty of abusive behavior in my time in “mental hospitals” or “mental wards.” A member of my extended family ended up in a private hospital an hour and a half south of us, the only place that had a bed available during her mania. On our first visit she drooled and passed out in front of us from an enormous load of lithium and major tranquilizers. A commitment hearing was scheduled behind the family’s back, though notification was mandatory. I withheld telling anyone this story; it sounded like lunacy, even to me. Then The Seattle Times ran an exposé on this hospital and another local one titled “Free to Check in but Not to Leave” about this practice of holding patients coercively and even illegally, for profit.

These hospitals belonged to a chain of institutions owned by a company called Universal Health Services, one of the largest chains of psychiatric hospitals in the country. Many have been called out for these and other infractions, including understaffing, sexual abuse, aggressive restraint, and wrongful death. The company finally gave the Justice Department $122 million to settle an investigation on wrongful holds in 2020. A 2024 report from The New York Times found another large chain, Acadia, guilty of wrongful holds and abuse, including rape, at its facilities. Acadia runs almost six thousand psychiatric hospital beds.

Pinel would have addressed our leaders as he did the Society and let his voice thunder their way as well. Even the listless anomie of a “good” hospital, with patients removed from their rooms in the mornings and mostly plunked in front of TVs all day, would not have passed with him as medicine.

Pinel also taught that while in psychiatry it is a great art to know how to administer medicines properly, it is a much greater art to know when to “suspend or altogether omit them.” Here he might find the twenty-first century most at fault.

In that hospital of the shock treatment and predatory behavior, the answer to any complaint was that I—we all—were lucky. A psychologist, a rather kind one who popped in now and then, told me, “You could be over there in x, that’s a real snake pit.” If I saw the place where he did his internship, he added, with people strapped all day to gurneys, I would understand how lucky I was. These days, the private hospital I mentioned might tell my relative she was just lucky not to be in Western State, a nearby state hospital described in an exposé as like “going into hell.”

A standard of could-be-worse is never an acceptable standard. Nor is a medical philosophy that would be rejected as negligent and reductive by a man who lived in the age of the lash, the fetter, and the Reign of Terror.

It’s an irony that France never built the asylum Pinel wanted. It arose instead in Germany, a country whose psychiatry Pinel looked down on, claiming it had no sense of “human rights.” Germany took the lead in moral psychiatry through much of the early to mid-nineteenth century. Sonnenstein was created in 1911 adopting Pinel’s thought and spurred by the kind of government leadership Pinel hoped to find, but didn’t, in France.

Saxony’s reform of mad care started with a man named Gottlob Adolf Ernst von Nostitz und Jänkendorf, a wealthy social reformer who housed many of the poor on his own property. Nostitz wanted to bring the new moral treatment to Saxony; it both spoke to his reforming heart and enhanced Saxony’s reputation, as he served as a member of Saxon King Friedrich August I’s secret council. Nostitz was a man of many intellectual bents—thinker, politician, poet, and translator. Nostitz’s own poems were widely read in his day, though their titles don’t sound like ones for the ages: “Chants of Wisdom, Virtue, and Joy for Social Gatherings,” and “Song Circle for Freemasons,” to name a few.

Sonnenstein then was empty, a complex of buildings that’s existed in some form since the 1200s. It’s generally called the Schloss or “castle” Sonnenstein, but if you use that word, locals will correct you and tell you it’s a fortress, built strong to survive war. Sonnenstein went through renovations in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries. The medieval fortress became the Renaissance structure it is now—long and graceful, color somewhere between tan and golden, with many flanks. A palace was built into the fortress in the Renaissance, occupied by a changing group of Saxon nobles. At one point the fortress fell to a Prussian army. Nostitz talked the king into turning over a portion of Sonnenstein to mad care.

In February of 1811 the king signed the decree for the creation of the Royal Saxon Healing and Boarding Institution known as Sonnenstein. One end of the sprawling fortress was chosen for the asylum, situated on a low promontory, above the Elbe River. The location had the qualities valued by the moral treatment: beautiful grounds and views, enough space for quality patient quarters. In July of 1811, a century before Paul Schreber’s death, the asylum took its first patients.

Under its first director, Ernst Pienitz, Sonnenstein became Europe’s pinnacle asylum. The word “Sonnenstein” translates to “sun stone,” and its nickname became “the rising sun.” Pienitz released a quarter of his patients, fully cured, within a year of their entry, remarkable for that time and that patient population. This reputation made Sonnenstein what we’d now call a teaching hospital, a “place of pilgrimage” for hundreds of doctors. The poet Goethe came to Pirna partly because of the asylum, saying he believed it would be “excellent.”

The American Pliny Earle, a mad-doctor on walkabout, visited Sonnenstein in 1843. He’d lost his job at a high-end hospital in New York. Like the store, Bloomingdale’s the asylum drew the wealthy, patients who found it horrifying to be asked to do things. Earle traveled to Europe and visited different institutions. Like many great clinicians, Earle was himself neurodivergent, diagnosed bipolar. Earle wrote of Sonnenstein that the fortress had become no longer “the residence of the destroyer, but one whose labor is to save.” He added that here “the river of blood [had] terminated in the clear, broad sea of benevolence.” No doubt the Elbe helped inspire the metaphor of seas. Which within less than a century would strain metaphor, as patients died by gas in the fortress and were thrown into the river below in the form of ash.

Ernst Pienitz was a surgeon’s son and a man with a remarkably sweet face. In a portrait, his eyes round down at the corners beneath a deeply receding hairline much like his mentor Pinel’s. He looks tender—like a mother who finds her children adorable whether they’re picking her daisies or kicking her shins. As soon as I saw Pienitz’s image, I wanted him for my doctor. You can sense he’d find whatever you told him interesting. Perhaps this is the value of being one of the first psychiatrists to try listening to patients—maybe then it all seems interesting.

Unlike Pinel, Ernst Pienitz is hard to uncover, beyond basic biography and notes from those who visited the asylum. He did not publish much. References to him often say some version of “he’s one of the most important psychiatrists no one knows about.” An article in the journal Psychologie und Neurologie called the opening of Sonnenstein the “dawn of scientific psychiatry in Central Europe.” A twentieth-century successor in directing Sonnenstein asylum, Georg Ilberg, wrote a brief biographical article on Pienitz. Ilberg writes that his predecessor gained “rich recognition” in Germany and abroad and funded a private institution for mental patients “out of his own pocket.”

Ilberg tells the story of Pienitz treating a man in such a mania that he smashed windows, attacked staff, and tore his own clothes off. Pienitz used “drip baths, rubs, walks in the open air” to cure him and greeted the man’s quick recovery with “the greatest joy.”

Ernst Pienitz came from the Saxon town of Radeberg, born in 1777 as one of eleven children of a self-employed surgeon who died when Ernst was ten. At his death, Pienitz’s father asked a merchant friend to have his sons educated and bequeathed Ernst his gold watch. Pienitz studied medicine in Dresden, then served as a military surgeon. He impressed his commander Schreibner so much that Schreibner not only urged Pienitz to continue studying but offered to pay for it. Pienitz went on to Leipzig, where another man, Christian Erhard Knapp, became equally taken with him. In 1804 Knapp sent him to study in several other countries, a trip that would take up three years of Pienitz’s life.

Pienitz went to France in 1804, the year Napoleon declared himself emperor. That country had just shed two revolutionary governments—the Reign of Terror’s Jacobins, followed by a less-bloody revolutionary group. By 1804 the emperor had begun his European wars and filled Paris museums with stolen art. Pinel would have seen these works and walked past the guillotines that still stood in public squares. It was a strange place and a strange time to learn a new kind of healing.

Pienitz worked with Philippe Pinel at Salpêtrière. Everything he saw—and he had seen many hospitals at that point—deeply impressed him: the lack of restraints, the kind atmosphere, the conversations and case notes. Pienitz also studied with Pinel’s student Jean-Étienne-Dominique Esquirol, who ran a private asylum based on the model of his teacher and became almost as influential in the moral treatment movement.

When Pienitz returned to Germany in 1806, he worked in a poorhouse/prison/asylum in Torgau, while a friend who’d traveled with him to Paris took over the similar facility of Waldheim. Not much in the poor physical conditions of Torgau changed during Pienitz’s time, but out of three hundred patients, he managed to release a large number. Impressed, the Saxon government hired him to take over the new facility of Sonnenstein.

Pienitz moved to the new asylum in 1811 at the age of thirty-four. Like Pinel, he lived with his patients, along with his French wife, Julie Bourdon. There they began a family, though five of seven children born to the couple died in childhood. Based on visitors’ accounts, personal tragedy made Pienitz, if anything, kinder.

Sonnenstein opened with about two hundred patients sent over from Waldheim. The name of its field of medicine, psychiatrie, had existed for only three years. Most of the early patients were poor. I cannot imagine the shock of moving from a place that resembled the old Bicêtre to the new, Nostitz’ed Sonnenstein. In addition to airy rooms and good food, the asylum had a billiard room, music rooms with three pianos, and, twice a month, small concerts. It also had a chapel and gardens. And gymnastic equipment—Germans had a long regard for the health benefits of gymnastics, amplified later by Paul Schreber’s father, Moritz.

During Aktion T4, Waldheim served as a transit facility, holding victims temporarily before shipping them to Sonnenstein to be gassed. Once again patients who could not have imagined their journey’s end were transported through the streets between Waldheim and Pirna.

Ernst Pienitz the human being comes through in some details of Sonnenstein life: The library was banned from holding “silly French novels.” In this he differed from his teacher, as Pinel’s comment that he could find the likes of his patients only in “romances” indicates he himself read them. Nostitz translated Byron and, I imagine, added that poet to the Sonnenstein library. Byron would have loved the idea of his first German translations read by a complement of madmen in an ancient fortress—a vision that’s itself like a Byron poem.

Like his mentor Pinel, Pienitz favored work, with visitors to the castle noting patients cooking and woodworking. Some did jobs on nearby farms. While he believed in “keeping busy therapy,” Pienitz never assigned work a patient considered unacceptable or beneath them. The social distinctions might have irritated someone like Foucault. As a mad patient myself, I find Pienitz’s consideration touching. He set up workshop spaces for patients who had skills in areas like tailoring clothes or cobbling shoes, acknowledging those skills in what is still the most disempowering of situations.

A Scottish phrenologist studying humane care, George Combe, visited Sonnenstein in 1837. Phrenology was the science of reading human character by examining bumps in the skull, assuming pronounced qualities (like benevolence) would be matched by pronounced bulges (back of forehead). It was cutting-edge in Combe’s time and proven science, like Kraepelin’s skull sizes. Though of course the connections were imaginary and assigning traits isn’t science but art or opinion. Combe wrote of Sonnenstein in his journal that “here, then, the first two requisites for an asylum are abundantly supplied—fine air and a sunny cheerful prospect.” I roll over in my mind Combe’s use of the word “requisites” for air and landscape. Such “requisites” would be an unlikely necessity before the late 1700s and an unlikely one to demand now. Combe also wrote that Pienitz never passed a patient without stopping to talk, in a manner Combe described as the “gentlest and most benevolent.” As the phrenologist saw people at Sonnenstein absorbed in their work, he commented that “in several instances a sharp scrutiny was necessary to tell which was the patient and which was the keeper.”

Visitor Pliny Earle praised Saxony for the authority it gave its asylum directors; they were not only experts, in Earle’s words, but “judge and jury” when it came to deciding cases. This authority must have appealed to poor Earle, who in that system could have pressed some activity on his patients. This note shows a large step in public regard for the expertise of mad-doctors. And a clue to the contentiousness of the Schreber trial. Asylum director Guido Weber had every reason to believe his recommendation for commitment would stand.

The most turbulent period in Pienitz’s directorship came when the man who declared himself emperor, while the doctor lived in Paris, appeared with his armies at the doctor’s home in Pirna. In mid-September of 1813, during the sixth of the Napoleonic Wars, Ernst Pienitz once again encountered the man with history’s most memorable kiss curls. Napoleon was fighting the German states, Austria, Sweden, and Russia. Hoping to hold Dresden, Napoleon took the fortress, threw out staff and patients, and bivouacked in Sonnenstein. He ultimately lost the sixth war and went from his perch on the Elbe to exile on Elba.

There’s such a strangeness to the Napoleon story that had no one witnessed it, Pienitz’s account might have found him tossed in with his patients. The fortress was large and defensible, but I’m sure the asylum’s extras appealed as well. I expect the emperor and his men lolled around in the baths and tinkled away on the pianos. They walked the floors Paul Schreber would pace later in the century. No doubt they created their own cacophony and bellowing.

Napoleon’s forces stayed at Sonnenstein for several months. The first night of Pienitz and his patients’ exile they spent together, sleeping on the floor of a nearby church.

Now I’ll close the book on Pienitz, with his tender face and suspicion of the French novel, his patients whose madness was so well hidden it created guessing games. Sonnenstein the asylum opened ten years after Pinel published A Treatise on Insanity, seventeen years after Pinel’s first address on the moral treatment. This was as revolutionary as if within the same number of years, we evolved out of our reliance on psychoactive drugs. Our Prozacs, Seroquels, Lamictals, Haldols don’t equal lashes and blisters. But they have side effects from loss of sexuality to diabetes to cognitive fogs and parkinsonian tremors that don’t stop even if the medication does. Metabolic side effects like high cholesterol and weight gain are part of the reason for users’ early deaths. Many drugs have a high failure rate—with antidepressants, the failure rate is around 30 percent, while the positive response to placebo antidepressants is about the same. Our methods can leave a young woman near-comatose and drooling, without this seeming a failure of medicine. All this would change drastically for the better, in the time it takes our toddlers to become teenagers.

Psychiatry has never been a linear medicine. Robert Whitaker’s “air of reform” diminished as the 1800s progressed. As it has today, the shift begins with money. In 1852 about one person in every five thousand in Germany lived in an asylum; by 1911, it was one in every five hundred, figures more or less consistent in other countries. The ideological choice between eugenics and moral treatment always meant cheap care versus expensive care. And emotionally cheap care: A Pienitz who derives his “greatest joy” from the growth in one patient must have found heartsickness in others. Francis Galton began publishing on eugenics in 1883.

Pienitz’s successor at Sonnenstein, Hermann Lessing, assisted Pienitz before taking over. Lessing is a somewhat remote figure historically. He leaned more toward the somatic or bodily approach to psychiatry, Sonnenstein director Hagen Markwardt told me, but generally upheld the standards of his predecessor. Histories of Sonnenstein describe it as an asylum run by the standards of Ernst Pienitz until the latter half of the nineteenth century, Schreber and Guido Weber’s time.

The era of Pienitz, in which I include the time of Lessing, ended in 1875 when Lessing was succeeded by Weber. Weber shaped Sonnenstein into Schreber’s Devil’s Castle. After Weber came Georg Ilberg, Pienitz’s admirer and biographer. At one point in his life Ilberg advocated sterilization, but later in life he vocally opposed Aktion T4. In 1941, he published an article declaring the campaign of “annihilating” the mentally ill, run by his once-assistant Paul Nitsche, “a great injustice.” 

Pinel created a path of treatment that, in a way he would have hated, held the seeds of its own unraveling. He brought into his work the concepts of science and categorization, dividing madness into five general categories. While it was necessary to put madness on the spectrum of things that could be studied and made better, psychiatry soon began cleaving Pinel in half. Thinkers like Sigmund Freud and Carl Jung came along to assume the role of the listener. Over time, the inner workings of the mad grew apart from the physical stuff of their care.

That mad-doctoring’s drive became eradication again betrays itself in language: The 1950s saw the development of drugs like Haldol and Thorazine. The industry named these drugs neuroleptics, which means “mind seizers.” One old ad for a neuroleptic shows a man in a chair being spun wildly from a kind of hook. The large caption is “Spinning Out the Devil.” In smaller letters the ad explains that we no longer have to spin out the devil with violent spinning chairs; we can drug it out. Medical literature hailed Thorazine as a “chemical lobotomy.” Mad-doctors still performed lobotomies and used straitjackets, so the metaphors of seizing and controlling are less metaphors than a note that there are simpler ways these same things can be done.




3

The Truth in Schreber’s Delusions
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The wonderful Schreber, who ought to have been made a professor of psychiatry and director of a mental hospital.

It remains for the future to decide whether there is more delusion in my theory than I should like to admit, or whether there is more truth in Schreber’s delusion than other people are as yet prepared to believe.

SIGMUND FREUD, in letters to Carl Jung



“WHATEVER PEOPLE THINK ABOUT MY DELUSIONS, THEY WILL ACKNOWLEDGE they’re not dealing with a lunatic in the ordinary sense.” So wrote Paul Schreber toward the end of the Memoirs, when his fight with God and spiritual forces was near an end. And when his legal fight with Sonnenstein director Guido Weber and biological psychiatry was near an end. Schreber had been committed for life. He challenged that commitment in court and lost, fired his lawyer, represented himself, and won. Most of the trial was conducted through documents, statements to the court flying from patient and his jailer for almost three years.

Along the way nerve rays assaulted Schreber. He’s immersed in miracles, often painful ones. Nevertheless, the time has been as holy as tormenting. In an “unequal battle” between a human being and God, Schreber “emerges victorious.” Part of victory was accepting God’s wish that he become a woman, a “spirited woman,” as he put it, rather than a “demented human being in male habitus.” Both humanity and the Order of the World are refreshed.

Is there truth? Freud at least had the humility to wonder.

Paul Schreber had a Grecian nose, heavy brows, and an astonishing mustache, thick and curving out from his nose with tips that angled well beyond the bounds of his face. I am not just indulging my love of Schreber when I say his mustache resembles wings. He was born in 1842 in Leipzig, close to the place where Dorothea Buck would be born seventy-five years later. He died in 1911, at Leipzig-Dösen, his third and final institutionalization. Leipzig-Dösen, like Sonnenstein, became a killing center, one that murdered more than five hundred children. There’s no telling whether Schreber detected the devil there. While he also wrote at the Leipzig asylum, those writings are lost.

Paul Schreber was a skilled lawyer and jurist, known throughout Saxony, then a kingdom. His visions started when he was forty-two. The judge until then had led a distinguished but unremarkable life. He called childlessness the one thing that marred his happiness. He and his wife, Sabine, had multiple miscarriages and stillbirths.

In 1884 Schreber came voluntarily to a psychiatric clinic run by Emil Flechsig, the man who would become the great soul murderer of Schreber’s Memoirs, tormenting Schreber in the form of malevolent rays. Flechsig had an astonishing beard (he and Schreber together could have furred a small dog) and glaring eyes, in the images I’ve seen of him. In one photo, Flechsig sits with a magnifying glass examining slides of sectioned brains while behind him hangs a picture of a whole brain, floating, like an image from a 1950s B movie. Flechsig often treated women by removing their genitals and called psychiatry the “hopeless science.”

The University of Leipzig opened the Paul Flechsig Institute of Brain Research in 1974, in honor of Schreber’s keeper. It focuses, as did Flechsig, on neuroanatomy—Flechsig was most recognized for his work with the nerve-sheath myelin. The doctor was well known but not necessarily well liked. A young Emil Kraepelin came to Flechsig’s clinic to work with and learn from him. Flechsig accused the upright Emil of some sort of misconduct and let him go, a move other doctors saw as professional jealousy. Kraepelin remained bitter about Flechsig and wrote in his Memoirs that he’d caught Flechsig stealing research. Specifically, he said Flechsig stole another doctor’s slides, an amusing thought given Flechsig’s photo—did he bend so pretentiously over slides he’d filched? Other doctors accused Flechsig of professional theft. I do wonder what Kraepelin, who admired Flechsig deeply before their falling out, absorbed from him about the “hopeless science.”

Flechsig’s clinic was attached to the university, though the association of clinic with doctor was strong enough that bei Flechsig, or “at Flechsig’s,” identified a stay. Among other treatments, Flechsig used the “rest cure,” keeping patients in bed for days or weeks. A drug regimen involved giving opiates, then switching to the tranquilizer bromide, a “chemical shock treatment” Flechsig administered to Schreber.

Before Flechsig’s, Schreber tried a kind of health spa for nervous patients. Schreber always called himself a Nervenkranken, nervous patient, not a Geisteskranken, someone ill in the mind or deluded. In the Memoirs, Schreber describes his “disordered” nerves as part of the attraction God and other entities felt toward him. He suffered from nervous hypochondria, believing among other things that his heart was failing and he’d lost critical amounts of weight. The spa didn’t help, so he went to Flechsig’s. Though it was a private clinic, Flechsig’s successor would describe the place under Flechsig as a “dungeon” ruled by patient fear.

Flechsig released Schreber after six months. It’s hard to imagine what in Flechsig’s arsenal could have helped; probably Schreber’s depression simply resolved. Just before his breakdown Schreber got trounced in an unlikely bid for a seat in the German Reichstag. He took it badly, but most of us get over rejection sooner or later. In his first stay bei Flechsig, Schreber left happy and gave Flechsig an additional sum of money, essentially a tip.

In 1893, Schreber self-admitted again. He was anxious, depressed, unable to sleep. He’d gone back to life as usual after his first stay and just been appointed presiding judge over a Dresden high court. Once again, Schreber had severe hypochondria. Again, by his account his “illness” came from a life event: He found the “extraordinary burden” of his new position unbearable.

At the start of the second episode Schreber awoke gripped by the feeling of a woman’s sexual pleasure—a physical sensation, not a sexual fantasy. The German phrase he used translates as “succumbing” to intercourse. This moment in bed began a long course of gender identity work that started with fear of “loss of manhood” and ended with Schreber embracing femininity. If it took him a while, that’s not surprising. He was an upper-class man with a highly gendered career and a strong sense of what he called “masculine pride.” In the end, such “pride” did not prevail.

I want to say here that I use masculine pronouns for Schreber, as he used them for himself, while acknowledging that if he’d lived in a different era, he might have made different choices. Schreber’s femininity was focused around inner pleasure, the sensuous nerves of female “soul-voluptuousness” he felt throughout his body and that seemed to induce orgasm. With the court, Schreber asks less to be acknowledged as female than to have the importance of his being female acknowledged. Trans author Trish Salah describes Schreber as “Tiresian,” after Tiresias, who in Greek myth was turned from male to female by the gods to judge which sex has more sexual pleasure. Tiresian sexuality is hybrid, shape-shifting, transgressive.

In his second stay Schreber remained in Flechsig’s clinic for almost seven months, the first months of what would be nine consecutive years of hospitalization. There Schreber had the visions and felt the nerve rays that revealed his new cosmos. He spent hours in his bed, silent and motionless, communicating with the supernatural and with God. People around Schreber, even Sabine, began to appear false or “fleeting-improvised,” slapped together by supernatural forces to fool him.

Schreber told Flechsig about his visions, apparently with no sympathy. His body, Schreber wrote later, was handed over to attendants for their physical and sexual abuse. Once Schreber grabbed a billiard table to avoid being dragged to an isolation cell, and attendants beat him. Flechsig dealt with Schreber’s complaint by denying he’d ever been in the billiard room, which infuriated the judge, whose descriptions of life events were scrupulously accurate. To wash his hands of his patient, Flechsig arranged Schreber’s transfer to the state institution of Sonnenstein. Flechsig’s clinic held mostly upper-class and “treatable” patients. Sonnenstein had become a crowded warehouse, holding many who’d never be released.

To speed Schreber’s exit, the judge went first to a temporary stay at an asylum called Lindenhof. Unaware of what was coming, Schreber felt elated at Lindenhof, with “a feeling of liberation . . . I could not fare worse anywhere in the world than I had fared in Flechsig’s Asylum.” After a few weeks, in late June of 1894, Schreber passed through what he saw as the fleeting-improvised, Potemkin streets of Pirna. Schreber found the fortress real enough: As he arrived, his voices told him it was the Devil’s Castle. Inside, it “reeked of corpses.”

With husband Paul at Flechsig’s, Sabine Schreber went to his judicial superior complaining that she needed access to Paul’s income. He advised Sabine to get her husband declared temporarily incompetent. Weber got him a temporary declaration the same year, giving Sabine control of their money. With Sabine’s support, Weber began the process of making the incompetency permanent. Such a lifetime commitment, called tutelage, reduced the patient to the legal status of a seven-year-old.

Weber’s later court filings make it clear that regardless of Sabine, Weber would have tried to keep Schreber for life. I expect the income from Schreber’s stay formed part of his determination, but another part came from the doctor’s neuro-truncated vision of normality. Weber’s irritable reports to the court—explored further in chapter 18, “Testimony”—could have been written by the Times Union doctor who praised her freedom to hate patients. Sometimes Weber describes Schreber as dangerously crazy, bellowing and spouting psychotic nonsense. In other reports, Schreber’s too normal, a seemingly kind, intelligent man who’s able to camouflage the mad corruption at his core. Both Schrebers, in Weber’s view, are dangerous and need to be held apart.

Flechsig put Schreber to sleep, flogged him with chemicals, heard his visions, then shipped him off. Guido Weber ignored Schreber, despite the small fortune—the equivalent of a German laborer’s annual salary—Schreber paid to stay there. As a high-tier “boarder,” Schreber had a few rooms, several attendants, and his beloved piano. The attendants abused him, sexually, he writes, as well as by pouring beer down his throat and holding him down in the bath. Such abuse is still all too common in psychiatric hospitals. Before the court, Weber never argued with Schreber’s accounts of his treatment.

For more than two years, due to what Schreber called his “bellowing miracle” and Weber called just “bellowing,” Schreber slept in a padded cell. Schreber’s bellowing was a constant of his stay and an issue in his trial, but it’s hard to imagine anyone causing too much ruckus in a fortress apartment. Boarders had the privilege of dining with the director and his family, but Schreber didn’t know Guido Weber’s name for the first year of his stay and didn’t dine with him until 1900. When he did, he was by even Weber’s account tactful, admired by the family, and made no noises. It sounds from the Memoirs like bellowing offered a certain amount of stress relief. He sometimes left arguments with a visiting Sabine to bellow in another room, then returned calm.

It is not my fault, Schreber later told the court, that Weber failed to get to know me. Due to Weber’s negligence the doctor saw only what Schreber called his “pathological shell”: the bellowing, grimacing, shouting, and other acts Weber cited to keep him locked up. Weber’s first medical notes on his patient list the judge’s problems as severe hypochondria, hallucinations, and feelings of persecution. Though doctors then were expected to pay some attention to life events, Weber used the index card method.

Like Flechsig, Weber focused on neuroanatomy, though he published little and had far less reputation. Just a few years older than Schreber, Weber had a tame moustache, little hair, and in photos looks slightly less enraged with life than Flechsig. He followed the work of Kraepelin, but his major professional contribution was in forensic psychiatry—he testified on mental states, often in commitment hearings. For a patient to contest a commitment was rare; to win, rarer. The testiness of some of his Schreber filings probably stems from an expert witness forced to give and re-give his testimony.

Isolated at Sonnenstein, Schreber began writing the Memoirs, starting the book about two years after his arrival. Weber comes across badly in the Memoirs, but he doesn’t get too much airtime. Some Schreber analysts, including Freud, call the focus on Flechsig pathological. But the lawyer in Schreber began preparing to litigate his release within a year of arrival at Sonnenstein and understood who’d be testifying against him. Schreber finished the book around 1900, presenting it to the court and to Weber. As the asylum director, with almost complete supervisory powers, Weber had already seen drafts of it.

Schreber’s visions are wildly complex, architectural, and original, though they fold in many religious, mystical, and philosophical ideas. Schreber scholar Zvi Lothane uses the terms “magical realism” and “saga” to capture the way the Memoirs meld the daily with the fantastic, riffing on fundamental themes of human existence. It’s a counterpoint, one an event narrative, one a narrative cast in the language of metaphor, symbol, and dream. In saga, both factual and fantastical are necessary and do not exclude one another: Ulysses encounters the Cyclops, but he gets to the monster’s island in a boat like any boat, one with sails and a need for wind.

There’s no madman for whom philosopher and psychosis experiencer Wouter Kusters’s statement that psychosis stems “from a perspective of philosophical wonder” is truer. There are few philosophers for whom the madness of considering what Kusters calls the “boundaries between the self and the world, language and concepts, finitude and infinity” costs so much. Kusters wrote his books Pure Madness and A Philosophy of Madness after his own experience of psychosis and getting doused with “anti-mystical chemicals.” I suspect most philosophers and psychotics would agree with Kusters that they’d “rather cherish their memories of the black light than adopt the dead medicinal language of the psychiatrist.”

“The human soul,” Schreber begins the book, “is contained in the nerves of the body.” God is all nerve, nerve “infinite and eternal.” In Schreber’s visions, nerves form the fundamental site of divine and human spiritual existence. They’re an interconnected universal force, most concentrated in God. Schreber at times refers to a lower god, Ormuzd, and an upper god, Ariman, but generally merges them into one, a practice I follow.

Nerves have substance and assault Schreber in the form of rays, although part of the assault comes from his body’s growing powers of attraction. Nerves have their own language, which Schreber calls the Nervensprache, a kind of vibration. God and “tested” or purified souls speak the Basic Language, an archaic German with fantastic coinages like “God-be-together-view.” Freud admired Schreber’s language and often borrowed it. His Schreber paper, he complained to Jung, was only “fleeting-improvised.” The nerves’ phrase “why don’t you say it aloud,” Freud wrote another time, was so useful he’d made it part of his psychoanalytic practice.

Little devils existed in Schreber’s expanding world. So did the souls of the dead, some of whom might be working toward purification on another celestial body. Flechsig’s nervous system makes relentless attacks on his former patient’s. At one point, Schreber ascribes this to Flechsig’s “ruthless self-determination and lust for power.” Schreber’s claim that Flechsig assaulted him through rays, and committed soul murder, then and now informed Schreber’s diagnosis of paranoia. Though Schreber treated Flechsig well and Flechsig in return shipped him out without explanation. Another fact brought forward by Zvi Lothane: In older German law, the term “soul murder” referred to medical malpractice. As a judge, Schreber would have known that.

Schreber begins the Memoirs with an open letter to Flechsig offering to publish any response Flechsig might want to give to Schreber’s book. The doctor probably lived to regret not having sent one. Freud got his hands on the book in 1903, through a review in a psychiatric journal. Once he did, the historical Flechsig became always-and-forever Paul Schreber’s soul murderer, namesake university clinics be damned.

As the rays speak to Schreber, he finds that there’s a crisis in the order of the world, and only he can undo it. He is to fight “a sacred battle for the greater good of mankind.” Schreber’s damaged nerves wield an extraordinary power of attraction. God, a misanthrope who doesn’t understand humans, has chosen him to suffer and through suffering, enact redemption. God intends Schreber to become a woman, and in some way, reinvigorate humanity. The early chapters of the Memoirs treat Schreber’s time at Flechsig’s, where nerve contact began. At Flechsig’s, Schreber took extensive notes, he writes, though at times he kept none, convinced humanity had become wholly fleeting-improvised.

Schreber’s supernatural experiences peaked at Flechsig’s clinic in the spring of 1894. During this period Schreber’s nerves suffered unending assault—from divine rays, Flechsig, the living and the dead, often many at once. Flechsig’s nerves let Schreber know he would soon be a forsaken human, which turned out to be true. A skilled judge, Schreber rarely gets credit for how well he sensed the truth behind the testimonies of those around him, grasping not what they said but what they meant. In response to the forsaking, Schreber tried to drown himself in his bath.

Schreber called this spring of 1894 the “most gruesome yet most holy” time of his life, “when my soul was immensely inspired by supernatural things, which came over me in ever-increasing number amidst the rough treatment which I suffered from outside; when I was filled with the most sublime ideas about God and the Order of the World.” While Schreber shuddered under supernatural assaults, he had visions of cosmic truths, like those Buck would experience in her fifth psychotic episode.

In one vision, Schreber traveled, or was carried, through the earth and human history. He saw the grounds of Flechsig’s clinic as primeval, untouched forest. In a “God-be-together-view,” Schreber was raised to the heavens and saw earth below in a scene of “sublime splendor and beauty.” No other human had experienced such visions, Schreber wrote, adding that he didn’t assert the events were “objective reality.” Warning signs about the future of the world and humanity kept coming, once a vision of the world’s clocks running out, an image that reminds me of our current Doomsday Clock. The “forecourts of heaven” and universal states of blessedness had been depleted. Schreber sees the end of the world.

Schreber captured the story of his most gruesome yet most holy time surrounded with books by thinkers like Carl Jung, and the ubiquitous Kraepelin. He considered the cosmic theories of Immanuel Kant. He scoffs at Kraepelin’s astonishment that patients who hear voices feel a “greater power of conviction” about those than about “real voices.” To Schreber this is a neuro-truncated reduction of what the word “real” can mean.

Schreber arrived at Sonnenstein in late June of 1894. He described his time there as consisting of two parts. The first continued some of the intensity and imagery of the Flechsig spring. The second “merged,” as Schreber put it, into more ordinary life. At first Schreber still believed things were fleeting-improvised, though he realized his error. Pressure continued to become a woman through an influx of female nerves; he felt his penis retract and body hair fade. Schreber feminized his appearance at Sonnenstein, shaving off his mustache and wearing jewelry. He sometimes opened his shirt and gazed at his chest in the mirror, admiring what he saw as a woman’s breasts.

Schreber describes himself as at first exerting his “manly honor” to suppress his feminine feelings. To the court, Weber leans heavily on Schreber’s transition, on the patriarchal assumption that behaviors considered feminine equal illness in a male. U.S. psychiatry made the same assumption by putting homosexuality in the DSM as a disease state until 1973, though a watered-down version of it remained after. Further along in the book Schreber declares it his “right” to cultivate feminine feelings.

So many other miracles, mostly negative ones, happen to his body that Schreber writes they could be their own book. His organs shift and even disappear. Rays hound him and demand sacrifices like weeks of self-created immobility. God evolves into a more and more complex figure—sublime, yet “accustomed to dealing only with corpses.” This God is powerful but fallible: Throughout Schreber’s book God acts in ways contrary to the order of the world. The strength of God’s attraction to Schreber and human nerves threatens the stability of the universe.

In November 1895, his birthday month, Schreber finds himself at another crucial turning point. “The signs of transformation into a woman became so marked” that Schreber can no longer ignore them. Female nerves, which produce female “soul-voluptuousness,” fill his body. In one chapter, Schreber complains about his transition, then offers his readers a rather smug lecture on female sexuality. Women, he shares, don’t get all that turned on by male nudes. Schreber writes that it’s become “common sense” (emphasis his) to transform into a woman. He says, “I have wholeheartedly inscribed the cultivation of femininity on my banner, and I will continue to do so as far as consideration of my environment allows.” Schreber’s acceptance doesn’t end the torments he thinks of as miracles: Among other things, Schreber experiences miracles involving his body temperature, the “poison of corpses” on him, birds and their “tedious twaddle.”

But slowly Schreber’s pains recede. God’s miracles start to assume a “harmless character,” soul-murderer Flechsig becomes a “meager remnant.” Things aren’t easy in the second half of the Sonnenstein stay. Schreber continues to be kept in a padded cell, where he passes the endless time by reciting literature and tying knots in a handkerchief.

By the end of the book Schreber describes his body as overcome with woman’s “soul-voluptuousness.” Schreber’s resistance to his “unmanning” has been divided between the physical and the metaphysical. He fears, probably correctly, that a physical unmanning could open him up to sexual abuse by Sonnenstein attendants. At the same time, his female pleasure is a “foretaste of blessedness,” a blessedness the rays and God can feel with him and rest in. For God’s benefit, Schreber sometimes feels the sexual pleasure of both genders at once. Cosmic rays go back to their purpose of creating, which has been diverted by their attraction to Schreber. Schreber experiences much sexual pleasure, mostly a woman’s, and calls it “small recompense for the manifold painful trials.”

By the book’s close, Schreber is at peace, with the “great moral seriousness and candor of character” that will be observed by the Dresden court. He has done for himself what Buck taught: The book itself “plays out” his visions.

Like any prophet and visionary, Schreber puts in most of the work of presenting his spiritual insights as their pace subsides. The experiences of the Memoirs aren’t memories, but revelations. In chapter 19, Schreber answers some of humanity’s common questions about the divine, starting with omniscience. God created the world, he tells the reader, and humanity forms its highest point, but having done this, God withdrew. God doesn’t personally work on behalf of anything or anyone. God gave beings what they needed and skedaddled.

As an eternal being, God exists outside of time but does not have omniscient knowledge. Whether any one person will live to a certain age, or which flies a spider will catch (two of Schreber’s examples), God neither knows nor cares. Emotionally, God is vulnerable: “His joy over newly created things can last only a short time,” writes Schreber, “and soon gives way to states of anxiety.” Yet when we die, each of us will participate in God’s being in some way.

The word “miracle” appears in Schreber’s Memoirs almost four hundred times. The German word is “Wunder,” which can be translated as “miracle” or “wonder,” and captures more of the events’ ambivalence. Schreber’s world is saturated with miracles, and while they can take extravagant forms, like little monks dripping into his head, they also cover the daily: cocoa spilling, a shaving-cut can be miracles.

I find Schreber’s miracle-d world one of the most profound and moving aspects of the Memoirs. To avoid what Schreber calls the “tumble into naked materiality” that comes from denying the wondrous, can we deny even cocoa the status of miracle? I’ve been overwhelmed too by the this-ness of a moment like a drink spilling. The world had a choice between finding itself with cocoa on the floor, or not—the latter world, whatever it may have been, ceases to exist as the liquid pours down.

Schreber doesn’t stop at describing a neurodiverse state. He accepts its reality and offers interpretation. Schreber’s “symptoms” mostly vanish over the course of the book. The knowledge they provided remains, and to his doctor, that faith alone is enough to keep him committed. Schreber insists on standing outside the “impoverished philosophy of being,” or what he calls “naked materiality.” In his arguments to the court Schreber insists on the “objective truth” of his experiences and the limits of Kraepelinian “scientific psychiatry.” His is a philosophy of abundance.

I came to Schreber’s Memoirs with a thirst I didn’t know I had, one I think many people share. I found permission to find meaning in my experiences. I have no idea how it feels for rays to assault me, though the nerves-on-the-skin feeling of depression, anxiety, and hallucination helps me understand. I do have an idea how a mental experience can be both anguish and miracle.

On his release in 1902, Schreber lived publicly as a man. He and his wife adopted a teenage girl named Fridoline, who some scholars think was Sabine’s child by an affair. Schreber’s desire to return to his wife was surprisingly strong, given their history. They moved to a house in Dresden Schreber designed himself, tan stucco with three musical notes from the opera “Siegfried” inscribed above the door. In the opera the hero Siegfried slays the dragon Fafner. Or, as Zvi put it to me, the dragon Guido Weber.

Schreber’s book alternates between making direct statements and qualifying those statements—the book is full of “it was as if’s,” and Schreber says he must “speak much in images and similes.” He’s not sure if all he remembers “was in fact historical reality.” Some of that qualifying language has been dropped from the English translation. The withdrawing god Schreber sees belongs to many religious traditions, from Parsi to some Christian sects. A god who creates other beings with brief joy and extended anxiety feels like any parent. But Schreber offers more than imagery and continues to insist on that objective truth of his visions. Dorothea Buck’s visions have the same quality: a world as real as this one, made up of several different “reals,” not all of them apparent to everyone present. Our controlled hallucinations are just that—controlled, consensus, fleeting-improvised. Buck’s skin burned from an ordinary blanket.

In the introduction to the Memoirs, Schreber scholar Rosemary Dinnage calls Schreber’s visions “a parody of the concerns of philosophy.” But there’s nothing parodic about Schreber’s philosophical concerns. Wouter Kusters describes this when he writes, “Glimmering behind [psychosis] are the contours of a world that has to do with themes such as eternity, light, darkness.” And reality. What exists can’t be known and may be a product of the mind, as per philosopher John Locke and neuroscientist Anil Seth, or reflections on a cave’s wall, as per Plato. Dinnage’s and most others’ problem with Schreber is the hard quality of his beliefs—he believes his rays, or miracle-d shaving cuts, are present and undeniable, without the softening of metaphor. The distinction may seem logical but leaves people of faith either mad as Schreber is mad, or metaphored out of their beliefs. Prayer is “like” communication, God’s will is “like” asking certain things of us, but not really. Schreber’s status of chosenness may be egocentric, but any relationship with the divine exists under its own spotlight. And if the faithful aren’t laboring for the greater good of all humankind, I’m not sure what they’re doing. Schreber’s experiences on what Kusters calls the via mystica psychotica hold lessons on gender, on God’s manifest openness, and God’s desire to see us assume not the bodies we’re given but the bodies we really are.

Schreber’s older brother, Gustav, the other son in the Schreber family, committed suicide by gunshot at the age of thirty-eight. He’d also just been appointed to a judgeship. The three Schreber sisters called their family a happy one, but the sons seem to have struggled, for whatever reason. In his second breakdown, Schreber seemed overwhelmed by the stress of achieving what he wanted. Father Moritz Schreber suffered a head injury that left him deeply depressed for the last decade of his life. Moritz largely withdrew from the family when Paul was nine and died when Paul was nineteen. Moritz’s parenting flaws were not his son’s. Fridoline described Paul as the loving parent who became “more her mother than her mother.”

A note from Schreber’s clinical chart at Sonnenstein, under the heading “Heredity,” describes a Schreber sister as “hysterical” and Moritz as suffering from “murderous impulses.” Whether this information came from Schreber, possibly Sabine, or elsewhere isn’t clear. Nor is it clear that it’s true. Maybe most worth noticing is that “heredity” had at this time crept into institutional records.

Moritz Schreber was a famous orthopedist who published more than thirty books, and his Medical Indoor Gymnastics became a defining work. Traces of Moritz still exist, in tillage gardens called Schreber-gardens scattered throughout Germany. Threats of Moritz’s posture brace, the Geradehalter, stiffened the backs of German children well into the twentieth century. In Morning Star Dorothea Buck mentions buying, in 1938, a cookbook and a book about gymnastics. It’s quite possible the book was by Moritz Schreber. At the start of her third psychosis, Buck walked into the Main River to drown herself. She changed her mind and then tore the wet clothes from her body in a Schreber-garden.

Moritz wrote tracts on children and discipline, and once fired a nanny for feeding his crying child a slice of pear. His authoritarianism often gets blamed for his son’s madness, and some of Schreber’s feelings, like the “chest-compression-miracle,” have a whiff of his father’s devices, though most don’t. Schreber’s mother, Pauline Haase Schreber, died at ninety-two. Paul lived with her before marriage and at times stayed with her after release, while getting a new house built for him and his family. The two seem to have had a warm relationship, though some analysts bring her too into pathology, calling Paul overly close, even dependent.

Sabine Schreber is something of an enigma. She was fifteen years younger than Paul, came from a theatrical family, and wasn’t her spouse’s social equal. The third chapter of the Memoirs was removed before publication and never found. Most historians believe the chapter addressed Schreber’s marriage and Sabine had it deleted, with the help of her husband’s doctors. Despite their conflicts, Schreber’s last stay in an institution occurred after the stress of his wife’s stroke, which left her partly unable to speak and often angry. It appears from Fridoline’s testimony that his five-year return home was overall happy. Fridoline described her father as sometimes depressed, but never psychotic.

The Memoirs were published by a small and quirky Leipzig press in 1903. Moritz’s daughters and son-in-law bought and destroyed copies of the Memoirs, afraid it might tarnish their father’s legacy. Several psychiatric journals had already reviewed the book and Sigmund Freud had his copy. At that point, Schreber entered psychiatric history. The Schreber name would have been far better served had Moritz’s heirs destroyed their father’s books rather than their brother’s.

The story of the Schreber family is complex, as is any’s, and while I want to describe Paul’s life and his context, I cannot and do not wish to explain him. There are similarities between Schreber’s god, who deals in corpses, and his neuroanatomist doctors. But there are many family systems like Schreber’s, especially in a patriarchal time and place. Most asylum patients then faced a Weber or a Flechsig. Only Schreber received revelations about the world, the nature of divinity and its essential truths.

Zvi Lothane and I became friends during the writing of this book. He’s probably the best-known Schreber scholar living, and an encyclopedic historian of Schreber’s life. He’s also one of Schreber’s most sensitive readers, as shown in the title of his book, In Defense of Schreber: Soul Murder and Psychiatry. I talked about Schreber with Zvi in his Manhattan office, kitted out to look exactly like Sigmund Freud’s, right down to the patient’s Victorian couch. The office is charming, Freud’s ghost plus Zvi equaling two Schreber lovers in one room, three if you count me. Zvi is charming, slightly old world, and I immediately wish he would psychoanalyze me. He’s also a Holocaust survivor, having fled Germany as a child.

At one point Zvi pulled a small, old book from his shelves and showed it to me: an original copy of the Memoirs, signed by Paul to Sabine. I touched it; my fingers moved where Schreber’s moved.

“Psychiatry itself,” Zvi said at one point, “is Janus-faced: it is both medical and legal. Through it you determine the freedom of other humans.” Schreber lived both sides of that paradox, madman and judge. He became the great advocate of the madman.

It’s one of many ironies of Schreber’s story that to exist, it required a fairly precise kind of terrible psychiatry. One greedy for cash yet indifferent to the patient; scornful enough to motivate a smart and passionate man who refused to dismiss the value of his own mind. It took that indolent psychiatry of a Weber to make a Schreber. The practice of psychiatry may be as negligent now as it was and certainly as driven by money. But it is so within a framework of heavily sedating drugs, tiny double rooms, common areas where patients are brought to sit all day. How many psychiatric wards allow pens, I wonder, when they collect belts and laces. How many would assume that a patient with papers and pens and volumes of philosophy could be up to anything worth doing. I have never had the chance to write in a hospital.

Schreber needed a system of mad-doctoring that failed in a particular kind of way. Which leads me to the knowledge that there must have been, throughout history, many Schrebers.

There are many fleeting-improvised Schrebers. Freud’s “wonderful Schreber” is a repressed homosexual who desired his father and somehow turned all that sexual energy onto Flechsig. Schreber is one analyst’s product of his culture, another’s “classic” paranoiac and schizophrenic, yet another’s “exemplary” schizophrenic. In these narratives Schreber responds unconsciously and excessively to his mother, his father, childlessness, his culture, his libido. Some writings on Schreber, like Zvi’s, are sensitive. Many feel as ludicrous to me as it would be to ask someone I don’t know to read my books and tell me who I am. When I began reading Schreber, people often gave me the name of someone I “had to read” in order to understand him, as if madness can be grasped only by some professional interpreter. These are mostly not analyses of Schreber but unwitting self-analyses by their authors. The start of an understanding of Schreber is to be a Schreber.

You can comment on Schreber; you cannot explain him. To do so is to ignore all that Schreber has to teach. Schreber found Sonnenstein “reeked of corpses” and housed the devil. A world appeared to him in which asylums weren’t just indifferent; they were sites of murder. Such a move was foreseeable, like Buck’s monstrous war; it’s just that no one else saw it.

“A person with sound nerves is, so to speak, mentally blind.” So Schreber writes in a postscript to the Memoirs (emphasis his). As I felt about normal people and the dazzling clothes apparent only to me. Those disordered people with open nerves bloom within. It’s not possible, Schreber writes, to show those completely unable to see this rich and added knowing any more than you can teach one who sees no color to understand it. Schreber praised compulsive thinking for its great depth.

Dorothea Buck’s life ended with honors and happiness, or at least, contentment and purpose. Schreber’s did not. He died of cardiopulmonary problems at the Leipzig-Dösen asylum, hospitalized by the family doctor after Sabine’s illness. As a former mental patient, Schreber could not return to the law. Other than Fridoline, the people Schreber loved, like his mother and Sabine, were lost to him.

Schreber knew himself and articulated his depression, hypochondria, and anxiety. He understood he didn’t want to feel that way and sought help from those who presumably offered it, at the nerve clinic, at Flechsig’s, at Lindenhof, from his family doctor. He ended up at Leipzig-Dösen, a holding pen taking spillover from the then-overflowing Sonnenstein. And that husk of human interaction, being watched. I know the exhaustion of that watching, the constant presence of others trying to judge the distance between my world and theirs. When it is not measurable. Schreber lost his will to fight. Buck invented her own salvation. Schreber got tired.

I call Schreber the advocate for the mad. He argues for freedom, not just physical freedom but freedom from others’ definitions. The value of mad apprehension expanding, not contracting, reality. What would be the treatment at Schreber’s hospital, the one Freud imagined? Who would be the patients?
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The Subjectivity of Perfection

Euthanasia in the World
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Here is today one state in which at least weak beginnings toward a better conception [toward desirable races] are noticeable. Of course, it is not our model German Republic, but [the United States], in which an effort is made to consult reason at least partially.

ADOLF HITLER, Mein Kampf



IN 1883 A COUSIN OF CHARLES DARWIN CAME UP WITH THE TERM #one imagines a battlefield strewn with thousands“EUGENICS.” NO one used the word “genes” yet, nor understood their double-helixed existence. “Eugenics” meant simply of good birth or good stock. The man was Francis Galton. He had excessive muttonchop sideburns and many interests, some odder than others. Galton was born in 1822 and died in 1911, the same year as Paul Schreber.

Galton came from a well-to-do family who wanted him to become a doctor, but he dropped out of Cambridge and later out of his medical studies. He was an impatient learner and mostly self-taught. Galton wrote nine books and a slew of articles on subjects from fingerprinting to meteorology. A lover of quantification, Galton published a paper in 1872 called “Statistical Inquiries into the Efficacy of Prayer.” Galton’s study showed prayer definitely did not help heal illness, not long before his cousin Charles replaced God’s design with evolution. I doubt either Darwin was first choice for an extra seat at a dinner party.

Galton’s passion became eugenics. He considered targeted reproduction an inevitable response to his cousin Charles’s doctrine of survival of the fittest. Good “germ-plasm” in the population needed to be increased by encouraging marriage and reproduction in the most fit and staunching fertility in the lesser. Increasing the “good” is called positive eugenics, as opposed to negative eugenics, eliminating or isolating the “tainted.” Mental patients formed an obvious problem for eugenicists. Asylums were overcrowded, inmate numbers growing throughout the nineteenth century. Reasons included a growing focus on the nuclear rather than the extended family—fewer and fewer people who needed care stayed with relatives. Populations shifted into crowded cities, and it’s possible more neurosyphilis contributed as well.

Toward the end of his life, Galton wrote a novel about a utopian society that practiced eugenics as a religion. It was titled Kantsaywhere and never published.

Galton first discussed his link between heredity and the quality of the individual in an 1865 issue of the popular magazine Macmillan’s. It’s a strange piece of the eugenics story that this social movement managed to be both as public as it was and as popular. U.S. newspapers reported, neutrally, on the drive for mass sterilizations. As eugenics dehumanizes, it superhumanizes. The Schutzstaffel, or SS, was a large Nazi paramilitary force that grew into fighting forces and the Death’s Head Corps that administered the camps. SS men believed they carried elite genes and their breeding would help make the world’s new dominant population. Even without that conditioning, people seem to assume that if they’re part of the eugenics discussion, they and theirs aren’t the targets.


If one imagines a battlefield strewn with thousands of dead young men, or a mine in which firedamp explosions have trapped hundreds of industrious workers, and if, at the same time, one juxtaposes that image with our mental asylums, with their care for their living inmates—one is deeply shaken by the shocking discordance between the sacrifice of the finest examples of humanity on the largest scale, on the one hand, and by the greatest care that is devoted to lives that are not only absolutely worthless, but even of negative value.



This quote is a passage from a book that sits over the Nazi euthanasia program like a field guide: Permitting the Destruction of Life Unworthy of Life by lawyer Karl Binding and psychiatrist Alfred Hoche. Hoche worked in a university hospital, where he dealt with psychiatric patients, and Binding worked in criminal law. Neither became a National Socialist nor took part in euthanasia. But, published in Germany in 1920, the book helped radicalize eugenic thinking across the West. Many Nazi doctors were recruited with discussions of Binding and Hoche. Many would invoke it later in their defenses. The book unfolds like a legal argument: If it is legal to commit suicide, then it is legal to help someone commit suicide; if it’s legal to help someone commit suicide, it is legal to kill those who can’t ask for suicide but would want it; then it must be legal to kill those who don’t want to die but whose minds are definable as “dead.” This last proved a neat way to eliminate the existence of actual victims. While there was plenty of discussion going around of putting neuropsychiatric patients to death, nothing quite landed like two “experts” from medicine and law writing a neat argument for doing so. And invoking the First World War and its ten million pointless military deaths, many of them teenage boys.

The Dasein ohne Leben, or “existence without life”; the geistig tot, or “mentally dead.” Binding and Hoche contributed many phrases that Germany used during the war and that the international community embraced before the war. They pointed the way to concepts like the Nazi nutzlose Esser, or “useless eater.” Images of war dead, and the money it takes to keep the inferior alive, became staples of eugenic propaganda.

Galton’s hereditary theory makes social support at best problematic, a theme that Kraepelin picked up a few decades later and still recurs in U.S. politics. Binding and Hoche’s Permitting the Destruction moved forward death as a remedy and the argument, unshakable if you buy its premises, that the already dead cannot die.

A closed chamber for killing via gas was first made for animals. London was overrun with stray creatures, even horses, in the nineteenth century. A doctor devised a large compartment that he filled with carbon monoxide. Gassing a dog by spraying it had not worked.

Eugenicists quickly latched on to the promise of gas technology for “defective” humans. It solved a recurring problem with selling the public on euthanasia. For many its immorality lay not in the killing itself. Rather, the public wanted the deaths of the innocent to be painless and discreet. Calls for eugenic murder are littered with words like “humane,” “gentle,” and “peaceful.” Calls for devising a “gentle, painless death” for “defectives” arose in the United States before the turn of the twentieth century. Conceptually, gases had often been the answer.

In 1911, the year the world lost Schreber and Galton, the U.S. Carnegie Institute sponsored a report windily titled the “Preliminary Report of the Committee of the Eugenic Section of the American Breeders’ Association to Study and to Report on the Best Practical Means for Cutting off the Defective Germ-Plasm in the Human Population.” The message of Galton’s life had, to use a relevant phrase, reproduced and evolved, as the message of Schreber’s had not. The report listed eighteen solutions to end that “defective germ-plasm,” eighth of which was euthanasia by gas.

American Paul Popenoe coauthored Applied Eugenics, a 1918 book that shared Galton’s obsession with how to step up the breeding of the “superior” population and hold down its opposite. Hitler read the book while in prison for his failed coup, the Beer Hall Putsch, and it impressed him so much he wrote Popenoe a fan letter.

Popenoe worked with couples and is called by many sources the “father of marriage counseling” in America, a paternal elevation almost as clueless as Kraepelin’s (at least there are no “neo-Popenoe-ians”). Popenoe did promote marriage counseling, because he thought “fit” couples, being moral, would reproduce only when married, while the unfit bred recklessly. Popenoe cofounded and wrote the Ladies’ Home Journal’s “Can This Marriage Be Saved?” column, cult reading in the 1950s and 1960s, though Popenoe’s zeal for saving marriages stemmed from his drive to grow the white, non-disabled, neurotypical middle and upper classes. I recall reading that column as a kid, in a paroxysm of boredom at some aunt and uncle’s house, a stack of old issues in my lap. Like the National Socialists, Popenoe held women responsible for maintaining home and family. In his column even abused women brought marital trouble on themselves by their neglect of the needs of a man’s psyche. I recall wondering about those needs, and why only one gender seemed to have them.

Hitler also wrote a fan letter to American eugenicist Madison Grant, a lawyer, zoologist, and ardent lover of animals. Hitler called Grant’s book The Passing of the Great Race “my Bible” and thanked Grant for writing it. The book argues that Nordic people are superior to other races but also in danger of extinction, two propositions you’d think wouldn’t fit together.

Popenoe wrote in 1918 that execution’s “value in keeping up the standard of the race should not be underestimated” and proposed gas. Alexis Carrel, who worked for the eugenics-focused Rockefeller Institute, wrote in a 1935 book that the insane “should be humanely and economically disposed of in small euthanasia institutions supplied with proper gases.” Carrel, who helped develop the disinfectant Dakin, was a Nobel laureate.

International eugenics congresses brought together eugenicists from different countries to share ideas, drink champagne, pinpoint on maps where their most degenerate citizens lay. The first took place in 1911, the year of Galton’s death. Hundreds attended from the United States, seven European countries including Germany, and Japan. The second congress took place in New York in 1921 at the Natural History Museum, with Alexander Graham Bell serving as president. The third convened at the same place in 1932.

“Had Jesus been among us, he would have been president of the First Eugenic Congress,” wrote U.S. eugenicist Albert Wiggam in 1913.

In 1936 American Harry Laughlin flew to Germany to receive an honorary degree from Heidelberg University for his work as a “pioneer of the science of race cleansing.” Ernst Rüdin still worked at the Heidelberg clinic, and the two would have known each other—Rüdin headed an international federation of eugenic organizations. Laughlin edited the journal Eugenical News, which devoted an issue to the virtues of Germany’s eugenics program. He helped organize the eugenics congresses and, in the 1920s, served Congress as Expert Eugenics Agent.

Laughlin, the son of a reverend, once taught at a one-room schoolhouse in Missouri. As a young man, he dreamed of a global nation with six jurisdictions that favored the genetically superior United States and United Kingdom. Laughlin wrote detailed plans for his utopia and sent them to any world or opinion leaders he could reach. He craved attention. Sending his work—articles, papers, thoughts—to prominent people was an obsession Laughlin continued throughout his life. Any response, even a rote one-sentence acknowledgment on letterhead, went into a special file.

Teaching did not fit Laughlin’s ambitions. In 1907, he wrote to the Cold Spring Harbor branch of the eugenic Carnegie Institute asking to take a summer course. After that summer, Laughlin met the head of Cold Spring, Charles Davenport, again at a conference. Somehow, he ingratiated himself. In 1910 Davenport gave Laughlin the job of heading Cold Spring’s newly formed Eugenics Record Office.

The Carnegie Institute was funded by millionaires, not just the Carnegies but the Harrimans, Rockefellers, and others of their set. The particularly active Mary Harriman worked with Laughlin at the eugenics congresses and donated a small fortune to Cold Spring. Kellogg of the cornflakes had his own institute, founded to “create a race of human thoroughbreds.” At the time Laughlin flew to Germany, the country’s eugenic Kaiser Wilhelm Institute was supported by Rockefeller money. There “Angel of Death” Josef Mengele had begun his twin research under mentor Otmar von Verschuer. The Rockefellers’ bounty to the institute extended into the war.

Fans of eugenics in America included not just the rich, but doctors, pastors, Supreme Court justices, Margaret Sanger of Planned Parenthood, President Theodore Roosevelt, Alexander Graham Bell, many of the public, and many in our Congress. In Britain, novelist D. H. Lawrence wrote in a letter that he dreamed of a lethal chamber “as big as the crystal Palace” for the “sick and the maimed.” H. G. Wells and George Bernard Shaw also embraced eugenics. The rich and the intelligentsia embraced eugenics and euthanasia, but the subjects came up at all social levels, including pop culture. In a 1935 volume of the bestselling Inspector Roderick Alleyn mysteries by Ngaio Marsh, a killer takes his fanatical eugenic beliefs into his own hands. His first victim had an institutionalized parent. Inspector Alleyn finds murder a bridge too far but supports eugenics, calling eugenic breeding only “rational.” The BBC ran a successful series in the 1990s based on the Alleyn mysteries. It included the eugenic killer but did not include Alleyn’s take on reproduction.

The first U.S. sterilization law, passed in Indiana in 1907, made sterilization mandatory for any “criminals, imbeciles, idiots, and rapists” taken into state custody. Thirty more states followed. Subsequent laws expanded the target group. California authorized institutions besides prisons, and administrators could decide to sterilize based on any “physical, mental, or moral condition.” Iowa allowed sterilization for “criminals, idiots, feebleminded, imbeciles, drunkards, drug fiends, epileptics” and “moral or sexual perverts.”

As it would in Germany, U.S. sterilization mostly attacked the neuropsychiatric, with a total of about seventy thousand mentally ill or developmentally disabled (please supply your own air quotes) sterilized between the early century and the 1970s. Officially, in 1981, the United States saw its last forced sterilization. In practice, they’ve continued in places like migrant camps. Disproportionately the victims were low-income Indigenous women and women of color. Hitler wrote in Mein Kampf that he “studied with interest” the passage of our sterilization laws.

Laughlin believed the United States should sterilize a tenth of its population, at the time about ten million people. Laughlin’s drive went beyond legalizing sterilization under certain circumstances, like incarceration. He believed the States didn’t sterilize aggressively enough and blamed that on poorly written law. His 1922 book, Eugenical Sterilization in the United States, contained model language for more vigorous legislation that would address the larger public. Laughlin proposed medical sterilization boards and “pedigree” analysis to choose who should or shouldn’t reproduce. In Hitler’s first year as chancellor, 1933, he enacted Germany’s sterilization law loosely borrowing Laughlin’s language. His law created hereditary health courts of three or so doctors that ruled on sterilizing citizens. Germany would ultimately sterilize between three and four hundred thousand; between three and five thousand would die of the procedure.

Laughlin’s passion for tweaking human reproduction grew from unpromising soil. His biology doctorate, from Princeton, involved onions.

Eugenics in the 1920s and 1930s fulfilled the premise of Galton’s novel—for many, it was faith system, life purpose. The person I am, and the people Buck and Schreber were, embodied something millions found distractingly awful. Laughlin’s Eugenics Record Office targeted in its pedigree files the part of New Jersey where my extended family spent summers, the Pine Barrens; IBM created Laughlin’s filing system and a eugenic recordkeeping system for the Nazis. I’ve always wondered if Laughlin’s research found us; maybe he pointed to our property and its surroundings on a map at a eugenics conference. That the Barrens holds the inbred is a bit of folklore—its human-monster Jersey Devil is the subject of an X Files episode.

Eugenic ideas supported U.S. postwar moves into areas like lobotomy, mind-seizing drugs, and psychosurgeries. Our eugenics also embraced antisemitism. Americans like Harriman and Grant and Laughlin agreed with more of the Nazi project than targeting the neurodiverse and the epileptic, even with abundant reporting on the Nazi project going on in Hitler’s Germany. A 1934 New York Times headline read: NAZIS INSIST REICH BE RACE-MINDED, subheaded NO ONE KNOWS EXACTLY WHAT THAT MEANS THERE, EXCEPT THAT JEWS ARE TARGET. The 1935 Nuremberg race laws, which stripped Jews of citizenship and many other rights, were widely reported. Plenty of eugenicists responded with endorsement and/or complaints about the influx of refugees fascism created: One Eugenical News article said, “It is ‘raining’ German Jews.” In 1938 the secretary of the American Eugenics Society complained, “While we were pussy-footing around . . . the Germans were calling a spade a spade.”

From Galton until the end of the war, there was widespread, public, and international discussion about putting to death the neuro-different. Nothing similarly public happened with the idea of destroying a race, which is what Nazi Germany considered Jews. No Roderick Alleyn mystery hinged on racist murder. Beneath eugenics, though, lay the idea of a “master race.”

Along with the idea that, much as it should have been a contradiction in terms, the lesser races could threaten the existence of the “naturally” superior. For Laughlin the threat required immigration quotas. Madison Grant, like his fan Hitler, supported race laws. The concept that Aryans represented a “master race,” that a manifest destiny existed for that race to spread, goes far back in Germany, Europe, and America.

Another deeply influential thinker for Hitler was British-born philosopher Houston Stewart Chamberlain. Chamberlain moved to Germany as an adult and became a naturalized citizen, drawn by an obsession with the superiority of Teutonic people and the music of Richard Wagner, obsessions he shared with Hitler. Chamberlain ultimately married Wagner’s daughter Eva. He wrote that the Aryan peoples created all the greatness of Western civilizations and Jews threatened their “purity” and strength.

Permitting the Destruction of Life Unworthy of Life had a particular focus on destroying children. A German doctor named Ewald Meltzer found the book repugnant—Meltzer worked with disabled children and believed they enjoyed life and brought value to the world, both possibilities denied by Binding and Hoche. Meltzer conducted a survey in 1920 to find what he predicted would be German parents’ resistance to the loss of their child. But in response to Meltzer’s main question, “Would you agree to the painless curtailment of the life of your child if it was established that it was suffering from incurable idiocy?” about three-quarters of parents answered yes. These parents didn’t want to initiate the death themselves. They wanted the disabled child’s death to occur without having to ask for it. Some parents said no one could expect them to make the choice—doctors should do whatever in their judgment needed to be done. After the war doctors facing prosecution cited the Meltzer survey as part of their defense.

I can’t say how much eugenic thinking had trickled down to the parents Meltzer questioned. Most must have had some exposure to eugenic theory. Germany’s postwar economy was in tatters and children with needs cost money. I would not, though, be confident about the results of that survey today.

Harry Laughlin, pioneer of race science, had epilepsy. Nazi sterilization and Aktion T4 targeted epileptics, and so did Laughlin, though colleagues at the Eugenics Record Office had witnessed him having seizures. Whatever a psychotherapist might make of it, Laughlin treated epilepsy as identical to feeble-mindedness and wanted to see it eradicated.

Laughlin sent a chart illustrating the pedigree of a sterilized California woman to a Nazi eugenics conference he couldn’t attend. It shows her family tree, with initials: I for Insane, F for Feeble-minded, M for Moron, A for Alcoholic, N for Neurotic, and Sx for Sex Pervert. As time went on, studies of families with bad “germ-plasm” weren’t as unequivocal as eugenicists might wish. Many families, like Dorothea Buck’s, didn’t show hereditary patterns. The links remain weak now. It’s hard to separate, even in families with multiple diagnosed members like mine, nature from nurture, or lack of it. Eugenicists’ solution was adding more and vaguer categories to the traits indicating genetic defect. A person might prove they had no alcoholism in the family, but few could say definitively they had no neurosis.

Harry Laughlin pushed Congress to pass the Immigration Act of 1924 and helped draft its language. This act favored immigrants of British descent, excluded most Asians, and drastically reduced entry to southern and eastern Europeans, excluding from immigration most Jews. Under this act a ship, the St. Louis, of Jewish refugees from Germany was refused U.S. port in 1939. The ship went on to Britain, which took a few of the nine hundred passengers. Then, out of options, the St. Louis sailed back to Germany. About half the remaining passengers died in the Holocaust.

In 1942, The American Journal of Psychiatry ran the euthanasia debate I mentioned in the prologue. Neurologist Foster Kennedy and psychiatrist Leo Kanner debated a plan for the eugenic killing of “the idiot and the imbecile,” what Kennedy termed the feeble-minded, as children. Kennedy, an Irish American who has an eye condition named for him, argued for it. There are “too many feeble-minded people among us,” he writes, and they need to be released from “the agony of living.” What it means to be feeble-minded, of course, is never defined, and could include being Down, autistic, or just a child who communicates or responds differently. Kennedy claimed he had support much like Meltzer’s survey. As soon as he began talking about child euthanasia, Kennedy says, letters poured in from “parents all over the country with their sad pleas” that their children’s lives be ended. Kennedy ended his argument by saying “the Law must also grow, along with the amplitude of our new ideas for a wiser and better world . . . and thereafter civilization will pass on and on in beauty.”

The Jewish Kanner, who came from Austria and worked mostly with autistic children, disagreed. He makes the argument that those with “feeble-mindedness” are necessary to do work others wouldn’t and refers to people like his assistant garbage man. Kanner suggests that, rather than saying some of the population doesn’t fit in, we try harder to fit them. He also asks if American psychiatrists should really “take their cue from the Nazi Gestapo.” Both debaters understood the death programs going on in Germany. A German friend, writes Kanner, told him about the euthanasia programs and estimated the dead at a surprisingly accurate one hundred thousand.

“I believe the figure too high,” says Kanner, saying the number would be in the thousands, which he considers bad enough. Kanner points out that Kennedy’s “release them from their agony” is uncomfortably close to the language of the stock condolence letters T4 sites sent to the families of victims.

A response editorial written by the journal sides mostly with Kennedy and worries that families might resist killing due to a sense of “morbid attachment” to their children. Kennedy and the journal say that “enabling legislation” and a clear process will rule out the “arbitrary law” governing German deaths. German euthanasia appears to the journal and to Kennedy as a good idea, poorly executed, and perhaps not meant to apply to adults. No one in this argument says it’s unethical to put innocent people to death. I wonder if Kanner, who seems moral, felt even posing the ethical argument just wouldn’t fly. At the time the Journal was the most prominent psychiatric journal in the country.

In 1999 three ethicists from the University of Pennsylvania published an article titled “What Is Immoral About Eugenics?” Magnus, Caplan, and McGee argue that while eugenics has had a bad history, genetic manipulation to create “desirable” traits in children is both moral and natural. Provided there’s no coercion, couples and individuals should be free to “improve the potential of their offspring.” The authors list physical strength, dexterity, math skills, and good vision as examples of what parents might want. But they don’t rule out any choices except those that directly harm the child. Parents “may want a child of a particular hair color or gender,” they write. They might want freckles, even a particular “freckle pattern.”

Under the heading “The Subjectivity of Perfection,” the three argue that as parents give children “religious values, hobbies, and customs as they see fit, it would be difficult to reject it as overly subjective when matters turn to the selection of a genetic endowment for their child.”

The truth is that the worst of American eugenics didn’t vanish on its own. There was no group consensus that gas chambers would be an immoral program of murder. These ideas died in the rubble of Nazi death. And ultimately the fact of the camps—the footage of the liberations, the trauma and testimony of the troops—was unanswerable. There was no longer, for people who’d done nothing wrong, a “humane gas chamber.” There were no eugenics congresses after the war, and that fact has little to do with personal moral awakenings.

I have a fear of false equivalencies. I have an equal fear of failing to draw connections. Think of the qualities your parents would request of a geneticist, traits you didn’t end up getting. To be mathematically gifted, an athlete, to be musical, understand physics, to have their concept of good skin qualities and features. I have a friend who said she “couldn’t stand it” if her daughter didn’t look like her. Would someone really ask for their own features to be manipulated into their child? The three bioethicists would allow it. I’m telling you that by all evidence, in the privacy of a medical office, someone would ask for that.

And would you then be you? A seemingly silly question, but the only possible answer is no. We’re the sum of our deficits along with our talents. We do what we do because we’re good at those things but not as good at anything else. I doubt these three leading ethicists would have had the stamina for this work if they’d been enhanced in the womb—what with their pro-level soccer, violin virtuosity, differential equations, primping over their enhanced features. An altered you would be some other being, the old you some shredded DNA.

The CRISPR gene-editing tool, first created in 2009, would make changes like this entirely possible. This may be our own eugenic ledge, or one of them, with the kinds of indirect implications no one foresees. Laughlin did not personally doom hundreds of people to the gas chamber, but yet he did. The genetically altered babies remind me of Kennedy’s civilization moving on and on “in beauty.” And they remind me that freckles are a feature not entirely but mostly happening on white skin.

Even in the flush of eugenics and conferences, and awards for onion-studying fanatics from Missouri, no consensus existed on what traits to keep in humans and what to eliminate. Laughlin mostly thought in terms of race. Galton favored intelligence but had odd theories on how to gauge it—he thought you could measure intelligence by testing things like reaction times to sound and grip strength. Many others like Margaret Sanger and H. G. Wells and Nobel laureate Carrel wanted the mentally ill gassed. 

Foster Kennedy wanted badly to eliminate “imbecile” children but in his debate strongly defends not just the lives but the fertility of manic-depressives. Without them, he warns, our country might have one or two happier generations but would then fall into a population “of mediocrities, capable of pushing but not of leaping.” Kennedy sounds more than worried. He’s passionate. He may have known the Nazis targeted manic-depressives for sterilization, more so than they did for euthanasia.

There’s no shortage of people with opinions on who else should exist. And here lies one of many rubs. I think Kennedy knew and cared about at least one manic-depressive. Francis Galton prided himself on his brains. I expect his reaction times and grip strength were excellent. He had very little hair, a physical quality he never correlated with intelligence.

Francis Galton began his work with “positive” eugenics. It sounded reasonable at the time.
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To Make the World More Human

Dorothea Buck
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The seventh morning the structure of the universe followed the same rhythm of progressing development and order: unity/wholeness—stretching/expansion of the gases—attraction and contracting to larger units of the galaxies—expansion of these systems in the universe, comparable with the tiered flower heads. The star systems of the galaxies that rotate around a center, created by smaller units, the planetary systems that circle around their sun, rotating in even smaller units, the orb of individual planets, seemed to me like the symbol of our developmental aim: a great, central circling WE, in which the I of the individual orb remains completely intact.

DOROTHEA BUCK, On the Trail of the Morning Star: Psychosis as Self-Discovery



IN 1936, TWENTY-FIVE YEARS AFTER SCHREBER’S DEATH, DOROTHEA BUCK SAW two stars rise from the horizon into the night sky, an ascent unlike any stars she’d ever seen—swift, brilliant. The day was both Holy Thursday and her nineteenth birthday, and Buck passed the night lying in a dune. “I decided,” she wrote later, to “allow myself to be led” by the impulses and visions recently defining her life.

At dawn, Buck rose from the dune and saw a star still present in the sky. She walked, or was led, “precisely on the gleaming trail the star cast upon the wet sand.” She came to a tideway near the mudflats on her island, a tideway that always held running water. She fell into the muck—there was mud but no stream in the tideway—and passed out. She awoke in her own bed, carried home by local workers.

Buck insisted the water stopped that day, though in the non-mad world the tideway never dried. She’d swum across the tideway, shortly before falling into its muddy but waterless bed. I’ve seen these tideways, like channeled rivers, on Wangerooge Island. Only a severe drought could dry them. Impossible that they’d empty in a matter of hours.

When Buck awoke at home, she found her knees cut by seashells—proof that she had crawled through the tideway, and not swum.

The experience in the mudflats felt to Buck like a rebirth, and on waking she asked for a piece of cake. Her sister ran to a baker to fetch it, but the celebration didn’t last. Buck’s family brought her to a nearby hospital, then to the psychiatric institution Bethel. Buck’s father was a pastor, and her family knew Bethel’s director, Pastor Friedrich von Bodelschwingh. As children Buck and her siblings would eat cheap black bread, sending to von Bodelschwingh and Bethel their saved pennies. This, Buck’s parents felt, would teach the children piety. And so Buck as a child built up the walls of her future prison.

In Bethel Buck sat trapped in a bathtub for hours, restrained by a canvas cover. She lay immobilized by icy sheets while facing a wall holding the Gospel quote, “Come unto me, all ye who labor and are heavy laden and I will give you rest.” At one point Buck crawled out of her bed and covered this quote with a cross made of her own feces. This was not madness. It was necessity, an act born of the psychic need to alter what Buck later called “a hell amid Bible quotes.” Buck remained in Bethel for nine months, drugged and sometimes, like Schreber, force-fed.

One day Buck was told she needed a surgery, a “necessary little procedure.” A nurse shaved her pubic hair. As Schreber did at the stop between Flechsig’s and Sonnenstein, Buck at the hospital felt only relief. It was “such happiness” compared to being at Bethel: Her hospital room had a window, and she could look out on a beautiful sunny sky—one of the few she’d seen since the day of the riverbed rebirth.

When Buck woke, doctors called her surgery an appendectomy, a flimsy lie: The scar lay across Buck’s pubic area. A fellow patient told her later that she’d been sterilized. The procedure was legal under the Nazi Law for the Prevention of Hereditary Diseases that passed three years before. A hereditary health “court” of three roving doctors signed off on the procedure. Back at Bethel, a young girl in Buck’s room began, for reasons Buck never learned, bleeding through the rectum. Buck wrote later that everything in the hospital seemed to go against nature. A girl could menstruate through the rectum, the appendix could suddenly move above the pubic bone.

Buck by the age of nineteen lived defined by schizophrenia—her family even moved several times, to take her where no one knew she’d been institutionalized.

Buck wore her hair short; it curved down her cheeks, and as a young woman she wore bangs cut straight as a curtain. They wisped more as she aged and her hair went white. It’s accurate to call her face pixie-ish, but that doesn’t quite capture the sense that she’s fallen into riverbeds you and I cannot. And the constant slight smile didn’t change, in all the video and photos I’ve seen. Her friend Hans Krieger in a letter to me called her presence Buddhistic.

Buck, born in 1917, came like Schreber from a family of five children—four daughters and one son born to Hermann and Anna Lahusen Buck. Her family lived in Naumburg in Saxony, moving in 1934 to Wangerooge. At the time of her birth Buck’s pastor-father fought in the First World War.

Both of Buck’s parents were people of conscience. Hermann Buck joined other pastors in opposing Carl Röver, regional leader of his area and a National Socialist who tried to ban a Black minister from preaching. The pastors won, but the fight was part of Hermann’s decision to move north. Anne Buck, Dorothea’s sister, told Alexandra Pohlmeier that around 1942, her father was “the only non-Nazi in the area.” Hermann Buck had been feeding information to the British, and when Dorothea disappeared one day, the British forces loaned Hermann Buck a car and driver to find her.

Despite her feelings about National Socialism, Frau Buck wrote a letter to her daughter a few days after Dorothea’s sterilization. She said, “The new state demands some things that are a great sacrifice for the individual.” She added that Germany needs women who aren’t mothers to love children also, women who “still have a motherly heart.”

Frau Buck was probably trying to help her daughter accept what she couldn’t change. According to Thomas Bock, Buck’s parents were told that without the surgery they might never see Dorothea again. In an odd rhetorical move, Anna Buck says to her sterile-yet-useful daughter, “With mothers, love gets worn out for their children so fast.”

Buck wrote in On the Trail of the Morning Star that her father blamed their lack of closeness on his service. Buck was a year and a half when her father returned from the First World War. He was older than Dorothea by forty-five years, though he seems to have doted on her younger sister. Buck became closer to her mother, a loving woman in spite of her letter.

Buck describes her family as having a clear hierarchy among the children: Her father called her older sister smart and the second beautiful. The youngest daughter, born after her father’s return, was his favorite. Buck’s father described her as the most guileless of his children but otherwise didn’t find much to praise. He considered his daughter illogical, in a way that silenced her when he was present.

Dorothea became lost in games as a girl, often fantasies she acted out with her beloved dolls. By fourteen she’d outgrown games but needed the kind of creativity they offered. Dreaming of teaching, she improvised a kindergarten with games and crafts for local children.

Schreber includes very little information about his early life in his memoir. Buck has left a detailed narrative of hers. By fourteen, Buck wrote, she could be “taken hold of” by things, like a tree shimmering with raindrops in a streetlamp. I don’t know what a teenage Schreber might have been dazzled by, though I can imagine by things similar.

When she entered Bethel, Buck believed she was the bride of Christ. The nurses mocked her by calling it her wedding night. The bride of Christ image came to Buck first in March of 1936, five months before the stars and the mudflats, and much more prosaically. While she did the family laundry, she heard three sentences from a voice so overwhelming it pushed her to the ground: Hitler’s war would come, and it would be monstrous; she was the bride of Christ; and she’d have something important to say one day, and when she did the words would come. She told these three statements to her father, who soothed her by saying there would be no such war and being the bride of Christ just meant being part of a faith community.

Back in her room, Buck meditated on the image. As she wrote in Morning Star: “And I realized that the idea of being the ‘bride of Christ’ was not nonsense. It had to do with the development of my personal nature. I imagined what, realistically, being the bride of Jesus could be like. I would bore him terribly, if I tried to copy him and who he had originally been, by getting over my own nature. . . . That was a relief. I just had to become myself; all the tiring efforts of the last weeks to become something other than what I was were completely unnecessary.”

As would happen again and again in her life, Buck, by “playing out” the image, released a wave of creativity. She began to imagine intricate games she could create for children. This was the experience, she wrote later, that taught her the work of psychosis is to play it out, and not let it “harden,” by suppression through aggressive treatment. Creating games brought her joy. The fear she felt at the coming war haunted her.

Buck described herself after the laundry room as changed fundamentally by what she called a “release” of instinct. She connected this faith in the unconscious to the way she’d allow herself to be led on the mudflats. This release of instinct or impulse would characterize her breaks, where even in her sculpting, she would create without too much conscious thought. And, often, become seized by quite reasonable fears about the future. Back in 1936 the reward for Buck’s instinctual moves was a little more prosaic. In addition to creating children’s games, Buck became a much better cook.

Unlike Schreber, Buck remained linked to the Christianity she grew up with, though she demanded of God the humanity denied her by medicine. Buck wrote in a letter that her God, “the creator of this world with his incomprehensible inventiveness and imagination,” expresses himself through the kind of neurodiverse ferment she’d lived. God was, she wrote in the same letter, “a living, driving force.” Buck envisioned God as both a mother and a father, in that the one divinity births all the created. She also saw God as a child. Like Schreber’s, Buck’s deity didn’t directly intervene in the world. In her theology only the embodied can physically change things. God gives humans the impulse to act for good, an impulse humans can take or leave.

Buck also wrote in her letter, “To your question, which are the sources of strength for me, they lie here. Also in the certainty that a more insightful and humane psychiatry is not only our concern, but also His. It must be, or else I would withdraw my allegiance to Him. I envision that we are to be partners with God in making our world more human.”

Buck planned to write Morning Star in a reportorial voice, a book focused on psychiatric reform. The idea of including her own psychotic experiences came from her friend Hans Krieger, a journalist I corresponded with for three years before his death. Hans wrote me that when Buck decided to write her own story, “out of fear of the social disadvantages [she] hid behind the pseudonym Sophie Zerchin for the first edition.” Buck chose a pseudonym that reflects a woman always defiant and also funny: Sophie Zerchin is an anagram for the German word Schizophrenie, or schizophrenia.

In the final edition of Morning Star, Buck published as Dorothea Sophie Buck-Zerchin. Hans Krieger called it eliminating the “splicing of her identities.” Buck continued to use the name Dorothea Buck for her seminars, appearances, and extensive correspondence, so that is the name I use here.

Is it too obvious to name other star followers? The Magi, who followed three stars to find Jesus. The Milky Way, the “Star Road,” has been seen as a heavenly path by groups from the Aztec to the ancient Greeks, often for the gods to walk, or for humans to walk between worlds. In parts of southern Africa, a young girl made the road that was the Milky Way by throwing ash into the sky. Perhaps it’s also obvious to say, don’t be the first one to tell the people around you such stories.

After hearing voices in the laundry room, Buck wrote to her beloved choir director, a man named Molt, and begged him to come with her to see Hitler. She needed to talk Hitler out of starting this terrible war.

“So often we believe there is a big plan for us,” Molt replied. “But the greatest thing is to be true to the small things. . . That results in accomplishing tasks that must be accomplished even if it is housework or the like.” With loyalty to the small things, Buck recalled thinking, one could not stop a war.

Later, worried about her daughter’s visions, Buck’s mother took her to a doctor. Buck asked the doctor too to come with her to see Hitler. He replied that he couldn’t leave his practice. Two years later British Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain flew to Munich and met with Hitler, signing a treaty that gave the dictator large pieces of Czechoslovakia. Chamberlain had come to believe it would be a monstrous war.

Home from the dunes, Buck wondered whether she’d always been surrounded by miracles, and just never noticed. And she asked the people she saw around her if they were angels. By contrast, Schreber wrote on arriving at Sonnenstein, “by then I was tired of all miracles.” Buck hadn’t had a Flechsig’s stay to wear her out; her visions were just getting started. Buck, like Schreber, experienced her surroundings in a way that brought psychotic realities into the world of neurotypical normality. She’d been reborn; the woven stretcher that carried her into the hospital transformed into an infant’s cot. When the nurse sarcastically told Buck to enjoy her wedding night, she worried that, given there’d been no wedding, she might be in a brothel. Soon she was force-fed, wrapped in freezing cloth that became hot as it rose with the temperature of her body.

At the Bethel asylum, Buck lay down one day for a mandatory noon nap and a nurse touched her blanket. Where the nurse’s hand lay, the blanket glowed and smoldered with fire. It burned Buck’s skin so badly she needed treatment, though to the rest of the room she lay beneath an ordinary blanket. Buck refused the tumble into “naked materiality” feared by Paul Schreber. She believed psychosis could be both a mental state and a reality that bleeds into the physical world, literally. Buck slept across from the Biblical passage: “Come unto me, all you who labor and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest.” So the place became “a hell amid Bible quotes.” It burned her.

Dorothea Buck follows the morning star and is reborn from a bed of muck. Though in consensus reality, her muck is a running river. Buck remained unwavering about this truth. A tool of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century psychiatry was called the “bath of surprise,” a trapdoor that dropped a patient into freezing water. Buck fell into her own bath of surprise and rose, unlike those half-drowned patients, undrowned. In the moments she existed there, it was not running water.

After her first psychotic episode Buck had four others. The first episode and the lead-up to it take up almost half of Morning Star. Understandably: That episode put her on the trail of comprehending her inner impulses, the signs and imageries that would make her world. It posed spiritual questions Buck spent her life resolving. This pastor’s daughter writes that in Bethel she wondered if “Jesus was a charlatan.” And in her first psychotic episode her sterilization took place, a loss that changed her life.

Under Nazi law Buck couldn’t attend college, work as a teacher, or marry someone who had not been sterilized. Most options that mattered to her had closed. She could not imagine, she wrote, surviving for sixty more years. So, at her release from nine months at Bethel, she created a plan to commit suicide. To spare her family, she wanted a death that looked accidental—possibly freezing in a forest, an idea she got from a book. Her suicide plan was more about life than death: As Buck put it, “When instead of sixty years, which seemed like an infinity, I only looked one or two or five years ahead, my desperation already seemed to lift a little.” Living in increments made life bearable.

At a movie preview, Buck saw a short film on pottery making. Pottery intrigued her and would be a legally acceptable area of study. At a nearby studio, Buck learned to fire ceramics and discovered sculpting, which became her artistic love. Buck worked in bronze, in a rough but stunning expressionism, a style banned by the Nazis as “degenerate.” Buck would travel often to see the work of artists she admired like Rodin, Paula Modersohn-Becker, and Paul Klee. In her work Buck returned again and again to the subject of mother and child, in different poses but always with the mother’s arms somehow flowing into her little one’s.

Buck was a gifted artist, and she would go on to receive enough public and private commissions to support herself. But in the 1960s Buck abandoned her art career. After discovering the euthanasia program, she wrote, she couldn’t imagine making art. So many like her had died unacknowledged, unmourned.

After Bethel, Buck continued to visit Molt, and they corresponded. Her sister Anne said Buck was in love with him, though Molt was married, and their relationship probably remained one-sided. None of my Buck connections know more about Molt than what’s in her book.

Buck began singing lessons, with a teacher Molt recommended. One evening in 1938 she felt an overwhelming impulse to go to this teacher, though she knew he was probably away. Walking to the teacher’s house, Buck threw away her watch, feeling no need for time when she had her impulses to guide her. She also threw away her jacket. Buck wandered freezing streets and eventually went home with a man who offered to make her hot coffee. She had had a vision of visiting the small rock archipelago Helgoland; entering the man’s apartment she saw a large picture of Helgoland on his wall. He made the coffee and helped her drink it, but when she lingered on his steps, he called the police. They delivered her to the institution of Ilten.

Ilten was an improvement from Bethel: no wet wraps or restraints, narcotics, or Bible quotes. It was a private institution and Buck’s aunt funded her stay. Trauma there came from the drug Cardiazol, a drug used for the same purpose as electroshock, to create seizures. Buck described the “spasming” injections as “torturous.” Overall, she had a better experience than she’d had under Bodelschwingh, though Buck’s realistic assessment was that at the upper-tier Ilten, inmates had more status, treated as clients rather than patients. After three months she was released. Buck was horrified to learn, years later, that Ilten had been a transit institution for euthanasia victims.

Buck wrote in Morning Star that her first two psychoses “had broken out following a spiritual burden; both times I experienced this breaking open as a liberation from the previous burden. In both breaks symbols took on a dominating meaning.” One of her burdens was the “stain” of shame she felt about bearing the label of schizophrenic. There’s no shortage of stigma now, but Buck lived at a time when her diagnosis could end her studies and livelihood. Even where she was allowed under the sterilization law, the institutions and individuals might not want her. Buck belonged to a group targeted for eradication, killed with the compliance of many people she lived and worked with. She bore evidence of that belonging on the most intimate part of her body.

In 1942 Buck applied to the Frankfurt Academy of Art. After passing fourteen days of art tests—nature drawing, sculpting, portrait, architecture—Buck faced a medical exam. Buck performed beautifully in the art testing; the only exam she feared was the medical one. The doctor might find her sterilization scar, which at the time and at her age signaled she’d been condemned by the Hereditary Health Courts. Luckily the exam stopped at Buck’s waist.

Buck did live model drawing, something she drew on for her sculpture. And she became part of a close community, taking time off with her peers to help local families with children affected by the war. As an artist, she thrived. But the war at that point affected everyone. Bombs rained down on cities, and bloodbaths like the siege of Stalingrad took the lives of more and more men. Many Germans were unhoused. A peer and former soldier told Buck Jesus was wrong to die at thirty-three—Jesus needed to show us humans he could stomach a longer life. A death that affected Buck deeply was the suicide of a composer she admired, Jochen Klepper, who died along with his Jewish wife to avoid deportation to the camps.

In 1943 a close friend of Buck’s announced plans to marry and a third break began. Buck’s crisis was spiritual as well as personal: Her sterilization left her feeling shut out from intimate love and questioning Jesus and judgment in a world that seemed to judge so poorly. Psychosis, the most central experience in her life, was a taboo subject, even with her family.

“And once again,” Buck wrote, “the psychosis liberated me from the isolation. Again, the feeling of secret, incomprehensible contexts broke out that I didn’t experience in a normal state.”

Buck thought of her earlier suicide plan and, wandering, spontaneously jumped into the Main River. She immediately pulled herself out and struggled to the bank. Someone had seen her, and an ambulance soon took her to the Goethe University psychiatric ward.

Though Buck saw little of him, the clinic was run by an extraordinary doctor named Karl Kleist. Kleist favored neurology, tending more toward the Weber-Flechsig physical side of things. But Kleist had a very different soul. He refused antisemitism and medical murder, continuing to treat Jewish patients and work with Jewish colleagues through the Nazis’ rise. Kleist openly criticized the euthanasia programs and, to save patients, avoided the diagnosis of schizophrenia—as, in a surprising turnaround, Bodelschwingh and his head doctor would do. Like other doctors who refused euthanasia, Kleist did so without much repercussion.

I have Kleist to thank for refining my official title—Kraepelin came up with manic-depressive, but Kleist revisited the syndrome and renamed it bipolar—zweipolig. While Kleist studied zweipolig as a researcher and put more focus than Kraepelin on its cyclic nature, redefining a psychosis meant saving patients from the death sentence that came with the word “schizophrenia.” Manic-depressives were heavily targeted for sterilization, but not as heavily targeted for death. I can’t help but believe Kleist found that salvation motivating. Buck was re-diagnosed bipolar at Kleist’s, a diagnosis she disagreed with and that didn’t stick. But it’s strange to think that without Nazi euthanasia, the word on my medical charts might not have existed.

Wild or decentralized euthanasia was in full swing in 1943, so Buck’s leap into the Main could easily have ended her life, and not the way she intended. Buck didn’t see much of Kleist but found the nurses at the clinic friendly. Patients worked stuffing mattresses with horsehair, a job less work therapy than shortage management.

After a month Buck began insulin coma therapy, then considered a promising treatment. For four weeks Buck received insulin injections every morning: “For hours we grew weaker; we broke out in sweat and became restless. I was so weak that I kept letting my head fall from one side of the pillow to the other until I finally fell into a coma. Every time it was like a slow death.” Psychiatric insulin isn’t used anymore, though the poet Sylvia Plath got it in the 1950s. Its debilitation, Buck believed, made it impossible to heal from the crises that precipitated her hospitalization:


Normal things slipped my mind as much as psychotic ones. But I didn’t want to forget my experiences under any circumstances. The daily unconsciousness made it ever more difficult. The instinct that had broken out became ever weaker. That was what the procedure was meant to do. But this has nothing to do with healing. To be healed one must understand and process what one has experienced.



Buck attributed the speed of her next episode—only three years later—to the suppression created by the insulin. Again, she faulted medical failure to listen to what she needed. “I could hardly consider myself a layperson anymore,” she wrote. “I had experienced my psychoses much too consciously for that. I knew their spiritual backstories.”

At Ilten, a young woman given insulin responded poorly and became badly disoriented. A doctor remarked one day that “it was too bad about her.” His comment surprised Buck, who hadn’t heard doctors show much concern one way or another. An older patient let her in on the secret: The failing patient would be sent to Eichberg, where she’d be allowed to starve. Buck didn’t believe such a thing could happen but, two decades later, learned that it did. How deportation could have happened under Kleist, with his well-documented resistance, I don’t know. He often wasn’t present at the clinic, and roving inspectors came to these facilities. Or the woman might have drawn conclusions based on what she saw elsewhere.

By the time of Buck’s fourth break, in 1946, most Germans’ lives had become sheer survival. In 1944 Buck herself survived a bombing. Sitting at a shelter table with her mother and aunt, among others, a friend asked Buck to switch places. When the bomb hit, Buck’s friend died. Buck crouched in the wreckage in total darkness before finding her way out. Germany also starved. Buck’s family scraped the ground for remnants of potatoes and dined on foraged nettles. The country was overwhelmed with refugees—fifteen million Germans had become unhoused. Buck unraveled sweaters to knit children’s coats and pants from the wool. One night Buck had a vision of Molt, gray and miserable. It turned out later he was a Russian prisoner of war.

Art stayed central to Buck, and she went in 1946 to an exhibit of “liberated art,” artists banned as “degenerate” by the Nazi regime. This included artists like Emil Nolde, whose watercolors she loved. Many young people were there, and Buck wrote, “We sat in front of the paintings for hours on the floor and couldn’t get enough of them.” But daily life had little sense of where art fit. Buck lived silenced, in a country where many had been complicit in medical murders. The proximate event before the fourth break was simple, as Buck describes it: Buck’s mother sent her daughter out of the room to discuss with a dentist the safest way to perform dental surgery, without triggering another attack. Buck felt overwhelmed by the strains of her life; this humiliation fell as a last blow.

Buck experienced, as in other episodes, a breaking out of instincts, impulses that took over. At first, she obsessively knit children’s clothing, finding, as with her early cooking, her hands did the right things without guidance. After dropping the clothes off, Buck took a train to the town of Minden, though she sought nothing specific there. Sensing the presence of myth and “old magic,” she grabbed pussy willow branches and ran through a forest, singing. Then Buck walked many miles to a town where Molt once lived. Buck slept in a railway station crushed with refugees; she sketched them before sleeping. Soon she found herself in the institution of Gütersloh.

A psychiatrist named Hermann Simon shaped Gütersloh, though by 1946 he’d left. Simon pioneered active therapy. One of Buck’s ongoing criticisms, along with lack of dialogue, was psychiatric hospitals’ enforced torpor. In Morning Star she said Simon’s therapy could have made her stays more healing and helped shut down euthanasia. “If Hermann Simon’s work therapy had established itself in all institutions, it would have been impossible to talk about ‘useless eaters,’ ” she wrote. She didn’t know that, despite some enlightened ideas, Simon strongly supported “race hygiene.” As did one of Simon’s other admirers, T4 director Paul Nitsche.

At Gütersloh, the shiny new therapy for patients was shock treatment. Buck bit her tongue badly after three treatments and that ended them, though they’d already affected her memory. Otherwise, medication was light and the atmosphere “cheerful.” Food stayed meager, and a few strawberries one day became a treat worth recording in Morning Star.

Gütersloh still practiced Simon’s active therapy, which merged into a needy world of scant resources. One of Buck’s jobs was cutting old envelopes and gluing them together to use as paper. After envelope duty, Buck ironed. Patients got a share of any profits that came from their work. Once again, Buck’s general positivity about the place darkened later. Gütersloh had put more than a thousand patients into the euthanasia program. The director at the time had not been Buck’s, but some of the “cheerful” nurses must have helped bundle those patients off.

There’s a postscript to this institution: In 1986, journalists Uwe Heitkamp and Michael Herl infiltrated it disguised as patients. What they found conjures up the asylums liberated by Philippe Pinel in the 1700s. In Heitkamp’s words, “I am lying in one of sixteen beds in the recovery ward. In this large glass cage, all the inmates are dozing off under the effects of psychotropic drugs. . . . The use of violence is no exception here. And violence means being tied naked to the bed. In my ward with thirty-two people, two were treated like this every day.”

After three months at Gütersloh, Buck went to an open ward in Bethel, in a situation somewhere between therapy and boarding. She came as a “transition” patient but stayed, not finding an apartment. Buck still had psychotic symptoms on arrival, but these “played out” and ended without treatment, confirming her own insights about psychosis. After that Buck pursued her art and paid a small stipend to Bethel from her commissions. Two encounters with Bethel patients struck her at this time: One, a deaconess, spoke French in a psychotic state, though she had no knowledge of the language. The other, a nurse, lived in terror of hallucinations. Buck called the nurse one of the few patients she’d met “who had only [emphasis mine] suffered from her psychotic experiences. I got the impression that it was exactly her fear of an unalterable fate that made her experiences so torturous and frightening.” The nurse’s medical education caused the “madness of fearing madness.”

Buck continued to sculpt mothers and children. The image captured for her the power of the “impulses” that guided her psychotic breaks:


The child ventures out in its first steps out of the safety of its mother, who stands like a dark hollow behind it and leads it carefully by the hands. ‘That should be in a chapel,’ our teacher spontaneously said when he saw the sculpture for the first time. . . . That the teacher suggested this nonsacred sculpture for a sacred space was exactly what I wanted to express. I myself felt like a child being accompanied by an invisible hand.” The mother’s hollowed and bent body, Buck wrote, holds the child as her psychotic visions have held her.



The blow that began Buck’s fifth and final episode was the end of her art studies, particularly live model studies. In 1959 the academy rejected her bid to extend her stay and take more classes, and she’d been particularly affected by the lack of live modeling. Buck focused on female figures and felt stalled in a creative process that formed the one open door after her sterilization. And the one way she’d found to speak of the experiences at her center.

Unlike her other breaks, Buck lived much of this one before hospitalization. I expect her openness, the episodes that had given her the gift of living her psychosis “consciously,” contributed. She wrote, “Unsettled and with shaken self-confidence about who I was, I apparently needed the inner security I got through impulses from the unconscious. They were a little weak initially, but they again gave me the feeling of being closely woven into the whole, and difficult things seemed to succeed by themselves.”

Buck’s impulses took over her art: Her hands moved on their own, and she finished a difficult commission in four days. The Elementary Language “erupted” in her. The language wasn’t a set system, but one that shifted in response to what it described: The set of sounds for one tree would reflect its individuality and differ from the sounds indicating another. Some who heard Buck speak this language heard it as their native tongues: Greek, Latvian. Buck connected it to the deaconess and her psychotic facility with French. She spoke this language, which came more easily to her than German, until her death.

The Elementary Language gave Buck new insights into the sound patterns of German. Words broke through representation and became sonically transparent. The German “Wort,” or “word,” itself became a sung tetrachord, or scale of four notes—a dynamic energy led by a w that sounded like “shaking waves.”

In this neurodiverse ferment, this receptive state, Buck traveled to an exhibit and saw a sculpture by Rodin of John the Baptist. It sounds from her description like she’d never seen a Rodin before. She returned home to a series of visions—“epiphanies”—that lasted for a week.

I have to tell you that, as with Schreber, paraphrasing can’t do justice to Buck’s visions. I urge you to get this remarkable book and read it. The epiphanies revealed fundamental forms and structural truths, from the inside of a flower to language to the cosmos. The first morning began with the structural iterations of leaves and plants, seeing their “static and dynamic elements.” The next morning Buck awoke feeling the impulse to draw a foot. As she made sketches, she discovered the iterative patterns of the body, the way a foot turned on its side contained the image of a torso, for example. This formed “the epiphany of the structural laws of the human body that I had not received during my education.” Her impulses filled in what her art education could not.

As the epiphanies continued, Buck saw all life move in a swirl of static and dynamic elements, like a “Bach fugue.” Filled with these insights, Buck studied all she could put her hands on: Bach’s music, a lilac, Rodin’s sculpture, galaxies. On the seventh morning she had her vision of the “structure of the universe” following “the same rhythm of progressing development and order.” From the smallest to the largest things around her, Buck found development through expansion, contraction, and rotation: the “great, central, circling WE.”

Buck also had a vision of human acts destroying the climate through cold, a planet “ungreening” itself. She wrote warning letters to a professor she cared about and to her sister, suggesting they stock dry food. Her sister asked a health agency to check on Buck. Instead of a check, the agency sent two policemen and a doctor to remove Buck from her home.

Buck found herself in another dismal institution, ignored and heavily sedated. She developed an injection site rash and was switched to sedatives in pill form, which she tongued and threw away. What mattered in this incarceration had nothing to do with the institution. Buck and seven other patients began gathering each day to talk about their psychoses, often for hours at a time. Being utterly ignored allowed them to speak freely, the way Guido Weber’s neglect allowed Schreber to think and write. Seasoned experiencers helped new ones. The women grew in the meaning of these visions for themselves and one another and discovered the shared images common to the tribe. I’ll discuss this process further in the book, but these conversations became the seed of trialogue and Buck’s psychosis seminars.

Released, Buck had a final psychotic vision at her home. She called it a “series of broken-open memories.” They were visions of a relived childhood, fantastic as well as healing. Dorothea’s father traveled to other planets, as he’d once gone off to fight. Occasionally he took her with him and showed her “transparent maps” of the galaxy, visions somewhat like Schreber’s “God-be-together-view.” When he returned from space, Hermann Buck worked building music boxes and carousels. He gave his daughter a small lamb and they separated. When Hermann Buck returned, he’d become a psychotherapist. “Now I knew that everything had been a game or psychotherapy,” Buck wrote, “but that didn’t take away from the healing effect of this love-filled childhood.”

Dorothea Buck has no biography, and her book has only recently been translated into English, or any other language. Schreber is often impossible to find in the sheer verbiage that surrounds his story. Buck gets lost in the sheer absence. The experts on the euthanasia program I’ve interviewed have never heard of her. On Wangerooge Island, some five miles square, no one I met in 2022 knew who she was. Buck’s testimony lies in her book, the groups she brought together, her protests, her many letters.

Buck writes that under the guidance of her impulses, symbol became a dominant tool of meaning. This kind of meaning transcends symbol as mental concept and becomes the way one lives in the world, apprehends it, as people normally apprehend through sight and sound and touch. Myth isn’t a story locked in some parallel human history but the story, the story in which the experiencer dances holding a pussy willow branch. Or fathers return from space.

This is Buck and Schreber’s world—sometimes mine—and it is utterly real, whether one consciousness exists within it or many. Like Jung, Buck links psychosis to the unconscious and to dream: “irruptions” of the unconscious, breaking into waking thought. Unlike Jung, into this unconscious irruption Buck folds the realities of the body, even of its burning. This existent world isn’t subject to ordinary language or the demands of ordinary life. To find it strange is simply to not know it. It’s a world as real as any and, I’ll add, often far more kind.

I have a Dorothea Buck sculpture. It’s small, about seven inches by seven inches. In the rough bronze a mother bends over the child on her knee. One arm flows in a circle into the child’s arm, the other raises a hand in a sign that could be warning or blessing. The mother’s body bends back, hollows. Both faces bear the suggestion of features, but each face changes as you move the piece around—sometimes seeming to face forward, sometimes to tilt. 

I had the bronze cast from one of the only foundries left that has a Buck mold. I found the place after several years of chasing leads and much dead-end correspondence. Like her story, too much of Buck’s art has been lost. My bronze is the eighth cast from this piece, but the others may no longer exist. Two Buck pieces are publicly displayed in Germany, one in Hamburg and one in Berlin. Several of Buck’s friends have works by her. I have found little else.

My bronze is indescribably important to me. Sometimes I drape it with my grandmother’s white gloves, or fossils I collected from a cliffside of shale, fossils with etchings of leaf. I have no idea if my piece is one of the many Buck created in psychosis. It has that place’s suggestive, evolving nature. I know that in a place of neurodiverse, mad ferment, Buck traveled to find Rodin, to bring that back. She shaped this hollowing mother to tell the story of that ferment. Some of what he gave to her, she gives to me.
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With Buck and Schreber
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IN 2022 I PUT MY FINGERS AND TOES IN THE MUD OF THE TINY ISLAND OF Wangerooge. It smelled like my childhood, a marshy ooze reeking of both decay and new life. It’s an odor that repels, but then you crave it again. I saw—I think—the tideway that miraculously dried and scraped Buck’s knees with its shells. Nearby stood a Nazi tower, in Buck’s lifetime a lighthouse. I stood in front of Schreber’s house, the one he’d built on his release, a house like music. I touched the old, dimpled metal posts, where Schreber’s hands rested as he entered and left. I imagine he, as I would, caressed the gate, going anywhere and nowhere, just to remind himself that he could.

I first went to Germany in 2017, doing euthanasia research. In 2019, in my own madness, I’d found Dorothea Buck and renewed my friendship with Paul Schreber. As 2020 started, I was ready to find my mad family. I had a grant to go to Germany. Then March 2020 fell on the world. Germany closed, no one I needed to speak to available. My grant timed out. My life—everyone’s—became very small and very specific. Was there yogurt at the grocery store, cat food? Should my sister-in-law in South Carolina mail us toilet paper? She came within twenty-four hours of doing so. We got our first masks from a high school student in Seattle who sewed them out of vacuum-cleaner filters. A friend told us about her in a half whisper.

When the world reopened, I made two more trips to Germany, in spring and fall of 2022. I saw, in this order, Pirna/Sonnenstein, Schreber’s house in Dresden, Wangerooge, Buck’s Hamburg garden cottage. I met, in this order, Buck friends and collaborators Fritz Bremer, Thomas Bock, Gabriele Heuer. In fall of 2022, I went to Germany with wheelchairs, painkillers, and a blue folding cane called Big Alex—by the manufacturer, but I used its name with enthusiasm. Arthritis had suddenly cut through both of my knees. I would come home to get both knees replaced.

This is my story in sane time. Mad time is no time and in it I’m always in Dresden on Schreber’s Angelikastrasse and on Buck’s Wangerooge. Lyric time, in poetry, suspends time, while the narrative exists within time, to tell stories that move from one event to another. In the narrative Ulysses, the hero leaves Troy, wanders around islands, finally returns to Ithaca, bang bang bang. Emily Dickinson’s lyric, “hope is the thing with feathers / that perches in the soul,” doesn’t happen on a Tuesday nor does it end. Madness takes place in lyric time. When the elevator surrounds you again, you are simply back in Macon, in that first elevator, and in all the subsequent elevators as well.

My trips to Germany happened somewhere between sane time and mad time. Planes landed. We picked up rental cars at three o’clock, chose the early afternoon rather than the morning ferry. Then I was a child again and Dorothea Buck was a teenager again and we walked together in the mud. I rode through the streets of Pirna in the passenger seat of a rental car and could have been Paul Schreber. The eighteenth-century buildings, and small temporary carnival with booths and merry-go-round, were fleeting-improvised. This thought felt not delusory but entirely possible.

We arrived in Germany on a train from Prague to Dresden, where we picked up our rental car. Our trip started in England with unseasonable cold and deluges of rain. The rain continued in Prague and then in Germany. The train lost our seat assignments, and we’d just spent hours propped with luggage in two and a half feet of hallway, luggage soaked, us soaked.

We drove to Pirna, twisting through alley-sized streets into the Am Markt or old market square, which holds a medieval church and attached buildings that were once homes. The houses have steep red corrugated roofs, dormers, window boxes, and lots of flounces. Our Am Markt hotel’s window box held lavender and dusty miller. The Italian painter Canaletto did eleven paintings of Pirna in the 1750s, and the center has barely changed—you could use the paintings as decoration, or you could use them as a map to your favorite coffee shop: Turn left at the man bending over his horse. Canaletto did several views of Sonnenstein, one from the Elbe where a man sails an odd flat boat and the fortress spreads wide and ambiguous. The Am Markt is cobblestone, with a large carved fountain.

I write the story of my visits to the Sonnenstein asylum and its killing areas in chapter 10, “Unknown Ways That Are Hieroglyphical.” This spring I also came to Saxony for Schreber, so my husband, Bruce, and I drove the fifteen miles from Pirna to Schreber’s house, the one he had built on his release from Sonnenstein. I fed into my GPS the address Zvi Lothane emailed me on Angelikastrasse in Dresden. When the Dresden skyline spread out in front of us on the autobahn, we saw a magnificent illusion. Many of the pale ornate buildings, like the Royal Palace apartments and domed Frauenkirche, were destroyed in the 1945 firebombing and rebuilt. It took years and these intricate Baroque buildings aren’t fleeting-improvised, but nor are they quite real.

The deluges had continued in Pirna but as our car reached Dresden the air warmed by ten or more degrees and the sun came out, the same sun director Guido Weber said Schreber stood and screamed at.

Schreber’s street, a residential street with large and serenely expensive houses, sits between Fischhausstrasse (Fish House Street) and Klarastrasse in a neighborhood that didn’t burn. The very green, very spacious avenue is nothing like cluttered Pirna, where Schreber lost his freedom and in tiny bites got it back again. The Schreber house is still a private home, and Zvi didn’t mention whose. No one at the Sonnenstein asylum knew much about Schreber, and I wonder about the owners of the house. Maybe they exist lavished in rays and soul-voluptuousness and have no idea why. Or hear the sound of bellowing, dipping a toe into mad time.

Schreber lived with his mother for the time it took to build his home, the house a sane-time act that speaks in mad. It’s beige, three stories, with a textured finish. Three small white squares adorn the front and sides of it, and three rectangular windows peek out from a dormer, a kind of visual rhyme. There’s an intricate upper window, a white circle with three lozenges of glass. The notes from the opera Siegfried, signaling Schreber’s defeat of Guido Weber, are gone now, alas. Fronted with curves, flutings, and lines, the house felt like sheet music.

A large oak tree hangs over the back, possibly there in Schreber’s time. Holly, lavender, and blue bellflower grow around the gate. These could be descendants of Schreber plants, so I picked bellflowers and pressed them into my notebook.

Schreber wrote at the end of the Memoirs that for seven years the voices didn’t stop. Nor would they have stopped, or stopped entirely, when he crossed the border from Pirna back to Dresden. How Schreber lived his own residue, and how much of that contained the “increasingly harmless” miracles he felt at the end of Sonnenstein, I can’t of course say. He smoked his cigars under the oak tree and the rays came, intricate as the branches, tendrils, and leaves. This I believe. Who knows where his Flechsig-rays ended up? I like to think Schreber’s soul-voluptuousness, intense at the end of the book, continued.

Schreber would spend five peaceful years in this neighborhood before Sabine’s stroke and his return to an institution. Three years after Schreber’s 1911 death, the assassination of Austria’s Archduke Franz Ferdinand started the First World War, and in its wake, thousands of deaths in European asylums. Resources were stretched to the utmost and the mad the last who seemed to deserve them. About half of Sonnenstein’s population died over the course of the war, a larger number each month. Had Schreber lost his case and lived a little longer, he would have died an awful, sane-time death.

Bruce and I took a long walk down Fischhausstrasse and I projected the judge walking in front of me. I believe he grew his moustache back and I also believe it would be visible from behind, peeking out from each cheek. Schreber would have been a slow, purposeful walker, sometimes accompanied by Fridoline. Birds would still speak and perhaps Schreber continued to shout at the sun. Outside of an asylum, that act could read as eccentricity, or just complaining about the weather.

When we came back to the car Bruce played the Siegfried passage on his phone. As he did a fat honeybee crawled out of the notebook onto my hand: It had been deep within the flower. The bee and I miracle-d a little: that I didn’t squash it, that it didn’t sting me. The bee made a Schreber-esque escape out a window. As we drove back to Pirna, dark clouds massed again above our heads. Appropriate, I told Bruce, that Schreber would give us brilliance at the house of his liberation, then take it back as we headed toward Sonnenstein.

Schreber’s house lies about two miles from central Dresden, so much of his world would have burned to ash in the firebombing. I wonder if Schreber saw a vision of that too, in mad time: a reek of fire and devil’s ash.

During his commitment appeal, Schreber got permission to leave the asylum for small trips. He walked around the Am Markt, as I did. There’s a fountain in the square with a metal sculpture, of a ship holding famous locals—one in top hat, one blowing a trombone, one clinging to the side. I don’t remember who these men were and couldn’t find out online. I wondered if Schreber imagined himself sculpted into the ship. He had at this point expectations that his memoir would be widely studied, and it is. That it’s studied as the work of a lunatic might bother him or it might not. In the commitment case, Weber charged that if Schreber were released, or published his book, people would consider him deranged. Schreber’s unbothered response was, they already do.

At the end of the book Schreber writes, “All this I believe I can predict for the not-too-distant future, that in my lifetime I will enjoy in advance that Blessedness granted to other human beings only after death.” Schreber’s blessedness was mad time.

On his leaves Schreber began swimming in the Elbe River. In the deep water a miracle sometimes claimed him, a partial paralysis at various points in his body. It did not frighten him, he said, as the miracle limited itself to a single body part, and he was a strong swimmer. Another Elbe miracle left Schreber panting and shivering; he pulled himself onto a floating log. He would continue to swim in the Elbe, he wrote, but found it a “peculiar feeling to know miracles might be enacted against me at any moment.” This may have been a parable for his post-Sonnenstein life. Like me, he was less a man who doesn’t hallucinate than one who no longer attends to the hallucinations so fully.

We first saw the Elbe when our GPS sent our car along a bike path that ran beside the river, more chaos in a chaotic trip, or mad time trying to behave as sane time. We were heading to Schreber’s house, but the GPS had been miracle-d and this went beyond prank. On both Bruce’s phone and mine and in multiple countries, the droning voice guided us to lurch into crowded piazzas, turn the wrong way down one-way streets. With all the right information the rays from our GPS headed us to the wrong city. We found Dresden from road signs. We hadn’t found our version of a log and followed the droning voice, hoping it might unmiracle itself. At the Elbe, German bicyclists screamed and shook their fists until we could find a way off the bike path, about as wide as our small car.

Later we came back to walk along the river. It lies right below the asylum area of the fortress, hidden at that point behind hill and foliage. The Elbe and its valley are lined with chalet-type houses and grassy parks. The river’s very still, less wavy with currents than dimpled by them, like Schreber’s gatepost. A small group of competitive rowers flashed by, rowboats scissoring through the water. “It would feel like a violence to me to cut so through the delicate water,” I wrote in my journal later. The Elbe got much of the ash of the killing center Sonnenstein. Its silt is human. It is human. Maybe that’s why a GPS couldn’t find it or could only find it.

I thought as I walked about the iterations of this place: fort, watercolor, postcard, charnel house. So many people toured this land, above and below, to see how it might suit their purposes. And they were not so very different. Cure under T4 wasn’t a foreign idea; it just came to include death. Once the place drew Saxon officials, the benevolent, Byron-loving king’s councillor Nostitz. Was the fortress good enough for a moral treatment asylum? That was a high standard. Each man (they would have been men) held some things necessary, like the fine air and cheerful view George Combe called “requisites.” I imagine Nostitz, translator of Byron, thinking of the “pathless woods” and the “rapture on the lonely shore” he saw before him from the fortress’s edge. Farther back, in the Middle Ages, men scrambled up to this bluff from Pirna, whatever Pirna was then, wondering if they could build strong walls and from those walls shoot people with arrows.

Our first night in Pirna, a Sunday, we went at around 7:00 to a café in the Am Markt. Suddenly people came streaming in, as if following an invisible gong. The German practice of gathering for beer isn’t only for the young—many were older, and some must have been children during the time of the Tötungsanstalt. More would have had parents or grandparents there, who would have felt a variety of ways about euthanasia: resistant, in agreement, didn’t care. As it was true that so many different groups of men kicked up the dust at Sonnenstein, wondering what they could make it do.

The Tötungsanstalts had living quarters with cooks, plenty of alcohol, handball and hikes for the seventy or so resident personnel. Parties. Between 1940 and 1941 this scene would have been twinned just above us on the edge of the bluff. This recreation would later be true of the death camps and concentration camps, some of which had features like zoos. In 1933, 40 percent of Pirna’s citizens voted for Hitler’s party, the NSDAP (National Socialist German Worker’s Party), a high level of support for a party that never held a majority. Canaletto’s quaint Am Markt held book burnings.

After Pirna we drove north to Wangerooge. The weather had gotten worse, and we drove through a three-hour storm with the heaviest rain I’ve ever encountered in a car. No visibility, just aiming forward and hoping for the best. Once we pulled over and a thunderclap landed so hard the car rocked. We left with hours of extra time and arrived at the ferry dock with ten minutes to spare. I thanked Dorothea for her help but told her she could have made it a little easier.

Wangerooge is tiny, about one by five miles, and has no cars or transport options besides bikes and feet. The scant online information didn’t make this clear. A small, almost kiddie-sized train runs the brief distance from ferry to the few blocks of central village. We took this train and walked from the center, dragging our heavy luggage, two miles to our small hotel on the west side. I asked the woman who ran the place if she’d heard of Dorothea Buck. She hadn’t, so I explained who Buck was by showing the innkeeper, Lina, an article I published about Buck in Ms.

The North Sea borders the upper side of Wangerooge, a sea properly and not lazily called steel gray. It has strong and changeable tides, and a permanent stripe of foam forty feet out that looks, I wrote in my journal, like streaky bacon. At high tide the waves run down the wooden jetties, rear back, then smack like foaming hands. At low tide the waves lap low and meek beyond the jetties. The south side of the island holds the mudflats, where Buck followed the morning star. They’re now protected for the sake of their wildlife. Only at one spot can you walk down into them.

Wangerooge smelled like my childhood, so much so that at moments I expected Buck to appear over a dune with one or two of my many cousins. My extended family went every summer to a place called Holly Park, on the weedy estuary of Barnegat Bay. It lay in the New Jersey Pine Barrens, which eugenicists once studied for what they considered its abundance of bad genes. Behind my extended family’s tiny bungalows lay crisscrosses of lagoon, much like Wangerooge’s mudflats, “with that same sulfurous smell, the sucking waters,” I wrote in my journal. “Much larger of course, but like you took that chunk of Holly Park & stretched it out & out.” In my mudflats I also had religious visions, ones in which messiahs appeared in small muddy coves.

On the kiddie-sized train I passed a tideway in the mudflats: about eight feet wide, a noticeable current, with a small buoy on the island side. It matched Buck’s description of the place where she pulled herself onto a buoy while “fixing her gaze” on a lighthouse, a real one. Where the bed miraculously dried. Would it be identifiable after more than a century? Some half mile to the right of that tideway stands a Nazi lookout tower, put there to spot Allied planes. It was built by tearing down a lighthouse, probably the one Buck gazed at. The tower’s made of dark, heavy metal with the monumentalism of Nazi architecture and serves as an eerie sentry over the mud.

That piece of the mudflats I saw from the train was off-limits to visitors, far from the accessible area, and the closest I got to it was the kiddie train. Even on my return ride the train was crowded, and I couldn’t see it. “So that train has gone from being the start of this to the endpoint,” I wrote in my journal the next day, “the kind you don’t know when it happens but then transforms the memory into something crystalline & final. You scratch over & over it again looking for more.”

I may have looked for more in that memory and never found it, but I felt my childhood in Wangerooge. I felt it physically on my calves. Our shore had grass with long sharp blades that drew blood. I called it “snakegrass,” not correctly, but I use the word here as I used it in my early diaries. I ran the blades along my fingers. I walked between the wild roses, the same plants I once picked rose hips from, for my grandmother’s jelly. Rose hips are red balls of seed and technically a fruit. They swell under the flower like apples under apple blossoms. I recalled the thorn-assault of picking them but not the wild roses’ intense odor, more fragrant than the hothouse roses I once hallucinated. I picked one of these wild roses—bee-free—to join Schreber in my notebook.

Our two bungalows were crude, built, or “jury-rigged” as we called it, by my grandfather, at the end of a street with no name. Farther down, a few other houses stood in large fields of cattail, among creeks and scrubby pinewoods. We had no phone or hot water and scant electricity, supplementing our lights with kerosene lamps. We were near the bay, at the end of a mostly empty, unlit street. At night it got very dark. My father and aunt would go outside to smoke cigarettes and fade to two spots of light, floating randomly from face to torso. In the war, fighter planes used our bungalows’ lights for navigation, flying to the Atlantic to look for U-boats, German submarines. These had come close enough to put German spies ashore in New York. In our case pilots flew guided by a living lighthouse.

In fall of 2022 Bruce and I took our last trip to Germany, flying into Hamburg, where Buck lived most of her life. There I met with Thomas Bock, Buck’s psychosis seminar collaborator, and Fritz Bremer, founder of a small press that published a second edition of Morning Star. Both were Buck’s close friends. I arranged to see the garden cottage, making an appointment in sane time with Buck’s friend Gabriele Heuer and the present owners.

Thomas Bock was charming and genteel and reminded me of Zvi Lothane. We talked about trialogue, and I’ll have more to say about him in chapter 16, “The Special Madman.” Bock had a bit of German reserve until Dorothea Buck’s name came up. She was his greatest teacher, he told me, and he felt embarrassed sometimes, in the psychosis seminars, that he had not himself experienced psychosis.

Because I had terrible knees and was dependent on wheelchairs or Big Alex, Fritz Bremer came to me, to my hotel in Hamburg’s Altstadt or old city. We had had a long and tonally eclectic email dialogue. I love Dorothea Buck, would you tell me about her, I am also a madwoman, I wrote. He wrote back, dear very esteemed Ms. Antonetta: I see.

“Dear very esteemed” is a polite German salutation and not limited to madwomen.

Fritz was far from the man I expected. He had long hair with gray streaks, a short shaggy beard, and a kind if somewhat weary face and would have fit in at a West Coast university. I’d worried we would waste time greeting each other with the right degrees of esteem. We did not. We sat and talked in the lobby, as I couldn’t find a better place. Like everyone in Germany I spoke to about Buck, Fritz asked me how I learned about, and why I cared about, the woman he called “Thea,” pronounced with a hard “t.” I always say a version of I found her when I needed her, generally leaving out the madness and the residue.

Fritz met Dorothea at a conference. Fritz (in person we used first names) had started a journal and sat with it at a table, and there was Dorothea Buck, he told me, suddenly next to him. She was seventy years old. She asked Fritz if he had an interest in psychiatry and, he said, looked “strong and firm and fragile at the same time.” He felt her urgency and said to me, “I noticed Dorothea Buck was looking for allies in a certain type of conflict. And I realized she thought we would be allies.” And they were. Fritz never saw his friend Thea, he told me, without Buck giving him, in the loveliest of ways, “an assignment”: a gathering to attend, a letter needing to be written.

I asked Fritz the question he asked me: why he cared about Thea. In Fritz’s small village the older brother of his best friend became convinced he was the reborn image of Christ. The brother was so certain and convincing that not just his younger brother but all their friends believed him. Then a local priest and some police took the boy, in a straitjacket, to an asylum. When Fritz finally saw him again, “I was very very shocked about the state we found him in.” Fritz didn’t say much more about this state, but the experience changed him. Growing up in the remnants of fascism also politicized him. It was hard, Fritz told me, “to make sense of how this normal mundane world could be reconciled with the grotesque years of National Socialism.”

Fritz and I were also working through the transfer of the copyright for Morning Star to the U.S. press where I’d placed it, Punctum. Finally, we said goodbye with a great deal of affection, and I went back to email, and being dear very esteemed Ms. Antonetta again.

The day after I met Fritz I took a taxi to Buck’s garden cottage on the outskirts of Hamburg. Buck lived in the cottage from 1960 to 2013, the longest residence of her life. Buck filled her garden cottage with flowers. She got many letters, mostly from fellow experiencers or their families, and answered almost all of them. Buck would press flowers into these letters, most often an iris. An iris “from my overgrown garden,” she wrote once; another time an iris “with a child’s face.”

In 1961, Buck felt moved to replant a larkspur from one garden bed to another. Later she called it a “typical schizophrenic metaphoric act” caused by that day’s space flight by cosmonaut Yuri Gagarin—the German word for larkspur, Rittersporn, means “knight’s spur.” She suggested in a letter that to change the course of psychiatry, each of the resisters should approach someone in power holding out a pansy. In the 1960s U.S. protesters would try this “flower power” with the police and the National Guard—walk up and put small flowers in the barrels of their weapons.

I walked into Buck’s cottage to the déjà vu of Wangerooge—I entered my own life, just through a different door. Mad time again. Buck’s house, tucked away at the end of a path behind a larger home, resembled the larger of our two bungalows, maybe four hundred square feet, beige and rectangular. We children slept either in double bunk beds or side by side on old cots on the porch. Buck’s cottage smelled of mildew, the odor of my childhood sleep. She wrote Morning Star sitting at a table in her living area, by a window with a view out to her flowers. Alexandra Pohlmeier filmed Buck at this table, where Buck grinned and said, “I almost regret being so normal now.”

Outside, Buck’s garden looked like mine in November: many things tall, drying, toppling over. A few red roses still clung to the branches. Several benches were set in the garden, along with a bust—maybe a piece of an old pillar—with a serene, Greek, female face. Dorothea found it in the basement when she moved in and set it there. Why would an old bust be in the basement? No one knew. It feels like Buck-ian magic.

Buck’s friend and later helper, Gabriele Heuer, met me at the house. So did the present owners, who were there toward the end of Buck’s time. Gabriele was probably in her seventies, like me rocking a cane. She met Buck, she told me, through a family member’s manic depression. He did not want medicine, but what Heuer called “something different,” and together they found what Heuer charmingly described as Buck’s “psychiatry class.” I suppose it helped, because she and Buck became fast friends. The owners of the house had three children, who visited Buck daily for play and art lessons, much as Buck played with children as a teenage girl on Wangerooge.

The following spring my garden erupted with more irises than I’ve ever seen. Mine are the tall, purple ones and to me they’re the image of a door opening slightly and in front of it a purple carpet.

From the edge of the North Sea in Wangerooge I collected shells to bring home, sand from one of Buck’s beloved dunes, pink quartz with specks of green. Lyric fragments. At the edge of Barnegat Bay, which flowed in and out of the Atlantic, my cousins and I collected the same kinds of fragments: rusted buoy chains, mauled dolls, oarlocks dragged in kelp. Hunks of gray-green metal, old and probably dating from the war. My father and my uncles said so, said maybe pieces of submarine or battleship. A baby shark once washed up, slammed into a bulkhead just past our house. Doctors call schizophrenic speech “word salad,” and the sea speaks mad, transplanting its larkspur from one bed to another.

I saw my brother recently, and he brought up our bungalows and the aircraft. I haven’t thought in ages about how our makeshift places became players in the war. A mudflat lighthouse, like the one torn down on Wangerooge. A light put on maps for pilots who knew, or maybe didn’t, the light was just a house. Gone one night because someone’s car needed tending or beaming bright on another because my grandmother and her children wanted to play Monopoly. My family looked up absently at the sound of a plane, then forgot it. I wondered throughout my trip if Buck and Schreber knew, in some mad time, I was there.
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If Not Everything Human Had Been Fallen to Ashes

Nazi Euthanasia
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Action T4 was, essentially, “medically supervised murder,” and the majority of participating physicians gaining experience through the program also became supervisors of the infamous Final Solution plan to annihilate all European Jews.

OMAR S. HAQUE, historian

They weren’t SS men; they came from the euthanasia project, became accustomed to killing, were kept together during the winter of the war 1941/42 in order to be brought into the extermination camps. That was the long-term plan of the Nazi regime. . . . And this circle of people became accustomed to killing within the scope of the euthanasia project.

ALFRED SPIESS, prosecutor at the Treblinka trials



IN THE LATE 1960S, WHEN SHE COULD NO LONGER GIVE HERSELF SO WHOLLY TO HER art, Dorothea Buck wrote. She wrote letters on an Olympia typewriter, to recipients like the German chancellor and the German parliament. Her typewriters never got old because she destroyed them. “I don’t know how many I broke,” she said to filmmaker Alexandra Pohlmeier. Much of the rage that martyred her typewriters sprang from Sonnenstein, the Devil’s Castle that reeked of corpses. No one in the history of the place would characterize it so aptly.

As she broke typewriters, Buck also wrote a play.

The official euthanasia program began with an order from Adolf Hitler, the only genocide order Hitler himself signed. The brief note, written in October of 1939, was backdated to September to tie it to the start of the war. Many institutions already practiced ad hoc euthanasia. Hitler’s phrasing suggests little of what they were about to do, little of what they were already doing. The euthanasia order went to the Führer’s traveling physician Karl Brandt and to Philipp Bouhler, the head of Hitler’s private chancellery. Hitler instructed Brandt and Bouhler to “broaden the authority of certain doctors to the extent that persons suffering from illnesses judged to be incurable may, after a humane, most careful assessment of their condition, be granted a mercy death.”

The words that matter here are “doctors” and “death”: “humane,” “careful assessment,” and “mercy” give pointless ornamentation, scrollwork on the death certificate. In 1935 Hitler told the Reich health leader that he intended to use the war as cover to rid Germany of the mentally ill. He’d considered putting euthanasia for mental illness into an earlier law, though dropped the idea as likely to cause “too great a sensation.” At the time Hitler gave the order, mental patients were being killed in Poland, mostly by gun, but a few by improvised use of gas. Hitler particularly wanted to rid Germany of the Bucks and the Schrebers and at one point, me: those diagnosed with schizophrenia.

Hitler’s note still exists, a few sentences of blotchy type on private stationery—just his name with a swastika and Nazi eagle. Euthanasia actions would take the lives of about two hundred thousand within the Reich, three hundred thousand including occupied territories. The figure includes between five and ten thousand children. Euthanasia would kill mostly non-Jews but initiate and make routine the practice of targeting Jews for death. At least one child was euthanized even during the Allied occupation.

In the words of a historian, before the Final Solution, “Himmler outsourced mass killings to the euthanasia department.”

I make a point here first made to me by historian Cameron Munro, head of the Tiergarten 4 Association in Berlin: There are no terms that fully capture the evolving sphere that was Nazi euthanasia. It began with children, then became the much larger, adult T4. T4 refers primarily to the asylum killings. After T4 came wild euthanasia, and in the midst of it all, sub-action 14f13, which brought T4 doctors to the concentration camps. Ongoing psychiatric murders happened in occupied countries by Nazi roving military forces called Einsatzgruppen. In 1944 came Aktion Brandt, which murdered, among others, shell-shocked German women after the bombings. Aktion Brandt represents the second time Nazi euthanasia could have taken Buck’s life.

These programs often overlap, in time and in the way historians divide the deaths among them. The English “euthanasia,” which means a good death, is a lie. Germans did use the term “euthanasie” but also used “disinfecting” and simply “death” far more than English-language historians do. The asylum killing centers went in German by Tötungsanstalt, which quite literally means “killing institution.” In English, it’s generally translated as “euthanasia center,” a coyness not found in the original.

Asylum patients had been disposed of through starvation or other means long before T4. Director of Sonnenstein Paul Nitsche aggressively rooted out weaker patients before taking over the program in Berlin. During the First World War’s drastic shortages, many died at German institutions and all doctors made judgment calls about who got resources like food. In 1938, a year before Hitler’s order, the head of state hospitals in Hessen-Nassau, Fritz Bernotat, advised institution directors complaining of overcrowding, “If you have too many patients in your institution, just beat them to death, and then you will have space.”

Buck called her play The Tragedy of Euthanasia. The work is tragic and also farcical. Buck wrote it in 1969, the thirtieth anniversary of the start of medical murders. The play opens with an announcer standing alone on stage wearing a German carnival hat, holding a large bell. The carnival hat looks like a jester’s hat: colorful cloth peaks with tassels. The bell was originally rung at German carnivals to drive evil spirits away.

“You see me here in a carnival hat. Here’s why I wear it!” The announcer pulls a paper from his pocket. “How merrily the selected ones were murdered,” he reads, “how buses brought them in brief intervals, with colorful carnival hats on their heads and accompanied by a band, to be exterminated at the Saxon Sonnenstein.”

The children’s action launched with an infant known as Baby K. Baby K was born blind, with one leg and part of an arm missing. His parents called him “the monster.” Nor were they bashful, like the parents kindly Ewald Meltzer surveyed who wanted doctors to dispose of their disabled children but didn’t want to hear about it. In 1939 the parents K petitioned Hitler to allow them to have the child killed. Hitler sent his own physician, Karl Brandt, to examine the boy. With Brandt’s blessing Baby K died at five months of a lethal overdose.

Baby K’s death started a program of murdering children born with physical disabilities. The program targeted the “imbeciles” whose lives were dismissed by Foster Kennedy in the Kennedy/Kanner debate, the blind, infants like Baby K, epileptics. By August of 1939 doctors and midwives were required to report “deformed” infants, the reporters often compensated. Most would die as Baby K did, in a hospital. The means were drugs and starvation. Hospitals in the program set up killing units, called by a euphemism like “special wards” or “children’s wards.” The word “special” haunts Nazi killing programs, in which Sonderbehandlung or “special handling” meant death, Sonderkost or “special diet” starvation. Frequently nurses, sometimes members of a religious order, administered the drugs. Often doctors gave drugs like barbiturates slowly, so the cause of death would be pneumonia, which sets in when the lungs slow.

The Nazi government officially kept the programs secret. But it barraged the population with propaganda about the “inferior” and the value of euthanizing them. Films, posters, and news reports focused on the high cost of hospitalization and even the desire of the disabled to die. Institutions gave tours. One propaganda film, Dasein ohne Leben, or “Existence Without Life,” was filmed at Sonnenstein though never released, as soon after the program shifted to the camps. Narrated by Paul Nitsche, among others, the film concluded, “The face of an unfortunate being, distorted and tormented by incurable mental illness and inhuman existence, is smoothed by the peace of a gentle death, which finally brought help, the redemption.”

School textbooks offered children problems like these: “The construction of a mental asylum required 6 million Reichsmarks. How many settlement houses at 15,000 Reichsmarks each could have been built for this?” Or “A mentally ill person costs 4 RM a day, a cripple 5.5 RM, a criminal 3.5 RM. In how many cases does a civil servant only have around 4 RM [in salary] per day . . . Visualize these numbers.”

A touring SS officer at Eglfing said the institution should set up a machine gun at the entrance, a joke that amused director Hermann Pfannmüller. Pfannmüller was a psychiatrist and neurologist, an aloof man with thick round glasses. If I showed you his photo and called him an early twentieth-century German psychiatrist, you’d probably guess a follower of Freud. Actually he was a fanatical National Socialist and strong believer in child euthanasia. A teacher named Ludwig Lehner toured Eglfing and testified later that Pfannmüller bragged about using the “natural” means of starvation to kill his patients, lifting a skeletal child “like a hare” and predicting the child would die in another two to three days. Lehner described his disgust at “this fat and smirking man with the whimpering skeleton in his fleshy hand.” Later, hearing this statement at trial, Pfannmüller responded that he “never grinned” at such moments, and that he’d never had fleshy hands.

Pfannmüller caused the deaths of several hundred children and exported more than two thousand patients to be killed at asylum death centers. He was tried in 1951 and served four years. In the end, the court agreed with the doctor’s logic, declaring that, as he used starvation, he was not a murderer “in the classical sense.”

Euthanasia quickly expanded to Aktion T4 and adults. Its leaders set the goal of ending seventy thousand disabled, mostly neuropsychiatric, lives within Germany’s borders, probably a rough estimate of the number of people institutionalized. This goal would take more than discreet hospital wards. Aktion T4 set up offices at 4 Tiergartenstrasse, in a home stolen from a Jewish family named Liebermann—a city villa in an elegant neighborhood of Berlin. Number 4 Tiergartenstrasse no longer exists. In photos it looks a bit eerily like my Victorian house, upright, with bay windows and much trim.

Eugenic euthanasia had international support, support future Nazi killing programs would not. But to separate German euthanasia from the Holocaust is false. The latter was not a switch but a terrible evolution. T4 was the first Nazi program targeting a specific “undesirable” group. Even within the careless T4 selection process, Jews had a special status—not spared by ability to work, frequently not examined at all. By the summer of 1940 all Jewish psychiatric patients were killed. Their deaths didn’t even warrant one of T4’s fake condolence letters.

The scripts and rationale for the Holocaust came from this first wave of mechanized killing. So did the technology and the personnel. The majority of T4 doctors left the program for the Holocaust.

In fall of 1941, T4 ended as an official program and attention shifted to the Holocaust. The Wannsee conference that determined “the final solution to the Jewish question” convened in January of 1942. Then a program called Aktion Reinhardt launched the death camps, the first camps built only for killing. The first three of these—Belzec, Sobibor, and Treblinka—went up in Poland. These camps would take the lives of one and a half million people. The largest number died at Treblinka, which killed between eight hundred thousand and one million, a death toll second only to Auschwitz.

T4 provided personnel for the death camps—doctors, builders, operations staff, directors. All these workers had to find death camps tolerable, or more than tolerable, workplaces. Of course, a larger operation drew in more workers; much camp business was conducted by the Nazi Schutzstaffel, or SS. But T4 brought the medical and gas chamber expertise and much of the camp leadership. Many T4 doctors also transferred to camps like Auschwitz, a concentration camp that evolved into a death camp.

That prewar Nazi medicine must have been cruel and crude, given where it led, seems obvious. But it was not. In the 1920s and 1930s Germany had the world’s largest number of Nobel laureates and led the world in many areas of science and medicine: cancer research, technology, aircraft, to name a few. German medicine first recognized and tried to prevent the dangers of substances like asbestos. It moved into areas that feel current, like eating whole grains and using plant-based medicines. Dachau held a concentration camp, and also a field of medicinal botanicals. Germany had an unusually large number of female doctors, one of whom would be tried at Nuremberg.

In some ways, German success set up German evils. Public awareness of issues like cancer and asbestos poisoning made the language of tiny and undetectable toxins infiltrating the body frightening. Jews and the Roma and Sinti became the virus, the bacillus, the poison in the flesh. To paraphrase historian Robert Jay Lifton, essential to euthanasia and the Holocaust was the idea that killing could represent not destruction, but a supreme expression of healing—by killing the individual, doctors cleansed the state. The extremes were new and unspeakable. The ideas were not.

Germany also had laws governing medical ethics, ethics courses at medical schools, and ethics discussions in medical textbooks. Their ethical standards were among the strictest in the West. A 1900 law banned medical experimentation without consent, on minors, or on anyone incapable of giving consent. A 1931 law, passed two years before the Law for the Prevention of Hereditary Diseases, tightened up sanctions against experimenting on children. Some aspects of these laws exceed the standards of the Nuremberg Code. No one I’ve found in my extensive reading about Nazi medicine came out during the euthanasia period and said the rules should be suspended. They were simply flattened under the wheels of ambition, greed, and the idea that service to the state trumped all. Many Nazi doctors, as did Kraepelin, put their hearts into “strongly marked feeling of race and stock.”

T4’s influence was also psychological. German historian Götz Aly writes, “I am convinced that even limited protests against the euthanasia murders in 1940 would have hindered the development of systematic genocide in 1941. . . . If people did not protest even when their own relatives were murdered, they could hardly be expected to object to the murder of Jews, Gypsies, Russians, and Poles.”

Alfred Spiess, chief prosecutor of the Treblinka trials, spent months with the men who ran Germany’s second most lethal camp. He left certain that euthanasia programs formed a strategy not just to eliminate the “sick” but to get doctors and other personnel used to mass murder. Kurt Franz, who rose from working as cook at Sonnenstein to the deputy head of Treblinka, put it more bluntly in a letter: T4 showed that ordinary people could be persuaded to do terrible things, “without scruples.”

Most euthanasia doctors rose through party channels, joining the NSDAP (National Socialist German Workers’ Party, the Nazi party’s official name), and often, the SS. Medicine was the most Nazified profession in Germany; half of all German doctors joined the NSDAP during the 1920s. Doctors were seven times more likely to belong to the SS than other professionals. Illness, as I wrote earlier, became a language of the Reich, Hitler “the country’s doctor.” Nazi propaganda also created a mission for psychiatry, associating Jews with mental illness, building on the theories of men like Kraepelin that Jews were mentally unstable and prone to psychopathy.

Before the NSDAP came to power, Berlin had Germany’s highest concentration of Jewish doctors—about half of all doctors practicing there. But Jewish doctors worked throughout Germany. The heavily Nazified German medical association, and Nazi race laws, drove them out of their practices, a large-scale process but not an overnight one. Hitler began his relationship with mistress Eva Braun around 1931, and by 1936 he’d ensconced Eva in his mountain retreat, the Berghof. Braun’s sister Ilse worked for a Jewish doctor named Marx in Munich until 1938. Ilse liked her boss and stayed with Marx’s practice until he had to flee. The doctor vacuum created upward mobility for Aryan doctors, along with higher salaries. Many doctors in the NSDAP, at least in urban practices, actively or compliantly threw former colleagues and former teachers out of their jobs.

Karl Brandt, who started T4 and would later oversee medical experiments at the camps, was an exception to the rule of doctors rising through the ranks. Still in his late twenties, Brandt got Hitler’s attention when he treated Hitler’s adjutant Wilhelm Brückner after a car crash. Some sources also place Geli Raubal at the scene of the accident. Geli Raubal was the daughter of Hitler’s half sister, nineteen years his junior. Hitler adored her with an intensity he never had for another woman, including long-term mistress Braun. In 1929, Hitler moved twenty-one-year-old Raubal into his Munich apartment. Almost certainly the relationship was consummated. Raubal died in the apartment at twenty-three, by gunshot—either a suicide, because she wanted to get away from Hitler’s obsessive attention, or a murder, perhaps because he knew she wanted to leave. In the meantime, Brandt impressed Hitler so much Hitler invited him to be his escort doctor, accompanying the leader when he traveled.

Brandt was handsome, courtly, popular at Nazi gatherings. Though devoted to party and Führer, he remained in his own mind a doctor who acted medically whether opting for treatment or death. Brandt admired Nobel Peace Prize winner Albert Schweitzer, and at one time thought of joining Schweitzer as a medical missionary. At first Brandt objected to gas, because he believed a euthanasia “treatment” should be medical, as in an injection.

Philipp Bouhler, the other recipient of Hitler’s “Führer order,” wasn’t a doctor but a high-ranking functionary. Bouhler had round glasses and looked bookish and boyish, like a person inclined to study philosophy, which he had. He’d written a flattering biography of Napoleon, maybe why Hitler tapped him to write his own hagiography, Adolf Hitler: A Short Sketch of His Life. The booklet was meant for international consumption and filled with phrases like “broadminded and big-hearted and just.”

Brandt and Bouhler brought in Viktor Brack, another bureaucrat (German has the useful term Schreibtischtäter, which can be loosely translated as “desk murderer”) who worked with Bouhler at the chancellery. Brack had had a run of jobs before rising in the party, from farming to racing BMWs to the source of his upward mobility—he served Reichsführer Heinrich Himmler, who ran Germany’s genocidal operations, as chauffeur. Like many others Brack would “graduate” the T4 program to help build the death camps, bringing his expertise with gas chambers. He also experimented with sterilization, proposing to Himmler the creation of an enslaved workforce of three million sterilized Jews.

The ambitious Brack joined Bouhler in the cage fighting that defined Hitler’s government to grab control of T4 from Reich health leader Leonardo Conti. They assigned medical leadership to psychiatrists Werner Heyde and Paul Nitsche, director of Sonnenstein. Heyde, who would be charged with one hundred thousand deaths by a very unpopular Jewish prosecutor, was bisexual or gay. Nazis targeted men like him; between ten and fifteen thousand gay men died in the camps. In photos Heyde’s face is unexpressive: the face of a man with no secrets or with many. Other than that, Heyde resembled many other men committed to the Reich, once described by another doctor as “a real Nazi who had no inhibitions.” Despite his past Heyde lived and practiced openly in Germany for decades after the war, using a flimsy and winked-at pseudonym.

Twice the SS investigated Heyde’s sexuality, tipped off by a man who claimed Heyde tried to seduce him. The first investigation didn’t go anywhere, due to bungled handling of the files and Heyde’s powerful friends. One such friend was an SS officer and former patient of Heyde’s named Theodor Eicke. Heinrich Himmler had known Eicke, whose motto was “tolerance is a sign of weakness,” since the foundation of the SS. Himmler wanted Eicke to take over the Dachau concentration camp, which at the time held mostly political prisoners. Standing in the way was Eicke’s psychiatric hospitalization. Eicke got into a power struggle with a senior Nazi official, who declared him a “lunatic” and got him locked up. Those who knew him described Eicke as violent and disruptive, qualities that made him lunatic in one context and the right person for the state in another. Only Heyde accepted Eicke’s sanity. Eicke shared his gratitude with Himmler, saying he “could have hugged” Heyde.

Himmler was so pleased by Heyde’s approval that he sent the doctor a cash tip. The pre-Eicke Dachau released many of its prisoners. It could be a brutal place, but not the hell that would characterize later concentration camps. Eicke’s so-called Dachau spirit—meting out violent punishments and death for the slightest infractions—impressed Himmler so much he put Eicke in charge of the entire Nazi camp system. The camps’ daily brutality owed more to Eicke, and indirectly to Heyde, than to anyone else.

The SS opened a second inquiry into Heyde’s sexuality after he became medical head of T4, which led to his handing the program over to Paul Nitsche in 1941. Nothing else came of their investigation. Heyde remained in the SS and served as a clinic director as well as worked in the camps.

(On either side of the cardboard front stands an extra on a low mobile plate. One of them is in a white doctor’s coat, the other in a cardboard gray suit. Both have a large wind-up key sticking out of their backs, the head of which says NSDAP in metal. On a stand sits an ancient gramophone with a large tuba-shaped loudspeaker).

Thus, in front of the hole in the middle of the cardboard front [of the stage] sits a single living person. Brack, who is pushed in on a plate and lifted with an NSDAP-doctor key, calls through a gramophone record to the doctors present for cooperation.

These paragraphs are from Buck’s play.

T4 launched with paper: so much paper. The centralized review process at 4 Tiergartenstrasse was more complex than that of the children’s action. In 1939 questionnaires went from Berlin to institutions across Germany and Austria and poured back in, where they were copied and distributed. T4 had a bureaucracy’s letters, memos, and personnel paperwork, along with its questionnaires, transport lists, requests for drugs and gas cannisters, victim photos and medical charts. Heyde’s prosecutor Fritz Bauer ended up with eighty thousand pages of support for his euthanasia murder charges. It’s hard to reconcile this relentless documenting with Buck in 1946 gluing envelopes together to make a few precious blank pages. I know of no other mass crime supported by so much ink.

T4 sites had secretarial staff and rooms of files. A document found at Hartheim after the war included calculations like the costs of euthanizing seventy thousand people as opposed to ten years of feeding them. Perhaps another math problem for the children’s textbooks.

For the questionnaires, called Meldebogen, medical staff had to report anyone hospitalized for five years or longer, with schizophrenia or another “hopeless” mental condition, syphilitic mental disease, epilepsy, “feebleminded-ness,” or dementia. Doctors could and did report outside of these suggested categories. They reported the patients’ citizenship, along with yes or no on “German blood.” By far the most crucial category, in keeping with Binding and Hoche, was ability to work. “Useless eaters” were generally destroyed.

T4 headquarters employed about thirty reviewers. Three doctors responded to each form with a symbolic doublespeak: a blue minus sign for life, a red plus sign for death. These marks got scribbled in a black box on the side of the form, along with initials. Each reviewers’ speed mattered; they were paid piecework per form, rather than by salary. One reviewer did fifteen hundred forms in a month. Head doctors like Nitsche also scanned the forms. Death required the agreement of two of the three reviewers, though the review process always tended toward death. Doctors elsewhere did assessments, fitting in Meldebogen while working long hours at another job. Hermann Pfannmüller at Eglfing-Haar sometimes processed over a hundred forms a day.

In the beginning most workers at health care facilities didn’t know the reason for reporting. Some responders exaggerated patients’ symptoms, thinking the program aimed to remove the healthier for war labor.


—Can the Criminal Technical Institute manufacture large quantities of poison?

—For what? To kill people?

—No.

—To kill animals?

—No.

—What for then?

—To kill animals in human form: that means the mentally ill, whom one can no longer describe as human.



T4 set its goal of seventy thousand dead with no obvious means of getting there. Karl Brandt tried injections, but death was slow and could take multiple shots. Himmler had become interested in gas as a quick, cheap method of killing, one less stressful for soldiers, who often broke down psychologically when killing so many by gun. In 1939 Nazi troops received orders to empty asylums in the East, getting rid of “useless eaters” in occupied lands. At first patients were shot, standing in front of a large pit—some fell forward still in their straitjackets. Reports went to Himmler about badly shaken troops. Guns also used up valuable ammunition.

Himmler asked Arthur Nebe, who headed the Kripo, or Criminal Police, to work on alternatives. Nebe brought in Albert Widmann, a chemist who worked in toxins though he had the neat, hair-slicked look of someone who might sell cars or insurance. Nebe was a contradiction: a career policeman with ongoing doubts about Hitler and Himmler, enough doubt to send him ultimately to the Resistance movement. Yet he also commanded an Einsatzgruppe that killed forty-five thousand people, mostly Jewish and Russian. Nebe would ultimately be part of Operation Valkyrie, the failed 1944 attempt to assassinate Hitler, partly because of Hitler’s refusal to face losing the war. The Nazi government caught Nebe and hanged him.

Widmann and Nebe had the exchange about animals in human form I quoted—the words aren’t Buck’s but sound like they could be. Nebe asked for the poison and explained that he needed it for the mentally ill, but “animals in human form” was also a Reich description of Jews. Nitsche and Widmann traveled east to figure out strategies. Nebe tried killing asylum patients with dynamite in Minsk. It was a disaster. Not all patients died on the first attempt, and the blast left carnage within the building and outside of it. In Mogilev in Belarus, Widmann and Nebe bricked in the windows of an asylum room, led in victims, and pumped it full of gas from a hose attached to a midsized car. Independently, in November of 1939, an Einsatzgruppen unit killed patients with carbon monoxide in a sealed room at a fort in Posen (Poznán), Poland. 

Widmann went back to Germany to work in T4, but his Mogilev solution wasn’t necessarily the program’s answer. Brandt still wanted injections. Widmann’s idea was blowing gas into individual hospital rooms, which everyone else agreed was too clumsy. Viktor Brack wanted to use gas. But victims would have to go calmly into a strange, sealed-off room—an easier process in the East, in the context of occupier and occupied. Bodies had to be removed and buried. Gassing was psychologically easier than shooting but killed fewer at a time. Nor could killing sites within Germany manage mass burials.

And so the first gas chamber for the purpose of mass death was built and tested in January of 1940 near Berlin. Attached to the site was the first oven built to dispose of quantities of bodies and bespoke stretchers to convey those bodies without too much handling. These were built in Viktor Brack’s office. The site was an old prison in Brandenburg. T4 administrator Christian Wirth, a cooper’s son, managed the actual construction. Wirth would move on to help run T4 site Grafeneck and then head death camps Sobibor and Treblinka—a man in the Eicke mold whose nickname was “savage Christian.”

Philipp Bouhler had the idea of disguising the room as a shower, possibly with Brandt and Widmann’s input. Patients going in groups, nude, into a large shower would seem plausible to victims. So did the sealed-up room. Workers tiled the chamber with bathroom tile and built in shower benches. Victims were handed towels on the way in. An unobtrusive opening let in carbon monoxide through a pipe, again coming from a car. Between eighteen and twenty patients were brought from a nearby asylum for the test. Observers watched through small viewing windows. The shower ruse worked. Victims went in willingly and died quietly, their bodies discreetly burned.

Observers at Brandenburg included Heyde, Widmann, Brandt, Bouhler, Brack, and Nitsche. Brandt’s scruples were overcome. He called the results a “major advance” in medicine. Brandt predicted that countries around the world would adopt the technology, as Ernst Rüdin predicted that after Nazism’s success, the world would euthanize.

Most people have become so used—so terribly used—to the story of the Holocaust that it’s hard to teeter at this moment: the men at the viewing windows, waiting to see if a gas chamber would work. Much detail is lost, many of these men dead by the war’s end or soon after. Some like Brack had already decided on using gas in some form, even if Brandt had not. Still: If patients had balked badly, if Bouhler hadn’t come up with the shower idea. Or someone talked him out of it. If enough went wrong, Brandt’s skepticism might have prevailed. Brandt later discussed the successful test gassing with his Führer.

With Brandenburg came a profound pivot, a moment in which a long, long future, still with us, began to unfold.

Another pivot, another future, opened at Brandenburg. For T4 to establish killing sites, Germans would have to consent to the killing of Germans. Or at least, not mind too much. While T4 disproportionately killed Jewish patients, victims were still mostly Aryan. That many deaths couldn’t be disguised forever. Hitler’s “great sensation” of resistance to mass death would have to be overcome. Earlier I quoted Götz Aly, who believed protest over euthanasia would have prevented future genocide. It would at least have limited it.

In 2013, Aly writes, one in eight Germans and Austrians was directly related to someone killed in the euthanasia programs. Most Germans made a keen distinction between killing their own citizens and killing non-Germans. I doubt anyone felt certain the stigma of disability and neurodivergence would overcome qualms about killing Aryan citizens. If the public tolerated this killing, its qualms about killing non-Aryan noncitizens couldn’t be very great. Late in the war a guard at the death camp Treblinka, who must have been used to almost anything, expressed disbelief that Operation Brandt killed adult, Aryan Germans in Germany. After the war Albert Widmann said of the murders in Poland, “After Nebe told me that he had orders to kill the mental patients in his area, there was nothing for me to think about. After all, mental patients were also killed in the Reich.”

I have a brochure from the Sonnenstein memorial. It describes in an awkward translation the bone crusher that broke remains down after the cremation, “if not everything human had been fallen to ashes.”
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The Cabinet of Unresolved Pasts

T4 and Beyond

[image: image]

He opens the left rolling door, which is hidden in the gray cardboard front, so that now the painted figures inside become visible. The opening space is filled to the last place with moving, mainly white-clothed extras. Each performs just one movement. The professors raise a cross in the air, which they put on the questionnaires as a death sentence. The death doctors perform the movement of admission to the gas. From their jerky movements one creeping slow figure stands out uncannily. . . .

Doctor: I don’t belong to them either. I was involved in the wild euthanasia.

Correzza: The room is even more crowded!

This passage comes from Buck’s play. I don’t know who “Correzza” was, though I’ve looked and looked.

Out of the five T4 sites created on the Brandenburg model, three were castles. At Hartheim in Austria, the colonnaded courtyard housed one of two crematoria, in an even stranger architectural dissonance than T4’s villa. Hartheim stood near Linz, Hitler’s childhood home and the place he’d always hoped to be buried. Bernburg and Hadamar had been hospitals.

The sites went up quickly and were spread across Germany and Austria to create catchment areas. Gas chambers went up in existing rooms. Each site killed between ten and eighteen thousand during T4 and several went on killing during the wild euthanasia period that followed. Each Tötungsanstalt became its own little hamlet with dozens of personnel and their games, parties, quarrels, couplings and uncouplings. The sites needed ample living quarters, a point that recommended sprawling castles.

The Sonnenstein asylum was chosen and repurposed under the eyes of Nitsche and the local Saxon government, quite a different government from the one that opened it in 1811. Workers quickly built the 120-square-foot chamber I’ve stood in twice: a space barely large enough for eight to ten people, soon to kill twenty or thirty at once. The room had fake showerheads, and towels and toothbrushes were handed to victims, who were sometimes told that after their shower they would get food and a real bed. The pipe opening was unobtrusive, low down on the left-hand wall.

T4 victims often stayed briefly in a transit center, yet another facility, to help obscure their movements. A Nazi bureau called Gekrat handled transport, in gray buses with deeply blued-out windows. A woman who survived Hadamar recalled scratching a tiny hole in her window with a fingernail, seeing grass made blue by the depth of the dye.

After the Brandenburg Einsatzgruppen, troops that worked in the fronts and occupied territories accelerated the use of gas vans. These vans, sometimes labeled Kaiser’s Coffee Company, used carbon monoxide cylinders or recycled their exhaust. They emptied asylums in Poland, East Prussia, and Pomerania as well as killing Jews, Soviets, Romani, and Poles. The German for these vehicles is simply Gaswagen; the Russian word is “soul-killer.” By the end of the war gas vans had murdered somewhere between ten and sixty thousand.

When the selected arrived at Sonnenstein, they were taken to an exam room on the first floor. The exam room may have been the old recovery room from Schreber’s time, perhaps where he went between episodes of bellowing. There victims removed their clothes and were photographed, and if they had gold fillings, got a cross marked on their back or shoulder. Photographs went to Berlin, the images used in propaganda films. The doctor present did an exam that could take a couple of seconds or a couple of minutes and chose a cause of death. Headquarters sent each T4 facility a list of possibilities, like pneumonia or appendicitis. Then groups were led, often by nurses, to the gas chamber.

Sonnenstein stood empty when its gas chamber and attendant rooms were constructed. Bernburg in central Germany, on the other hand, housed living patients even as it killed the “hopeless.” As with Sonnenstein, Bernburg now has a small memorial. In 2018 memorial director Uwe Hoffman said she sometimes got the German insult Nestbeschmutzerin, or fouler of one’s own nest. “You have to be able to live with that,” she said.

(Now the painted cardboard figures represent the approximately sixty asylum directors and psychiatrists, mainly civil servants, to whom the euthanasia program was presented in the summer of 1939, and who—with one exception—made no protest.)

This is Buck.

Sonnenstein fortress looms above the Pirna town center. Which was true of most T4 sites; chosen for privacy, they still did not have that much. Truckloads of patients drove through Pirna, enough that almost fifteen thousand people died in a year and a half. But residents could see that no patients lived there. Thick black smoke rose from the crematoria, and the smoke at times held a flesh stench. At Hadamar, near Frankfurt, tufts of hair sometimes dropped from the sky. Local Germans recall knowing something was wrong, even as children. They called the Gekrat vehicles “murder boxes,” taunting each other with being “crazy” and soon to die in a “baking oven.”

Patients learned what “transport” really meant. Some fought entering the buses. Some wrote their loved ones goodbye letters.

After executions families got condolence letters, which ended by saying the dead were better off, using a phrase like “his life had become a misery to him.” Clerks added one to three weeks to the death date and included an inflated bill. German asylums charged a daily fee and, if there was anyone who could pay, families paid for daily care throughout the killing process and whatever time seemed plausible after. Such theft from German citizens was treated as routine, though it feels antithetical to Nazi thinking about the sanctity of the Volk. Income went to Berlin, as did money from clothes, any items patients might bring with them, and gold teeth. Hartheim had detailed records of gold fillings and the extra days they charged per patient. While T4 personnel could leave the program without repercussions, they were punished if caught stealing gold or valuables from a victim. The death notice justified cremation with a cause like infectious illness. A clerk from Hartheim who testified after the war said that in response to the notices “some [families] cursed, some expressed gratitude, and most simply did not reply.”

After the war Sonnenstein doctor Klaus Endruweit testified about a large map kept in one administrative room, a map covered with colored pins. It was the kind of map you see at boutique hotels, where guests mark their home cities and countries with pushpins. This map held a geographical record of victims, so “no patients from the same street or small village were reported as having died at the same time.”

Still, the speed of the program led to errors, like appendicitis listed as cause of death for someone who’d already had the organ removed. Facilities kept a pile of ashes for families who requested remains, scooping out handfuls as needed. Families with sons might get ashes holding a girl’s hairpin. Or a letter citing a wasting disease in a patient a family member had just visited and found quite well. The only real care taken in sending ashes was reducing the amount of ash for child victims.

David Mitchell and Sharon Snyder say that T4 remains forgotten because there is no clear value on the disabled as members of the “human continuum.” I think of Buck and a question she posed to the World Psychiatric Association: What if we, not you, had the power of definition? At the euthanasia trials judges, lawyers, witnesses often seem stuck in a plurality in which no real and individual human exists. On the defense side victims are shells, they are husks. They are beings that cultures from time immemorial have gotten rid of. Or, on the prosecution side, they’re capable of suffering, “still human,” not in an individual way seemingly, but in a species one.

“Even in classical antiquity the elimination of life unworthy of life was a complete matter of course,” wrote a Hamburg district court, referring to one doctor’s murder of fifty-six children. Doctors “have done nothing wrong in the moral sense.” I read this story in German magazine Der Spiegel. The court also dismissed the euthanasia victims as “empty human shells,” a Binding and Hoche term. Der Spiegel corrected it, sarcastically, to “a hundred thousand human shells.”

In response to articles in Der Spiegel about the Nazi euthanasia program, a 1997 letter signed by a Dr. Gunter Berndt argued that while methods might be “questionable,” no one can condemn doctors “who, as top experts in their field, have certainly made their decision after careful consideration . . . to remove the burden of mental illness from our people for all time. We have to give them credit for that.”

Other doctors wrote to Der Spiegel, less charitable to the cause than Berndt. One said he had seen the Eichberg asylum during the war, and it was a sight “hardly inferior to the horror pictures of the concentration camps.” A doctor named Wolf Gruchman wrote that the Hamburg Medical Association ran a piece about its ambivalence toward prosecuting Hamburg child murderers, as since the war they had doctored very professionally.

“In other words,” said Gruchman, “that means the accused have not killed anyone since then. We have come far!”

Then came the rest of Gruchman’s letter. “In 1941,” he wrote, “I saw how merrily the murders took place in the Rodewisch state institution in Saxony, how the ‘selected’ were taken to Sonnenstein in Saxony for extermination in short intervals by bus transport, colorful carnival hats on their heads and accompanied by a band.”

In her memoir Buck uses the term “transcribing” of writing her play. I believed the word a slippage of translation. But bells and windup keys aside, she did transcribe, I realized when I found the letter in Der Spiegel. Much of the play’s dialogue comes from letters, documents, quotations about the euthanasia program. Patients did ride to their deaths from the Rodewisch transit center through Pirna with carnival hats on, trombones blaring.

Sonnenstein’s Paul Nitsche was older than most Nazi doctors—sixty-three at the start of the euthanasia program. He had a long and somewhat sad-looking face, no hair, and dents in his temples, as if he’d just taken off a pinching pair of glasses. Before T4 Nitsche conducted experiments for the government on killing with drugs like barbiturate Luminal and scopolamine, a drug related to cocaine. He killed sixty at the Leipzig-Dösen institution, not long after Paul Schreber died there. Then came the creation of the killing centers, one in his hometown of Pirna.

Despite his work, Nitsche had ideals and never lost them. Or perhaps in some warped way those ideals fed into his work. Like his Sonnenstein predecessor Pienitz, he considered himself a reformer who used new and enlightened techniques and ditched inhumane old ones. As asylum director, Nitsche ruled out restraints like the wet wraps that tortured Buck at Bethel. He kept patients active and insisted nurses remain calm and kind. He followed the active therapies of psychiatrist Hermann Simon, another paradoxical figure, both idealist and National Socialist. Dorothea Buck wrote in Morning Star that her care would have been better if doctors had followed Simon’s lead. I doubt she knew T4’s Nitsche in fact did.

Nitsche was the son of a psychiatrist, a doctor who’d transferred out of Sonnenstein asylum a year before Paul Schreber arrived. Given his son’s zeal for reform, Nitsche senior would probably have been an improvement on Guido Weber. Nitsche junior went to elementary school in Pirna. Later he studied with Emil Kraepelin and no doubt drew from our “grandfather” a strong faith in hereditary degeneracy. This period began his close friendship with Ernst Rüdin.

Nitsche’s performance reviews as a young doctor stress his patience and good nature. In 1929 Nitsche published a tract on treatment for the mentally ill, discussing therapy and patients’ need for a positive atmosphere and human contact. Nitsche worked at Sonnenstein at the end of the First World War, during food shortages so harsh he lost about a third of his patients. He returned to the institution in 1928, working with and then replacing Georg Ilberg. Ilberg would go on to print a very public protest of T4, with details he may have heard from his former mentee.

In 1933 Nitsche joined the NSDAP, which also became a passion. He worked with the sterilization courts, like the one that selected Buck. He began to starve patients he didn’t expect to get better and killed others with drugs.

How to stay on the human continuum? Idealism is not an inoculant. Nor is education, including moral education. Nor is taking oaths to do no harm. The National Socialist habit of not just euphemism, but antithetical euphemism seems like an act of translation—the special, the mercifully dead, the coffee-gas, the plus signs that meant life subtracted. Selection, as if it resembled an audition. In language these users created an endless series of loopholes, one leading to the next. Or perhaps they created a different reality—not a mad reality but one painfully neurotypical.

There’s no one psychology for those who commit crimes like these. Some doctors were cruel, others skilled at denial. But many considered what they did medicine, and this without what’s now called brainwashing: no long periods of justification before joining the cause, just a few meetings and a lot of forms. Most of these doctors would have been repelled if asked to commit any other form of homicide. When doctors don’t listen to patients, they hear only their own beliefs. We the disabled are pushed from the human continuum by what others see in the space around our bodies. And our minds.

Historian Fredric Wertham writes,


The tragedy is that the psychiatrists did not have to have an order. They acted on their own. They were not carrying out a death sentence pronounced by someone else. They were the legislators who laid down the rules for deciding who was to die. . . . They were the executioners who carried out or—without being coerced to do so—surrendered their patients to be killed in other institutions; they supervised and often watched the slow deaths.



The first director of the killing center Sonnenstein was Dr. Horst Schumann, who transferred to Pirna from Grafeneck in southwest Germany in spring of 1940. Schumann reported to Paul Nitsche, by that time at headquarters in Berlin. Tall and broad-shouldered, Schumann had bland features and, unlike most deadpan Nazis, grins in his official photos. He liked to see himself as a wit and came up with the nickname Therapia Magna—“Great Therapy”—for death by gas chamber. The initials TM became common shorthand in medical records at Auschwitz. Like all T4 doctors, Schumann used a pseudonym. Many Germans would receive the worst news of their lives—and a bill—from a Dr. Blume. It translates to Dr. Flower.

After Sonnenstein, Schumann transferred to Auschwitz. He returned to a pre-T4 interest in sterilization, trying the procedure using X-rays. Many, probably most, of Schumann’s victims died from the X-rays or grew so enfeebled they were gassed.

The curtain rises and a colorful ribbon, the kind used in fairground stalls, stretches across the entire width of the stage. It bears the inscription: Panopticon of the Untold Past by Emmanuel Correzza.

This is Buck.

As I’ve mentioned before, the sixty or seventy workers at each killing center formed a community. Different T4 facilities joined up—Sonnenstein and Bernburg played handball. At least one Tötungsanstalt had gardens with a full-time gardener. Hadamar personnel marked the death of their ten thousandth victim with a raucous party—free beer, the corpse strewn with flowers on the way to the oven, a drunken mock eulogy.

Nazi leaders created a program called “Strength Through Joy” to unite the Aryan population through recreation, flattening social hierarchies and keeping everyone happy. STJ offered subsidized vacations, concerts, sports. It was administered by Robert Ley, an unstable alcoholic who headed the Labor Front. Ley, who would kill himself at Nuremberg, had a people’s cruise ship named after him. I don’t think STJ sponsored the Hadamar party, but the event captures its spirit. I’m reminded again of those acts of translation occurring within the act of death, repositioning the act of death. A corpse is a milestone, a reflection on the men and women surrounding it, holding beers. Nothing in itself.

Before reading the archives of Der Spiegel I’d never come across a story like that of the bus to Sonnenstein, with band and carnival hats. The most popular German carnival, Fasching, takes place in late winter, a run-up of indulgence before Lent. Sites like eBay sell hundreds of kinds of carnival hats, colorful, some with gold points that mimic crowns. I’ve thought of buying one for myself. Maybe to take more seriously my conceptual presence on that bus.

Did this dress-up happen once, or did transit center Rodewisch make a habit of dressing up the selected? Were the carnival hats taken off with the clothing, saved? Or did the victims walk into the gas chamber naked, but wearing jester caps? Where exactly was the band?

The T4 reporting forms were one page, not too different from forms you and I fill out often and without thinking: date of birth, marital status, location. Race. The three listed disorders are schizophrenia, feeble-mindedness, and epilepsy, but these are just a place to start. The forms targeted any patient with a mental disorder who couldn’t perform at a level above “mechanical work.” And anyone who had been in a facility five years or longer (the most common figure given for this criterion, though Götz Aly puts the number at three), which probably represented many who simply had nowhere to go. Records from Sonnenstein indicate 50 percent of the dead could do mechanical work, which meant simple work under supervision. The critical questions were prognosis and economic use.

If this sounds even a little thorough, in the actual forms, many of the blanks read nicht bekannt, or unknown. The scrawling hurry of the answers is matched by the plus and minus signs and the initials beside them, sloppier than most of us would check items off a grocery list. The categories were elastic. Many were killed for problems like depression. Medical notes recovered for the selected list qualities like “irritable,” “cranky,” and “scolding.” The selected were far more likely to be low-income. Feeble-mindedness, as I’ve written before, was a catch-all and could indicate Down syndrome, someone on the autism spectrum, someone withdrawn and slow to respond, or just someone the doctor felt should be eliminated. One Nazi doctor wrote that children should be listed as feeble-minded for performing badly in grammar school.

A mother of four named Emilie Rau died at Hadamar, transported from the asylum Eichberg. Her story has detail, because her daughter Marie pursued her mother’s case and demanded public recognition of her murder. Marie Rau Hechler became, like Buck, an activist. Hers was a search so tabooed she said later she could discuss it only with “likeminded people.”

Emilie Rau’s medical records and family memories narrate the “mercy killing” of an abused wife hospitalized for depression. Emilie’s husband had been injured and couldn’t work. She feared financial ruin for herself and her four children. In the years prior to her hospitalization Emilie had had several miscarriages. And her husband regularly hit her. As it has for so many women, abuse and stress became a mental diagnosis. Marie Rau finally found her mother’s records at Sonnenstein, where they’d been transferred in another act of obfuscation. Like other families, the Raus had paid for Emilie’s psychiatric “care,” including paying for eight days after her murder by gas. Before the creation of the Sonnenstein memorial, Rau’s story was part of a temporary exhibit there.

T4 personnel averaged in age between thirty and forty, but medical reviewers trended even younger. Many doctors who processed forms must have had children and/or pregnant wives. Statistically, some must have had children with some form of disability. Like Laughlin and his epilepsy, they shaped a world in which they could easily be signing their own or their loved one’s death warrants, something they must have realized as they processed forms faster and faster.

At a meeting in July of 1939, a doctor named Gottfried Ewald, a theologian’s son, told Viktor Brack he did not wish to be part of a euthanasia program. Ewald was Buck’s “one person living” in the scene where Brack appears on a plate with a windup key in his back. Brack then dismissed Ewald and continued. Brack asked more than once at meetings if anyone would prefer not to participate. Ewald would later send a position paper against the program to Werner Heyde, which didn’t persuade Heyde. But Ewald wasn’t disciplined.

Israeli Rael Strous puts it well: Doctors were not so much ordered to kill as empowered to. A doctor who ran an asylum for deaf-mutes told headquarters about filling out registration forms, “I am sorry, but we must obey God before human beings.” He kept his position throughout the war. The one danger was breaking the pledge of secrecy. Several doctors recalled Brandt telling them he respected their opinion when they declined. Friedrich von Bodelschwingh went along with sterilization, but strongly opposed medical murder. He and his head doctor dodged the forms and rewrote patient histories to remove signs pointing to “incurable,” changing diagnoses of schizophrenia.

In the fall of 1940, Bethel got hit by an aerial bomb that killed eleven children and one nurse. Nazi propagandists jumped on the story—the NSDAP’s German General Paper ran the headline INFANTICIDE AT BETHEL—REVOLTING CRIME.

“Should I condemn the deed of the English,” Bodelschwingh asked his local administrator, “and shortly afterwards take part in an ‘infanticide’ on a far greater scale at Bethel?” Later a German informant hinted the attack might actually have come from a Nazi plane. I can’t say whether this is likely. Bodelschwingh and Brandt were friendly and openly disagreed about euthanasia. Bodelschwingh continued to say after the war that Brandt had been “an idealist.”

A doctor named Ewald Worthmann, who’d told Paul Nitsche he was “not opposed” to euthanasia, got assigned to Sonnenstein. When Worthmann arrived, the operation sickened him, and he asked to leave. Werner Heyde had Worthmann come to Berlin for a talk, where Heyde offered the doctor incentives to stay. Worthmann refused and Heyde let him transfer out.

In the end Bethel saved most of its patients. The same is true of Gottfried Ewald’s hospital. To say no to T4 but remain in your job wasn’t simple. The program sent doctors to institutions to do their own assessments, as it did with sterilization. Remaining in your job meant you might lose someone, or multiple someones, though some directors did not. A careful director could save at least most, and I think Gottfried Ewald meant it when he later said he stayed rather than turning his institution over to an eager Nazi.

Years into knowing her, I learned my friend Nynke Passi lost a family member to the Nazi euthanasia program. In 2023 Nynke decided to investigate what happened to this woman, her great-grandmother Maartje. We discussed her research on Zoom, Nynke holding up an embroidery the Dutch Maartje sewed at the age of ten. Made in 1883, the piece shows Maartje’s skill: a duck with a green head and yellow plumage and colorful butterflies, beautifully stitched.

Maartje Rem had had intermittent episodes of delusion throughout her life. Her family cared for her at home. The family was close and, as Nynke puts it, Maartje was a “lively part of it,” a feisty, social woman who loved a good chat. But when the war broke out and German troops reached the Netherlands, Maartje’s husband, Wouter, had just died and her son-in-law became ill, possibly with pneumonia. Maartje’s daughter also had a young child. Maartje had an episode and, with no one to care for her, ended up in an institution on the coast. Her daughter intended to bring her home when “things settled,” in Nynke’s words. But Nazi armies were emptying these institutions, taking them for the war effort. It remained the will of Hitler’s Reich that occupied lands be emptied of the neurodivergent. Troops moved the patients from strategic coastal towns to institutions in the interior, institutions that became desperately overcrowded.

Maartje vanished. Much later the family learned she’d been sent to Den Dolder, a village with a crowded hospital that had received a thousand additional patients. It saw massive casualties, with “typhoid, pneumonia, dysentery, plus there was hunger and—in the winter—abject cold,” as Nynke described it to me. Locals recalled a great cart of dead patients taken to the cemetery weekly, tipped into mass graves. Maartje died in Den Dolder at age seventy-one. The news didn’t reach the family for another year and a half, delivered in a pink letter with crumbled edges.

Maartje’s death was, as Nynke put it, “an interim solution that turned into a permanent and traumatic separation.” I imagine a woman older than Nynke but beautiful like Nynke, who has long delicate hair and one of the most warm, open faces I know. Like Emilie Rau, the “shell” that was Maartje had a loving family generationally wounded by her death.

In April of 1941 a new phase of Aktion T4 began, known as 14f13 for its recordkeeping system. 14f13 expanded T4 to the camps. Concentration camps existed before the start of the war, mostly for political prisoners. As Germany conquered new territory, they built more and more camps—for Jews, Roma and Sinti, political prisoners, forced laborers, anyone Nazis wanted out of the way. Ultimately, the Third Reich would build more than forty thousand camps. T4 doctors began circulating among them, killing inmates by performing “selections” as perfunctory as those at the T4 sites.

The 14f13 program expanded the notion of “asocial.” Alcoholism, disruptiveness, “impudence,” petty theft, prostitution, “alien to the community” (which often meant Jewish)—all these “illnesses” could be cited by a physician operating under the banner of mercy deaths. It represented people the selector felt should be gotten rid of—one transport list included “asocial tuberculosis patients.”

Often questionnaires contained no medical information whatever, though the doctors still treated their service as medical. Selectors did dozens, even hundreds, per day. Camp commandants drew up preliminary lists of those to be “selected” and viewings were perfunctory, from “twenty feet away,” as one doctor noted in a letter. Jews were not even given a visual inspection. Victims were often transported back to the euthanasia centers to be killed. The 14f13 program claimed about twenty thousand lives.

Throughout these programs the selection criteria, catchall and open to interpretation as they were, expanded and expanded. Victims were increasingly selected on racial and social, rather than physical and mental, criteria. Medical-psychiatric thinking, social thinking, and “Jewish question” thinking grew impossible to tease apart. Toward the end of T4 sites like Sonnenstein began gassing persons brought in from concentration camps like Sachsenhausen—most Jewish and selected under 14f13.

The children’s program also grew. After the war Brandt said its goal was “to obtain possession of these abortions [the disabled] and destroy them as soon as possible after they had been brought into the world.” Over time the age crept up to sixteen officially and sometimes above that, the age of many German soldiers.

I have been assured that the Reich Interior Ministry and the office of the Reich Doctors’ Leader, Dr. Conti, make no bones about the fact that in reality a large number of mentally ill people in Germany have been deliberately killed and more will be killed in the future.

This is not Buck. It’s a Catholic bishop named Clemens von Galen and comes from a sermon delivered in August of 1941:


For some months we have been hearing reports that, on the orders of Berlin, patients from mental asylums who have been ill for a long time and may appear incurable are being compulsorily removed. Then, after a short time, the relatives are regularly informed that the corpse has been burnt and the ashes can be delivered. There is a general suspicion verging on certainty, that these numerous unexpected deaths of mentally ill people do not occur of themselves but are deliberately brought about . . .

Those patients who are destined to be killed are transported away from home to a distant asylum presumably in order to protect those who deliberately kill those poor people, members of our families, from legal punishment.



British pilots dropped copies of this sermon on hundreds of German cities and other areas throughout Europe. Nazi leaders were furious but didn’t feel they could retaliate against a bishop.

That month, August of 1941, Hitler halted the centralized phase of T4. The program didn’t end but it changed shape. Galen’s speech led to more public opposition, though probably not enough to be reason to stop. Public awareness caused other problems: Berlin got reports of nervous soldiers on the front, who’d come to believe that if they got head wounds, they’d be gassed. T4 had exceeded its goal of seventy thousand. Most significant, the Holocaust was starting up, T4 personnel needed elsewhere.

This shift launched the post-T4 period of wild euthanasia, an episode that proves Rael Strous’s comment that doctors had been “empowered” but not forced. In fall 1941 Viktor Brack again met with his T4 doctors, telling them the program continued but the killing work would decentralize. Berlin provided some coordination and drugs, transport, and doctors. There was far less death by gas in the wild period, though the six T4 sites weren’t shuttered. For the most part euthanasia reverted to the methods of the children’s program: drugs and starvation.

Wild euthanasia claimed somewhere in the tens of thousands, possibly more. Journalist Ernst Klee, who dedicated himself to investigating the program, estimates it killed as many as the official program did. Hartheim alone killed close to twelve thousand during the wild period. Added to its eighteen thousand T4 dead, Hartheim became the most lethal of the Tötungsanstalts. Hadamar killed many of the young women snatched up in Operation Brandt.

In the early 1980s, the director of the film Shoah, Claude Lanzmann, interviewed an SS guard from Treblinka named Franz Suchomel. Suchomel was an old, querulous man, puffed up about his knowledge of the death camp, worried about his bad heart. Suchomel said he knew three “state secrets”—the first two the secrets of euthanasia and of the death camps. And one more, he said, hinted to Lanzmann as a kind of offering. Suchomel didn’t know he was being filmed; Lanzmann hid the camera in a bag he carried. He’d learned that third secret, Suchomel said, in a letter he found to a guard in death camp Sobibor. He quoted the first sentence: “Dear Rudi, we’re doing the same as you, but we do it with injections.”

“People who were very seriously wounded in the bomb shelters or who went crazy, were given injections so they would die,” Suchomel said. “That was Operation Burning.”

Lanzmann: “But it was . . . Operation Burning . . . it was against the Jews?”

Suchomel: “No! Against the goyim. Against Germans.”

L: “Against Germans, it was . . . it was a form of euthanasia?”

S: “It was a form of euthanasia.”

L: “But I think it was for children.”

S: “No, no, no, no. Not this operation. They were stationed in the middle of Germany with buses, and when big bomb attacks happened with heavy casualties, then they drove into those places.”

Aktion Brandt, named for the man in charge of it, destroyed the shell-shocked, the badly injured, and the old, often after the bombings. Karl Brandt’s surname sounds like “brand,” German for “burning.” Suchomel, or his translator, made an easy mistake. Many of these bombings, like Dresden and Hamburg, were firebombings. Aktion Brandt emptied hospital beds for war use and wiped out the demoralizing effect of burned and bombed citizens, including shell-shocked women. Estimates for the number of dead, given that time and place in the war, are hard to calculate—thousands, possibly tens of thousands.

Suchomel tells Lanzmann he came to his post familiar with Yiddish but months or years at Treblinka seem to have made it second nature: An Aryan German, he automatically uses the Yiddish term “goyim” for “gentiles.”

“But please, I can’t prove it,” said Suchomel. “I can only draw that conclusion because I read it. But [whispering] it’s true.”

Nitsche claimed throughout his killing work and in his later defense that once medicine got rid of the hopeless, the “real therapy” could begin. Nitsche was one of the few Nazi doctors to be executed. Arrested by the Soviets and tried by the Allies, Nitsche was convicted of a thousand deaths. He died in Dresden by guillotine, the French instrument that preoccupied many of Pinel’s patients. He’d overseen the deaths of not just the hospitalized mentally ill, but shell-shocked veterans of the First World War, elders with dementia, children. Nitsche’s story contains no after, no sense of who the real therapy would be for.

It’s tempting to call Nitsche’s an older man’s journey, the idealist soured by time and turning to its opposite. But Nitsche never lost his idealism for psychiatry and its promise. In 1943 he and several other psychiatrists, including Dr. Carl Schneider, wrote a letter to Brandt requesting more support for psychiatry in the Reich. Schneider had been part of the team at Heidelberg that chose Harry Laughlin for his honors. The doctors stressed psychiatry’s critical role for their people and listed ongoing needs: more support for research and new doctors, better treatment equipment for the sanitoria. Pushing for resources as the war turned against Germany showed a concern that was, however unlikely, genuine.

And yet. Just before the letter, Schneider and Nitsche created a plan to subject epileptics, the “feeble-minded,” and schizophrenics to a battery of physical and mental tests before killing them and studying their brains. Schneider said he applied for the brains of “many beautiful idiots.”

There are no T4 deniers. It almost seems as though denial were not even necessary.

These words come from Andreas Hechler, grandson of Marie Rau, the woman who persisted until she discovered the mother she missed had died at Hadamar.

Since in the thirty years that have passed since then, neither the Church nor the State has done anything to redress these crimes; on the contrary: . . . let us today take a look back into the cabinet of unresolved pasts.

He waves the bell

Come, all of you! Adults a penny! The young get in free!

And this is Buck.
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Soooo Many Kisses

The Story of Friedrich Mennecke

[image: image]

Home again, my little mouse! The first day’s work at Buchenwald is over. To begin with there were still around 40 forms to fill in from an initial lot of Aryans, which the two other colleagues had already worked on yesterday. At 12.00 we had a break for lunch and ate in the leaders’ mess (First-rate soup, boiled beef, red cabbage, potatoes, stewed apple.) We continued examining until around 16.00. I did 105 patients, Müller 78 patients, so that we ended up with a first batch of 183 forms. Then as a second lot there was a total of 1200 Jews, none of whom were “examined.” At 17.00 “we called it a day” and went to dinner: cold meats (9 big slices), butter, bread, coffee!

So my dearest mommy, now I’m going to give you soooo many kisses.

This passage is another one strange enough to be from Buck’s play, but it isn’t. It’s T4’s Friedrich Mennecke, a prolific and dedicated eugenicist and a prolific and dedicated romantic. In photos Mennecke’s a broad-faced, earnest man in a Nazi uniform, cap topped with an eagle. On paper he’s a moony boy who seems to have hit puberty hard and desperately needs emojis. It would take the imagination of a Dorothea Buck to invent a Mennecke, but she didn’t need to. We know Mennecke because he wrote hundreds of letters to his wife Eva, sometimes several a day, while on the road as a 14f13 selector. Their length often went into the double digits. The piece above is excerpted, with a few deletions, from one of them.

Besides their sentimentality, Mennecke’s letters give one of the closest looks history has of a T4 doctor’s life. Or maybe with that sentimentality. That the program could contain him, or he it, is one of the hard problems of this war. Mennecke’s tone transcends evil as banal. It is evil as a looking-away-miracle. Mennecke caused the destruction of thousands of embodied humans while calling them terms like “forms.” They are things he “does,” in the way he tells Eva he ate and slept. At the same time, he was so obsessed with one woman’s body that he needed to know when she woke, when she slept, what she ate, when she menstruated.

Mennecke headed the Eichberg asylum, the one that transported Emilie Rau. He also became a roving selector and participated in the first selections done at Sachsenhausen. Mennecke had a right-leaning scrawl and, lacking those emojis, underlined and punctuated with abandon. It’s a bizarre tone made even more bizarre in that many letters were written on the backs of blank Meldebogen. I suppose at this point in the war—1941—Nazis had begun hoarding their paper.

Eva was Mennecke’s Mutti or Muttilein (“Mommy” or “little Mommy”), Evalein (little Eva), his Mausili (“little mouse”). He called himself Eva’s “Fritz-Pa.” Eva was eight years younger than Fritz, dark-haired, and stern though pretty in the best photo we have of her.

Like many T4 personnel, Mennecke served in a variety of roles. Eichberg was a transit center for the gassing asylum Hadamar and a children’s euthanasia site. He reviewed forms on the side while running it. Under 14f13 he traveled to camps—Sachsenhausen, Buchenwald, Dachau, Auschwitz, among others.

I want to kiss you everywhere. I want to feel you everywhere. I want to hold you and bite you. Kiss you. Kiss you. Always!

Mennecke’s letters end with more kissies, Mommies, exclamation points. After Eva sent strawberries, Mennecke sugared them and set the bowl next to Eva’s photo, staring at both, he writes, “like a little boy.” And now come very close to me, you dear good Mommy, and have as many Pa-kisses as the strawberries you sent—or even more!! I’m not stingy!! 

Mennecke writes Eva that he can “process” as many as a hundred people a day. The doctor mostly copies SS personnel’s notes about the “patient” onto the forms and signs off. At times Mennecke acknowledges he’s not acting as a doctor, writing once, “your Pa is a pen-pusher.” If this sounds like it bothered him, it probably didn’t. Mennecke told another doctor that he must be “first and foremost a Nazi, secondly a doctor.”

Mennecke’s roving selections reflect the growing use of the social and the racial as deaths justified by Hitler’s euthanasia order. The selected get listed as “impudent,” “indolent,” “anti-state,” or “race defiler,” the term for miscegenation. Many are Jewish. With Jews, Mennecke tells Eva, the decision is “purely theoretical”—he doesn’t see them.

Mennecke ate luxuriously in a time of rationing, and in his letters he gives his food far more space than his “forms.” Fritz-Pa gets boiled beef, “little delicacies” like Hamburg herring salad, his nine large slices of salami. On warm days he lies naked in the sun. He’s thrilled to be in direct contact with important people like Heyde and Nitsche, and to feel they respect and like him. Heading to the Flössenburg concentration camp, Mennecke writes Eva, “I’m even more delighted that they need me there.” He describes a visit to Sachsenhausen as “all new exciting experiences.”

Eva’s letters, of which there are fewer, are affectionate if less swoony. She tells him what’s growing in their garden, what fruits she’s been preserving, what friends she’s seen. They share thoughts on Nazi radio broadcasts. A few comments indicate Fritz-Pa’s in-person amorousness might have failed to match his letters. Mennecke writes that he’s been munching on the strawberries, but he apologizes for not “munching” Eva enough on her last visit. In a letter to him Eva asks that he watch how much alcoholic punch he drinks before she visits: “I want a fresh lively Pa.”

Like many Nazis, and like Laughlin, Fritz and Eva often skip applying rules to themselves. Eva sneaks fruit she should be turning over to the state. She mentions sympathetically a visit from a family friend with multiple sclerosis while Mennecke sent disabled adults off to be gassed at Hadamar.

As the euthanasia program went on, it began splitting into two ideological camps. One camp held the likes of Fritz Bernotat, the administrator who suggested clubbing patients and who oversaw Eichberg and other hospitals. Bernotat put Eichberg on starvation rations, diverting resources to National Socialist facilities. The other camp included people like Carl Schneider and Paul Nitsche, who wanted real psychiatry to continue in the Reich. The wish was more practical than ideological—psychiatrists were in danger of euthanizing themselves out of a field. This wouldn’t matter to the older Nitsche, but it would to a younger doctor like Mennecke. Mennecke aligned himself with Schneider, a mentor. These doctors did not want to stop euthanizing, but rather than emptying institutions wanted euthanasia to be targeted and accompanied by research like brain dissections. Mennecke clashed with Bernotat and ended up at the front. He came back ill and tubercular and was arrested in 1946.

Mennecke’s prosecutors had a secret weapon: the letters to Eva, probably recovered during a search of his house. Mennecke asked Eva to burn them, but maybe she had her own mooniness; somehow, she didn’t burn them. Prosecutors also had Mennecke’s selection forms. By his own admission, Mennecke had watched deaths at Hadamar through the viewing window. He was found guilty of the deaths of at least twenty-five hundred people and sentenced to death himself. The court aptly called him a killer less motivated by ideology than his own vanity. Before execution Mennecke died in his cell. He may have died naturally, due to his poor health. Or he may have died from poison slipped to him by little Mommy. Eva visited her spouse two days before he died.

Before the end of the war German leaders distributed cyanide capsules. Philipp Bouhler, among other T4 personnel, died this way. The poison was released by crushing the capsule between the teeth. I imagine Eva bringing one to Mennecke, as she had once sent strawberries. To die by something Eva brought him to eat—welcome release, or bitter irony? Perhaps both, for a couple who lived so wholly in the weight of their own bodies, while surrounded by corpses light as air.

“For dinner I had sauté potatoes with two large pieces of veal roast and green salad. As dessert a compote of apricots,” Mennecke wrote Eva from Heidelberg. He ended the letter with, “This is how we live—this is how we shall live for the rest of our days.”
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Unknown Ways That Are Hieroglyphical

At Sonnenstein Asylum
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I suffer in an unknown way that is hieroglyphical.

PAUL SCHREBER, Memoirs of My Nervous Illness



IN JULY OF 1940, ABOUT HALF A YEAR AFTER THE BRANDENBURG TEST GASSING, A German artist named Elfriede Lohse-Wächtler died in the Sonnenstein gas chamber. She’d been diagnosed schizophrenic. Lohse-Wächtler cut her hair very short, wore men’s clothing, and publicly smoked a pipe. She did these things during National Socialism, when women’s roles became more and more limited to the sphere Hitler called “kitchen, children, church.” Lohse-Wächtler, wife of a serial cheater who would get her committed for life in order to divorce her, was also diagnosed paranoid. Kurt Lohse wished to find someone who was “more of a woman.” There’s some math between all these things, but I can’t say at this remove what it is.

I didn’t know about Lohse-Wächtler until after my two visits to the Sonnenstein memorial. She never came up, and while the memorial did a booklet on her life, it was out of print. Her name popped up on a search engine one day, with a few images, and I wanted to know her story. Lohse-Wächtler’s life overlapped in many ways with Dorothea Buck’s, until she became one of the murdered and not one of the spared. Born in 1899 in Dresden, Lohse-Wächtler lived in Hamburg. Her marriage to Kurt Lohse was turbulent, with constant crises over money. In 1929, she broke down and ended up at a hospital. Like Buck, Lohse-Wächtler found her subjects around her. She did more than sixty chalks and sketches of fellow patients. Destitute, in 1931 Lohse-Wächtler returned to her estranged parents. Not long after, her father returned her to an asylum. She was sterilized, and finally selected to die.

There are many incongruities to the fortress Sonnenstein, which even now looks like a place that’s had a purpose stamped onto it. Now that purpose could be called Fortress Domesticus. When I first visited Sonnenstein in 2017, I’d seen just small images of a pale building flanked and turreted along a cliff. I imagined it looming far above and beyond the town, maybe a bit gargoyle-y. Driving up from the back, the fortress looked more like an office park or country club—a long complex of buildings surrounding a park where people kicked up leaves and walked dogs, and disembodied voices droned from cell phones. Some people headed into and out of the businesses now dotting the place, including, a little incongruently, a health and therapy clinic. This would have been the route of the Gekrat buses.

We made it to Sonnenstein after being knocked off our feet. Not by the grief of the whole enterprise; that would come later. In 2017 Bruce and I got knocked off our feet in Berlin, by a freak cyclone named Xavier. This happened outside the Neues Museum, where we’d seen Nefertiti’s mask and rooms of hieroglyphics that somehow spelled Schreber’s suffering. Black birds wheeled from the bare linden trees at one end of the museum park to the lindens at the other. Claws down for an instant on one set of branches, flapping up to arc back, again and again, caught in some all-consuming distress. Beneath the bird’s cries, we heard a rushing, low and hollow.

Bruce reached out for what he believed was me fainting but was me doubled over in a seventy-mile-an-hour wind. I clasped my hands around a stop sign as my feet rose from the ground. Then the wind hit Bruce and he grasped too and tilted. Strange to think that it came at us one at a time, as if making choices.

All Berlin closed, including subways, trains, and buses, all cars ordered off the road. The cyclone brought winds of 120 miles per hour and stinging cold—Buck would have thought of her un-greening apocalypse. We walked an hour and a half back to our hotel, tree limbs whizzing past our ears. Xavier killed fifteen people, mostly by flying trees. And for reasons I still don’t understand, eighteen flamingos at the Berlin Zoo. We couldn’t pick up our rental car, and meanwhile, Sonnenstein’s Hagen Markwardt, whom I had an appointment to see, left the country.

We finally got to Sonnenstein two days later, with a car from a suspiciously well-stocked rental agency that later tried to charge us thousands of euros over a small scratch. There was no one available to speak to me, but a tour had been scheduled that afternoon for a small group, so we joined it. We walked through the top floor of the memorial ourselves—framed letters and other documents, walls of photos of Sonnenstein personnel grouped together holding beer steins.

I didn’t fully respond to the memorial’s power until we arrived in the basement, in the anteroom. Wooden stands with twenty-odd victims’ photos line the room. Women and men, smiling or serious, neat, bobbed, mustached, or clean-shaven, with names and a little biographical information. A few children. The stands reach eye level, as if mimicking human height could make the faces more real. The selected were led here from the exam room above, in sex-segregated groups. They removed their clothes, later slapped through by workers in search of valuables, which would be sent to Tiergartenstrasse. Anyone with gold teeth got a mark on the back or shoulder. These items represented the one avenue for personnel to violate the rules: getting caught pilfering.

I wondered how victims took in this process—the sex-separated modesty followed by filing together, nude, into that tiny space. Lohse-Wächtler as a young woman posed nude for artist friends, once draping across a couch. How strange it must have been, to be asked to disrobe, and then never looked at.

In the gas chamber itself I ran my hands along the walls, imagining the hands that touched it. It’s 120 square feet, or about ten by twelve, the size of a college dorm room. Smaller than any of the ancillary rooms: the anteroom, the corpse room where the dead were taken after the gassing, the coke room that housed fuel for the crematorium. The chamber had fake showerheads placed high on the wall. The gas, carbon monoxide, poured in through a pipe along the side. The chamber had white, slightly rough walls and a red brick floor. It also had a window at the far end, double-paned, the frame slightly arched. This room, rough as it was, had an air of antiquity, of something that, without the pipes, would have looked the same in Ernst Pienitz’s time. Perhaps a cobbler’s workshop. This is possible.

After the war East Germans treated this unchanged room as office space. Were there desks backed along the wall with the gas pipe? Somehow the walls that once whispered Devil’s Castle to Schreber had been muted. Now, in the ancillary rooms, glass display cases hold a few victims’ effects. One had a man’s metal leg brace, twisted and black from the cremation fire. Like expressionist sculpture, like a piece from the Italian sculptor Giacometti, or one by Dorothea Buck.

When we left the gas chamber Bruce and I ran out into the sunshine and I cried in this unlikely park with its cell phones and its dogs. I cried for the fact that so much death could look like an October afternoon in any park in the world.

When Bruce and I returned to Pirna in 2022, we approached Sonnenstein from the front, climbing the steep staircases to the peak. Again, I had trouble finding the memorial, a narrow three-story slice of the much larger place. The memorial is not listed on the map of locations in the Sonnenstein complex erected by the main staircase, which ends by a small café.

I had a better sense of where to go this time, no freak cyclones behind me, and Hagen Markwardt met me at the base of the elevator. He walked me up to his small office on the second floor, seeming much younger to me, more mobile in body and face, than I expected from our correspondence. We talked first about Thomas Schilter, a high school student who researched the killing center for a high school paper in the 1980s, and then demanded justice for the victims.

“He approached the mayor and said, ‘You have to do something about a forgotten crime,’ ” Hagen told me. Schilter’s father was a psychiatrist and helped with Thomas’s research into T4. Hagen called Schilter “very impressive.” The forgetting is hard to believe, given the trials of T4 doctors going on into the 1990s a few hundred miles away. The cause was ultimately taken up, at Schilter’s urging, by a local church. The first event commemorating the deaths took place in that church, in 1990, and may be the one that highlighted the death of abused wife Emilie Rau. At the time Sonnenstein was a military area, closed to the public.

Hagen and the small staff at the memorial have found names for about eleven thousand of the almost fifteen thousand Sonnenstein dead; these are listed in tiny script on the wall of a room near the gas chamber. Families can put plaques for the dead on the walls, but I counted only a few dozen of these. I don’t know if this reflects lack of interest or just the small staff of the memorial, who can be hard to reach.

“We’ll never be able to identify everyone,” Hagen told me of the victims. Three to four thousand will remain lost. The memorial staff makes identification part of their mission, tracing victim identities and publishing booklets with their stories, as they had with my artist. Hagen and I talked about the trials of the T4 doctors, including the trials of Sonnenstein doctors Klaus Endruweit and Kurt Borm, whose outcome he called “unsatisfactory.”

A dark-haired intern named Rosalie guided me through the gas chamber for my second visit. Rosalie was very pretty and though she learned English studying in the Midwest, spoke with a British accent (“I watch a lot of British TV,” she said). I chose not to touch the chamber walls but as I had more time, I stood still and tried to imagine dozens of others beside me. Just Rosalie and I seemed to fill the chamber up. So many more would have almost become a part of me: flesh at my knees, my elbows, my shoulders. All jostling those thin hopes that were the towels.

I saw again the plastered hole for the gas pipe, and the holes for the high false showerheads. The door that led victims in and held the doctor’s viewing window now just a suggestion of line on the floor leading into the rest of the basement. The one unchanged remnant of the gas chamber was the other window looking out above the Elbe, and a drainage ditch under it I paid more attention to this time. The floor had to be hosed, body wastes cleared away, between gassings. It was, Rosalie reminded me, a slow process: just ten minutes or so for the gassing, but several hours for the cremation, then grinding remains in a bone mill and disposing of the ashes. I wondered about the logic of plastering over the holes but leaving the plastered circles so clear, paler colors and rougher textures than the wall behind them—a denaturing, not a denying. At some point someone tried to restore room-ness to a place that could never again be a room.

After my visit Rosalie directed me to a narrow walk down that connects the memorial with Pirna—a memorial walk, small stairs with a handful of plaques commemorating victims. I walked down this way, but all the signs had been defaced with graffiti—the letters POE and BE in red, other words I couldn’t make out.

“If you say it’s something in the brain, you have to do something to the brain.” Hagen said this to me about neurodivergence. He told me that when he gives talks on T4 he begins with an image of a nude beach. A hundred or more years ago, he tells the audience, these people would have been committed, public nudity an act of hopeless madness. As I expect female nudity before males who weren’t lovers would have been considered in Lohse-Wächtler’s time. Her subjects were often poor laborers and prostitutes, the kind of population targeted by the sentimental Mennecke’s brand of euthanasia.

You want to be careful what you consider “normal,” Hagen said, and reminded me that we live in the Kraepelin era, a man who didn’t consider many things normal.

I realized, as I exited the memorial through the basement rooms, that I had in the pain of it all forgotten Schreber. Here he was as well, bellowing, baring his chest, hurling insults at the sun. Surely I’d put my foot on some staircase or patch of land where he put his. At the end of his stay Schreber celebrated with joy a gruesome, hard, but necessary journey, wrestling Ernst Pienitz’s Sonnenstein out of Guido Weber’s grim walls. He filled notebooks, told stories, made sense.

Lohse-Wächtler’s artwork was largely lost, then revived, but only when her name emerged in the Thomas Schilter era as one of Sonnenstein’s victims. People heard her name and began looking for her art, much still in possession of her brother. Several museums in Germany now hold her work. But museumgoers represent a small chunk of her audience. That distinction belongs to customers of Walmart, which sells a few of Lohse-Wächtler’s character studies for anywhere from thirty to seventy dollars. If you’ve walked through a Walmart, you’ve probably seen a Lohse-Wächtler, tucked between images of moody trees and earnest Yorkshire terriers.

Walmart even sells a Lohse-Wächtler prostitute, the prostitute a woman named Lissy. Lissy wears bright red and holds a cigarette with a hand on hip, turned to gaze boldly at the artist. The piece is probably art critics’ favorite among Lohse-Wächtler’s works, not that there’s that much criticism. Critics read Lissy’s stance, away from the men in the room, cigarette, and bold colors as a feminist statement—the image of the “New Woman,” as one critic put it, by which she meant what people now might call liberated. Without Lohse-Wächtler’s sharp colors, detail, and sense of place, her paintings morph into something safe. For every person who sees a Lohse-Wächtler in a museum and reads her story, thousands see a Lohse-Wächtler and think of that empty space above a BarcaLounger.

Hieroglyphics were deciphered only two decades before Schreber’s birth. I imagine they represented for him an astonishing mystery unraveled, like our discovery of computing and cyberspace, the double-helixed. Eyes and birds and human figures, an earthy language to tell stories of the afterlife. I retrofit Lohse-Wächtler, a woman who painted herself with full lips and a channeled face, into the rooms I walked through at Sonnenstein. Had she had paper and pencil, she might have died sketching. Lost in ash, revived by a schoolboy, reborn in a box store. I retrofit Schreber, sensing what was coming, and getting out when he still could.
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The Business of Setting Up World Government

Nuremberg and After
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The wrongs which we seek to condemn and punish have been so calculated, so malignant, and so devastating, that civilization cannot tolerate their being ignored, because it cannot survive their being repeated.

ROBERT JACKSON, U.S. prosecutor, opening statement at Nuremberg



THERE IS ONE NAZI CRIMINAL TRIAL ALMOST EVERYONE KNOWS THE NAME OF, AND that is Nuremberg. What most people mean by “Nuremberg” was actually the first trial of thirteen. For this one the four Allied powers—the United States, Britain, France, and the Soviet Union—formed an International Military Tribunal. The bench held four chief judges, each with a deputy. The Allies chose the city of Nuremberg because it had an intact Palace of Justice with room for cells, a court, and a space for death by hanging. These were its first virtues. The city had also held Nazi rallies and seen the passage of the most virulent race laws. These were its second virtues. The International Military Tribunal wanted both justice and public symbolism. The choice of hanging also made a statement; an honorable soldier’s death was by gun. The Allies planned to burn the bodies of the executed, to prevent future cults of personality growing around these men. Ashes would be thrown in the river Isar, where Kraepelin had had his vacation home.

Video of the trial shows a large and chaotic courtroom with lawyers, soldiers, stenographers, rows of interpreters in headsets chattering at once. The twenty-one defendants sat together, many still in Nazi uniform. Gestapo chief Ernst Kaltenbrunner sat scarred (he had facial scars from dueling) and stoic; Rudolf Hess stared into space or nodded off; Göring yelled things like “swine” at witnesses or nodded off. Robert Ley committed suicide in his cell days before the trial. Martin Bormann was tried and sentenced to death in absentia, though he’d already committed suicide by cyanide.

Only the United States carried out the twelve additional trials, called the Subsequent Nuremberg Proceedings. The SNPs each covered one area of Nazi activity: a doctors’ trial, a trial against the German companies that collaborated and used enslaved labor, and so on. The doctors’ trial, technically called “the U.S. vs. Karl Brandt et al.,” came first. Viktor Brack and Karl Brandt were both convicted of deaths brought about through euthanasia and at the camps and died by hanging. Philipp Bouhler had already killed himself, with cyanide.

Defendants at the International Military Tribunal trial included monsters like Hermann Göring, the Reichsmarschall who’d given the order to begin the Final Solution. And if Himmler, Hitler, Goebbels, or anyone at their level had been found alive, they would have taken seats at Nuremberg. But many defendants weren’t the worst of the worst and three were found innocent. British paper The Guardian wrote that broadcaster Hans Fritzsche “hardly deserved a space on the dock.”

The prosecution wanted to try not just Nazi atrocities but the breadth of the Nazi government, the apparatus that led to those atrocities. Some defendants were implicated in them, while some, like head of the navy Karl Dönitz, were not directly connected. The Nuremberg proceedings aimed to make a future Nazi Germany impossible, with charges deliberately broad: conspiracy to wage aggressive war, or crimes against peace; war crimes, a preexisting category that covered abuse of combatants; and crimes against humanity, a new charge meant to cover the slaughter, abuse, and enslavement of civilians. The United Nations recognized the term “genocide” in 1948, after Nuremberg lawyers invoked the fact of it.

U.S. prosecutor Robert Jackson wanted Nuremberg’s legacy to be a permanent standing international court, able to try countries for aggression and brutality. Jackson was a Supreme Court justice appointed by Roosevelt who took leave to prosecute at Nuremberg. He built his case against the Nazis, including his strategy of trying to prove that governments can be criminal entities, through vast amounts of documentation. Jackson was a brilliant orator and legal thinker, though an indifferent cross-examiner. He never realized his dream of a permanent seat of international justice, and if he had, the United States might have been subject to prosecution more than once. The concept of crimes against humanity has become critical in international law. Nuremberg rulings concerning medical humanity and medical consent played a large role in U.S. litigation against coercive psychiatry later in the century.

Twelve defendants at the military tribunal were sentenced to death. Göring committed suicide in prison, after the trial but before his execution. Three were exonerated and the rest got prison terms ranging from ten years (Dönitz) to life.

Nuremberg used survivor testimony, photos, documents. Prosecutors also had extensive footage of the camps, taken as the troops arrived and liberated the survivors. Though Robert Jackson mentioned using “motion pictures” in his opening statement, it’s doubtful any defendant knew what was coming. No trial had used film to prove criminal acts, particularly wartime film taken in real time and at a professional level. Primo Levi, a Jewish Italian who survived Auschwitz, quoted the guards there taunting inmates that “even if some proof should remain and some of you survive, people will say that the events you describe are too monstrous to be believed: they will say that they are the exaggerations of Allied propaganda and will believe us, who will deny everything, and not you.”

Most people now have seen some pieces of the camp footage: emaciated prisoners, piles of corpses, skeletal figures on the ground unrecognizable as either. As the first films played, Reich economic minister Walther Funk covered his eyes and stifled tears, broadcaster Hans Fritzsche seemed “in agony,” Admiral Dönitz buried his head in his hands. A witness heard defense attorneys mutter, “for God’s sake . . . terrible.” Göring, who went into the trial with typical self-confidence, said later, “Then they played that awful film, and it spoiled everything.”

Dwight Eisenhower, commander of the Allied forces, gets most of the credit for the camp footage. He had a prescient sense that as time went on, no one would believe the truth of the Nazi camps. Eisenhower ordered every serviceman not actively fighting at the front to tour one. He gave the job of filming to the Army Signal Corps, and used Hollywood talent like director George Stevens, who would go on to make Giant and A Place in the Sun. Stevens and others involved signed affidavits affirming the films’ truth.

Eisenhower went himself to the liberation of the Ohrdruf camp, part of the Buchenwald complex, with a film crew. He wrote later, “The things I saw beggar description . . . I made the visit deliberately, in order to be in a position to give first-hand evidence of these things if ever, in the future, there develops a tendency to charge these allegations merely to ‘propaganda.’ ”

I don’t think I need to describe Ohrdruf—the piles of dead and wasted bodies, the almost-as-wasted survivors. General George Patton met Eisenhower there. Since his 1970 biopic and its tagline “make the other poor bastard die for his country,” Patton’s been a meme of the tough soldier. But he became too physically ill to enter many of the camps’ rooms. Eisenhower made local Nazi leaders tour the camp with him, a practice he had troops continue at other camps. The Ohrdruf film helped generate a massive campaign of public education on German atrocities—liberation footage appeared on U.S. news shows, photos in newspapers and magazines. Newsreels featuring these films appeared in public theaters.

As the truth of the war unfolded, so did the desire to fathom the unfathomable—the psyches of those who committed these acts. Prior to World War II, Germany led the world in Nobel Prize winners. It had had Ernst Pienitz and the other Sonnenstein, the one that turned a river of blood into a “clear broad sea of benevolence.” Pliny Earle made this comment about Sonnenstein less than a century before T4 and the gas chamber—the potential lifespan of a single individual. Historians called early 1800s Sonnenstein central Europe’s pinnacle and hope. How can things learned be so unlearned, and so quickly?

As fascist leaders died, some by execution and others by suicide, occupying doctors harvested their brains to see if the organ itself could give a clue to their acts. Allied doctors rejected Nazi methods but not the theories behind neuroanatomy—that the structures of the brain could hold visible clues to the disturbed psyche. Himmler’s, Mussolini’s, and Robert Ley’s brains were preserved. In the rush of the war’s end, Himmler’s brain got lost. Ley’s was passed around and examined by multiple doctors. Mussolini was suspected of having late-stage syphilis. But Mussolini’s and Ley’s brains were normal.

The drive to make sense of the human monster has a particular pain: that of waving the tools of reason before the unknowable and unspeakable and finding them blunted. A psychiatrist named Douglas M. Kelley, assigned to the military tribunal trial, found himself blunted. His first duty was judging whether each man was fit to stand trial, which they were. That went quickly. The trials went on for almost a year, and Kelley spent the rest of his time trying to make psychological sense of the defendants. That went slowly, if it went at all. Kelley tested IQs, used Rorschach ink blots, heard family stories, sat with the men as they read their wives’ letters. Defendants liked and even grew dependent on Kelley, a baby-faced man with a deep dimple in his chin. Kelley saw many of them every day.

Most of the defendants tested normal in their responses and above average in intelligence, including Göring. Only Rudolf Hess and Robert Ley raised questions about lucidity. Ley was an alcoholic in withdrawal, erratic and unstable. Hess’s mental state is a judgment call. Hess, once deputy Führer, sank in Hitler’s regard and apparently thought single-handedly negotiating a truce with Britain would help (in fairness, if he had, it would have). In 1941 he flew a small fighter plane to Scotland, hoping to land on the grounds of a German-sympathizing duke. Britain’s ex-king was far from the only fascist-leaning aristocrat. Instead, Hess crashed his plane into the field of a small farmer, whose mum promptly made him tea.

Hess spent most of the war in a British jail, while Hitler proclaimed him insane. Some historians think Hess was just erratic, some believe he did hope to win Hitler back. Some think Hitler secretly approved the mission but told Hess he’d disavow it if it didn’t work. Either way, Hess spent the pretrial period proclaiming an almost-total amnesia. A Nuremberg doctor told Hess that if he were declared mentally incompetent, he might stay locked up forever. Hess soon read a statement to the court claiming the amnesia was an act. Walter Cronkite, who attended the trial, called him obviously mad. Most who examined him did not.

Other psychiatrists and psychologists examined the defendants and drew more or less the same conclusions. The defendants were mostly, to toss out an assortment of responses, very intelligent, well read, “good family men.” Fluent in areas like philosophy. Göring wept when Kelley left Nuremberg. He cherished his wife’s letters and asked Kelley to adopt his beloved daughter Edda if anything should happen to his wife. He also devoted himself to animals, though he hunted. With Hitler’s support he had clamped down on vivisection, live animal experimentation. A poster of Göring during his heyday shows him walking by a field of cartoon animals under the heading “Vivisection Verboten [Forbidden].” The creatures—birds, cats, bunnies—give the Reichsmarschall the Nazi salute; as he looks down at them fondly, Göring returns it.

Göring had this love in common with American eugenicist Madison Grant, author of Hitler’s “Bible,” The Passing of the Great Race. Grant was a conservationist who has a species of elk named after him.

Kelley wrote later that the men he knew were neither perverts nor geniuses but “were like any aggressive, smart, ambitious, ruthless businessman, and their business happened to be in the setting up of a world government.” The conclusion terrified Kelley, as it should everyone. Before his death he traveled and lectured, sharing his belief that what happened in Nazi Germany could happen in America, probably through racism.

Kelley committed suicide at forty-five using cyanide, the same method used by Göring in prison. It’s possible Kelley saved one of the Reichsmarschall’s own cyanide capsules. Göring killed himself after the trial but before his execution. He wrote in a note that he’d had cyanide secreted on his person throughout his time in prison. No one knows whether this is true, or if someone sympathetic to Göring smuggled it in.

In 1946 the United States prosecuted twenty-three Nazi doctors in the Nuremberg Doctors’ Trial, one of the subsequent proceedings. The worst of the Nazi doctors, Josef Mengele, had escaped to South America and would never be caught. Four defendants, including Karl Brandt and Viktor Brack, faced euthanasia charges, listed in the indictment as the murder of “hundreds of thousands of human beings.” No defendant was tried for euthanasia alone; all had also been at the camps. The trial focused on the camps’ medical experimentation, broken down into categories like “freezing,” “high altitude,” and “sterilization.” Defense attorneys argued the United States was a poor choice of prosecutor. They listed our history of medical experiments, including the Tuskegee experiment that followed treatable-but-untreated syphilis in Black men.

These defendants and others turned Germany into an infernal combination of a lunatic asylum and a charnel house.

This is an excerpt from the opening statement of the doctors’ trial, delivered by lead prosecutor Telford Taylor. This trial also took months. Taylor had been Jackson’s assistant counsel before taking over at the subsequent proceedings. He would later oppose both Congress’s Communist witch hunt, the McCarthy hearings, and the Vietnam War. Taylor knew the details of the asylum gas chambers and heard witnesses. He may have visited a few T4 death sites. Taylor was careful to add euthanasia numbers to the indictments of Brandt and Brack, along with other doctors who’d worked with the euthanasia program.

But Taylor understood nothing of the doctors I write about, and his quote pains me. Nazis didn’t metaphorically turn the country into a lunatic asylum and charnel house. They turned actual asylums into actual charnel houses. Turning what the Nazis did to the mad into a metaphor of mad Nazis wrings the life out of these facts. As Taylor tried the defendants, he unconsciously thought as they did. Madness is evil and evil is madness. Though in truth if Freud had his wish and the Schrebers ran the asylums, there would have been no charnel houses. And had the country really been turned lunatic asylum, these doctors would not have sat, living, in the defendants’ box.

Viktor Brack died insisting that the deaths were “humane,” and that he’d had no knowledge of the Holocaust. The last claim was made by many Nuremberg defendants. Brack in his last words wished for God to grant the world peace. Karl Brandt on the other hand put his head in the rope saying he bore no guilt—the trial was “political revenge,” and he had only served the state “as others have before me.”

In the 1960s the German Bundestag’s Restitution Committee heard testimony on Aktion T4. Some who testified with descriptions of the program had been themselves doctors who murdered. In 1961 the German government passed the Federal Compensation Law, which declared euthanasia an “atypical” crime under National Socialism and those murdered under euthanasia not legally Nazi victims. The sterilized got a small monetary compensation in the 1980s, with no acknowledgment of legal obligation. Only the United States has recognized the euthanasia dead as Nazi casualties, by allowing them to join a lawsuit against three Nazi-collaborating Swiss banks. In Germany euthanasia and sterilization victims became, as Buck put it, second-class victims of National Socialism.

The Nazi hereditary disease law, which legalized sterilization, wasn’t repealed until 1975. No monument to the dead of T4 existed at 4 Tiergartenstrasse, beyond a small plaque, until 2014. Just two years before that, the German Medical Association finally issued an apology for euthanasia and medical atrocities. Like the memorial at Sonnenstein, the 4 Tiergartenstrasse monument was put in place not by the government but by citizen groups and pressure from activists like Dorothea Buck. The Berlin memorial is about eighty feet long, but narrow, waist-level, and glass. It sits in front of a modern-looking suite of buildings, one a theater, just off Billy-Wilder-Promenade and looks like a part of the theater structure. I circled the place two or three times before noticing it.

The Tragedy of Euthanasia has another reference to the Saxon town of Rodewisch, the transit center that waved goodbye with jester’s caps and live bands. In 1963 a conference took place there, in which East German officials agreed to bring humanity and real treatment to their psychiatric hospitals. In the play, the conference, held years before Buck wrote, leads to this:

Whoever breaks into the everyday life of an institution today unannounced doesn’t experience the inferno of a “snake pit,” but the oppressively dull atmosphere of a waiting room. After breakfast and distribution of medication, an oppressive silence descends on the day rooms.

Mr. N. ended up in one of these waiting rooms on the same Sunday morning and spent weeks and months there together with thirty fellow sufferers. Among the thirty adults who apathetically squatted on long wooden benches, he walked around quietly in the beginning and mostly stayed near the door. He could not understand—as of course he could not—why he should suddenly be locked up.

To be locked in a day room with thirty people for four weeks—would a healthy person be able to get well under these circumstances?

Correzza: That’s what we want to act out now. (turning to the audience:)

We now ask you to endure for ten minutes what the patients of these institutions have to endure for months, years, or even their entire lives.

(He disappears through the door, through which the patient Mr. N. comes. All thirty wait in silence on the two long wooden benches, while the patient paces gracelessly back and forth.)

No one could doubt that he’s mentally deranged, said the Schreber court of Paul Schreber. But no one could fail to respect him.

For the most part they are nameless dead. To their murderers, these wretched people were not individuals at all. They came in wholesale lots and were treated worse than animals. They were 200 Jews in good physical condition, 50 gypsies, 500 tubercular Poles, or 1,000 Russians.

This is another quote from doctors’ trial prosecutor Telford Taylor. It’s the only description he gives of the victims whose deaths he’s there to rectify, the only clue to those he avenges and those the world needs to mourn. No Dorothea Bucks here. No Emilie Raus. They don’t even make it into the category of “nameless dead.” What is more nameless than nameless?
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An Impoverished Philosophy of Being
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IF I HAD BEEN BORN IN THE 1840S IN GERMANY, LIKE PAUL SCHREBER, I MIGHT have been locked up in Sonnenstein. From the woman’s wing I’d see Paul Schreber in the garden, and perhaps hear him bellowing from under those moustache-wings. If committed, I would have stayed inside. I’m a woman, and no jurist. If I’d been born in the 1910s in Germany, like Buck, I might have been sterilized as she was, or murdered, as she through luck was not.

Such possibilities: In the 1930s United States, I might have been injected with malaria, a disease called “the pale horror.” Doctors concerned with my mind had gotten into theirs that fever could be therapy. Throughout the twentieth century, and especially 1949 to 1952, I could have been lobotomized. Some fifty thousand Americans were, about two-thirds of them women, some children.

I picture myself in the hands of a theatrical and very prolific lobotomist named Walter Freeman, who’d once put his ice picks into the brain of President John Kennedy’s sister, Rosemary. Whether Rosemary truly had a neurodivergent condition, or was just embarrassingly wild, is hard to parse at this remove. What’s not hard to parse is that afterward Rosemary lost the ability to walk or talk and remained permanently institutionalized. Freeman continued lobotomizing.

Freeman kept his moustache and small beard immaculately trimmed, and he loved to be photographed staring searchingly off into the distance. He loved photographers in general, and often brought them to his procedures, which were part surgery, part theater. He took “before” photos of patients, often women looking full of rage. My image might have been preserved forever, looking fearsome in a “before” picture, or later, lying on a gurney sedated by shock treatment. Freeman for all his grooming made a show of not washing his hands, not giving in to “that germ crap.” He flourished a cane and unsurprisingly lost a good number of patients. For a double lobotomy Freeman held a pick in each fist, thrusting them at the same time into both eyes.

We mad see visions of wars and devil’s castles. We mad could never have visioned what’s been done to the mad. Legal sterilization continued here until 1981, and still isn’t over or entirely off the books. My race would offer some protection, but my gender would be damning. Electroshock, which I did get, also went mostly to women. Further back in time hung the chains and whips normal before reformer Philippe Pinel, the madhouses that served as a Sunday amusement for the middle class. The bath of surprise, wet wraps and binding, spinning chairs that whirled patients into nauseous half consciousness. One imagined but not realized treatment, mentioned by a doctor named Blandford in an 1871 lecture, consisted of tossing patients from a tower into an underground cavern full of serpents. Blandford made his proposal sarcastically, but like all good sarcasm, it elbowed close to truth. Finding new ways to drop and shock patients was a medical growth stock.

The 1930s brought Cardiazol shock, which Buck described as “torturous.” A 2006 medical article said it wasn’t clear how it worked but “psychological mechanisms are considered, with the suggestion that the intense fear experienced during treatment—the major reason for abandoning Cardiazol in favor of electroshock—was therapeutically advantageous.” It felt, this doctor wrote, like a “thunderstorm in the brain.”

Have there always been some good treatments in psychiatry? Yes. Has there ever been a time when “fear” and “therapeutic” couldn’t appear in the same sentence in a major psychiatric journal? I don’t think so. Or even a time when it might seem questionable to follow the lead of a eugenicist in treating a population once slaughtered by eugenics.

Not to mention the genetic lesson of Germany, delivered at a terrible cost. Having wiped out much of its schizophrenic population and sterilized even more, Germany saw schizophrenia rates stay even. I have yet to convince any clinician that schizophrenia is not genetic with this fact. I’d guess this is due not just to the fact that it contradicts current thinking but that it’s delivered by a madwoman, who even with the evidence in her hand is the antithesis of a fact.

Throughout their history mad-doctors have explored the homeopathic concept of similia similibus curentur, which means “like can drive out like.” To cure madness, act mad. Mad-doctoring’s always had a tang of physician-heal-thyself. Philippe Pinel believed in addressing the deluded where they were, bowing before kings, acting out trials. In Pinel this was compassion, though it sounds like he enjoyed himself. It may be irresistible to participate in miracles, as much as it is to quash them. Surely there’s a stab at myth involved in imagining a fall into serpents.

It’s taken a little homeopathic madness in the doctors to create these cures. Pinel also said that given many medical practices, he didn’t know “whether the patient or his physician has the best claim to the appellation of madman.”

Our word “hallucination,” which means “perceiving something that doesn’t exist in the real world,” comes from the Latin “alucinari,” meaning “for the mind to wander.” Doctors have told this to me while slapping at an arm and then, looking at it thoughtfully, saying they thought they felt a mosquito. This perception of something that’s not there on the skin is so common it hardly seems worth talking about. Unless, I imagine, it’s the first time in your life you’ve seen someone pointlessly slapping at their arm.

I wrote in my two childhood diaries that I had psychic visions, that, for instance, I’d had a vision of the shooting of Robert Kennedy. At times I found what I called ESP to be a warm connection to my grandmother, who my mother said had it too. At other times, it terrified me—at one point I thought my ESP might come from the devil.

What would most people give to hear even a floor creak as a miracle? Or understand the world as brimful with miracle, glittering all around you? To live a life so full of miracle it begins to bore? Posing this question to myself feels easy, sentimental, impossible, and profound. A psychological answer would be that the perception is egocentric or solipsistic. A faith answer would be that God created this world and it is indeed all miracle and everyone of faith should experience it as such. I’ve heard the same from pulpits, though not from anyone who’d value a connection with madness.

One of Buck’s correspondents praised “the brightness that is felt in your book despite the terrible truths. And joy came up in me, a great understanding of the multifaceted nature of the human psyche.” I’ll rest in “multifaceted nature of the human psyche,” and concurrent joy.

I had a manic episode in college, around the time of my graduation. I swept across the stage in a rhinestone choker and a sequined black satin gown. When I returned to Oberlin years later, I ran into a teacher who told me, “You know, you were crazy back then.” I laughed a little. She said, “No, I mean really crazy. I don’t think you realize how crazy you were.” She leaned toward me, aggressive and almost angry. She worried I took the word in a light, cram-yourself-in-a-phone-booth, Animal House sort of way.

My craziness apparently had irked this woman, and the social contract seemed to be that I feel bad about it. Or explain that I’m no longer crazy, or something along those lines—account for myself, demonstrate that I shared her repulsion about crazy, even when it applies to myself. I wondered what she’d witnessed me doing. Of course, I knew then, as I’ve always known, that in the general run of things the word fits. And I was crazy then, in the old sense of the word that means “cracked,” unable to put the parts of myself together.

I had a friend who developed a brain tumor, and he told me he knew something was off when colors began “leaping out” at him. How, I wondered, is that not just what colors do? How have they ever not leaped? Imagine van Gogh simply recording the world like a photograph. I expect it’s a good thing I’ve never had a brain tumor.

I have visceral memories of double doors slamming shut, a thud of locks. The reference is to a psychiatric ward. These frighten me more than any psychotic states. Behind these doors I’ve lived assaults on mine and others’ bodies. The doors continue to frighten me, while my elevator has tamed itself, “played out,” as Buck would say.

In a diary I started at the age of ten, I wrote that I had two ways of being: A me and B me. A was the self I considered “normal.” The other was emotional, often in ways impossible to control—sometimes, I wrote, suddenly crying uncontrollably at the beauty of the world. B fell into Buck’s riverbeds and, like Schreber, found her nerves overcome. B often fled from the world of other humans.

As a child I saw myself only in that character of the “mad”—human nonsense, a cartoon joke who screams apocalypse, or a violent criminal. In fiction the disrupter of, or the threat to, the story until the better characters shut me down. At twelve I read Jane Eyre and discovered Bertha Mason, the madwoman locked in the attic of Jane’s lover’s house. Though Rochester’s victimhood at the hands of a mad wife is the crux of the novel, resolution comes when his lover Jane hallucinates. She hears Rochester’s voice calling her though they’re hundreds of miles apart. As Freud himself heard voices, as did Jung. Freud heard voices calling his name, once when alone in a foreign city. Jung had a full-blown psychotic episode, which he found rich in archetype and symbol.

Jung’s ideas about psychosis resonated with Dorothea Buck, though she had Jungian beliefs long before she knew Jung existed. Jung stressed the universal importance of the Unity of Four, a necessary union of key elements, from aspects of the psyche to the four cardinal points. Buck shouted “Unity of Four” again and again at nineteen, being carried through the stairs at Bethel. Freud’s and Jung’s status, their expertise about madness, served as an antidote, a sense of visiting the wilds and coming back as cartographer. As Jane’s love for Rochester rendered harmless her hallucination. They had consequential madnesses. My college gown had no such consequence.

As a child I sometimes felt myself pour into the world with a sense of wonder, and I once got so tranced a passing woman took me for blind and tried to stuff money into my soda can. When I turned my eyes to her, she backed away murmuring I thought she was blind I thought she was blind under her breath.

At one time I believed my mother poisoned my food and I tried not to eat. I still had no desire to change the way my brain and my moods—which I have always experienced as inextricably linked—operate. We all live the painful knowledge that life ends in death and death’s lead-up is generally unpleasant. To change how I live in the world by “cure” would be like managing that painful problem of death by going ahead and dying. It would manage things, in its way, but by eliminating the problem, eliminate everything.
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I was born in 1956 in Atlanta, three years before Buck’s last psychotic episode and not long before a prosecutor named Fritz Bauer began trying to bring Nazi doctors to justice. Of course, I didn’t know either of these things. Nor did my family have any connection to Atlanta. My father had a bookkeeping job there and my parents stayed in that city about a year and a half. Georgia was an outlandish place to be born of parents from Brooklyn and New Jersey, with accents so heavy that at first my Southern husband couldn’t always understand them. Like Buck, I struggled with my role in a family into which I seem to have been dropped in complete error.

My first conscious life happened later, in the city of Elizabeth in New Jersey, and in an apartment that overlooked a huge cemetery. My brother and I loved to play there. The graves never held fresh flowers, just bunched, wilted stalks that may have once been carnations or roses. I don’t know what happened in the time between the flowers’ arrival and their wilting; it seemed instantaneous. Some visitors left plastic flowers or ones made of a synthetic fiber like Dacron. The place had the unlikely name of the Evergreen. It held an old Jewish section, another large section for those who then got called “gypsies,” and the poet Stephen Crane. I wonder now if any of the Roma and Sinti people buried there had fled Germany.

There I lived a later chapter of the story beginning at places like Sonnenstein. My landlord had an Auschwitz tattoo, and other neighbors were Holocaust refugees. My aunt’s best friends, a couple, had also been held in Auschwitz and I played often with their daughter. I knew about the Holocaust from a very early age, early enough that I don’t remember a time when I didn’t know something terrible happened and it came from people killing masses of other people for no reason.

Once as my friend Marcie and I played in the vacant lot at the end of our row of apartments a few teenage boys approached. They teased or threatened us in an aggressive way I don’t recall. It was midday in the middle of a vacant lot surrounded by occupied apartment buildings; we were hardly at risk. Still, we hollered. And Marcie’s father was just there, as if his apartment had spat him out directly in front of us. He screamed with a ferocity I’ve never forgotten.

Two things were clear to me: Even under these circumstances he didn’t trust we, particularly his daughter, were safe, and he would have done anything to keep us safe. I sensed his instant response had been about death, though death seemed hardly likely. The boys ran and we went inside, wondering if we lived in a world more dangerous than we understood. Mr. Sudler worked for a drug company, a kind, quiet man. But this situation—aggressive boys, two little girls—brought out someone entirely different. It was a ferocity I saw in many of the Jewish parents I knew then.

My father reminded me recently that the man in the apartment behind us beat his wife. I don’t recall knowing what the sounds meant, but I heard it. My father was going to night school to get a degree in tax accounting, and my mother was overwhelmed. I didn’t believe the dead could rest in that place across the street—they infected whatever was alive around them. There were murders there and the cemetery was strictly off-limits to us kids, though we snuck over. Ghosts kept me up at night. I loved my world as a child. But it felt like the divide between the adult world and the world of children was a thin one and many bad things tried to cross.

My family like Buck’s considered me illogical. I had no analytic skills and no sense of caution in a family of unusually cautious people. My father called me at various times a sourpuss, an exaggerator, trouble, unfocused. He said daily, when I cried or laughed, that I was “giving an Academy Award performance.” I both cried and laughed very suddenly and wholeheartedly and couldn’t stop myself. I understood that my father loved me. I felt that, maybe like Buck’s father, he used these words less to make me feel bad or change my behavior than to find a definition that would stick.

I was born irreducible, like everyone, which is to say, I didn’t question myself or understand why anyone else would. I cried or laughed when I did because things seemed sad or funny. I don’t know whether these facts about my family informed my later psychosis, unlike Buck, who believed her family situation did.

But anyone would have found me strange, in ways I always intuited were taboo. Lurking in everyone around me was that old professor, who felt I owed her some kind of apology for being alive and crazy at the same time. I wrote plays, poems, and novels that I mostly no longer have, and wrote extravagantly in diaries, which I do. I understood me in a way reflective of Schreber’s abundance. Love is a wonderful thing, I wrote at age eleven, “and my B mood knows this.” I’m in a “heckuva B mood,” I wrote another day, and so “I feel like crying.” B’s crying isn’t situational crying but an outpouring of tears at the enormity of the world and all it holds, tears unanchored and unstoppable. It’s the crying my father found unbearable, and I still cry this way. I wept at the fact of love, the fact of death, beloved books, my cat, the sweet fat arm of one of my little cousins, once at a school trip at the words on the Statue of Liberty. I can imagine it looked like acting.

I made distinctions in my diary between who I was that day by using different versions of my name, Sue, Susanne, and Susie. Sue, I wrote, is reckless, kind, impulsive and fun-loving; Susanne writes, paints, photographs, dabbles in the occult, thinks. Susie is what I called a “mischievous imp.” I mixed these names up when I signed my diary, which I always did. Mine was a dialogic report. I ended this meditation on my names this way: “Am I, I wonder, schizophrenic?” That anyone would answer this question with yes now feels both absurd and probable.

Sometimes my diary was an entity named Cindy; she was myself and not myself—a mediating listener, a friend, a judge. One day I asked Cindy to tell me her favorite words. I had shared mine but wanted to know hers. Once I asked Cindy if I was getting too conceited. Cindy had her limits. I wrote at times that something awful had happened, but I couldn’t tell her. The withholding had nothing to do with fearing someone would read my diary, something that I never worried about.

I also had inside me a “Something” that “keeps kicking up and feeling rebellious and demanding something but I don’t know what it wants.” It couldn’t, I wrote, be satisfied. More selves crop up as I go through old papers—lately, on a visit home, I found a couple of poems signed by a Suki Paul. I have only a dim memory of this name. She seems to have liked rhyme.

My schizophrenia question came from a dim 1960s concept of the term, the old use of it as “split personality,” and my question was serious but not worried. Buck corrected this definition in the introduction to Morning Star: Schizophrenia brought unity, not division. I used my names with abandon. I wasn’t what mad-doctors call dissociated, my mind in disordered pieces working without coherence. I go back to what Buck wrote about her psychosis, that she never felt fragmented, but rather seized by certainties and connections. I never felt fragmented either. I didn’t call teary-joyful-me B or the serious-poet-me Suki or Susanne because I couldn’t reconcile them but because I didn’t want to reconcile them. I wanted to name the range and enormity of the way I experienced the world. It felt right: There was so much. This breadth needed to be housed sometimes in makeshift containers. I sensed whoever I was didn’t fit into one name because having just one name was the province of other people, to whom I could never tell any of this.

The earliest diary I have starts at age eleven and I wrote in it regularly until thirteen, when I got a little more erratic. I predicted the future, rifled books to find an amulet to protect myself from witches, heard God speak regularly through my tortoiseshell cat. I didn’t share any of these things that I can recall. I shifted regularly out of consensus reality in my diaries. What strikes me now reading my pages are the fluid shifts back. On the day I looked up witch’s amulets (oddly enough, in a World Book), I also wrote that the Chinese silver dollar I had was very pretty.

I had days of crushing misery I couldn’t explain. I had B days that gave me what I called my “good stomachache” or “love knot.” I did not separate these times from others in my life. Nonnormative things live in my pages along with a crush on a red-haired boy named Kevin, my first lipstick, a new “eyeshadow palet.” Wearing that weird late-1960s fashion, the paper dress.

My ability to keep my experiences together, think of them all as part of me, was balancing. Identifying qualities in myself kept them familiar. I had disturbing thoughts, some very much so. At one point I wrote that my father, mother, and brother were in a “hideous conspiracy” against me. I had the times of poisoning. I also believed the world might have been created and manipulated by a scientist from another planet. That the world we exist in might be a computer simulation is a concept that’s part of multiverse theory, the predominant theory of the cosmos now, which holds that any kind of world that can exist, must. All these things folded together into a rich and coherent life.

Even disturbing thoughts lacked the intensity they had later, when I believed they were part of some illness process I couldn’t stop. I didn’t have symptoms. I had a life.

My version of the Freeman before-and-after photos would be the self that existed before psychiatry and the one after, the chemodual I’ve had to scratch my way out of. The girl in a shock-treatment fog, with a loss of memory so profound it seemed a larger loss than my mother had with Alzheimer’s at the end of her life. My mother’s memory had twigs and branches to reach for, or even if not, she felt the absences. She knew that things must have happened, or must be about to happen, like dinner, though she’d forget I told her I’d bought food. I lived in fog, if you imagine a fog that limits everything you can know or guess to that cone of headlight directly in front of your car. Landscape, where you started, where you intend to go, all gone. My cognitive losses in math and spatial sense have never come back. I cannot multiply beyond eight times five. Even to do that, I have to stop and think.

As a child I wrote one day that I regularly lost contact with reality, didn’t know what was happening in my immediate world. I called it “daydreaming,” but I recall that feeling and it wasn’t the mental retreat the word signifies—everything around me disappeared. I can’t remember where I used to go. A few days later I wrote in my diary that I’d created for myself a daily “strict schedule,” with every minute accounted for. That way I hoped I would not get lost.

But I got lost, until I grew able to see it as just “elsewhere.” The Roman historian Sallust calls myth a thing that never happened but always was and always is. So is hallucination. Here is the psychosis paradox: I can hear in my mind that bell-like sound of chickadees saying six degrees anytime I want but can’t visualize the chickadees themselves, though I see my black-capped chickadees every day. I sense something small when I try to visualize them, in neurotypical remembering: a black-and-whiteness, a fan tail. I see black splotches emerge and I go about the business of trying to assign them to a small bird body. This is the normal work of memory, a splotchy and pin-the-tail-on-the-donkey kind of thing.

Then I google an image of the chickadees. Just how the birds are black-and-white surprises me. There’s black on the head—guessable, given their name—and under the chin. I had pictured black across their cheeks, but the cheeks are white, a white triangle incised across the black. Their bellies are white; memory filled them in with brown. Having looked at the image, I’ll forget all this again. But their words six degrees come perfect in pitch and pace and when I hear them again in the real world, they will be completely familiar.

I don’t remember much about Macon, Georgia, where I clattered in the tiny elevator, but I can summon up that contraption—be in it—at will. Dorothea Buck recorded the same experience: a clear and sense-saturated memory for the psychotic phases, far less than our memory for ordinary times.

The people I know who’ve experienced a death say the features of the person they loved fade away, bit by bit. Someday I’ll wish I’d had one bright hallucination of my own loved ones. Then I’d have them forever.

In some jottings from 2019 I wrote: Tiring, the untangling self-scrutiny. Did somebody speak just now? So loud? Did the sentence ever end? Did the start of it match the way it ended? Smile. It seems to have been you.

The world leaps out of your eyes, and speaks back. Until it doesn’t, as if a hand came muting. You’re relieved. You miss it. It’s safe now. Silent. The unitary I returns, hacked from its passage through the world. Maybe you don’t want it again.

Buck said psychosis left her because she “didn’t need it anymore,” though when Alexandra Pohlmeier filmed her, she said, “I almost regret being so normal now.” Then she shook her head in her pixie-ish, Buddhistic way, almost naughtily.
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God Is Totally Incapable

The Euthanasia Trials
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Now four doctors are indicted in 1965. Dr. Storm is taken from a patient’s room in his medical office. Dr. Bath says, I cannot check in with the police once a week! I am a doctor! In the courtroom Dr. Storm waves letters. See how they love me! he yells. The mayor! My gym! Even the man at the bank loves me! They tell you I’m a “highly esteemed, respected, and honorable man.”

A judge says not guilty. The audience leaps to its feet, clapping and cheering.

This is not Buck. The above flight of absurdity comes from me. My carnival joke is that I, like Buck, transcribe. The above scenario is an accurate history and not a flight of farce. Sonnenstein’s Dr. Kurt Borm (pseudonym Dr. Storm) and Dr. Klaus Endruweit (pseudonym Dr. Bader or Bath) were charged with murder in 1965 along with two other T4 doctors, Aquilin Ullrich of Brandenburg and Heinrich Bunke of Grafeneck.

These were the trials Sonnenstein memorial director Hagen described to me, in a massive piece of understatement, as “unsatisfactory.” This was more a reflection on Hagen’s English than his heart. Thomas Schilter, whose high school paper led to the recognition of the Sonnenstein murders, called Borm’s and Endruweit’s the most “scandalous” of all the euthanasia trials. These trials did result in one death, but that of the prosecutor and not the defendants.

When indicted, all four still practiced medicine—Sonnenstein’s Endruweit and Borm in general medicine, and Ullrich and Bunke in gynecology. They were charged together, though Borm faced more counts. He’d procured drugs for the asylums in addition to serving the gassing operations and, after T4, killed prisoners and aided Aktion Brandt. Before T4, Borm had been a troop doctor with various Nazi units and traveled with the Death’s Head Corps of the SS.

Post-Nitsche Sonnenstein director Horst Schumann said after the war, “Dr. Endruweit would describe himself as closed, reserved, shy and insecure. Borm gave me the impression of a soldier type.” Photos of Borm from the asylum archives reflect that—lips set, jaw clenched, even the round black glasses soldierly. Bunke once served at Bernburg, where he played handball against Sonnenstein. A Sonnenstein cremator recalled Bunke getting quite upset about foul balls.

Prosecutors asked to try Borm with the other three, tacking on his additional charges. The court refused, and preliminary statements by Borm got dropped from his case, as did evidence entered in the first arraignment. So Endruweit, Ullrich, and Bunke were tried together sans Borm, in 1967, two years after their arrest. They were longtime friends and, by coincidence, all sons of teachers. Endruweit and Borm became close while working together at Sonnenstein, taking long walks together. Endruweit’s father ran a school for deaf-mutes, an irony I’d guess was lost on him. Though most victims were neuropsychiatric, Tötungsanstalts occasionally received the physically disabled. Endruweit could have killed as an adult someone he’d played with as a child. All three defendants used Binding and Hoche’s Permitting the Destruction of Life Unworthy of Life as part of their defense.

Endruweit, Ullrich, and Bunke were in their late twenties when they joined T4. Borm was thirty-one. Ullrich brought his friend Endruweit into the program by recommending him to Werner Heyde, the doctor who would step down and turn the program over to Nitsche. Heyde sent Endruweit to Sonnenstein to replace Ewald Worthmann, the doctor who’d been sickened by the program and left. Director Horst Schumann was traveling, and Borm, who served as deputy in his absence, briefed Endruweit. Endruweit claimed to have hesitations, but apparently overcame them; he stayed until late fall of 1941.

A 1967 photo of the three defendants standing outside a courtroom with their wives shows men from the Widmann mold. Bureaucrats with dark suits, thinning hair, bland and annoyed faces: men who would have confounded Nuremberg’s Douglas Kelley.

These unpopular euthanasia trials were convened by an unpopular gay Jewish lawyer named Fritz Bauer. Bauer returned to Germany after fleeing two different countries, in each of which he’d been in an internment camp. Most Jews who left the Reich didn’t return. Bauer, who chain-smoked and looked a bit like a disillusioned Einstein, came back to convict Nazis. Bauer was appointed attorney general of the state of Hesse, working out of its largest city, Frankfurt.

Bauer is one of those figures so extraordinary all I can do as a writer is tell his story and try to get out of its way. Before the war Bauer was a distinguished jurist whose anti-Nazi politics got him sent to a concentration camp called Heuberg. As a political prisoner, Bauer faced vicious abuse, forced to squat for hours, having his head smashed into a wall. To get out he recanted his political beliefs, an act that haunted him for the rest of his life. Bauer fled Germany for Denmark in 1936. When the Nazis arrived Bauer was interned again, in an island prison camp. He was released, and when Germans began deporting Danish Jews, he fled to Sweden with the help of a fisherman.

In 1949, when Bauer returned to Germany, few Nazis from any program had been punished. Fewer faced significant punishment. West Germany’s postwar chancellor, Konrad Adenauer, issued amnesties and statutes of limitation that protected most of the guilty from trial. He commuted many sentences imposed by the Allies and Soviets, including sentences from the Nuremberg trials. Hundreds of thousands, and maybe as many as a million, Germans were at some point involved in the killing operations, per historian Mary Fulbrook. Between 1946 and 2005, German prosecutors brought charges related to Nazi crimes against just 140,000, and fewer than 7,000 were convicted. Fewer than 200 received murder convictions. Even weak sentences meted out by German courts often got commuted.

Chancellor Adenauer chose for his chief of staff one Hans Globke. A lawyer, Globke had helped shape Germany’s anti-Jewish race laws, including the Nuremberg race laws. Fritz Bauer launched a probe against Globke but it was largely performative—Adenauer shielded him from prosecution. He also returned many Nazi-leaning judges to the bench. Adenauer once said you cannot throw out the dirty water until you have enough of the clean.

To tell the story of the “unsatisfactory” trials of T4 doctors Borm, Endruweit, Ullrich, and Bunke, I have to talk about other trials first. Fritz Bauer’s first major victory—and it’s major enough for a thousand people to live with wreaths and medals—was bringing about the 1960 arrest and trial of Nazi Adolf Eichmann. Eichmann had been the Nazi government’s head of the “Jewish problem” and main implementer of the Final Solution, the man responsible for identifying Jews and transporting them to the camps. Eichmann escaped the Allies and, like many Nazis, fled to Argentina. That country held the odd position of accepting Nazis fleeing justice along with many Jews fleeing those Nazis. It had little extradition for the former and loose immigration policies for the latter.

Like many postwar Nazis’ stories, Eichmann’s reads like bad fiction. His son Klaus began dating the daughter of a Jewish refugee and bragged to her about his Nazi father. The father knew of Bauer and sent him Eichmann’s location and pseudonym, Ricardo Klement. Bauer gave the information to the Israelis and not to Germany—he didn’t trust German authorities to act. Even the Israelis dragged their feet. The newish state needed strong international relations, not angry foreign powers. Israel’s Mossad finally abducted Eichmann and flew him on El Al, disguised as a flight attendant, to stand trial in Jerusalem. Diplomats patched things up with a miffed Argentina. Bauer’s role in Eichmann’s arrest, and his persistence in securing it, went unknown for a long time. They had to. By bypassing his government, Bauer committed treason.

The 1961 Eichmann trial was televised—a new concept—and followed around the world. It feels in many ways like a second Nuremberg: Much of what we know now about Nazi crimes we know because of it. So many leading Nazis killed themselves or vanished, so many documents got destroyed. Eichmann prosecutors kept charges broad, transcending individual acts to put the Holocaust itself on trial. The prosecutors aimed to break open the entire apparatus of Nazi killing.

Eichmann went through months of interrogation and left behind hundreds of hours of tapes. A small man in thick glasses, swallowed up in the dock by a too-large suit, Eichmann talked volubly about things like train schedules. One investigator said he couldn’t believe the lives of millions had been lost to such a “nerd.” Eichmann pled not guilty and argued he’d just acted as a good bureaucrat, inspiring Hannah Arendt’s phrase “the banality of evil.” More than one hundred witnesses testified at the trial, most of them survivors. Eichmann’s testimony even implicated Chancellor Adenauer’s Hans Globke in the deportation of Greek Jews. Before the trial, most English speakers would not have known or used the term “Holocaust.” Afterward, few wouldn’t. As Eichmann unpacked the development of the Final Solution, he talked about other Nazi death programs, including euthanasia. Buck learned about Aktion T4 and the other euthanasia actions through the Eichmann trial.

In 1963, two years after the trial of Eichmann, Bauer began his first major Holocaust prosecution in Germany, the German Auschwitz trials. The first Auschwitz trials had taken place in 1947 in Poland. Twenty-four of forty-one defendants received death sentences, including Commandant Rudolf Höss. All but one got significant prison time. Punishment acknowledged the victims. German prisoners of war had to build the gallows in front of Gas Chamber #1 on the Auschwitz grounds. Those who’d operated that gas chamber, including Höss, died there by hanging.

I don’t know whether Bauer believed the Eichmann trial would help inspire similar trials in Germany. I would have, but I’m not a disillusioned Einstein. About two-thirds of the population in the Hesse region opposed the Auschwitz trials, which charged leading Auschwitz figures who hadn’t been tried in Poland. So did the country. Bauer became the “most loathed prosecutor” in West Germany; he got nightly calls saying “Die, Jewish pig” and several times left his apartment building to find it covered in swastikas. Two young fascists were arrested for plotting his murder. Bauer said, “When I leave my study, I am in enemy territory.”

Bauer held the Auschwitz trials in the auditorium of a large theater. He wanted public attention, and he wanted the court to consider accessory charges for anyone involved in the operation. The problems for the victims didn’t begin at Auschwitz, he said—people had to get them there. To get convictions, Bauer had to prove individual bad acts. This restriction would also hamper the euthanasia trials. Out of twenty-two Auschwitz officers tried, only eighteen were convicted, most getting light sentences between five and ten years.

Bauer asked the Israelis to bring Eichmann to Germany, to stand trial in his native country with Bauer as prosecutor. The Israelis said no. Through Eichmann, though, Bauer found another Nazi horror. He believed he could use this one to try again to create a German equivalent for the Eichmann proceedings: a very public trial, with documents and photos, witnesses, hours of interrogation, used to break open a vast and undeniable network of Nazi crimes. This network was euthanasia, particularly T4—a horror in itself, and an essential piece of the larger narrative of mass death. Bauer’s office did exhaustive investigating, with little cooperation from anyone outside their office. They found records and witnesses, retrieved letters and transport lists from the dusty file drawers where they last saw use. Bauer finally arrived at eighty-four thousand pages of evidence regarding the euthanasia operations.

Bauer targeted the painfully-easy-to-find former head of T4 operations, closeted doctor Werner Heyde. He charged Heyde with the murder of one hundred thousand people. Heyde continued doctoring after the war, living under the name Fritz Sawade in Schleswig-Holstein. For many his identity was an open secret. Pursuers distributed fliers throughout the region with his photo and the phrase “probably acting as a doctor.” It’s unlikely Heyde’s peace would have been disturbed without a professional quarrel. Heyde/Sawade, the person who voted yes on the sanity of the man who formed the concentration camp system, offered psychiatric opinions for court cases. A doctor who disagreed with him got annoyed and blew his cover. At that point Heyde had given more than six thousand forensic opinions.

Bauer’s indictment itself ran over eight hundred pages. It sits on my desk, rivaling my dictionary in bulk. Heyde’s trial was convened in a courtroom in Limburg, five miles from the killing center of Hadamar. It was winter of 1964. The Beatles, in another testimony to the power of television, had just appeared on The Ed Sullivan Show and headed out on their first world tour. Der Spiegel reported that the Heyde trial might prove to be “the most spectacular [trial] . . . in German judicial history.”

Heyde was the lead defendant, but Bauer charged others, to be tried along with Heyde: Friedrich Tillmann, who ran office operations at 4 Tiergartenstrasse; Dr. Gerhard Bohne, who’d briefly headed the program before Heyde; and the least important, Hans Hefelmann, who ran an office in Hitler’s chancellery.

Bauer probably blessed the fact that the Israelis kept Eichmann in Israel. Heyde committed suicide in jail a few days before the trial. He hung himself with a belt he’d been allowed to keep because, as his jailers reported, he “wasn’t wearing suspenders.” Tillmann died a few days before that, falling out of an eighth-story window, his jacket stuffed down a toilet. Bohne had the summer before the trial suddenly decamped to South America. He would eventually be extradited, only to be declared too sick to prosecute. Only Hefelmann, who had little direct knowledge of the program, remained. Bauer said many involved had had “a tacit agreement” that these trials would never take place. A discouraged Der Spiegel wrote, “Because of Heyde’s death, it will probably never be proven before a German tribunal that Hitler’s act of mercy killing was criminal mass murder.” As Andreas Hechler, grandson of a victim, wrote, most Germans still didn’t consider euthanasia doctors guilty.

Buck began destroying typewriters.

For any justice, Germans had to consider euthanasia doctors guilty. Allied forces decided to let German-on-German crimes be tried domestically, in German courts. Not all prosecutors liked this decision, but no country wanted to create the precedent of an invading force trying domestic crimes. During the occupation, between 1945 and 1952, only 5 percent of Nazi trials in West Germany involved euthanasia. These few dealt with foreign nationals, like exhausted workers who’d been sent to the killing centers from the East.

In Germany guilt for murder rests heavily on personal malice and premeditation, so most defendants had to be charged with manslaughter, or aiding and abetting. Adenauer’s statutes of limitation curbed these charges. A stipulation added to a 1968 law dealing with regulatory rules, kind of like a U.S. earmark, stated that no accessory to murder could get a stiffer sentence than the person who’d ranked above them. And that unless prosecutors could expect a significant sentence, they could not file charges at all.

As Germany moved into the postwar years, many Nazi judges were quietly reinstated on the bench. Lawyers had to become their own detectives. Bauer told a prosecutor who worked under him in Frankfurt that he could not rely on the police to aid investigations—he had only a secret “confidant” to go to within the force. In the process of assembling his eighty thousand pages, Bauer’s work on Heyde exposed doctors like Ullrich and Bunke, and Sonnenstein doctors Borm and Endruweit. Many physicians who’d been living openly and still practicing were brought up on charges. None of these trials would come close to what Bauer hoped for with the Heyde action. But his office continued to prosecute.

What is the opposite of a kangaroo court? A kangaroo court is a nonjudicial “court” thrown together to convict. These real courts and real judges seemed thrown together to acquit. Defense attorneys put on repeat defenses that worked. The “collision of duties” defense held that defendants stayed in their jobs only to lessen the crime. When defense attorneys showed that their clients had spared a tiny fraction of those transported to killing centers, they received acquittals. This was true though prosecutors made it clear all the killing centers spared a fraction of the selected—a patient might, for example, seem able to work after all. Or maybe someone found the disoriented person’s glasses.

Defense attorneys argued deaths were “compassionate,” though witness testimony refuted that. One asylum worker testified that as the program went on, a hundred or more people might be shoved into a small chamber (some were larger than Sonnenstein’s, none were large). These victims died only after a long and agonizing period. Another witness said a glimpse through a viewing window led to vomiting and a life of nightmares. By the 1960s defendants were in late middle age, or older. The plea of poor health also brought acquittal after acquittal, though almost all so acquitted lived normal lives and returned to medical practice.

I quoted earlier in the book a Hamburg court offering the argument that “even in classical antiquity the elimination of life unworthy of life was a complete matter of course.” Other judges quoted similar sources, bringing in figures like Plato. It was a way around the actual German homicide laws, which didn’t allow any murder to be “a matter of course.” One court wrote, “The transition from one group of inferior beings to another is obvious enough to call into remembrance here the doctrine of the authorized killing of monstrosities.”

One T4 court praised a defendant’s care in selecting coffins. Another applauded the “humanity” of the condolence letters.

I read an interview in the journal Kritische Justiz, or Critical Justice, with Johannes Warlo, a brilliant and sardonic lawyer who worked under Bauer. In one case, Warlo said, a protected statement given to a judge about a witness was copied and sent to the defense. One day the diary and transport lists of Irmfried Eberl, a doctor who served at Brandenburg and Bernburg and became the first commandant of Treblinka, disappeared from the files.

Hans Hefelmann’s case was dropped when he pleaded a liver ailment. A furious Warlo brought the court records to the German equivalent of the Department of Motor Vehicles. He demanded that at the very least, Hefelmann’s driver’s license be revoked.

“If the man is so ill,” Warlo told the licensors, he cannot be “let loose” on the road. Hefelmann lived another twenty years, dying at seventy-seven, the average age of mortality for a male at that time. Whether he got his lost driver’s license “commuted” I do not know. I would suspect yes.

So, to return to the place I started—the start of this chapter and the motivation for Buck’s play—T4 doctors Endruweit, Ullrich, Bunke, and Borm finally faced trial. They had every reason to expect sympathy from the court. Bunke, the irritable handball player, refused to use the terms “gas chamber,” “murder,” or even “euthanasia.” He called the chamber the “shower room,” and the gassing “putting them to sleep.” In this practice Bunke exceeded his own lawyers.

What’s notable in these trials is what the defense did not do: No one disputed the facts of the charges. All admitted their participation and accepted the victim numbers, which were in the thousands. All affirmed they understood Germany’s homicide laws.

The defense often amounted to parsing, like leading to the gas chamber versus turning on the gas, and reinterpretation, even remythologizing. Bunke and Endruweit called the killing of the children a form of “salvation.” Endruweit claimed to have believed each victim was terminally ill. Ullrich’s lawyer submitted that his client was “animated with excessive enthusiasm by the thought of having to help people.”

Endruweit had legal help from outside the courtroom. A municipal group from his city threatened to prosecute the court itself if Endruweit’s patients went without care.

Mostly, the courts, which consisted of a panel of judges, did the work of the defense. I picture defendants’ lawyers filing nails and staring out windows. If smartphones existed then, the defense would have been scrolling. Courts expounded the history of mercy killing. Prosecutors argued that the strict secrecy of the program should have tipped off doctors that it wasn’t legal. The court answered that this was just natural wartime secrecy. The courts ruled defendants’ actions were less criminal because T4 victims were “without a natural will to live.” Though again, witnesses, describing scenes of victims forced into the chambers, refuted this.

Whatever charges prosecutors threw at them, the court found defendants who were submissive, ignorant, or compassionate. Bunke, Endruweit, and Ullrich were the first T4 defendants in which the judges themselves would invoke all three arguments. Before their attorneys did.

When the “not guilty” verdicts for Endruweit, Bunke, and Ullrich were read aloud, spectators clapped furiously and cheered. Warlo responded to the journal’s question about one trial’s low attendance by saying, “At least there were no people left to clap.”

Bauer, who led the prosecutions, lived to see these verdicts. The defendants would be retried, to little more effect, but Bauer didn’t see that. He died in 1968, found drowned in his bathtub with barbiturates in his system. Like Hitler’s niece and lover Geli Raubal’s, Bauer’s story ends with a question mark. Friends described him as despairing about his work and these verdicts, and someone who took barbiturates to sleep. On the other hand, many people wanted him dead.

These doctors had no way of knowing this act (they signed an oath never to talk about it) wasn’t (they used pseudonyms) legal! These patients with no will to live must be handed towels and promised a soft bed after! The play writes itself.

This is me.

After the war Sonnenstein’s former director Horst Schumann, who had moved on to sterilization experiments at Auschwitz, doctored peacefully for six years in Gladbeck, Germany. Recognized by an Auschwitz survivor, he fled to Africa. For years a Ghanaian dictator protected Schumann, but the dictator’s fall led to Schumann’s extradition.

Ghana deported Schumann back to Germany in 1966. Schumann didn’t face trial until September of 1970, when he used his skills as a doctor to drive up his blood pressure. He also swallowed his own blood to produce bloody vomit. Medical reports for the court described him waking up several times a night to pee, which would exonerate many of us over fifty from murder charges. Some of these medical reports were written by former colleagues. Schumann was released in July of 1972 as too ill for prosecution. He lived another eleven years, dying at seventy-seven, also reaching expected mortality for a man at that time.

Schumann was charged with killing thirty thousand, most of whom died not in T4 but through his sterilization experiments in concentration camps. He admitted he may have been responsible for the deaths of tens of thousands more, saying, “I have no numbers.”

A solo Kurt Borm stood trial, after many delays, in 1972. He faced charges of some 4,700 deaths at Sonnenstein and Bernburg, and through his work as a T4 evaluator. At the time Borm served as head physician of a hospital in the city of Uetersen. Uetersen lies in Schleswig-Holstein where Heyde and other Nazi doctors lived after the war. Der Spiegel calls out this region—in a grueling interview with its minister of justice—for its support of former Nazis, or “brown patronage.” Soldierly Borm came to trial with statements of support and praise of his value from his sports club, his church, his bank, and, incredibly, the mayor.

Der Spiegel called the acquittal “absurd,” as thousands of “naked mentally ill people paraded past Borm . . . into the gas chamber disguised as a ‘shower room,’ ” a manner of killing Borm claimed had nothing “insidious” about it. Working against him—though ultimately it didn’t matter—was Borm’s old boss. Borm claimed he never turned the tap. Schumann said that during his many absences Borm headed the institution, so of course he had. The court described Borm as “an obviously uncomplicated type, who is not inclined to engage in profound considerations regarding the orders or instructions given to him, or to straining his conscience to find out if these could possibly be illegal.” They cited his early exposure to Nazi propaganda.

The court found Borm innocent, due to “lack of consciousness” of guilt. Johannes Warlo pointed out that under this logic, criminals without a conscience would always be freed. A group of German intellectuals wrote an open letter of protest about the outcome of Borm’s trial. One was the Nobel Prize–winning author Günter Grass. Grass was the second man on the hit list of the young fascists who had, several years before, been planning to kill Bauer.

A German-Jewish prosecutor named Robert Kempner also wrote a letter of protest over the Borm verdict. The letter reminds me of Buck’s play—both surreal and too real, even more disturbing in that it’s both. Kempner assisted the Allies and Soviets at Nuremberg, and one of his jobs was to write a posthumous indictment of Hitler. In doing so he considered Hitler’s possible defenses. In his protest letter Kempner speaks as Hitler testifying in his own defense, using the reasoning and language of the Borm acquittal.

“I was and am a dyed-in-the-wool National Socialist,” Kempner’s Hitler testifies, “nurtured by the Houston Stewart Chamberlains [an earlier race scientist/eugenicist] and the propagandists of a German master race. I had to clear the living space for them by destroying the subhumans. I lacked any awareness of injustice. Therefore I should be acquitted, and with even more justification than in the case of the ‘euthanasia’ doctor.” Kempner’s Hitler says, “Dr. Kurt Borm happened.”

Kempner concluded, “The undersigned prosecutor now faces sleepless nights.”

I don’t know of any doctors convicted only on the charge of evaluating T4 questionnaires. This is so even though scrawling the red cross on a Meldebogen meant giving orders to kill someone, orders that once given would shape someone else’s defense: that of following orders. It was legally safer to have killed based on someone else’s decision but does not seem terribly perilous to have been the decision-maker. Nazis structured killing so most personnel did just one piece of it; those who led victims in, or took bodies out, who did paperwork or ran the crematoria, did just this job.

German courts can strike down lower courts’ decisions even after time has passed. In 1970 the German supreme court recharged Endruweit, Bunke, and Ullrich. All three were found physically unfit to stand trial, though none had to relinquish their medical licenses. Yet another performative trial took place in 1986, just of Ullrich and Bunke. Ullrich claimed to be terminally ill, though he ran a practice and worked at a clinic. In respect of the defendants’ “ill health,” the court met only once a week for three hours. If the defendants “just hear the word ‘murder,’ ” the lawyer for a co-plaintiff said sarcastically, “then they will collapse.”

Kurt Borm appeared as a defense witness. No one resisted their deaths at the asylums, he testified: All were so mentally ill they babbled and didn’t comprehend their surroundings. At least at this trial Borm played to a very different audience. Several citizens were allowed to serve as co-accusers, because they lost their mother in a gas chamber. Journalist Ernst Klee wrote in the paper Die Zeit that a packed audience, including many of the disabled, listened to Borm “in disbelief and impotent anger.”

Bunke and Ullrich were finally convicted of having been accessories to the murder of, respectively, 11,000 and 4,500 humans. For this they received the minimum sentence of four years. A year later the federal court of appeal reduced victim numbers to a bit over 9,000 in Bunke’s case and a bit over 2,000 in Ullrich’s. The victim reduction lowered jail time to three years. Bunke served only eighteen months.

Endruweit was charged again in 1986 with complicity in 2,200 deaths but ultimately never retried. When he died in 1994, the Medical Association of Lower Saxony published an obituary, which read in part “We will honor and remember him.” Paul Schreber wrote, early in the Memoirs, “God is totally incapable of judging a living human being correctly, as He was accustomed to dealing only with corpses.”
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How Shall We Know Them

The DSM–III and the Rosenhan Experiments
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IN 1969, A MAN NAMED DAVID ROSENHAN DROVE HIMSELF TO A PSYCHIATRIC HOSpital. Fritz Bauer had just died and Ullrich, Endruweit, and Bunke had had two years of heavily applauded freedom. Rosenhan called himself David Lurie. I hear, he told the doctor, voices. Said voices may have been the attending doctor’s least interesting of all time: male, unfamiliar, they said only “hollow,” “empty,” and “thud.” Rosenhan described his life honestly, besides the voices: thirty-nine, professional, happily married, with two children. He left out the fact that he taught psychology and law. Nor did he wear his usual suit or hipster turtleneck, or, as he does in photos, clench a pipe. He let himself go for a few days, grew a bit of beard, wore his grimy gardening shoes.

Rosenhan, a psychologist, had a massive forehead that domed into a bald head, fringed along the side. He counted an R. D. Laing lecture as one reason he wanted to see if sanity rather than its opposite could be diagnosed. Laing was a Scots psychiatrist turned anti-psychiatrist who’d set up a house for psychotics called Kingsley Hall, in London’s West End. He believed, like Buck, that experiencers should live out their psychoses. Kingsley Hall had little structure, and all kinds of people came and went, some just for free meals. It even had drop-ins from celebrities like fellow Scot Sean Connery. Laing, intense and handsome, was a celebrity himself. His book The Divided Self: An Existential Study in Sanity and Madness had taken off in the 1960s and lines for his book signings stretched into the street. Rosenhan wasn’t an anti-psychiatrist, but Laing’s ideas about the uselessness of diagnostic language resonated with him. Rosenhan drew the words he claimed to hear from existentialism, the nihilistic and then-vogue philosophy coming from thinkers like Jean-Paul Sartre.

Rosenhan hoped that the three words he claimed to hear would suggest an absence of meaning, an empty life. Dorothea Buck or Paul Schreber might have taken the hint, but the people at Haverford State Hospital did not. Rosenhan made of himself what he’d later call a “pseudopatient.” In 1986, two journalists named Uwe Heitkamp and Michael Herl infiltrated the nightmare called Gütersloh, where Buck was once hospitalized. Possibly the Rosenhan case inspired them. Rosenhan’s hospital visit was the start of the experiment that psychiatrist Robert Spitzer called “a sword plunged into the heart of psychiatry.”

Rosenhan, with his nod toward existential distress, played against the neo-Kraepelinians, who embraced their namesake’s biological thought before Gerald Klerman coined their label in 1978. Washington University housed the largest number of the neo-Kraepelinians, including the doctor who said that “there could be no such thing as a psychiatry that was too biological,” Samuel Guze. The men hung an image of Sigmund Freud over their urinal.

The neo-Kraepelinians, like their namesake, needed not just disease names and symptom lists but diagnostic processes, ones that could theoretically be used by any trained doctor. No Gray’s Anatomy existed for the brain. The American Psychiatric Association strongly backed the group, trying to regroup from the decade’s onslaughts. Kraepelinian thinking would make mountains of cash for the sanity-industrial complex, with drugs correlated with biological disorders. Insurance companies loved it.

Biological psychiatry also addressed problems raised by the Rosenhan experiment. This fact wasn’t incidental. To move matters forward, the neo-Kraepelinians lit on a somewhat obscure 130-page spiral-bound booklet, primarily used in asylums. This booklet was called the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, or DSM. That DSM, which at the time had undergone one minor revision, had twenty-two disease categories, including conditions caused by physical events like head trauma. It referenced psychological factors, like family.

Robert Spitzer led the neo-K’s overhaul, which created an entirely new work, the DSM–III. This book had fine binding and 265 disease categories, along with insurance love and Kraepelin’s theoretical blessing. When clinicians use the term “DSM” they mean the book that began as the III and has had two subsequent revisions. The book blessed Guze’s premise that no psychiatry could be too biological.

Released in 1980, the DSM–III mostly deleted the psychological. Its lengthy disorder list had choose-your-own-adventure symptoms (like “any three of the following seven”), onsets, prognoses, and disease courses. Some symptoms hardly seem symptom-y, like working with increased focus toward a goal, included under hypomania. Some symptoms concern social beliefs and behaviors and counting them as illness would take knowledge transcending a checklist. I wonder how believing your spouse is cheating, listed for schizophrenia, has worked as a criterion when so many women get forced into treatment by abusive spouses.

Reading through the DSM, I cannot think of a single person who couldn’t be diagnosed with a major disorder and put on antipsychotics. Disease courses make mental states seem more medical. But they fly in the face of actual research, which finds much more varied outcomes than the DSM indicates. And they fly in the face of the infinite variety of mental difference Thomas Bock described as one of the joys of running the psychosis seminars.

In 1984, neo-Kraepelinian Nancy Andreasen published The Broken Brain: The Biological Revolution in Psychiatry. Andreasen, a “neuro-psychiatrist” interested in brain function, had become something of a spokesperson for the movement. The Broken Brain was written for a general audience and sold well, even with a title that sounds both stigmatizing and a tad hysterical. The book explains that mental illness is mostly biological, due to defective structures and processes in the brain, particularly neurotransmitters. Neurotransmitters are chemicals released by neurons that interact with other cells, and this focus led to decades of “chemical imbalance” theories, the best known linking depression and serotonin. With this knowledge, Andreasen wrote, disturbed minds could be treated like any other diseased organ.

The Broken Brain is a mix of genuine discussions of stigma and statements that sound like Kraepelin without Kraepelin’s stiff diction: Andreasen suggests criminality and “antisocial personality” constitute brain malfunctions. She also writes that mental distress, while it can be “sometimes triggered by unfortunate life events, the basic causes lie in the biology of the brain.” Practicing on this new biological model, Andreasen promised, would mean much less time to diagnosis—“the fifteen-minute appointment replaces the fifty-minute hour.” A system that allows for the doctor I mentioned earlier in the book, with five or six hundred patients.

That patient load equals the population of a small island, Lummi Island, which lies a ten-minute ferry ride from my former home. Walking around Lummi I saw cars and beaches and streets and paths full of people. Many people, especially given that most remain invisible in their houses. I try to imagine seeing each one so frequently I could safely change how their brain functions, how their consciousness shapes itself. Flinging pills at the drivers that wave and pass slowly, an island etiquette.

Robert Spitzer, who headed the DSM–III task force, admitted he felt uncomfortable around others’ emotions. He tried to create a computer program that could do psychiatric assessment, called DIAGNO, which ultimately failed. What he did create is, and I believe he would have admitted it, the next best thing. The DSM–III tries for an almost machine-like consistency. The III got heavily promoted for private practice and soon became standard in any psychiatrist’s office, or any medical doctor who treats psychiatric patients—general practitioners prescribe most antidepressants in this country. Insurance companies realized the financial value of brief visits that mostly settled on a diagnosis. They began requiring DSM codes for reimbursement.

The neo-Kraepelinian drive to take the human out of diagnosis also led to far more use of diagnostic scales in many medical practices, checklists of symptoms with numerical or “always”-to-“never” type rankings. Many scales, like the Hamilton Depression Scale, come with interview questions for the clinician to use in conducting an evaluation. Pearson Clinical Assessment, the largest company producing these scales, earned $4.5 billion in 2023. No hard figures exist on how many diagnoses come from patients filling out scales, but most prescriptions get written after some form of scaled screening. Popular scales include the Hamilton (HAM-D), the Mood Disorder Questionnaire, and the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale. Many psychiatric office visits use scales too, as mine did. There’s growing pressure on general practitioners to add depression and anxiety scales to annual checkups. Psychiatric trials, for drugs or other treatments like shock or ketamine, rely on scores like the HAM-D to decide if the procedure succeeded or failed.

The creation of the DSM–III got a level of attention you’d think would have bothered the awkward Spitzer, who resembled the actor Mickey Rooney. And a level that shows how thirsty for it or something like it the field had become. Spitzer’s wife, Janet, remembers Robert being treated “like a rock star,” getting large speaking fees, dressing his toddler son Noah in a DSM T-shirt.

One argument for the disease model of the III was stigma reduction—the language of “a disease like any other.” Patients would take medication as if it were insulin or blood thinner. The problem is that once you declare someone sick, you get to say they can never be healthy. You get to do almost anything to try to fix them, and if that doesn’t work, write them off. Kraepelin created his classifications to allow for just these distinctions. Into this paradox comes Rosenhan.

Rosenhan and One Flew over the Cuckoo’s Nest; One Flew over the Cuckoo’s Nest (movie, not book) and Rosenhan. Jack Nicholson getting anesthesia-less shock treatment while lashed into restraints, bucking and spasming. His final lobotomized shuffle. Ken Kesey based his novel on a psychiatric wing where he’d worked. He described the monstrous Nurse Ratched, who had Nicholson’s character lobotomized, as a real nurse.

Nicholson’s character McMurphy, like Rosenhan, faked madness and got himself committed, rather than being sent to a work farm. There are pseudopatients within pseudopatients here. After his stay, Rosenhan recruited seven more people to play pseudopatients, gathering them, he said later, from a conference dinner. They were a graduate student, two psychologists, a pediatrician, a psychiatrist, a painter, a housewife, and Rosenhan. Five were male; three female. One would be dropped for, according to Rosenhan, falsifying too much of his story.

The pseudopatients went to twelve hospitals in five states, some private, some public. All modeled their intake on Rosenhan’s, reporting voices that said “empty,” “hollow,” and “thud.” All discussed, as Rosenhan put it, their lives’ “frustrations and upsets,” but also their “joys and satisfactions.” Freud said the ultimate test of a healthy human was their capacity for love and work. The pseudopatients presented as well in the Freudian sense, rich in both. All but one, labeled manic-depressive, were diagnosed with schizophrenia. They stayed an average of nineteen days, though as soon as the pseudopatients got settled, they said they felt fine.

Rosenhan’s paper on this experiment, “On Being Sane in Insane Places,” came out in über-journal Science in 1972. The paper begins, “If sanity and insanity exist, how shall we know them?” Could clinicians, symptom lists in front of them, really agree? Could they find any clear difference between sick and well? Maybe most profound, could clinicians look at a healthy, functioning person, and just send them home? In Rosenhan’s words, “Once the impression has been formed that the patient is schizophrenic, the expectation is that he will continue to be schizophrenic.” He tested the immortality of a word.

David Rosenhan, or David Lurie, spent nine days on the inside. Haverford was a state hospital but a new and upscale one: This place had a bowling alley and a soda fountain. Despite the tenpins and sundaes, Rosenhan and his wife had to call his entry a commitment, not a voluntary stay—the doctor claimed the hospital only did commitments. For admission, Rosenhan’s wife had to sign a form allowing shock treatment at the doctor’s discretion. It terrified her.

Rosenhan came out of those nine days so shaken his students and assistant could see it: He seemed “darker,” as one put it, “distressed, worn out, somewhat older than before.”

“Neither anecdotal nor ‘hard’ data,” writes Rosenhan in “On Being Sane,” “can convey the overwhelming sense of powerlessness which invades the individual as he is continually exposed to the depersonalization of the psychiatric hospital.” Rosenhan had to strip in front of a half-open door and get vitals taken by a female nurse who barely registered his presence. Toilets overflowed. Patients told Rosenhan how to get discharged—ask doctors about themselves, simper, flatter. A patient in an isolation room screamed and hit the walls until he bloodied his hands. Staff and nurses watched him through a little window but did nothing. It speaks to one of the fundamental questions of the psychiatric hospital: Are we here to offer you something? Or are we here to watch?

Rosenhan witnessed patients beaten, one for saying “I like you” to an attendant. An orderly sometimes woke them up by yelling, “Come on, you motherfuckers, out of bed.” Patients spent minutes a day with nurses, staff, or doctors—all of whom stayed mostly in glassed-in separate spaces pseudopatients called “the cage” (journalists Heitkamp and Herl also encountered a glass cage at Gütersloh, but theirs held patients). A nurse unbuttoned her uniform to adjust her bra, handling her breasts in front of a group that included Rosenhan. I imagine invisibility shocked a distinguished academic, no one rushing to do the equivalent of getting him coffee or lighting his pipe. He became one of what he called, borrowing a phrase from the book Asylums, the “nether people.” The book’s author Erving Goffman did a year of field work at St. Elizabeth’s Hospital in Washington, D.C.

Rosenhan wrote that on release he felt “I’m leaving friends behind,” and talked about the “camaraderie of the afflicted.”

“On Being Sane in Insane Places” attacked psychiatry’s system of diagnosis, one filled with what Rosenhan called so many “massive errors” it cannot be called reliable. It’s an attack on the psychiatry that looks on behavior shorn of context—what Rosenhan sometimes awkwardly calls “stimuli.”

The presence of that dark, distressed, aged Rosenhan in “On Being Sane” is what snags me—David Lurie, clawing at his mask. The way, in a journal like Science, the human Lurie-Rosenhan breaks through an academic paper, a literary form that doesn’t normally address itself to blows and exposed breasts. It’s as extraordinary in the setting of Science as a hip academic was in a house for the mad. Details like being cursed out of sleep (with a phrase his editor dashed letters out of, making it “m——f——s”) crash the party. Even subheads feel less Science than The Onion: One is “The Normal Are Not Detectably Sane.”

Rosenhan frames his study around the misery of those his profession serves. His need to communicate that misery. And he tells readers up front that he can’t: Neither anecdotes nor hard data are enough, and the tools of science fail.

Despite this failure Rosenhan gives data. He quantifies things like the time staff spent out of the cage—11.3 percent of the time for attendants, including cleaning. An average of 11.5 emergences per shift for nurses, often brief. Psychiatrists emerged even less, with 6.7 cage emergences per shift, and two-thirds of the time would ignore a direct approach or hello from a patient. Gone was the spirit of Ernst Pienitz, who never passed a patient without stopping to talk, in the “gentlest and most benevolent” manner. These numbers feel right to me from my own stays—count me as Pseudopatient Nine. At times I find that juxtaposed with the personal chunks of the paper, the quantification feels a little desperate—the author dismisses his data as unable to tell what matters, then showers us with it.

Of course, even those details can’t convey Rosenhan’s central point: how it is to live stripped of any claim to be human, as one of “society’s lepers.” Academics do not enjoy leading with their own failure. It may be that Rosenhan, after all, became insane in an insane place. If he did, that response is less about Rosenhan than about what happens when humans fall into the stunted existence of symptom lists. Pseudopatients sat writing in their notebooks; nurses put in their notes that they displayed “writing behavior.” A patient lining up early for dinner out of boredom became a clinician’s remark on the “oral-acquisitive nature” of schizophrenia.

Buck argued, as did Schreber, that we neurodiverse are the experts on ourselves. Patients, the best diagnosticians in the room, often figured out the pseudopatients’ secret. One man told Rosenhan, “You’re not crazy. You’re a journalist.” In a follow-up to the first round of the study, Rosenhan told hospitals to expect a pseudopatient but never sent one. Out of 193 new patients over three months, Rosenhan wrote, at least one staff member labeled 41 as probable pseudopatients. At least one psychiatrist so labeled 23—suspecting that more than 10 percent of new admissions might not be mad at all.

After “On Being Sane” appeared in Science, the credibility of mad diagnosing plunged, or at least, the ongoing plunge went deeper. The use of psychiatrists as expert witnesses dropped. Rosenhan added to a drive that had already begun, to deinstitutionalize patients. He was not an anti-psychiatrist and believed mental illness is real. Rosenhan opens his paper with the acknowledgment that some behaviors are indeed aberrant, like murder and hallucination (I don’t agree with the latter, but most would). He writes that mental conditions, like depression and anxiety, cause “personal anguish.” Rosenhan’s brother was bipolar, and Rosenhan often said he wished his brother would stay on lithium.

Rosenhan also wrote that what looks aberrant is culturally determined, and our diagnoses may not be “as substantive as we think them to be.” In 1992 British psychologist Richard Bentall published a paper titled “A Proposal to Classify Happiness as a Psychiatric Disorder,” a deadpan analysis proving happiness fits all the criteria for a mental illness and should be added to the DSM. Feeling happy is statistically abnormal and as a mental state involves “cognitive abnormalities and impairments,” including failure to retrieve accurate but negative memory, overestimation of one’s powers and importance, and often, impulsive behaviors. Happiness can be stimulated briefly by zapping certain brain regions; it’s not only a mental disease, but a biological one.

Rosenhan writes at the end of his paper that pseudopatients ended up believing most staff they met were caring and committed or wished to be. Those staff failed, Rosenhan wrote, sometimes terribly, but it’s “more accurate to attribute those failures to the environment in which they, too, found themselves.” Fritz Bremer, Dorothea Buck’s German publisher and friend, told me Buck felt the existing psychiatric system “brutalized” those practicing in it along with those held by it.

Rosenhan discusses medicine’s “type 2 error”: leaning toward one answer when things feel neutral, because it’s better to make the mistake of suspecting illness in a well person than it is to judge the ill as well. It’s a brilliant point. Type 2 errors can be disastrous when considering the mind. A psychiatric diagnosis is never provisional, in the way a place in the body can be tentatively diagnosed with cancer and then cleared. Someone cites voices—any voices—and then comes a chart scribbled with the word “schizophrenia.” Those further down the line read the chart and do what they’re trained to do, which is find that word and imagine its flowering. Erasure has no protocol.

I was hospitalized for the third time by one of the two psychiatrists who were among the kindest people I’ve ever known. I was deeply depressed, partly coming down from a Haldol-binge prescribed by another doctor. Dr. N wanted me to try lithium and wanted me to start in a clinical setting. On the ward I had a nurse who refused to let me go to the toilet without her. Doing so wasn’t in my orders, simply cruel. She’d hold her back against the toilet door like I might run, spitting go now or you don’t go at all.

In the same place a woman screamed all night, Mommy Mommy Mommy, a grown woman keening in a high voice I can still hear but could never connect with anyone during the day. No one came to her. This was the 1980s and I recall even less staff interaction than Rosenhan’s pseudopatients had. I saw my doctor walk by quickly once or twice, “checking in”—the truth is psychiatrists like him spend most of their time in private practice. When Dr. N asked me later how I felt there, I said like a potted plant. He looked crushed. I believed I was being generous.

Robert Spitzer wrote the most famous response to Rosenhan. I wanted to hate his critique, but I didn’t. It was reasonable, even witty. He claimed the study proved very little; weren’t people who presented themselves at mental hospitals assumed to be sick? Wouldn’t “normal” be saying, I’m not a real patient and I want to go home? Most of the pseudopatients’ charts had a version of “Schizophrenia, in remission” on their release. Spitzer points out that “in remission” means “no longer sick.” In a Rosenhan moment, Spitzer had grad students call around to psych hospitals asking how often patients were released “in remission.” The phrase didn’t appear much.

Spitzer agreed with Rosenhan that psychiatric diagnosis could be extremely sloppy. Before long he came after that sloppiness with the checklists and subcategorizing of the DSM–III. Unintentionally, Rosenhan’s study boosted the neo-Kraepelinians. If the present symptom lists and labels aren’t enough to define madness, it’s because there aren’t enough. Spitzer does not argue with the account of ward conditions. Instead, he calls out his peers for not taking the time to find this out themselves.

Journalist Susannah Cahalan got access to Rosenhan’s papers for a 2019 book about the experiment. She researched it decades after the experiment and after Rosenhan’s death. She found he’d kept very poor notes, and misrepresented aspects of the study, some trivial, some less so. Rosenhan exaggerated the degree to which he’d prepared writs of habeas corpus for the pseudopatients in case they couldn’t get out, though he’d initiated the process. Haverford notes show him complaining about the voices at intake, not just listing them. She didn’t find rough data to support his figures on emergences. Cahalan called her book The Great Pretender and, though her reporting is very nuanced, response was not. A review in the British Spectator was titled “How a Fraudulent Experiment Set Psychiatry Back Decades.”

Cahalan could find only two pseudopatients, although some had almost certainly died by then. One of the two, a man named Bill Dickson, had had an experience like Rosenhan’s. The other, a man named Harry (he’d been the graduate student), had a good experience at a summer-campy hospital called Langley-Porter. Though it had shocked Harry to be given a diagnosis of undifferentiated schizophrenia, and having been termed, inexplicably, a suicide risk.

That five pseudopatients would not want to come forward—Cahalan sent out notices to find them—wouldn’t surprise anyone who’s been one of the “nether people.” She definitively disproved little, by her own admission. No one, including Rosenhan’s chief critic Spitzer, denied the truth of Rosenhan’s experience in the hospital—the abuse, the people staring through a door at a human being in agony.

I wonder, did Rosenhan even write this paper as a Swarthmore professor, typing away on his research—pipe, secretarial help, diploma on the wall—or as David Lurie, the man stripping in front of a half-open door, the just-woke motherfucker? Look, I can imagine him feeling. You’re not going to believe me anyway.

I think the scourge of mental hospitals comes from more than their mechanistic nature. It comes from carer and care-ee being together all the time. Medicine for the mind exists mostly in a dialogue so dulled it fits Rosenhan’s troika of “hollow,” “thud,” and “empty.” Fifteen or twenty minutes of med check becomes twenty-four hours of bare time. You know and I know those couples or families who sit at restaurants and stare because there’s no shared language beyond Is that good. Um, it is. The same denaturing of human existence saps our Haverfords. David Lurie’s scribbled “For all my sanity and experience . . . I was dazed into helplessness” and “I looked as I felt: haggard” thins down on his chart into just “exhibits writing behavior.” As would the entirety of Paul Schreber’s Memoirs.

A woman screams Mommy Mommy Mommy and keeps screaming because what would anyone do for her? She has had her evening meds, been told to hit the sheets, has an orderly or nurse looking in now and then, making sure the lump that is her still exists. Take meds, stay quiet, exist. These are the institution’s three notes.

The problem goes beyond Haverford, though when I looked into the Haverford of his day it sounded worse than the place Rosenhan described. A psychiatrist who worked there in the 1970s called it a “dark, foreboding cave.” A Haverford nurse’s lawsuit addressed a period, 1967 to 1972, that included Rosenhan’s stay. She’d reported the abuses she saw to the institution, again and again, with no relief. Finally she gave an interview about Haverford to the Philadelphia Daily News. Her charges included sexual abuse, by patients of one another, by outside workers who came on the wards. Medical staff were chronically absent. Rather than hiding in Rosenhan’s cage, many doctors and nurses simply weren’t there—I’ll say again, I found Rosenhan’s numbers generous. Doctors gave nurses signed prescription slips so they could administer any medications they wanted.

This Haverford complicates the differences between Rosenhan’s account of his story at admission, and the notes Cahalan found in his records. It’s impossible to know what an institution like that might have done to a chart, as it’s impossible to know what Rosenhan might have done to data about people emerging from their caves. That David Lurie was David Rosenhan was obvious as soon as the Science article came out.

The nurse, Linda Rafferty, may have interacted with Rosenhan in one of her emergences. They may have engaged in writing behavior about the same things, she on one side of the glass, he on the other.

In the middle of writing this, thinking about the nature of the mad hospital, I got an alert reporting a lawsuit against the Fairfax—the psychiatric hospital that tried to hold my family member through a secret commitment hearing, drugged her to the point of drooling. The suit was brought by a woman named Carol Jason, referred by an ER for unexplained muscle spasms. She found the place “disgusting,” and though she’d checked herself in, immediately wanted to leave. She wasn’t allowed to. The report names other hospitals being prosecuted for forcing patients to stay while profiting off their insurance. These hospitals are run by for-profit companies, often massive businesses churning out mad care.

Universal Health Services, which owns the Fairfax, runs 167 other hospitals like it. None of Rosenhan is over. We still have plenty of Haverfords. There are few beds for those in psychiatric crisis, so the Fairfaxes of the world can be both brutal and in business. Many, if not most, people in psychiatric crisis end up in jail. Released, they’ll be off the large doses of meds they’ve been given and end up worse. If someone in crisis is lucky enough to end up in a place other than jail, they might end up in a Fairfax, drooling and imprisoned, or nearby Western State Hospital, the place that’s like “going into hell.” Even Harry’s experience has a sequel. His daughter Elizabeth developed an eating disorder and became an inpatient at a psych facility. She described it as a prison, one that pumped her with drugs, numbed her, overwhelmed her with a “creepy-crawly feeling.”

The problem of psych wards and hospitals—what Cahalan herself calls mostly “hellholes”—has many causes, like our insurance system and the drive for profit. And societal indifference, until that member of society has an experience like Rosenhan’s, mine, or my family’s. Abuse reflects a relationship in which all the power is on one side. Few if any Philippe Pinels and Ernst Pienitzes vet their staff for kindness. Paul Schreber paid a laborer’s salary to stay at Sonnenstein and waited more than a year to meet Weber, off gazing at skulls. Maybe the real Nurse Ratched was riffing on a job that had too little else to fill it.

In 2001, Nancy Andreasen published a new book, Brave New Brain: Conquering Mental Illness in the Era of the Genome. She proclaimed a truth worthy of a new century: not about neurotransmitters, but the role of genes and neuroscience in mental illness.

“The time when we can realistically declare a war on mental illness, with some hope of eventually achieving a victory, has finally come,” she writes. “The powerful tools of genetics and neuroscience will be combined during the next several decades to build healthier, better, brains and minds.” I read Andreasen’s research on bipolar disorder and literary creativity, which she had carried out at the University of Iowa’s Writers’ Workshop. I liked that a psychiatrist would look for something positive about my diagnosis. But this quote, with its language of war and creating better brains, frightens me. And waging battle, and planting the victory flag, over consciousness.

The Great Pretender did not call the Rosenhan experiment a fraud. Cahalan described it as having “exposed something real,” emphasis hers. She guesses Rosenhan may have invented some pseudopatients, but there’s no way to know that.

The 1970s status as psychiatry’s decennium horribilis involved two stories spun by men who did not belong to the tribe of the mad. Rosenhan and Kesey drifted to our island, like two Ulysses, then left to tell about it. The mad were here, in that decade. We protested, we told our stories ourselves in forums like Madness Network News. We occupied the office of the governor of California and held a very public tribunal for psychiatric crimes, like the death of Black teenager Lynette Miller, of cardiac arrest due to electroshock and intense neuroleptic drugging. It is only the sane who can go into insane places and then speak. We proved incapable even of ruining that which ruined us.

The fifth edition of the DSM contains more than six hundred disease categories, including over-shopping and caffeine-induced sleep disorder. Another category is “complicated grief”—grief that lasts more than a few weeks after the death of a loved one. Some doctors quit the task force of the DSM–5, released in 2014. Allen Frances, editor of the DSM–IV (the last edition to use Roman numerals), denounced the new edition, accusing it of the “medicalization of normality.” Even Robert Spitzer criticized the 5, saying it lacked “transparency”—the majority of the DSM task force members had ties to pharmaceutical companies. Of those who worked on the bipolar criteria task force, around three-quarters did. The doctor who pulls their DSM off the shelf to find me in my Kraepelinian form will follow the guidelines of those who, depending on what gets prescribed, may well earn money.

Recently I took an online depression screening test. I wondered, like Rosenhan, if “normal” as an answer lay in the realm of possibility. I chose a test offered by a nonprofit, assuming nonprofits would be less likely to exaggerate problems than the medical firms doing online screening. Questions covered sleep quality, worry about under- or over-eating, energy, self-worth, things typical of depression scales. I answered honestly that within the past two weeks low self-worth, worrying I’d eaten too much, poor sleep, and similar things had bothered me “several times.” “Bothered,” as far as I could tell, could mean for a small amount of time or a long one. I gave a flat no to self-harm. Results showed I had “mild depression” and should see my doctor. Though surely these feelings would afflict everyone at some point over the course of a few weeks. I would, I wrote in a column about the test, qualify as depressed any week in which my academic department held one of its routinely awful meetings.

I took two more depression tests, each averaging thirteen questions. Again, I gave honest answers. At the end of one a chat box popped up, saying a therapist was on hand to talk, just click here. That test asked whether I’d had any aches and pains in the past two weeks, including headaches. I continued to score as mildly depressed, as there was nowhere to put that I felt overall happy. I wrote earlier in this chapter that I can’t think of a person who wouldn’t qualify as disordered in some way, reading the DSM. I can’t imagine anyone qualifying as not depressed, going by these scales. Normal seems to equal completely un-achy and unbothered.

Many people taking my tests would follow up with a general practitioner. Many of those doctors would prescribe antidepressants, making a type 2 error. These are medications that have a high placebo rate and a slim effectiveness rate. One meta-analysis of antidepressant trials studied twenty-one drugs and found positive results that were at best “small to moderate.” A response to the same trials in the British Medical Journal claimed the data did not show any clear positive outcome, due to test biases and the high drop-out rate of antidepressant trials. Antidepressants are extremely hard to withdraw from. And it’s unlikely the appointment would last long enough for me and my doctor to figure out I could just skip the department meetings.

My roommate, in my first psych hospital, was named Suzanne. She was beautiful but with a beauty only totally clear when you saw her nude. She had a formal perfection between face and body, not Greek in her looks, but Greek in her composition. We are twins, mirrors, she used to tell me: You the baddie-baddie and me the goodie-goodie. If asked, Suzanne would say she was fine, unless she was supposed to say she wasn’t fine. She had attempted suicide but when it came up in front of staff, she called it “just a cry for help.” Not long after her release, she killed herself, crashing her car into a wall.

Baddie-baddie, I slipped out a side door one day and ran away. I think it was a side door. It’s hazy now and part of that haze comes from shock treatment. I begged on the street for quarters, I found someone to sell me drugs—I forget what type—and a kind nurse named Mildred found me in, of all places, a church. I’d wandered in, and still don’t know how or why.

Mildred drove me back, snuck me inside, made sure I wasn’t caught. If Mildred hadn’t returned me, guided a very high young girl into her car, lied for me, I would have had to live on the streets. I don’t know for how long. I would never have gone back, which ruled out going back to a home that would only return me to the hospital. In her car, I said I hated the predatory head doctor, Dr. W, and feared him. He was middle-aged and once announced during one of our rare group therapies that he wanted to sleep with a fifteen-year-old patient present in the room. Mildred told me over a cigarette that one day he would die and face judgment. I took this as agreement.

Robert Spitzer justified the “writing behavior” comment by saying the work of nurses was to look. The cage and its people had a job everyone agreed on: watching. I ran away and returned between med lines. So: a jacket on the back of the chair, another dark head in the common room . . . even a visitor who for some reason got to stay for a while. I will never know who I was, who got checked off as me during my absence, by those whose job was looking. Someone became my pseudopatient. And Suzanne, my opposite, who I saw when I rose from my bed every morning and fell into it at night—she had stopped issuing cries for anything a long time ago. This was harder to see than an absent body, but visible.




15

On Being Insane in Insane Places

A Timeline
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WHEN I FELL THROUGH THE CHUTE OF MADNESS INTO THE SANITY INDUSTRY, IT was 1971: the start of U.S. psychiatry’s decennium horribilis. Far more things than the Rosenhan experiment had, as Spitzer said of Rosenhan, plunged “a sword into the heart” of psychiatry. I would remain in this slashed system in some way for the rest of my life.

Off in Germany, courts still tried to decide whether doctors who murdered psychiatric patients had done anything wrong. The spirit of these rulings spoke not just for ordinary Germans but for people everywhere within and without the profession. Many more people were institutionalized then than are now; sometimes there was just no one to release them to. Many stayed locked away due to the side effects of long-term neuroleptic medication—parkinsonian shaking and shuffling, tics like constantly pushing the tongue in and out. Who the mad are—and what we mean—had become a hot philosophical question, with the answers ranging from shaman to victim to deadly parasite.

Options for my life were philosophically wide. I could have joined the new Insane Liberation Front (had I known it existed) or struggled through a pillow “birth canal,” a therapy one psychiatrist I addressed at a Grand Rounds got weirdly mad at me for not praising. Psychoanalytic theory was still—in theory—ascendant. I could have probed my life, particularly my mother. Received the real pity of the many people who’d read One Flew over the Cuckoo’s Nest. I could have been hospitalized with a Rosenhan pseudopatient. I was stepsibling to gay activists infiltrating psychiatric conferences to get their sexuality delisted as a disease.

And I could have had another life, one with a whiff of immortality, as a new mythic figure, Jane Doe. My case could have been entered into evidence at any of hundreds of court cases about issues like a patient’s right to consent, especially in cases of psychosurgeries and shock. My life could have been analyzed not just in terms of Freud and family but in terms of the U.S. Constitution and the Nuremberg Code.

All these things happened, somewhere. All were possible. Though what I lived in my very typical doctors’ offices and facilities wasn’t parsing the Constitution or squeezing through pillows. My world was “chemical straitjackets,” rounds of shock treatment, the dead air of common rooms. Doors that ostentatiously locked in front of exits and staff areas and ostentatiously did not lock in our rooms. While there was public protesting around psychiatry, most patients remained in the same system, more or less helpless.

Most sources say lobotomies had ended by then, due to the brain hemorrhage death of a housewife lobotomized by Walter Freeman. But they’ve never been illegal, and a few doctors still did them. Surgeons openly practiced other types of psychosurgeries—brain surgeries for fixing the mind, for schizophrenia, hyperactivity in children, depression, anxiety. For “behavior disturbance,” which often meant not personal disturbance but social disturbance, like racial anger.

The mother theories of mental illness that began earlier in the century hung on, with mothers blamed for everything from autism to schizophrenia to creating bad soldiers. The National Institute of Mental Health struggled internally on whether funding should go to psychologically or biologically driven research. But the age of pharmacology had started in the 1950s, with the discovery of Thorazine, followed by lithium, antidepressants like Tofranil, and tranquilizers like Miltown. Medication existed that allowed the psychiatry Rosenhan experienced to work.

I had many ways of existing then, as someone else’s idea: holder of flawed brain processes and bad genes, seer of visions, psychotic who needed space to live her psychosis—preferably in a hip London neighborhood with movie stars dropping in. Mother-victim. Damaged child, needing to be wrapped up so she could be born again. Survivor damaged by psychiatry itself. Even the neo-Kraepelinians would find something in me: a girl who lost months of her life and could instead have had “brief” intakes and then a paper fix.

Or I could have been Jane Doe. One court observed of aggressive brain treatments that the Constitutional right to privacy includes privacy of the brain. And that the right to free expression implied the patient’s right to a brain that made thought possible.

I have a memory from my first time in a mental hospital—as it was called—that has in the past been too painful to write about. I struggle with it now. It’s the memory of, again and again, standing in med lines. In the glass-cage geography described by Rosenhan’s pseudopatients—patients facing that walled-off space inhabited by staff, nurses, and doctors. The cage from which these rarely and often reluctantly emerged. I would approach a counter to get my meds, take them, and back away. I don’t recall if my hospital’s cage was really glass, but it functioned like glass. I lived my life in front of people whose job was to watch me, watch with the intensity that caused a pseudopatient’s nurse to note “exhibits writing behavior.”

In med line I entered that space most wholly: my moving forward became my moving behavior, grasping my cup my taking behavior, my head-back gulp my swallowing behavior. My body brought me there, object of suspicion, then swallowed and felt itself go thin. A tiny Dixie cup of water, a tiny Dixie cup of pills. Pills had more color then (so barbiturates got street names like reds, blues, yellow jackets, red devils). Thorazine capsules were orange on one end and pretty. We might pause for an instant and admire them, bouquets of color in a deliberately bland space.

The etiquette of med line was to take it all at once, or maybe we were told to. The ratio was off: An equal quantity of pills and water, they stuck. Some managed to tongue and toss the more unpleasant meds, like Thorazine. Some managed to save the better ones to sell later.

This was my timeline, this jostling of ideas, a world I was as far from as someone hiding out in one of that era’s under-home nuclear shelters. Patients began finding each other to form groups like the Insane Liberation Front, the Mental Patients Liberation Project, the Network Against Psychiatric Assault. R. D. Laing appeared on the BBC, informed plays and films, gave book signings with fans waiting hours. Protests and court cases over brain-based procedures like ECT had begun years before, in the 1960s. Thomas Szasz’s paper on shock, “From the Slaughterhouse to the Madhouse,” was in production the year I first received ECT and published in 1971, when I continued to receive it. Szasz points out that the doctor who created the treatment modeled it on a method used in slaughterhouses to subdue hogs, with electricity driven through the temples. He also points out that said doctor, Ugo Cerletti, was a student of Emil Kraepelin. Szasz was no wilderness voice, but a popular media figure who once appeared on PBS’s hit Firing Line.

The LGBTQ began appearing at mad-doctor conferences, protesting their sexuality’s DSM listing. In 1971 several infiltrators grabbed mics at the American Psychiatric Association’s annual conference and harangued the audience about their “relentless war of extermination.” In 1972 a man introduced as “Dr. Henry Anonymous” took the mic at another APA annual meeting—he wore a Nixon mask he’d modded with his male lover to look a bit less Nixon-y, a fright wig, and an oversize tuxedo. He said, “I am a homosexual. I am a psychiatrist.” It seems strange now, but in all the time I spent in psychiatric places of one kind or another, I had no idea.

Gay as “illness” was dropped from the DSM in 1973. A victory, but one that posed the Rosenhan question in its own way: What are psychiatric diagnoses if they can suddenly disappear? A nineteenth-century American doctor named Cartright theorized a mental illness called “drapetomania”—an enslaved person’s drive to escape captivity. Such a drive, argued Cartright, in a people “naturally subordinate” must be disease. How can a “disorder” jump so handily back across Klerman’s boundary between the normal and the sick? What might be the new drapetomanias?

As Rosenhan worked behind the scenes, so did the neo-Kraepelinians, theorizing an almost wholly biological model of psychiatry. The country’s largest insurers announced they would no longer cover the “talk therapy” kinds of non-biological care. Zvi Lothane mentioned this, sitting in his Manhattan replica of Freud’s office, the Victorian room with its heavy rugs and fainting couch.

The year 1971 also saw a proposal filed for an experimental surgery, one among similar experiments being done then. The proposal was titled “Study for the Treatment of Uncontrollable Aggression” and featured another mythological figure, this one a John Doe.

The two surgeons who created the proposal planned to place electrodes in the brains of the criminally violent. They theorized the electrodes would pick up an epilepsy-like brain activity that created violent behavior. Brain readings would indicate “abnormal” areas, which the surgeons would then remove or alter. As a control, the study would have another, similar group of prisoners chemically castrated—with drugs ordered from Schering AG, a German company and Nazi collaborator. The experiment, funded by about $228,000 from the state of Michigan, was to have twenty-four subjects but began with just one, John Doe. Doe was a decades-long inmate at a psych institution, held after raping and murdering a nurse.

Attorney Gabe Kaimowitz, who taught at the University of Michigan, came across this proposal and filed a suit to stop it in 1973. Kaimowitz had been deeply involved in civil rights and desegregation, taking buses with the group CORE to states in the South where schools and stores refused Black people. Kaimowitz lodged the first legal challenge to psychiatric brain surgery or “psychosurgery,” a challenge called a “key test” for the practice by The New York Times. Kaimowitz argued among other things that there could be no real consent from an involuntarily held patient.

The early 1970s brought what both practitioners and opponents called a “resurgence” of psychosurgery. It never resurged as much as it wanted to, but it tried, and in its trying illuminates evolving visions of madness. Practitioners cut or used electrical stimulation for schizophrenia, depression, hyperactivity, “behavior disturbance” in children, anorexia, alcoholism, addiction. They attacked the hypothalamus, amygdala, frontal lobes, more. The majority of patients were middle-aged women, whose diagnosis of “agitated depression” probably stemmed from menopause and may have been prompted by a spouse.

The social context of psychiatry is never too far away, but the social context of psychosurgery was excruciatingly clear. One surgeon, Robert Heath of Tulane, used electrodes and electrical simulation at least once to perform gay conversion therapy. Long-faced Heath photographed glum but was actually a partier who named his house “Hedonia,” which means “pleasure.” In 1970 Heath and his colleague Charles Moan had the subject, known as “B-19,” masturbate while watching videos of heterosexual couples having sex and getting his pleasure centers stimulated. Finally, Heath brought a twenty-one-year-old prostitute into his lab to have actual sex with a brain-stimulated B-19.

Heath mostly treated schizophrenics with his electrodes, many of whom didn’t fare too well. Several Heath patients died and others developed uncontrollable seizures. There is no evidence any got better, a result Heath finally admitted. At one point Heath decided a protein called immunoglobulin caused schizophrenia; he injected a synthesized version into thirty or forty non-schizophrenics. He claimed they had an hour or so of schizophrenic symptoms. No one managed to replicate this result, and I hope not too many tried. Heath also worked with CIA funds on a covert project listed as having “mind controlling applications,” using both brain manipulation and a stupefying drug called bulbocapnine. Still, Heath continued teaching until 1980, and his department alumni association is called the Robert Heath Society.

What birthed our John Doe was a push within this psychosurgical movement to change the definition of violent behavior to disease, one that could be “cured”: Doctors called violence brain dysfunction, or malfunction, a “discontrol” syndrome. This shift rhymes with the T4 move to include “asocials” as a disease category for euthanasia, though with a different result. Some doctors experimented with prisoners, for example, removing pieces in the amygdala area of the brain, the area thought to control fear and reactions to stimuli. They did this although, then and now, no brain region has been shown to have a strictly stable function. This medicalization of anger told a welcome story to a middle-class audience horrified by assassinations and willing to believe things like race riots might just be a broken brain.

In 1968 Life magazine ran a cover story on this “new science,” also referred to as “a movement,” of psychosurgery. It featured three men named Vernon Mark, William Sweet, and Frank Ervin: two neurosurgeons and one psychiatrist. Congress gave these three half a million dollars to fund their violence research, and the Justice Department threw them another couple hundred thousand. Hundreds, at least, of people got electrode-d and much of the stimulation was experimental: Doctors created pleasure and pain, tears, anger, arousal. The Life story shows a twenty-ish girl in a tiny, apparently padded, room, head swathed in white bandages. In one photo she happily strums a guitar, in another she hits the walls. For her outbursts the doctors had found and removed the “defective” portion of her amygdala.

Ebony magazine, which addresses a Black audience, ran quite a different article in 1973, titled “New Threat to Blacks: Brain Surgery to Control Behavior.” It also covers Mark, Sweet, and Ervin and their surgeries, but in terms of racism and coercion.

In 1969 a new doctor worked with Ervin during his rotations. This doctor would soon change his scrubs for a typewriter: It was writer Michael Crichton. Crichton used one of Ervin’s patients as the inspiration for his 1972 novel, later movie, The Terminal Man, a thriller that considers the dangers of mind control. The patient, known as Thomas R., later sued Ervin and accused Crichton in court of using him. Not everyone thought Thomas R. was the man in question, but one doctor noted dryly that the character, even if not Thomas R., fit the description of many of Ervin’s patients. In the film the man’s name is Benson, a man prone to unpredictable rages and given electrodes to cure them. In Crichton’s story, the surgeon says as he drills into the patient’s brain that doing so was much “more fun” than psychiatry. It doesn’t beggar imagination to think Crichton heard those words in a real operating room.

Psychosurgery as a movement had little skill in hiding itself. If it had, it might have lasted. Prior to Kaimowitz, there were few controls and a massive number of potential patients. Ervin and Mark proposed a general screening of the population for under-regulation in the limbic system, so brains could be corrected before violence occurred.

I’ve read the entire Kaimowitz trial transcript, thousands of pages’ worth. Three judges heard the case, and each side had multiple attorneys. The doctors who proposed the project, Ernst Rodin and Jacques Gottlieb, sulk and seethe on the stand, especially Rodin. Ironically, he seems to have little ability to control his anger. At one point he shouts at the attorney that “the proposal is dead. DEAD. . . . I don’t like it but you did it. You killed it.” Asked what mechanisms prevent him from causing harm to his patients, given that he has all the decision-making power and works on brains, Rodin answers that if he is a “bad boy,” he’ll be fired.

One particularly damning document, a private talk by Rodin, has disappeared from the record. I’ve searched multiple archives, and it seems to be gone. The document’s quoted in the trial, and in the excerpt, Rodin says free thought is really only for the higher in IQ. He uses a phrase from mythology: What’s right for Jove is not right for oxen, adding that the doctors’ problem is that oxen generally don’t know they’re oxen.

In 1967 Ervin, Mark, and Sweet wrote a letter titled “Role of Brain Disease in Riots and Urban Violence” to the Journal of the American Medical Association that suggested violent rioters had “brain malfunction” and could be cured with psychosurgery. The three acknowledged the social ills behind riots but warned these ills had blinded the medical community to the “newer medical evidence” that the problem was sick brains. The Ebony reporter, B. J. Mason, puts it better than I can: This letter “clearly advocates a national screening program to identify blacks who might commit violence.”

José Delgado, a Spanish-born doctor from Yale, mapped the brain, using electrodes on animals. He then adapted his research for humans. Maybe psychosurgery breeds flamboyance—like lobotomist Walter Freeman, Delgado preened and performed. He placed electrodes in the brain of a bull in a bull ring, and jumped in front of it to show he could make it stop with a radio transistor button. In 1969 Delgado published a book titled Physical Control of the Mind: Toward a Psychocivilized Society.

According to Delgado, “The individual may think that the most important reality is his own existence, but this is only his personal point of view. . . . We must electrically control the brain.” Delgado records electrical stimulations that made reserved women giggle and flirt and an eleven-year-old boy become aroused. Delgado promised to end the “disorders” of madness and violence. Once again, the mad become the launching point: So many can be fit into this box called madness. Then so many things can be done about them.

In the end the Kaimowitz verdict covered only experimental surgery and involuntarily held patients. It tightened up consent laws for experiments on the hospitalized or incarcerated. Gottlieb and Rodin lost their funding. The brain activity theories justifying psychosurgery, rejected even at the time of trial by the head of neurosurgery for the National Institutes of Health, sputtered out. In 1974, states began passing statutes requiring consent for psychosurgery and shock treatment. Despite much medical pressure, more than thirty states followed in passing consent laws. A few years later the city of Berkeley would outlaw electroshock.

Even with the knowledge of Nazi experimentation, dubious medical experimentation continued in the postwar United States. The Tuskegee syphilis experiment referenced by the Nazi defense at Nuremberg lasted into the 1970s. An ongoing series of experiments called the Human Radiation Experiments didn’t come to light until a records release under President Clinton. In these experiments doctors gave radiation to unwitting subjects ranging from soldiers to pregnant women to a homeless alcoholic, testing radiation effects out of concerns about atomic warfare. Vanderbilt doctor William J. Darby fed radioactive iron to more than eight hundred pregnant women from 1945 to 1947. Asked whether he recognized the Nuremberg Code on medical experimentation, Darby answered that the code applied only to “experiments of a medical nature committed by the Germans . . . a different setting entirely.”

My world was not the psychologically sloppy world rejected and rewritten by Guze and Klerman and Andreasen. If anyone spoke to me during this time in my life, the conversation focused, in good psychoanalytic form, on my family and my mother. Yet these conversations happened rarely, and they had no impact. My physical brain was the only me ever present and it suffered the consequences of everything my larger consciousness might have chosen to do. I never lied about anything; no one talked to me enough for that to matter. Perhaps I could be called a pseudopatient in my own way.

I wrote novels, poems, plays, and music as a child, up until age fourteen, when an overdose started my life as a newly hatched mad. I was hospitalized twice, the longest for six weeks at the hospital I ran away from. I heard that I had depression, that I had schizophrenia, that I was defiant. I heard, if anyone spoke to me, that the problem was my mother. I prescribed for myself marijuana, LSD, heroin, speed, barbiturates. Others prescribed for me (at various times and always more than one at once) sleeping pills, Tofranil, things I can’t recall now, and, almost sarcastically, my favorite speed, Dexedrine. I think I complained something else I took left me sleepy. I was a full chemodual, a restlessly reinvented one.

Many children of the late 1960s and 1970s—the kids who turned on, tuned in, dropped out, the runaways who never quite made it to Haight-Ashbury—entered the psych system. I met many girls like me, some of whom had attempted suicide, often after drug benders that made depression indistinguishable from crashing. Or who weren’t even sure where they stood between the screw-it dose and the deliberate overdose. Many stayed in the system, making it, more or less, to appointments though they didn’t go to school or go home. Often this was for “scripts,” as we called them. There were always prescription psych drugs available in the street in those days, Dexedrine, Miltown, barbiturates. Street methadone too was everywhere.

My parents took me a few times to therapists. It didn’t last long. My mother didn’t want to pay for it. She screamed at me about this one day, and about how she would “put me in for shock treatment” if I kept causing them trouble or costing them money. Did that mean shock was covered? I don’t know. I only know she’d adopted the attitude toward shock I often found in hospitals—it was often the get-better-or-else. I learned later, from a family member, that she’d been trying to get me removed from home permanently. The how is lost to me now, but I wonder what would have happened if some doctor suggested electrodes or cutting into my thalamus.

I came back to what has been a permanent, if shifting, life on medication in the 1980s. I was depressed and periodically psychotic; one day I thought poison gas filled my house. I cried for hours. I had been on and off different drugs over a short period of time—antidepressants, lithium, Haldol—which might have been part of it. But not all of it. Something enormous had crashed on me and pinned me to the ground.

Soon in a medical office I saw the pictures of little showerheads of neuron, the sprinkles that represented extra serotonin. Prozac came from my wonderful doctor Mary, who I know believed in its value and did not know the truths of drug company Eli Lilly’s marketing. Early literature for that drug not only gave lovely pictures of serotonin drops but claimed it would cause a healthy weight loss, a very rare thing for a psych med to do. Like most psychoactive medications, Prozac causes weight gain, which soon became obvious. But Prozac at first had a good story. It even came with pictures. I went on Prozac and the anti-epileptic Depakote, then new for use with bipolar. Eventually my mind returned to integration. I’m not sure Prozac did much for me, but Depakote seemed to help this particular walkabout of the brain. Or maybe, as with patients in the moral treatment, it would have ended on its own.

The showerheads remained part of the antidepressant story for a long time. Finally, by the second decade of the twenty-first century, psychiatry openly admitted the depression theory of serotonin had been false—or, as Dr. Roger McIntyre put it, “psychiatry’s high school crush.”

In 2001 my first book of nonfiction came out. It revealed a childhood sexual assault on me by a relative and my unhappy extended family declared me dead. My deadness was communicated to me by my mother, who made me tell her my book was fiction. I was asked to fly all over and give readings and had at the time no tools for dealing with any of this. I got overwhelmed, mostly by anxiety. You could call Depakote my young adulthood of the brain, and this my maturity. I went to a new doctor who prescribed an atypical antipsychotic, Seroquel.

Depakote, an anti-epileptic and not originally psychiatric, had been an inexpensive drug and was no longer new; its story had become dated. The atypical antipsychotics had taken off a few years before, and a staggering number of people were being prescribed them. The takeoff started with the launch of much costlier Risperdal in 1993, backed by a marketing push stunning even in this marketing-driven field.

The Swiss reformer Dr. Luc Ciompi attended a 1994 World Congress of the Association of Social Psychiatry in Hamburg, a meeting set up along trialogue principles by Thomas Bock with help from Dorothea Buck. In his talk Ciompi said, “This triumphant Decade of the Brain with its tremendous biological wave means an equally tremendous danger for the sick as well as the healthy, if it isn’t possible to integrate unleashed biology back into one holistic view of humanity.” Ciompi was right about the danger, for reasons he could and couldn’t have guessed.

At this time mad-doctors working with the pharmaceutical industry could be enriched by hundreds of thousands of dollars a year, while remaining in practice. Some doctors received millions. They could earn by having shares in the drug companies or in the for-profit companies that had begun running the drug trials. They could participate in drug trials; put their names on articles ghost-written by pharmaceutical companies; accept fees for speaking on behalf of the company; get private research grants; accept expensive gifts and trips. These doctors, even when being bad boys, seemed unable to be fired. A newsletter called Neuropractice wrote in the late 1990s that doctors had discovered a new “gold mine” in their practices: “their patient populations.” Two-thirds of the DSM–5 task-force members, who created the greatly expanded edition of the book, had pharmaceutical ties.

Pharmaceutical profits for atypicals grew to be “unimaginable,” in the words of one article I have. In 2007, six years after I went on Seroquel, these drugs brought in $13 billion and accounted for 5 percent of all pharmaceutical sales. Like antidepressants, atypicals were backed by a neurotransmitter theory, this one based largely on dopamine. Dopamine is implicated in schizophrenia, though as with serotonin, evidence is mixed. And some of these drugs don’t bind to dopamine receptors, while others do.

My 2001 doctor, a new doctor as I’d been getting Depakote from my general practitioner, was an impassive man who wrote a Seroquel prescription without much thought. It was new, he said, safe, and very effective. At the time the drug had no generic and my prescription cost hundreds of dollars a month. When I said I couldn’t afford it, my impassive doctor produced a card, like a credit card, that brought the cost down to twenty-five dollars, good for something like six months. The card came from AstraZeneca in a marketing move my old friends would call “free product.” Seroquel is incredibly difficult to stop taking.

For a long time atypicals, as had Prozac, bragged minimal side effects. Seroquel’s advertising slogan was “Well Accepted!” In one ad, these words cut into the face of a dark-haired, dark-browed woman who smiles calmly as she cradles a blond male child. The biggest marketing point for the atypicals was their tolerability compared to earlier neuroleptics, like the Thorazine family of drugs, the phenothiazines. These create tics and a condition that’s essentially Parkinson’s over the long term, side effects that stay even after discontinuing the drug.

Predictably, drug companies initially presented phenothiazines as having no side effects. They once served as pesticides and wormicides, working through a mechanism that’s not the same in humans as insects, but still. The New York Times ran at least a dozen stories lauding these drugs as they came on the market without mentioning their earlier life dispensing with worms in cattle. In winter 1956, the year I was born, the Times hailed the arrival of the phenothiazine promazine. The headline read: NEW DRUG HAILED AS TRANQUILIZER; 550 PATIENTS ARE CALMED BY PROMAZINE—NO SIDE REACTIONS NOTED IN TEST. The first sentence read, “Development of a new ‘peace of mind’ drug was announced today.” Most psych drugs start their advertising lives with this promise: There wasn’t before, but now there’s hope.

Atypicals have extreme side effects, a fact that became clear pretty quickly—metabolic side effects like weight gain, diabetes, and large rises in cholesterol, as well as motor problems, like stumbling. They are implicated in the early death rate of those diagnosed with a “major” psychotic disorder. Regardless, doctors soon after their launch began prescribing the atypicals “off label,” meaning not for the condition they’re listed for. A handful of my sons’ friends got drugs like Risperdal around age eleven, for things like ADHD. Elderly dementia patients got them, though the drugs cut their life expectancy dramatically. Atypicals were and still are prescribed to cure insomnia.

By the late aughts the atypicals’ makers found life catching up with them. They began to be hit by a long series of lawsuits and penalties. In 2007, Bristol Myers Squibb paid $515 million for promoting its Abilify for children and people with dementia. In 2009, Eli Lilly paid $1.4 billion for pushing Zyprexa for unapproved conditions. Lilly had also given their sales reps training in how to rebut proven research on side effects. In the same year, Pfizer settled a major suit over Geodon. And in 2010, AstraZeneca paid $520 million for the illegal marketing of Seroquel. By then I’d been on it nine years and this fine represented a small fraction of its profits.

The first few weeks I spent on Seroquel I slept till noon every day and even after that felt barely conscious. My anxiety and depression diminished, but so had I, being hit with the nothingness Buck encountered in so many of her hospital stays.

Research from the 2010s found mixed results in the effectiveness of the atypicals compared to older drugs. Lithium, a mineral that’s been around since the Big Bang, worked better. The old tricyclic antidepressants like Tofranil beat out the Prozacs. It feels strange to me now, that in 2001, in a spiral that was clearly situational, my impassive doctor didn’t do something less drastic than an atypical, something short term. Or talk. Instead, he gifted me Seroquel, as the 1970s gifted me shock treatment and the 1980s Prozac.

There’s more I can say about the awfulness of the med line memory. It felt humiliating, yes. But more than that, twice a day I participated in ending myself. I did it obediently. We would have to take these pills one way or another and resistance led to worse. So we lined up and the nurse gave a brief sharp look, a flick of recognition, then reached for a specific cup. She (it was always she then) looked and for a quick second I became a name, then I flickered out and turned into a tiny paper and a pattern of color. She watched my cheek. The comparison to a Communion line is not lazy. You take the little cup and you become a new body. Those colors are entirely who you are, as the nurse understands, not bothering to do more than be sure they reach your stomach.

This memory is terrifying because in it, I can see myself only from the outside. I am there and not there, a figure moving slowly forward, an extended hand. I see the cups in front of me, I see the nurse’s hand pushing them at me, but I see them through my younger self as if she were a camera, an incidental lens for images. I try and try. But I cannot crawl inside that figure I know is myself. I have a vivid picture of my long hair at that age, a black lace shirt I recall I wore in the hospital. Still the me who watches this scene looks down through the ceiling, outside somewhere, a glass beyond the glass beyond the glass.

In July 2022 an umbrella review of research about serotonin and depression went viral, picked up by media from CNN to ScienceDaily to The Guardian and beyond. Headlines ran along the lines of Psychology Today’s: A DECISIVE BLOW TO THE SEROTONIN THEORY OF DEPRESSION. That morning a woman I barely know messaged me and asked if she’d been “had.” I’m not sure why this reckoning took so long. “Brain chemistry” theory has been shaky since the turn of the twenty-first century. Based on the after-chemicals, or metabolites, in the body, tests showed the depressed, the undepressed, and those on antidepressants had no difference in their levels of serotonin. As doubts arose about neurotransmitter theory, the industry began rather cynically to deny ever using it. Psychiatrist Ronald Pies, who edited the Psychiatric Times for many years, did this multiple times, once in 2011, and again in 2019, though the Times had itself promoted chemical imbalances.

Pies quoted approvingly the serotonin as “psychiatry’s high school crush” comment. He also implied blame for false promotion of “chemical imbalance” theory falls on the general practitioners who do most of the prescribing of antidepressants (a problem in itself). As if GPs got this drug information not from material that’s mostly written by psychiatrists paid by drug companies, but from tarot decks and Ouija boards.

Partly because of the puncturing of brain chemical theory, there’s a lot more language in psychiatric literature about considering mental distress in a multipronged way—physical, social, psychological. In practice, though, Andreasen’s checklist and fifteen- or twenty-minute care is what we’ve got. Most patients cannot pay for therapy. Those with talk therapists have little to no connection between that work and the work of a prescribing doctor. The first might uncover trauma or dysfunction, or, as in one case I know, a woman in an abusive marriage. The second just gives pills—in the woman’s case, Prozac.

My mind has been poisonous gases, newscasters, floating roses, clothes that dazzle and capture the selfhood of people around me. The fact that only my closest loved ones and my readers know these things, never my professionals, is proof of a strangeness in my world. The sanity industry has managed to create another existence, one in which I’m so typical and rote I’m almost a parody of my lifetime’s mad-doctoring. My case history could be a fill-in-the-blank exam for a course on psychiatric care. In 1971 or 1989 or 2001 (goes the question) patient X, a presenting female with DSM code X and the following symptoms, would be prescribed ___and ___ and ___. Even if I weren’t myself, I could still, myself, correctly answer.
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The Special Madman
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We live in an insane world. If the criterion for defining insanity is danger to oneself and one’s community, then this sentence needs no further proof. . . . Yet within this general insanity there is an insanity of a special kind: the so-called madmen.

HANS KRIEGER, introduction to On the Trail of the Morning Star: Psychosis as Self-Discovery



A PARABLE:

1.Last night three old friends from graduate school and I sat around a rectangular table laughing. We hadn’t seen each other in many years. The table was slate blue.

2.Suddenly a large spider, or something like a spider, fell on my head. It thrashed around on my scalp; I could feel the scratching of each of its eight legs. I screamed and swatted at it.

3.I woke up then and saw the spider—it was actually very large—crouching on a window ledge. Instinctively I grabbed my hair.

4.But I was still asleep and still only dreaming. I woke up again and checked the window ledge—spiderless. Bruce was handing me coffee.

5.To say dream content is irrational and appears on a scale of more disturbing to less disturbing (things with my friends were lovely before the spider came along), is perhaps too obvious, in terms of psychosis.

6.But if I’d woken up again in my dreams and seen the spider? And again? How much re-dreaming is healthy dreaming?

7.My friends and I were laughing about a real joke as we sat around that table, one we’d just been passing around by email. I thought at first that part of the dream was a real memory. But we haven’t been in the same place at the same time in decades. It took most of the cup of coffee to figure out the hierarchies of the real.

8.Paul Schreber wrote to the court, “Even so-called spiritualist mediums may be considered genuine seers of spirits.” So much here: “so-called,” “can be considered,” “genuine.”

9.Lisa Bortolotti writes, “The label ‘pathological belief’ is not supposed to pick out those beliefs that people with a disorder happen to have, but beliefs that are caused by a disorder.” In other words, beliefs can be caused within the brain, exist within the brain, but be distinct from the mind as we know it.

10.The sick-generated belief, the one caused by brain disorder, is diagnosable shorn of context. Though the first person to believe pedophiles and child abductors run our government is mad. The hundreds of thousands who now share that QAnon belief render the first misguided, but not mad. How many it takes to make the shift is an interesting question.

11.Inside our heads there is no “relative,” in the sense that I can say relative to yours, my liver contains several benign tumors (it does) while yours has none (almost certainly). My consciousness is referential only to itself.

In Dorothea Buck and Thomas Bock’s “psychosis seminars,” the diagnosed gathered with family and clinicians to plumb the experience of madness. Buck came to call the process “trialogue,” as all three parties speak equally. Themes arise from participants, and if the seminar theme is fear, everyone shares their fear. Trialogue allowed the experiencers to do what Buck called “playing out” their visions, rather than letting them harden into what looks from the outside like permanent psychosis. As Buck wrote in a paper, “The spirit of trialogue is open, supportive and creative, to share our knowledge as experts on psychoses with participating family members, specialists, and students in a joint exchange of experience.”

The first psychosis seminars met in 1990, and were only for experiencers, to create guidelines for the meetings: How to conceive psychosis? What do those in psychosis actually need? Family and clinicians joined next, many soon showing up “without,” Thomas Bock told me, “much advertising, just in response to a note.” Coming from the setting of a university clinic, Bock found participants who would never “open their mouths” in the clinic suddenly talked freely, clinicians relaxed and listened, and unacquainted experiencers and relatives quickly shared insights. Participants often created metaphors for psychotic experiences, like “walking on sharp stones.” One woman described what she called her neurosis as “a spiral string that must continuously be tightened.” Help for patients was creative and individual: Members terrified by voices might be given a tape recorder to carry, and when no voices appeared on the tape, begin plumbing why internal voices would exist and what they had to say. Members created treatment and crisis agreements, including provisions about when medication could be used and for how long.

“We were a provocation: people can talk to each other! Listening helps! Psychoses are infinitely different,” Bock wrote me after our meeting. Infinite difference: The neurodiverse each carry one of Anil Seth’s “beautiful universes,” if someone will listen. Infinitely its own, and never the flattened “disease course” of the DSM.

Many members of Buck’s groups learned to dose themselves as needed, with the help, she tells a correspondent, of “an insightful outpatient psychiatrist.” One man took “one drop more” of his medication when he got the sensation of people watching him. Others took antipsychotics when they “feel themselves becoming detached from reality,” stopping when the feeling went away.

Though “staying on meds” has become a mark of psychiatric virtue and “going off meds” a sign of madness, chronic medicating is a relatively recent practice promoted by drug companies. Their drug trials generally last less than two months and do not speak to what long courses of these drugs do to mind and body. Trialogue discussions might include “body therapies”—one woman reported that she could ease her “overactive head” with mint oil, cold water, the color green, and touch. Sensory treatments, like drip baths, go back to Pinel and further. I know psychiatrists who say these methods couldn’t work with “severe cases.” They base their judgments on people they see in a psych ward, a terrifying place run by using medications that look sedating from the outside, but from within are also terrifying. They’re also based on people who’ve been given no support in knowing what to look out for and how to help themselves while not yet in crisis.

Buck created these seminars along with Thomas Bock, a psychotherapist. At their peak about one hundred seminars met across Germany; there are far fewer now. I met Thomas in 2022 in Hamburg, the courtly and slightly reserved man who reminded me of Zvi Lothane. And who called Buck his “greatest teacher.” Bock met Dorothea when he was conducting interviews about psychosis for his PhD research, which involved studying how psychotic content is approached in care. Buck contacted him and asked to be interviewed, a “very strong woman,” he told me. “She knew what she wanted.” After exploring Buck’s teenage visions, they invited other patients and their families into the process of exploration. Patients were considered the experts in their own situations; the healing, or “integration” as Buck called it, was self-healing.

One guideline, Bock told me, was that “people have experiences, not a diagnosis.” As my guideline is that I don’t have symptoms, I have a life. Buck called for a psychiatry that defines itself as empirical, built on knowledge drawn not from symptom lists but from patients themselves. Her approach resembles Philippe Pinel’s, an empiricism based on knowing the individual that doesn’t reflect the way Pinel’s science is often taught. Buck’s seminars helped the experiencers and the clinicians. Bock added that he has at times felt “ashamed” to do the work he does, without psychosis experiences. I wish his humility were taught in med school.

Buck learned through her network of friends, correspondents, and seminar participants that we mad are a tribe. We share imagery and ways of experiencing that imagery. Buck found a kindred spirit in Carl Jung and his theories of symbol and archetype. Buck’s Elementary Language, like Schreber’s Basic Language, unpacked the universe’s deep structures. Wouter Kusters told me he once, in psychosis, followed the dialogue in a Chinese film without subtitles though he doesn’t know Chinese. Schreber would have loved this. He may have found that his suffering “in an unknown way that was hieroglyphical,” as he put it, was a set of translatable hieroglyphics and had its own Rosetta stone in his fellow mad.

One of the collective psychotic symbols I found in Buck’s papers was the rosette. This stunned me. I wrote, several decades before this, a poem sequence titled “Rosette.” The rosette motif governed this book, The Lives of the Saints, and the publisher printed it with a rose on the cover.

Before I wrote that book, I decided I wanted to learn cake decoration. My son was little, and I thought he’d enjoy my creations, but it was also manic. I took a decorating class and then mostly taught myself. I covered my cakes with rosettes, circling in thick curls to fold in on a center, like a nautilus. A nautilus is itself a universal constant, built around the same series of numbers as the galaxy—the “golden ratio” or Fibonacci sequence. I couldn’t get enough of the rosette; I piped them onto my son’s palm for him to lick, and all over sheets of wax paper.

In my sequence an unnamed woman decorates fantastical cakes. They’re her inner images turned outer: When her mother dies of cancer, she creates a cake with grassy icing strewn with black blossoms. On it stands a bent woman covered in near-black buttercream. To make the figure my decorator melts a plastic bride in a flame. She brings the cake to her mother’s wake, but her sister throws away the stooped figure. In my poem I write that the rosettes mark the border “where one universe ends / & another, less / personal one begins.”

My rosettes come from both languages, or both worlds, of factual and fantastic. Three-dimensional roses and small rosettes are a cake-decorating basic, albeit the only one that interested me. I swirled the latter from a decorating tube with a pleated tip. As I wrote the poems, I began narrating in my head a screenplay I still add to now and then. The lead character is a cake decorator whose child drowns. The opening shot appears to be a camera panning over snow, until it encounters a large drift. As the camera pulls back, we see the point of view is a woman’s eyeline as she bends over a cake in the process of being decorated. The snow is the top of a cake and the drift, a tiny white rosette. I’ve never bothered to write this script down, because when I go back it’s there. Or there a story is, one that holds the lines of the last versions but has evolved.

At some point the cake decorator leaped from the page and decided she also wanted a movie. She leaped: I couldn’t hold her. To go back to Bortolotti’s distinction, the book could be considered the pathological result of a disease process in the brain. When did it leave the fantastical and become the consensus or the “factual”? As I typed? As it was printed? Which of the two is my unmade film? I will tell you what’s pathological in theory: As with many things in my life, I sometimes need or want to but cannot think of anything else but the film once I start. I would like to think that in these moments of rosette, I talk to those out there in the world who like me, dream rosette.

Buck predicted the war would be terrible. Fact and interpretation retrofit. Along with who-knows-what-when—I never shared my rosette obsession until the poem. Another lunacy test: Does something resembling the thought appear in the world? The New Yorker for many years ran cartoons that showed a disheveled man with a long beard, barefoot and in a robe, standing on street corners. Sometimes he held signs predicting apocalypse, sometimes the cartoon was funny because the doomsday prophet’s sign said something like, “The sale at Macy’s is about to end!” Now our planet has a Doomsday Clock, and it’s poised seconds before midnight. That long-standing trope of the apocalyptic madman has disappeared, his message now part of the real.

My son licked the rosettes off his hand, stiff but sweet.

Buck writes that psychotic visions are symbols, an intrusion of the unconscious. Schreber calls them the inner work of a mind that can truly see. “Symbol” of course only gets us so far. Because in a very real sense everything we experience in life is symbolic, unless it’s immediately in front of us, a semitruck swerving across lanes into our car. Even then, our memory of the semitruck will quickly become symbolic, assuming we survive it. Memory is a symbolic system, largely wrong but built to contain an emotional story. You won’t recall that story as it happened but add changes that make it meaningful to you: The truck crossed many more lanes than it actually did to increase the threat; you navigated heroically out of the way to protect your toddler in the back. Or you responded in the worst way possible, and your unusual good luck saved you yet again.

My symbols are somehow more inner, more interior, more personal to me and created by me. As a writer, I can slide my symbols from that personal system into the real one. It doesn’t even have to be a poem. After I watched demos and picked up the cake-decorating tube, my rosette turned material, and then from the world’s point of view it turned harmless.

A parable:

There is a gene that correlates with shyness. A gene doesn’t make people shy, simply likelier to be, as genes are complex, may or may not activate, get trumped by experience. But there may be some role for heredity, as exists for many other things: fear of heights, whether cilantro tastes like soap. When do we medicate this woman? When her shyness becomes anxiety or phobia, would be a likely answer. She’s likely to be medicated with an addictive drug, a benzodiazepine like Valium, that causes withdrawal symptoms.

Anxiety can also be medicated with an antidepressant like Paxil or Wellbutrin, which also cause withdrawal symptoms. In the case of Wellbutrin, even missing a day’s dose can cause a dreadful experience called “brain zaps.” It may be worth it to this woman to take this medication anyway, though I believe she should know about side effects and withdrawal problems in advance, which she probably won’t. Beyond that I can’t judge. Her consciousness is referential only to itself.

Sans anxiety or phobia, the woman with the gene for shyness won’t have a label, such as General Anxiety Disorder, Social Anxiety Disorder, or another subtype of Anxiety. Nor a Phobia, where the choices are also ample—Specific Phobia: Animal; Specific Phobia: Fear of Injury; Specific Phobia: Other, etc. She will simply be shy, and we’ll add this to the other unique attributes of this woman: blond, an unusually wide smile and a tiny hint of overbite, brown eyes with a hint of green, dimples. As in a shy person I happen to be thinking of.

Like most shy people, the woman articulates her shyness frequently, and, like most shy people, she offers a commentary that counterbalances distress: I really like being home, I would rather binge shows, I love the company of my dog and my child. Though, she reports, it also bothers her; she feels it makes work and socializing much harder than they are for others. She expresses this thought too.

Forty to fifty percent of the population sees themselves as shy, though, as struggling more in social situations than others around them do. The woman I mention believes the thirty or so people in her large extended family aren’t shy, not like she is. But the math is not on her side here.

If someone talked to this woman with the DSM–5 in front of them, they’d have a hard time judging how much this shyness—or her perception of it—represents social anxiety disorder. What conversation could tilt the balance of the woman’s life at this particular moment? It might depend on what kind of a day or week this woman had before her medical visit, maybe one of being thrown into many situations with large groups of strangers. Of course, it also depends on the listener/prescriber, who might be unaware of the 40 to 50 percent and take on face value that this woman suffers too much more than others in social situations.

If I told this woman there’s a gene that can be associated with shyness, it would probably not make her feel less than herself. I’ve told many shy people this fact. They’re interested and sometimes want to know more, but they’ve not been inclined to see themselves as malfunctioning machines. Or any kind of machines.

The British Psychological Society has stated that symptoms of “mental illness” needn’t be seen as disease processes. That they can come from trauma, racism, and life experiences and/or be considered “an aspect of their personality which sometimes gets them into trouble but which they would not want to be without.” I’ve discussed this with American psychologist Patrick Corrigan. Patrick promotes “recovery” psychiatry, a movement that uses the patients’ desire for help and their goals as guidelines. Patrick studies and works to address the very real medical stigma toward psychiatric patients with workshops and seminars.

Many psychologists, given what they know of human lives and their complexity, want to complicate the disease model. Yet psychologists don’t control the diagnostic process, the point where mind meets medicine. We’re stuck now with the need for insurance codes, the point where medicine meets money.

I’ve interviewed Patrick, who is delightful, looks much younger than his sixty-odd years, and likes to cheerfully suggest solving stigma problems with baseball bats. He once told me that psychiatrists are the “most biased” of all doctors against the psychiatric patient.

They see people like me, he tells me, “when they’re at their worst.” I don’t know how to ask them to see me at my best. I suppose I am at my “best” during those occasional twenty-minute med-check appointments. But in that case, “see” is hardly the right word. Before Covid, when we switched permanently to Zoom, my doctor had a checklist I filled out before entering her office. I rated them pretty randomly, ranking anxiety, sadness, suicidality, and sleep all over the place on the one (best) to five (worst) scale. I wondered whether any of it would matter. Measurement-based care, or MBC, has been heavily promoted over the past eight to ten years, as less impressionistic, more empirical, than just asking people stuff. But nothing I marked seemed to matter very much. I’d go in, we’d do a weight, fumble with the blood-pressure cuff that never quite worked, list prescriptions running out. Handing over the checklist seemed itself like a random item on some larger checklist tucked away somewhere.

When I was first diagnosed bipolar, I was diagnosed as bipolar type II, bipolar without psychosis. Every one of the six psychiatrists I’ve had since then has told me that’s the wrong diagnosis, I am from their perspective textbook bipolar type I. I experience psychosis. One doctor indicated type II might just mean more “functional,” though that use would go against the DSM. I always ask why doctors don’t change it in my records. They tell me, “Well, it doesn’t really matter. We would just do the same things.” It’s hard to imagine hearing those words from an oncologist about staging cancer.

It’s human to believe our knowledge store has steadily progressed over time, grown better and richer, more and more scientific and evidence based. More research yielding more and better results. Certainly, in many areas of medicine this is true, but it tends to be truer below the neck. Emil Kraepelin “proved” that the skulls of the mad were either far too large or far too small, though of course, they’re neither. Nevertheless, he had carefully examined and logged hundreds of skulls with specialized instruments and great precision. As with the shy woman, the math for our confidence is not on our side.

Rhode Island Hospital did a survey that found the majority of their two-thousand-plus outpatients had multiple diagnoses. It was a finding that caused no reflection on the quality of those diagnoses. Rather, the lead researcher concluded clinicians should assume patients presenting with mood or anxiety issues will have more than one diagnosis and proceed thus. I haven’t seen this proliferation posed as a problem, in the way the term “influenza” would be viewed as a problem if it could not, most of the time, be used by itself. I have a copy of the DSM–5 in my study, on the jagged marble my husband and I put on top of my old desk. When I read it, I feel as if I’m rolling around in its pages, picking up ink.

For me, clinicians work their way through some twenty-two possibilities, like “Bipolar I disorder, Current or most recent episode hypomanic, in partial remission,” which is only one among many choices involving times and types of manias and psychoses and their remissions. I couldn’t judge these for myself—decide how many tiny elevators or frosting roses it would take to parse the move between full, partial, and no remission.

Buck’s five psychotic episodes occurred between 1936 and 1959, the last one three years after my birth. Finally, Buck reexperienced her childhood in a way both fantastical and factual. Buck began to understand many of her psychotic ideas had the same knowledge-character as dream content. She learned to do what she called separating the meaningful from the trappings, embracing the connection while letting go of interplanetary travel. She does this much as Schreber does at the end of the Memoirs, when he assures the court he knows by this time that people aren’t phantasms.

One great development in Buck’s life occurred in her fifth hospitalization in 1959. It emerged despite the hospital, among the patients. The summer was unusually hot, and patients spent time in a small ward garden. Like Schreber, whose negligent care allowed him to write, Buck and her comrades’ invisibility allowed them to talk. They pushed chairs together and spent hours “talking about what struck us most in our psychosis.” As they did, more and more meaning emerged, and more and more connections. Seasoned experiencers helped someone in her first break understand sentences that kept passing through her mind. Another woman described a psychotic experience much like Buck’s vision of the Unity of Four. Buck investigated one patient’s “compulsive” finding of numbers in names; the practice was very like the numerological practices of the Kabbalah. They gave each other what I received by reading Buck and Schreber. What Buck called “these hot summer days, above us the crowns of the pines in whose shadows we discussed our psychosis,” became the roots of trialogue.

My being alive for Buck’s last episode moves me. I wonder at what age a child has enough of their consciousness footed in consensus reality to be said to deviate from it. I imagine at that age I may have already entered the world we shared, if I wasn’t already in it. As a child I stared at the sun. No one could stop me. Maybe together we dreamed rosettes.

In 1998 a psychiatrist named Loren Mosher resigned from the American Psychiatric Association. Mosher was an embarrassing doctor for the APA to lose. He had degrees from both Harvard and Stanford, headed the schizophrenia center at the National Institute of Mental Health, and founded the flagship Schizophrenia Bulletin. Mosher had also lived a less privileged life than most Harvard doctors. At age nine, Mosher lost his mother, and he grew up passed around among relatives until he reached college age, when he supported himself working in oil fields. His career was marked by sensitivity to the emotional blows behind psychosis.

“The major reason for this action,” he wrote in his APA resignation letter, “is my belief that I am actually resigning from the American Psychopharmacological Association. Luckily, the organization’s true identity requires no change in the acronym.” Mosher went on to say, “At this point in history, in my view, psychiatry has been almost completely bought out by the drug companies . . . The fact that there is no evidence confirming the brain disease attribution is, at this point, irrelevant. What we are dealing with here is fashion, politics, and money. This level of intellectual/scientific dishonesty is just too egregious for me to continue to support by my membership.”

Mosher was influenced by R. D. Laing, though he had reservations about the chaos of Kingsley Hall. In the 1960s Mosher joined the National Institute of Mental Health and came to question some of the “proof” that schizophrenia comes from biology and genetics. He wasn’t opposed to biological medicine; he just felt other models should get equal time. A lot of the research in front of Mosher “proving” physical connections felt biased and/or poorly designed. He also noticed the high rate of resolution of psychosis symptoms by placebo drugs—up to 40 percent of schizophrenics in psychosis got better on fake pills. Not a fact that fits well with theories of brain chemical correction.

“Successful” but ludicrous schizophrenia trials passed Mosher’s desk at the NIMH. One study claimed that giving dialysis to schizophrenics with normal kidneys made them well. The doctor who ran the trial wrote up his findings, and Mosher had to spend several million dollars on a control dialysis to test his results. Dialysis itself, naturally, had no benefit, so some unlucky patients had their kidneys assaulted for no reason. The “cured” dialysis group had been kept in attractive rooms, fed well, talked to, and overall lavished with attention. The cure was achieved, as Mosher put it, by “having a nice life.”

Mosher decided to try another way to treat schizophrenia, using a psychosocial focus. To do this he returned to Philippe Pinel and the moral treatment. He also drew on other approaches and theories, including Laing’s—and Buck’s, though he didn’t know of her—idea that schizophrenic breaks could lead to growth. Mosher chose an old wooden house to create a double-blind experiment, approved and funded by the National Institute of Mental Health, to see how schizophrenics in their first episode did if treated without medication. Patients in crisis were randomly assigned either to Mosher’s group or to a conventional hospital. He named the program Soteria, Greek for deliverance.

The Soteria House provided a home-like environment with mostly nonmedical staff, who treated the residents (Mosher’s term) as peers, accepting their accounts of what was happening and showing confidence all residents would “integrate” again. Staff and residents worked together to run the house. Doors weren’t locked. Though patients arrived in the “acute phase” of a psychotic episode, they took medication only if suicidal or violent. As the residents’ stay went on, they directed more of their own activities, preparing to live on their own. All subjects, from Soteria and from the hospital, were followed for two years.

Many stories from Soteria House could come straight from Philippe Pinel. Pinel put his clockmaker on trial and hailed his monarchs. One Soteria resident believed that when certain celestial events happened, extraterrestrials from Venus would land. On arrival night a staff member went to wait with him, without comment. They sat together until the resident conceded Venusians weren’t coming and went off to do other things.

At the end of six weeks, three-quarters of Soteria residents had had no medication, and their psychoses had resolved just as well as the hospitalized, medicated patients. Soteria residents proved more likely to live independently than the controls and had fewer readmissions. Many hadn’t received a single dose of antipsychotics throughout the two-year follow-up. Mosher never claimed Soteria was a panacea. He argued the default practice of instant medicating, with the assumption meds should probably be used for life, was harmful and unsupported by research.

“Medications do ‘work,’ ” Mosher wrote later. “But at what price in side effects and short- and long-term toxicities?” He believed so much emphasis on medication as cure left psychosocial help as “adjunctive” and often ignored. Mosher believed the Soteria environment helped his residents, and it did. What he asked the profession was to look further into nondrug remedies.

Mosher opened another house, Emanon (for “no name”) and Soteria-like care appeared in other sites here and overseas. Swiss psychiatrist Luc Ciompi adopted the Soteria method and opened a Soteria house in Berne that’s been influential throughout Europe, something like an early Sonnenstein. I’ve read multiple meta-analyses of outcomes research on Soteria-like treatment. Even papers written by psychiatrists that clearly aren’t fans admit it has an equal or greater success rate than conventional care with first- or second-episode schizophrenics. Critiques often cite resources, though overall the meta-analyses stated that Soteria cost less than traditional care (though it over-depended on cheap grad student labor). The costs of drugs, other interventions, medical personnel, and staff to maintain hospitals added up to more money than it took to run a Soteria. Aspects of the program have been used in other sites in the United States, but never on a large scale. Europe, particularly Switzerland and Italy, has used the Soteria model far more than the United States has.

Because of Soteria and its open challenge to the pharmaceutical industry, Loren Mosher got blacklisted. He gave no talks, received no invitations, never served as a useful corrective in revisions of the DSM. Mosher continued to question received wisdom, leading to what feels to me like the most poignant moment of his story. In the 1990s Nancy Andreasen published very Decade of the Brain research on the schizophrenic brain, claiming to prove schizophrenia correlates with and is likely caused by structural abnormalities: enlarged ventricles, pathological tissue. Mosher found it more likely that medications caused those changes. To prove this, he sought the largest number of samples he could find of the unmedicated schizophrenic brain, and he found this multitude in Germany.

“The Germans, who invented neuropathology, looked at the brains of thousands of schizophrenics before there were any neuroleptics,” he wrote. He studied these brains: No cell pathology, no ventricular difference, out of thousands and thousands of brains. And he found people with enlarged ventricles and no schizophrenia.

Mosher probably didn’t know this, but much of the abundance found in German brain samples comes from the tens of thousands of brains “harvested” at killing sites like Sonnenstein. Banks stuffed with T4 brains have been found at research universities like the Max Planck Institute well into the 1990s, still in use.

When Dorothea Buck was invited to address the World Congress of Social Psychiatry, Thomas Bock told me, they didn’t realize she and Bock “were the trialogue people,” and the group tried to block her. In the end, she did speak. Many, in Bock’s words, found it “the most exciting presentation they’d ever been to.” Bock believed the talk was the fulfillment of the third piece of Buck’s laundry room vision—that she would someday have something important to say, and the words would come.

Nevertheless, Bock told me, after her speech a psychiatrist he called “world renowned” approached him and said Buck must not have had psychosis after all, because she’d been able to speak so brilliantly. Her early psychotic vision of eloquence, wrung through the logic of this psychiatrist, deconstructed itself when it appeared in the world, “real” eloquence meaning the psychotic kind never existed. Bock told him dryly, “Well, you’re very attached to your prejudices.” Maybe it was the doctor’s own version of a belief coming from a cell or a ventricle, lodged I hope in the brain and not the mind.
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The Ordinary Madwoman
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To be controlled by insanity is to be feeble. To be controlled by sanity is to be even feebler. But when you have become so mad you are prepared to leave the purity of your madness behind then the memory of it, preserved in every cell of your body, will stop you ever becoming contaminated by sanity.

PETER KINGSLEY, Reality



IN OCTOBER OF 2020 I WROTE IN MY JOURNAL, TWO DAYS AGO, MY BRAIN STARTED racing and feeling fiery (ha! I said brain. Telling.)

“Brain,” not “mind,” I meant: Soon after, I wrote that I felt an overwhelming “burning and heave” in my brain. One side pitched against the skull so much, I had to lay on it to sleep, “like a twitching muscle.” Brain as organ and mind as consciousness separated here, one a perceivable thing encased in bone I felt move as if it were the heart. The other a consciousness able to decide to hold the that, like a tantrumming child, down.

I wrote this soon after: It deeply scares me, after this fall or last fall I guess. I feel though that if I could just put some chains around that fear it would be ok, even a way to experience that difference that’s always waiting in there, like the closet door opening that you rarely open, some specter in an old coat, that you recognize, taking your arm.

I wrote this, with its tangled syntax, before reading On the Trail of the Morning Star. Was the specter the difference, the madness? The fear? Were those things the “it” that would be ok? Had I read the book, I might have tried to experience that difference, force that closet door open.

Another entry from a few years ago: My thoughts both mine & alien, pressing against my skull, looping, & feeling like as something not mine they were pushing to get out. And that stood-away loudness, angry with me for what I was trying to think.

I’d read Paul Schreber’s Memoirs and I’m sure I thought of him, his complaint that God wouldn’t extend to him the “privilege of thinking nothing.” I expect what Schreber called “compulsive thinking” in some way resembled my thoughts, foreign and familiar and physically looping. “Stood-away loudness,” which I have a hard time parsing now, seems to say the loudness felt other. Schreber both protested his compulsive thinking and praised it. It caused him to “think more deeply” and “ponder many things usually passed over by human beings.” Schreber would not relinquish this knowledge of spiritual matters “for all the gold on earth.”

For most of my life I’ve experienced “alien” voices in my head. It may have started in my twenties. At least, I don’t mention voices earlier in my diaries, but that’s not proof. Sometimes, as here, they’re cacophony, a sense I described one night as Like an LP skipping, two skipping over each other . . . But far more aggressive than that, “other.” Like something in your brain is screaming, you dared to think it. Now take that.

At other times I hear voices that come from identifiable beings, people, within my head. For a while I had a male biker and an older, more proper, woman. They were the clearest figures among others, who sometimes showed up at night. These voices discussed me in the third person. In 2003, I wrote, a woman said, “Put her back in a room. She was too badly hurt.” I had the sense that “she” might not be allowed out again. But the order also felt protective. When I reread this journal the date surprised me—two years into Seroquel and its zonked sleeping. I didn’t doubt that despite the hurt I needed Seroquel, or another antipsychotic: the side effect–free wonders, calming uncalm females so they can dote on their children. I still had some faith in biological psychiatry: another voice, one truly from the outside, put into my head.

In January 2023 I wrote, I realized reading Bentall: those intrusive voices I hear are just “outside” narration coming inside, outside syntax & structure. Since realizing that that intrusive feeling hasn’t bothered me at all. I noticed at first & recognized it; now I’m not even really noticing.

I was talking about British psychologist Richard Bentall, author of Madness Explained and Doctoring the Mind, both books I read that year. I referred to his discussion of inner and outer speech. Inner narration uses a highly compressed syntax and structure. Obviously: Thinking can’t take as long as having a conversation with someone else. But sometimes, for some of us, consciousness uses “outside” syntax and structure, sounding alien because its form and tone are misplaced—like a hieroglyphic appearing in a set of code. Buck’s trialogue helped participants understand they were communicating with themselves, much as it might not feel that way.

When voices came back, I read some papers Bentall cited. I thought about those and about Buck. In the process I managed to lose the madness of fearing madness. It was as if a man in a ski mask hovered in my door with a knife and someone whispered to me, it’s October 31, it’s Halloween.

March 2022: Last night I was thinking & suddenly there was a loud voice in my head: Susanne doesn’t want that. I don’t recall what I was thinking about, nothing serious, but I still hear that bell-like intrusive voice. This diary entry wasn’t disturbed, just musing.

All these old diaries bring me back to the subject of consciousness. Though I’m not here to try to explain consciousness—even if I could—but to unexplain it, stress its unknowability. If I can. Years of soaking in the language of brain chemistry has made it seem like the brain’s physical existence and its product—thought—lay transparently upon each other, like an X-ray of a beating heart. But they do not. The latter can’t be fit in any definite way into the former.

I once talked to Giulio Tononi, a neuroscientist who believes consciousness is a fundamental force. He measures it in a unit called “phi.” Phi is a unit of consciousness that can appear in a human brain, an electron, within the elements of a galaxy. Among many other places. Giulio told me that though I lived under an alpine mountain, Mount Baker, my consciousness made my mind “so much greater” than the alpine mountain. We were on Skype and he waved his arms and seemed to be gifting me my greatness. I believe what Giulio told me and think about it when I watch the pale peak that rises through a ruff of clouds to the west. Some ski there. Some climb. Some think the mountain shelters aliens and camp to observe their lights. Baker—Kulshan in the Indigenous language—has as many existences as there are minds to grant them.

I did this interview with Giulio for a book called The Terrible Unlikelihood of Our Being Here. In the book the terrible unlikelihood of existence was personal but also collective: my having gotten this far, certainly, but also the unlikelihood of life itself, of mind itself. Another scientist I interviewed, cognitive scientist Donald Hoffman, also believes consciousness is a fundamental force, one that exists outside the human body.

Don also has a theory about the world that, delivered outside an academic setting, could feel insane, even paranoid. The world we see, goes Don’s theory, is drastically simplified from what it is. There is no evolutionary value to complexity. The less distracted you are, the faster you spot the moving tiger in the bushes. I know my garden intimately and I think I see, more or less accurately, all that’s there. When I imagine the viewpoint of a hummingbird, I picture that viewpoint as so narrow the bird has little knowledge of the world. Nectary flowers, the two cats, other hummingbirds. I don’t imagine it having the awareness to notice all that I do. But I give myself too much credit. Like the hummingbird, the less I notice, the more likely I am to thrive. Its world is as rich as mine, and it and I equally limited. Don just takes this fact to its logical conclusion—we not only simplify our environment as an evolutionary survival strategy but simplify it drastically. Schreber could provide only “representations” of his grand cosmos. We can see only representations of ours.

The science of the past didn’t exist in a nursery school’s worth of sophistication. It was real and thoughtful and mostly wrong, as is ours. “Half of what we are teaching you is wrong. Unfortunately, we don’t know which half.” This quote has been attributed to a handful of people, from poet Carl Sandburg to Harvard dean Charles Kettering. I won’t guess who, as most of my guesses would be wrong.

As Don told me on the phone, “We have to accept that the universe is something new, not the one we think we know.”

Don’s image for our knowledge of the world is computational. Our perception is as close to reality as a computer icon—like the tiny yellow folder icon on your home screen—is to what’s stored behind it. Which if you have a decent hard drive can be tens of thousands of documents, images, videos, sound files, and what have you. Maybe millions; my hard drive’s not that good. Imagine looking at your desktop and seeing the hummingbird, standing in for a vastness greater than even its stunning and intricate life. Such is the bashfulness of reality.

I have no Basic or Elementary Language, but as a child I often named or renamed what I loved. In Holly Park a marshy lagoon was crisscrossed with ditches called mosquito trenches. Between these grew bands of long grasses, including what I called snakegrass, the plant I saw again on Wangerooge. To traverse it we jumped the trenches and sometimes slipped, sinking into mud. It resembled the mud on Buck’s island: thick, with an almost oily cling. People dug trenches in the marsh to help them drain and control the breeding of mosquitoes. I’m not sure what apocalyptic world of mosquitoes these trenches saved us from, as mosquitoes laid their eggs in the water and the place sometimes had an unearthly hum I believed were mosquitoes hatching.

Technically, I don’t think our lagoon was a real lagoon—it had no sandbar or dune sheltering it from the bay. This didn’t really matter; that’s what we called it. We saw so few other people our vocabulary went unquestioned. At the edge of the lagoon, along the bayside, lay a few small patches of sand. Here I had some of my spiritual awakenings, my mudflats, though mine weren’t falls. I called these sand patches coves and named them after religious figures: Muhammad’s Cove, Christ’s Cove, Akhenaten’s Cove, after the Egyptian pharaoh who decided there was only one deity. I’d given the “coves” these names by the time I began my diary at eleven. I remember feeling a threshold quality to these curves of sand. Wind waved the grasses toward the sea and waves lapped back at them, as if the grasses longed for water and the waves drank the shore.

I found the word “lagoon” ugly, I complained in my journal. For myself I renamed it “Nefer-akhet-aten” or “beautiful land of God,” a name I created by pasting together root words I got from the names of pharaohs. That Egypt was a part of me and I a part of it was something I always believed, and I spent a lot of time immersed in Egyptian history. When the wind blew through snakegrass, I wrote, it looked like grass rippling with gold. I described another long grass looking like velvet in the wind. At thirteen, I wrote that the first time I saw the lagoon I wore shorts and came out with my legs covered with tiny cuts: “It was almost like it was saying, ‘Go home—you don’t belong here.’ And it’s true.”

I had spent summers at Holly Park since birth and couldn’t have remembered seeing it for the first time. But the image of cuts is right for a sacred place, with such places’ power of both attraction and resistance. I imagined being driven out by my beautiful place of God because its nature would hold that ambiguity toward the human. At thirteen, I should have found such a memory obviously false. But it’s a “central experience” memory, as Buck would put it, the irruption of the myth that never was but always is. It makes no lived sense, yet it’s true.

At the coves I became lost in the movements of the waves, the pointillist brilliance made on wave by sun. The latter never struck me as either light or water but as something created between the two, a revelation of form Buck would understand. The beauty I experienced felt so peculiar to my own perception I didn’t expect anyone else to see it. I thinned out and would have been, if anyone had come across me then, tranced as I was as a child, when people sometimes took me for blind. Though the experience was in one way a mental transcendence, the body went along; the experience passed through me like a ceaseless shudder.

What was real? Obviously, not the names, just an odd kid’s fancy, hallucinatory only if I began seeing actual pharaohs. There’s no way I remembered the first time I saw the place, but thinking I did isn’t a huge lapse. Calling it a lagoon may have been my larger family’s controlled hallucination, to use Anil Seth’s term. The hum of mosquitoes gestating might have been my uncontrolled one—no one else remembers it. The condition of the light, the condition of the place as having not just a sacredness but a sacredness that had a position in relationship to me, may be closer to madness.

I think about Don’s words and wonder what would happen if I told a psychiatrist that humans see almost nothing of the world as it actually exists. It’s possible what I see is simply true. There’s no evolutionary benefit to hearing mosquitoes grow. Or to feeling the assault of rays. These would be points for defense attorney Schreber. There’s a new universe out there. You think you know it, but you don’t.

Here is a final quote from Buck regarding her 1959 psychosis: “The normal sense of the world resembles the compartment system of a desk; everything has its place but remains isolated and God too has his own compartment, the religion compartment.” The compartments of sanity keep the connected apart; their strict function means believing there’s a difference.

I have an eighteenth-century desk with that period’s many peevish little slots and drawers, clumping my letters, photos, documents, books. After I read this quote, I grabbed each chunk of stuff from my desk and threw them together on the floor. My copy of Jane Eyre and its attic-ed madwoman fell on a literary journal that held an essay I wrote, about lithium. Love letters from Bruce splayed across the top of old medical insurance forms, from back when my medication badly taxed our budget. Onto a poem I wrote about the Godhead of my cat toppled a book by eighteenth-century phrenologist and eugenicist, O. S. Fowler.

In 1990 I wrote in my journal that I felt my insides had been hollowed out, “carved like a pumpkin.” I had used the same image at age eleven, reusing it long before I found my old diaries and read them again. It was Schreber-esque; he felt at times that his stomach had been hollowed. In 2001, the year of Seroquel, I wrote that I must begin at a place old & dull to the writer & the reader, a deep sadness, that seems no longer able to stay in the brain & leaks through the body, so the tongue has a tongue-sadness, the kidney its own, the skin its own, & each one in its separate ____.

I left the space blank, something I’ve never done elsewhere. I don’t know now what the blank stood for. It reads like the leak has somehow overtaken the ink. And the sadness is compartmentalized, like the desk. Nor can I explain “writer” and “reader” though probably I’d unconsciously done what I did as a child: separated the writer of the journal from the reader of it, though both are me.

At my worst, I’ve been suicidal. Still, depression has a voice that must be heard, a seat at the trialogue table. Along with the awareness that depression, like other psychic states, tends to resolve on its own. When it’s bad you do what you need to make it stop, but endless medication for depression can just generate the need for endless medication for depression.

The pain of depression often includes the pain of the world, and with it a desire to end that pain. Once when I felt very sad, I read that a lot of plastics don’t get recycled because food taints the containers. I started scrubbing mine obsessively, seeing them in my mind in landfills if I didn’t. I wonder if “I feel more empathy now” shouldn’t be somewhere on the standard Hamilton Depression Scale. Like all madness—and perhaps even more than the others—depression is a form of rethinking existence itself. Everyone has their own meaninglessness, and it has a lot to say about meaning.

I recall in my mid-twenties telling people I’d discovered I no longer needed food or sleep. I’d spent a month either not sleeping or sleeping very little, ate little, lost weight but got poems written and work pushed out at my editorial job, and beyond all that had a joyous, talky, brilliantly lit and endless party in my own head. Bouncing along on my own jazz, I needed little. I had in myself all the words and experiences I could hold; I’d become planet. Not everything felt good. I screeched inside myself. I was a little world, perhaps not made cunningly, but made entirely from self-produced nails and lumber. I didn’t doubt that I no longer needed food or sleep. It sounded plausible enough.

As a child I felt my stomach hollow, along with other Schreber-type things: I felt the presence of the devil. Like Pinel’s clockmaker I believed I could move a clock with my mind. My family had a great ability to let me withdraw and stay withdrawn. While not deliberate, this practice allowed me to keep my visions and my pages to myself. I faced down evil, I considered suicide, I had joyous love knots. I would never have shared these things with anyone. Nobody bothered me. I suppose I had my own Guido Webers.

At fifteen I sat in the office of a psychiatrist I’ll call Dr. L. He had a round face and a look of glacial impassivity. I found many psychiatrists cultivated that face, chill and ready to fend off whatever lunacies might try to breach its walls. Repulsion, I thought at the time. Maybe, I think now, also a little fear.

Dr. L stood with my mother and father. My parents seemed to have been ushered in for a brief word. It was unusual for them to come to any appointment with me, and they didn’t sit. The doctor told my parents in his impassive voice that I had schizophrenia, and they could expect me to be hospitalized for life. As Rosenhan proved, once a schizophrenic, always a schizophrenic. They said something. He said something else. None of them looked at me and they spoke as if I were already gone, so lost in this place called schizophrenia and so damned by Kraepelin I’d become part of the chair.

I can’t tell you more about this moment, or my hospitalizations, because so much has been blurred by shock treatment. My imprecision about hospitalizations frustrates my friends, who know I’m good at research. But I honor my loss of memory. I honor the fact that someone existed as me for many months and I don’t know who that person was. Not everything can or should be reclaimed. Though I’ve told this story before, it changed for me after I met Buck and Schreber. At least they gave me family.

A few months after turning fourteen I swallowed a bottle of Quaaludes—a sleeping pill no longer on the market—in an attempt at suicide. The Quaaludes were my father’s, but I had for some period before this been using illegal drugs. I’m not sure anymore which ones. I was no longer that dedicated a diarist. I spent a few days in the hospital and my parents were required to take me to a psychiatrist. I lost what I had left of my lone, tumultuous, but yeasty Schreber life, the Schreber neglected by Guido Weber.

I became contaminated by sanity, by the idea of sanity. I ran from it as fast as I could. I was being swept to Dr. L and his institution, the place for people I only knew by the words “sick in the head.” The phrase itself was confusing, as to my father it meant both those so different they got removed to an institution, and those who were unspeakable, like Nazis. Soon I was that feral child, often not coming home, or coming home in the middle of the night and passing out on the couch.

In the sporadic diaries I kept during this period, my recap of the overdose didn’t mention depression, which I always wrote about if I felt it. My parents, I wrote, had become “impossible.” Fractures in my parents’ marriage, and I’m sure other family things, changed my life of mostly content withdrawal. This was particularly true of my mother, starting when I turned thirteen. She’d always been difficult, but for the next four years she became an awful version of herself, someone she wasn’t before or after. One day, just after I’d been diagnosed with asthma, she told me she didn’t want to pay for it if I had to be hospitalized for breathing problems. She said two other things so cruel I won’t recount them, but things no one that age could get past.

I dropped out of high school in my junior year, after multiple rounds of shock and losing the skills to navigate the simplest geography or do basic math. I would have failed out anyway, I think, but I still feel the humiliation of sitting in an algebra class knowing I couldn’t even multiply. This too no one in charge of me discussed—what happened to a schoolkid when a treatment known to damage memory and cognition got applied again and again. I finally got off opiates after an overdose and a week of astonishing sickness. My body’s dependence was vomited, again and again, into a toilet. I didn’t get away so easily from the legal stuff.

Looking back on my own life, I see two things. One is the astonishing pileup of things—family, drugs, side effects, contexts—that never came up in what passed as my care. Film critics Gene Siskel and Roger Ebert criticized movies where a “five-minute conversation” about one person’s running into a former lover or another person’s gun in the handbag could have preempted the action of an entire film. My life was that movie. Buck’s statement that patients get “pills rather than conversation” was not only true, but true to an extent that renders the avoidance hard to imagine, almost like a self-discipline, or a philosophy.

This is the feebleness of sanity, or the kind of sanity peddled by the sanity industry. In my case the weaknesses of madness crossed with the weaknesses found in the kind of sanity that’s an impoverished vision of human life. It’s a sanity that avoids the contamination of consciousness and its mysteries—Donald Hoffman’s unknown world, or Anil Seth’s hallucinations, or Giulio Tononi’s universal phi.

The second thing I see is the joy that existed when I could stay in my inner world. Like Schreber at the end of the Memoirs or the Buddhistic Buck, in and after her fifth episode. A few months before the Quaalude overdose, I wrote from the shore, “I feel marvelous, so peaceful and happy.” I may have been sitting in one of my coves. I had an inoculant against the contamination of sanity that took most of a lifetime to rediscover—something I called recently in my diary “finding a new way to feel the insuck of the mind.” Another time, in the middle of many problems, I wrote that I needed to withdraw into my madness—my “mews/muse.”

Keeping that inoculant, working through it, involves privilege. I have fair skin, jobs that let me take leave. In the context of this book, I had what Elfriede Lohse-Wächtler and hundreds of thousands of others did not: time.

I wrote about the insuck—staying in my mind, playing in it—when I started a diary to cover what I thought of as the between-times. It was 2022 and I’d realized that after my careful and self-flagellating-if-I-missed-a-day childhood journaling I tended to write only when life went haywire. Or when I was bored, stuck in an airport or hotel. Starting this between-times diary, I wrote that “I’m trying to nail down what you might call the day-to-dayness of madness.” I wanted that younger vision again. It contained pleasure. And curiosity, and fascination. And when it contained misery at least that misery came to mean. The grass cutting my calves to send me away taught me truths of sacrality. I learned that a living thing on my planet, one that purred on my bed, could be a vessel for something larger than me. Were these insights wrong? Ultimately, Schreber valued true sight over sound nerves. I wanted to write my way to something of what Buck’s and Schreber’s memoirs found.

Yesterday I could hear the birds. Oddly already I’m not sure what they said. If it was a word at all or just an even more intense bell-like crystalline existence of their cry. Trying to get PT [Psychology Today] column finished, having to try for an extraordinary amount of focus, b/c the words won’t stay still, or close up into solidity—I am walking behind the words.

Later: What is walking behind the words. Soaking up the images of fall, the infinity of falls, the colors the places the words, C’ville in fall exploding in my mind, the weeds of B’ham, spiders, the words in full—the words almost in fall, laugh, awl, cannot possibly contain this.

Words ricochet in this passage yet balletically dodge each other. Mad syntax. I didn’t capture that on purpose. At one time this “sloppiness” in writing would have embarrassed me. Was the bell-like cry what I heard, or did I mean I heard existence? I’m not sure if the words close up, as a book does, or come into close-up, like a film. Walking behind the words means living the fullness—the words existing as themselves, plastic and promising—and the falling apart. They fly into anagrams, switching consonant positions, as “laugh” and “fall” do. Things hide inside: “fall” contains “awl.” “Full,” “fall”—near misses. Images—Charlottesville the place that had the most spectacular falls I’ve ever lived, Bellingham the weediest.

Another: Getting tangled up in words’ potential to the point that what they’re doing is everything and nothing, referential to so much sparking with reference that kind of collapses, but in a beautiful all-encompassing way—the sense of the logos, of logos returning to itself.

Here too the mad syntax. A rollicking that reminds me of Buck’s language in her fifth episode, the breaking of words into musicality, like the word “word” itself—“Wort”—becoming a sung chord.

I wrote the first of these entries in mid-July when nothing in the temperate Pacific Northwest resembles fall. Our spring rain and summer warmth make for a green midsummer. Weeds like bindweed and buttercup haven’t knit themselves in yet. Nothing I wrote responded to the season. I seem to have walked into the word “fall” in something else I was writing, the place “walking behind the words” usually happens.

At eleven I thought the devil might take my soul, then, as if that were nothing much, how I liked a little Chinese coin I’d ordered from the back of a magazine. In this July, I stumbled and walked behind the words not long after mentioning I’d made jam. July—it would have been blueberry. That I can say.

To be controlled by insanity is to be feeble. To be controlled by sanity is to be even feebler. Jam and coin collecting—so tangible, so alive in the hands—may be taints to the purity of my madness, but also inoculants against its feebleness. The loss of balance is sanity’s contamination. Maybe the moral treatment and Soteria and similar programs work because, among other things, they provide the jam.

For me the term “bipolar” is a glimpse into my great wonder and great strangeness. Diagnostic terms can be launching points, but they make deadly stopping points. As that, they create no living dialogue, just impoverished definitions of the human mind. There are other definitions and other modes. The moral treatment, Soteria, trialogue. Tape recorders, sculptures, the body shocks of cold, of mint. Justin Garson’s concept of madness-as-strategy. The World Health Organization lists humane but, relative to the industry, small alternative care models around the world: in Switzerland, Japan, India. Sifting through is beyond the work of this book. Doctors practicing during Buck’s life, like Carl Jung, would have offered her an unpacking of experience rather than suppression of it. She had no access to their care, or any kind of alternative to what she got. As is the case with so many.
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The manuscript is the product of a morbid imagination and nobody reading it would lose the feeling that its author is mentally deranged. But this could not possibly lower the patient in the respect of his fellow men, particularly as no one can miss the seriousness and striving after truth that fill every chapter.

from the judgment of the Schreber court



“IF IT’S THE WORK OF GOD, IT WILL LAST,” SCHREBER WROTE OF HIS MEMOIRS. THE book has lasted. As has, riding along with the book, the court case. In 2008, psychiatrist Kate Robertson wrote in the British Medical Journal that Schreber’s appeal and the court’s decision “more than anything else restore my faith in the possibility of a humane psychiatry.” She failed to say any word stronger than “possibility.” But the fact that she read the decision as a living document speaks to God’s work: At a time when asylum patients were often considered tainted people not worth feeding, Schreber argued for his neurodiverse mind, and won. In more ways than one, he exited the Devil’s Castle.

I imagine it didn’t take long for the Schreber court to realize they weren’t dealing with a lunatic in the ordinary sense. Nor did Schreber deal with an ordinary court. “Dr. Weber stands with his feet firmly planted in rationalism,” wrote the Dresden royal court of appeals in 1900, “which denies out of hand the possibility of supernatural happenings.” Consider the phrase “out of hand,” meaning without too much thought. The court lacked Weber’s certainty and denied nothing out of hand.

Schreber’s fight for release lasted almost three years, Schreber and Weber sending the Dresden court reports and appeals, including the manuscript copy of Schreber’s Memoirs. Schreber believed his book, not yet published, would justify him to Weber, Sabine, and the judges. Schreber testified a few times in person. There’s no transcript, but in references, it sounds like Schreber argued, briefly, along the lines of his written documents. He also had character witnesses, one his brother-in-law, the deliciously named Karl Jung. Schreber included Weber’s reports, his appeal, and the court’s judgment as addenda at the back of the Memoirs. Schreber as the hero Siegfried slew his dragon. He wanted readers to see the swords and battle gear.

After obtaining a declaration of temporary incompetency for Schreber in 1895, Weber pursued permanent commitment. Schreber fought back, initially working through another attorney. One motive for Weber was probably the extraordinary sum Schreber paid to stay at Sonnenstein. It’s clear from Weber’s testimony and other documents that Sabine also worked to keep him inside, seeking permanent control of his money. In 1899 a Dresden court sided with Weber and declared Schreber permanently incompetent. This kind of declaration, called tutelage, reduced the person under it to the legal status of a seven-year-old. In March 1900 the court rejected Schreber’s appeal and upheld his status. Schreber dismissed his lawyer and represented himself.

Schreber’s essay “In What Circumstances Can a Person Considered Insane Be Detained in an Asylum Against His Declared Will?” is included in the Memoirs and named in the German title of the book. The piece addresses his own case but makes an independent legal argument. That argument isn’t complicated: A person committed to an asylum who wants to leave must be released, if they don’t pose a danger to self or others. Schreber proposes a legal category of “harmless insanity” that will supersede any diagnosis given by what he dismisses as “scientific psychiatry.” Weber diagnosed Schreber as paranoid and claimed paranoia couldn’t be cured, the diagnosis reason enough to keep Schreber in tutelage. Wrong, writes Schreber—the asylum director is not a member of the “security police” but “essentially only a medical advisor.” The doctor can offer opinions, but not absolutes, a bit of a shoulder-shrug at the whole concept of “scientific.”

Schreber’s work on behalf of future Schrebers succeeded. “Harmless insanity” entered German law.

In his essay about involuntary holds, Schreber’s Latin terms and legal reasoning ride along with his apology for having to write in “complete isolation from the outside world,” without his usual sources—i.e., in an asylum. In a footnote Schreber writes that while “the writer of this essay counts himself among the harmless mental patients in the sense described above, it is said of him that he is possessed of religious hallucinations, whereas in his own opinion these contain objective truth unrecognizable to other people.”

The trial dealt primarily with Schreber’s capacity to live in the world—handle money, behave appropriately, and return to his marriage. Schreber had no need to include his visions or the fact of his commitment in the paper, which he intended for wide reading. Schreber was no pseudopatient who could later say “just kidding” in a prestigious journal. The visions, and his punishment for having them, were intrinsic to Schreber’s view of himself. To Schreber the truth of his visions—that truth sometimes cloaked in “as ifs” and approximations—is at the heart of the trial. It is for Weber as well, for different reasons. The court wavers, somewhat as Freud did, between dismissing Schreber’s madness and embracing it. Beneath the surface of the trial is a three-way dispute about sanity, reality, and biological psychiatry.

Weber acted as a good Kraepelinian, insisting that Schreber’s case was one of “brain disease.” His filing of December 1899 describes Schreber’s hallucinatory phases and their “stupor,” the judge’s sense of persecution, his miracles. Weber brings up Schreber’s gender transition as madness in itself—the judge’s “peculiar ideas about the male and female body”—and a madness that will shame Sabine Schreber. He makes the odd stretch of calling Schreber’s transition financially irresponsible. Sabine seems to have complained about the cost of Schreber’s jewelry, ribbons, and bows. Schreber responds that these were just “trumpery” items, what we’d call costume jewelry, and cost only a few German marks.

Schreber appears “neither confused nor affected in his intelligence,” Weber tells the court, but underneath this the man is “filled with pathological ideas, which are woven into a complete system, more or less fixed, and not amenable to corrective evidence.” Weber submits pages condemning Schreber’s visible acts of madness—bellowing, screaming at the sun—before claiming Schreber’s current seeming-sanity proves him madder still. Weber tells the court Schreber’s case would actually be more hopeful if the man were still raving.

Weber speaks on behalf of Sabine, probably with her input, and claims Schreber’s return to his wife’s life will disturb and humiliate her, wrecking their marriage. Then he condemns Schreber for suggesting to Sabine that if she finds living with him impossible, he’ll accept a divorce. Schreber is no pseudopatient, but he’s crossed into Rosenhan territory. Wellness is no longer possible, only acts that through revelation or concealment, through yeses or noes, cover a corrupting madness.

In late December of 1900, Memoirs in hand, Weber submits another report. He has many complaints: Schreber has behaved well when dining with the Weber family but on one excursion to Dresden made noises at a dining table that drew a serving girl’s attention. A released Schreber may still bellow, Weber believes, and the judge still wears women’s ribbons. But Schreber’s book becomes Weber’s mic drop, full of “unembarrassed detailing . . . of the most impossible situations and events, the use of the most offensive vulgar words.” The book would compromise Schreber “in the eyes of the public” so greatly that only derangement could make him think of publishing. Weber argues that Schreber and Sabine will be disgraced when “the public” reads the book, and Flechsig may sue. He argues simultaneously that the manuscript is so absurd no publisher would ever take it.

“No one can know . . . what goes on in my mind and body,” Schreber writes in his July 1901 Grounds for Appeal. The certainty of Schreber’s knowledge of God “towers above all human science.” Schreber’s appeal is almost forty pages long. Much of it recaps the visions and experiences I’ve described in chapter 3. Schreber corrects errors in the doctor’s reports, stating for instance that it’s been years since he believed people were fleeting-improvised. He cites the excursions he’s finally been allowed to take outside of Sonnenstein and the correctness of his public behavior.

As to profanity, Schreber writes, those who offer a new conception of religion, like Martin Luther, tend to use “flaming speech.” And the book wasn’t written for “flappers and high school girls.” Schreber and Weber even tussle about women’s breasts. In his memoirs Schreber describes the nerves of “soul-voluptuousness” that lie in a woman’s breasts and pleasure him as his body changes. Weber claims there is no such sexual feeling in the female breast, no nerves of sexual response—only, as he puts it, a “deposition of fat.” To think otherwise is another madness. This is a case in which experiential research might have helped. Mrs. Weber may have preferred her man a bit more mad.

That the mad are wise and see the world clearly and the neurotypical are foolish and do not is another mad pigeonhole. I defend my right to be foolish. But there is a neurotypical rationality so built on received assumptions it’s as absurd as it’s self-assured, and this is Weber’s. There is a clear-eyed way the mad can see the world because they have swept so many assumptions away, and this is Schreber’s. Weber never notices how badly he contradicts himself. I imagine to him it all sounded not only rational, but of a rationality that succeeded in a hundred cases where he served as expert witness.

To Weber’s claim that people will consider him crazy if he publishes his Memoirs, Schreber responds, They already do consider me crazy. If returning home as a sick man will put distance between himself and his wife, has the doctor forgotten the couple hasn’t lived together for eight years? Weber harps on Schreber’s bellowing, even as he calls Schreber deceptively normal. If it’s so rare for someone of the high intelligence and tactful behavior Weber describes to bellow, Schreber asks, “has science in any way a satisfactory explanation for this?” If Weber is going to use his “scientific psychiatry,” Schreber implies, Weber needs to at least bring the science.

Schreber occasionally makes half-hearted apologies. The medical director must not take anything amiss, as Schreber has “no intention whatever of offending him.” Schreber walks a line between correcting Weber and trying not to infuriate him. He shows a real generosity of spirit Weber lacks, the same generosity that offered Flechsig space to respond in the Memoirs. Weber’s answers devolve to some version of, I know because I know.

Five judges named Hardraht, Steinmetz, Vogel, Nicolai, and Paul made up the Dresden court of appeal. I admire them tremendously and have no clue who they were. The firebombing of the war took much of Dresden and its records. There’s no dissenting opinion on record, no sense of whether one of these men sympathized with Weber but got overruled. I wonder if any of them had neurodivergent loved ones or episodes themselves. What we know of these five men we know collectively, through their arguments.

The court begins its response with a summary, a recap of Schreber’s and Weber’s pleadings. Weber has charged that someone as mad as Schreber has lost control of himself, and his madness forms an “external influence” that robs Schreber of free will. The bulk of the summary goes to a sympathetic reiteration of Schreber’s points. Weber has offered no evidence for Schreber’s lack of “free will,” they write, and, even when Schreber lost his first appeal, he showed keen knowledge of the law. The court picks up Schreber’s language without qualification, invoking the miracles, the “steady serenity of spirit” Schreber has received from his visions. Tutelage, they write, can be used only for the benefit of the person involved, not their spouse, or to head off the possible faux pas of things like bellowing.

The judgment of the court follows the summary. It begins, “The court has no doubt the appellant is insane.” If Weber felt vindicated by that opening sentence, the feeling wouldn’t last. The court could have rescinded Schreber’s tutelage on the evidence of his ability to manage his life. But the five judges don’t limit themselves to that question, nor do they mean what Weber meant by insanity. Weber’s world held no respectable mental derangements that strove for truth. The judges’ world did. If the Dresden court condemned Schreber’s insanity, it condemned Weber’s feeble sanity as well.

The court quickly affirms that Schreber can manage his affairs. It dismisses Weber’s argument that Schreber’s “fixed” insanity unhinges his entire mind and can compromise his actions, and in this renders an opinion more psychiatric than legal. A bit snarkily, the court reasons that as people surely know the social Weber without encountering his medical self, so people can know Schreber without encountering his mad self. Weber’s claim that madness causes a “unity of mind”—there can be no piece of the mind untouched by madness—belongs to modern “scientific psychiatry,” says the court; nevertheless it’s only a theory and unproven. Schreber’s visions belong not to the field of bad brains but “the field of religion.”

The judges reiterate Schreber’s point about the hypocrisy of threatening harm to Schreber’s marriage: “How then could this relationship be worsened?” They scold Weber for waiting so long to spend time with Schreber and allow him out of the asylum, thereby condemning Schreber’s behavior with “little opportunity” for observation. The court praises Schreber for his “great moral seriousness and candor of character.”

Toward the end of the judgment the court writes that no one can hold Schreber responsible for his profane language and condemnation of Flechsig, as this language and these comments belonged not to Schreber but to “the voices.” Schreber is “reporting what the voices of miraculous spirits” told him. It’s a stunning distinction to make in a matter of law and redefines Schreber’s presumed insanity. For the judges, as for Schreber, the voices belong to a reality that exists on its own terms.

In July of 1902, Schreber’s tutelage was rescinded, leaving him free to exit the Devil’s Castle. Schreber doesn’t leave a record of how he felt, whether shocked or sure of himself. It’s a case, Zvi Lothane tells me, that’s lived on in German justice. The court ruled the human mind can’t simply be nailed to the tree of theory.


After 1943, psychiatrists, who had turned out to be adversaries of their patients and in the period from 1939 to 1945 had proven themselves to be—in the literal sense of the term—their “mortal enemies,” continued to convey to their students and to the public nothing other than an image of deficiency.

—DOROTHEA BUCK, to the World Psychiatric Association, 2007



Dorothea Buck did not get a chance to write a legal appeal for release from an institution. Nor could she. Documents filed by a teenage girl would stand even less chance than arguments filed by a Schreber. She fought not an asylum director but an entire government. She had no single triumph, and at the end of her life considered psychiatry still mostly failing. Buck’s life, her talks and letters, form her testimony.

The details of Buck’s activism, public speaking, and organizing are enough for another book, one I hope, like a dedicated Buck biography, soon follows this one. Schreber was a private man who thought on the page. Buck wrote but she traveled, spoke, reached out to people, and built communities. Buck was the force that told Thomas Bock he should put her in his dissertation. And the force Fritz Bremer said never ended a visit or phone call without giving him, in the nicest possible way, an “assignment.”

In On the Trail of the Morning Star, Buck describes listening to a radio program of poetry by schizophrenics, from an institution near Vienna. Afterward, she wrote,


I burst into tears, liberating, cathartic tears. You haven’t felt this happy in a long time, I thought afterwards. The fact that I could feel included in the circle of these schizophrenics, that I knew my experiences were understood and accepted along with theirs, allowing me to completely identify with them—this let me breathe a deep sigh of relief that never seemed to end, as if my healing was now truly completed.



Buck also felt this acceptance and relief during the long, hot days she spent talking to fellow patients at her last asylum. Maintaining this feeling became Buck’s life’s work, for her own benefit and for the benefit of fellow experiencers.

In 1987, at the age of seventy, Buck helped found the Association for Euthanasia and Forced Sterilization, a group that brought together families of victims and survivors. In 1992, at age seventy-five, she helped create the Federal Association for Psychiatric Experiencers—as she put it, to offer patients support and counteract the profession’s “negative evaluation” of them. Two years after that she worked with Thomas Bock on the Association for Social Psychiatry World Congress in Hamburg, drawing three thousand people. Experiencers and family members participated along with professionals, and Buck challenged those professionals to create a medicine based on real patients. In 2008 the German government awarded her an Order of Merit for service to the public, though that government had done little to acknowledge psychiatric Nazi victims. Schreber took the risk of entering his so-called madness into his legal arguments, when that madness prevented him from working again as a lawyer. Buck shared her history when the doctors who murdered those like her got applause. Buck spoke at a 2012 T4 commemoration ceremony at the age of ninety-five. It is up to us survivors, she said, to keep the murdered in our minds and hearts.

Sixty-three years had to pass since the end of the Nazi regime in 1945 to remember the officially hidden and marginalized victims of the extermination measures. Emil Kraepelin, a psychiatry professor held in high esteem in German psychiatry today, lived from 1856 to 1926, and had already demanded: “A ruthless intervention against the hereditary inferiority, the rendering harmless of the psychopathic degenerates, including sterilization.”

This passage also comes from Buck’s address to the World Psychiatric Association. Some audience members must have been neo-Kraepelinians, squirming in their seats, or at least, I hope so.

Buck’s focus was her psychosis seminars, both running them and traveling to promote her methods throughout Germany and outside of it. She, Thomas Bock, and a journalist named Ingeborg Esterer collected narratives from these seminars and published them in a book called Stimmenreich, or “rich in voices.” Stimmenreich offers testimony to how diverse this work was. Participants talk about their psychotic experiences, and they also write poems, dialogue with their psychosis, speak with clinicians about how it feels to be a patient. They consider the practical, like creating out of psychotic experience a qualification to work in the field.

A patient named Sibylle writes, “At first, I was very unsettled about having to work with psychiatry professionals. To be honest, it scared me a lot. I had the feeling that what I had to say or contribute might not be taken seriously at all. . . . I often thought: They can simply wipe you off the table with their little finger, like a lazy fly.” A therapist named Renate responds, “Of course, through conversations with the patients at the clinic, I had an inkling meeting within institutions never allows the whole reality of people to show. It’s important to remember these differences [between the perspectives of staff and patients], otherwise it is very easy for this situation to arise: the psychiatric patients demand something or wish for something, and the professionals reply: ‘But we already do all that.’ ”

If they didn’t already do all that, clinicians in trialogue learned to live the healthy perplexity about madness shown by the Schreber court. “What else could schizophrenic psychosis be besides a medical diagnosis?” asks a therapist, one who ironically shares the name of Schreber’s antagonist, Guido. “What does it do to those affected, their relatives and us therapists? Can psychosis say something about our relationship to reality, to the world in which we live? If someone has a knot in their head after reading this, then I’ve managed to express some of the things I experience working with schizophrenia.”

Sibylle describes the patients’ view of psychiatry as the “frog’s perspective,” and the care systems’ as an airplane’s, too high to see the individual. But as the work together continues, Sibylle writes, “some professionals have discovered that it’s possible to fly the aircraft lower and talk to each other through the flight line.”

If Schreber was madness’s advocate, Buck became madness’s philosopher, trying to understand its structure, spiritual and personal meaning, and demands. Her work here transcends the personal. Finding meaning to madness is always for Buck an armor against its dismissal. She shares her musings with many of her correspondents. One asked her if she found in the elements of psychosis signs of divine will.

“I don’t believe a divine will documents itself in psychosis,” Buck replied. “But I do believe psychosis is a possibility to get to know oneself—one’s own unconscious—and to find oneself. But to develop one’s own God-given nature, what one might call ‘self-discovery,’ will be our lives’ task. This task will perhaps be called God’s goal with us, his will.”

The Dresden court accepted Schreber’s claim that he pursued publication for the sake of other people, to share necessary visions—it only proved “the strength of his belief” to the court, despite the book’s exposure of his madness. I do not believe Schreber’s claim to suffer for humankind only grandiose. Surely any real faith brings with it the need for sacrifice. Buck’s altruism, like Schreber’s, exposed her, and it went beyond her advocacy work. Buck wanted desperately to prevent war. Trying to find others to help her, she revealed her own visions and left herself vulnerable. Buck warned others of the climate blight she saw coming, and her sister’s call to a local agency led to another hospitalization. Buck knew where sharing these visions could lead. If you strip Buck’s and Schreber’s actions of the idea of mindless pathology, they were selfless.

I’ve wondered since reading Schreber’s essay and his testimony what might have changed if he’d prosecuted the euthanasia trials. Fritz Bauer and Johannes Warlo shared the biting incisiveness of Schreber’s mind. But Schreber in his opening arguments would have declared himself mad. He would have assured the room they couldn’t see what was in his mad mind and heart. Could the judges and spectators look at Schreber, a person of such obvious “moral seriousness and candor of character” and imagine the men in the dock gassing him? Maybe Kurt Borm would have paused before testifying to the babbling idiocy of the T4 victims.

Dorothea Buck said, in an event that commemorated the T4 dead, “We need nothing more urgently than an empirical psychiatry based on our experiences.” She meant experiences like hers, and mine, and Schreber’s. Mental states can be painful and also creative; bodies can affect minds but not drive them as if they were cars. Clinicians can say no one knows why the mind does what it does and it’s normal for it to do things that sound strange in our culture. And that consciousness is a great wonder doing meaningful work, even if that work hurts. They can examine hopes and dreams. The neurodivergent can learn to sense problems coming and use coping strategies that aren’t drugs, as Buck and her groups did. The diagnostic process can be run, mentally, through the Schreber court.

It’s time to end the use of the DSM in psychiatry. This work is the fruit of the poisoned tree, doubly so, in its Kraepelinian roots and in its development by those with a financial stake in finding people ill.

In her last episode, in the midst of psychosis, Buck wrote, “A feeling of pending liberation filled me. I mean in particular the liberation from the purely negative view of psychosis, from our devaluation by psychiatry.” This was insanity, technical insanity: Guido Weber, DSM insanity. It doesn’t have to remain so.
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